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922,314 219,426 1,141,740
26,181 81,886 108,067
2020 12
1,083,006 183,571 1,266,577
28,367 64,235 92,602
( )
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178,279 742,238 399 398 1,000 922,314
- (94,498) (399) - - (94,897)
(25,179) (563,180) - (107) - (588,466)
- (40,420) - - - (40,420)
(151,339) (21,011) - - - (172,350)
1,761 23,129 - 291 1,000 26,181
2020 12
92,619 982,919 888 567 6,013 1,083,006
- (83,083) (888) - - (83,971)
(19,790) (807,180) - (215) - (827,185)
- (49,190) - - - (49,190)
(71,995) (22,137) - (161) - (94,293)
834 21,329 - 191 6,013 28,367
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AA 75,942 64,833
A 616,425 789,934
BBB 74,945 79,858
BB 40,032 40,199
95,524 91,393
922,314 1,083,006
2021 12 419 2020 12
794
2021 12 31
(6) 28
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12 2020 12
ECL
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
AAA 2,214 2,578
AA 60,627 52,950
A 113,605 81,432
BBB 16,646 17,414
BB 24,479 27,274
1,855 1,923

219,426 183,571
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2021 12
1,410.2 2020 12 619.8
2021 12 1,396.5 2020 12
614.0
2021 12 13.7 2020 12 580
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( 2021 12 2020 12
8,221 6,599
35,408 34,767
52,436 42,760
6,209 1,470
641 1,362
( 5,152 5,644
108,067 92,602
EMEA 83,531 64,381
16,403 18,937
8,133 9,284
108,067 92,602
2021 12
2021 12 264
133 57
58
GS
205
2021 12
458

163 531 90
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166
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2021 12 31
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(2021 12 31 )
598,182,053
598,182,053
(2021 12 31 )
598,182,053
100
598,182,053
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( )
( ))
2017 12 31 - | 581,964,161 - - 562.0 a0 )
2018 11 30 - | 581,964,161 - - 582.0 a0 )
2019 11 30 7,643,885 | 589,608,046 8 1o ) 590.0 730 )
2020 12 31 8,574,007 | 598,182,053 8 D 598-0 a0 )
2021 12 31 - | 598,182,053 - - 598.0 740 )
2020 2 8,574,007 UK
44.32 371,425,993
380,000,000
2021 12 31
ECAA 4AU
K 25 598,182,053 100
2021 12 2020 12
PRA PRA FCA
PRA FCA
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 2021

GSI 2021 12 31 2020 12 31

GSI
GSI
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GS

GSI

EMEA
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GSI
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2021
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104/420

GSI

EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn



GS

GSI

GSI

GSI

105/420

EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

GSI
GSI

GSI

106/420



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

GSI
GSI

GSI

EMC
EMC EMEA GS
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EMEA EMC GS
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2019 10 16

661(4)

1157
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2022 22
J 2006 10 23
0
(1960 31 )
2016
0
(1956 23 )
2016 10
0
(1946 21 )
2016 12 16
0
(1959 )
W 2016 12
0
(1964 12 )
E 2018 31
0
(1957 )
L
2018 31
OBE 0
(1951 11 11 )
2019
0
(1965 12 30 )
2020 11
0
(1976 10 )
2022 18
0
(1977 )
GSl Gsl
30
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I1BD 2003
1999 2004
1987
1999
2005
1996
2004
2004 2014
2002

2012

60
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M&A
1997 1BD
LLC
Pte.
2006
2011 1BD
1998
2014
15 28
2004 1985
2016
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2014
2004 2015
2006 2008 J C
1994
J
1978 1974
GSI
GSIB 2016 12 GSI

GSIB KPMG 20

2003 KPMG

2003 KPMG
KPMG

KPMG
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W
EMEA
1994 2003
2010

E

GSI 2018 GSI
GSI
USA
AG

1994

L OBE

GSI 2018 GSI
2006 2013 LOCOG
LOCOG GSI

UK
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oOoOooodn
2006 2011 GAM
GAM
CEO
2001
1995 1998
MA
2010 2019 2018
2019
ESG
MA 1999
EMEA
1999 2007
2010 1999
2021 12 31

(6) 27
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GSI
33
2007 10 1985 386
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
5.6 (693 ) 4.6 (569 )
0 (0 ) 0 (0 )
4.7 (582 ) 5.3 (656 )
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
2.1 (260 ) 1.8 (223 )
2.5 (309 ) 3.3 (409 )
0.1 (12 ) 0.2 (25 )
0 (0 ) 0 (0 )
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2020
31
2020 12 31

123.79

IFRS
131
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
11 30 12 31
2021 12 31
13
2021 2020
2022
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38 59

193

2021 12
12

134
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OoOoOoOoOodno
2021 12 31
€))
12
2021 2020 1.2
$7,711  \ 954,545 $7,729  \ 956,773
3,703 458,394 3,191 395,014
_ _ 76 9,408
11,414 1,412,939 10,996 1,361,195
2,211 273,700 2,657 328,910
1,237 153,128 1,539 190,513
(2,062)  (255,255) (2,419)  (299,448)
(1,881)  (232,849) (2,762)  (341,908)
(495) (61.,276) (985) __ (121,933)
5 10,919 1,351,663 10,011 1,239,262
6 (7,367)  (911,961) (6,487)  (803,026)
3,552 439,702 3,504 436,236
9 (615) (76,131) (769) (95,195)
$2,937  \ 363,571 $2,755  \ 341,041
1. 2020 12 13
2. 2020 12
@
12
2021 2020 1
$2,937  \ 363,571 $2.755  \ 341,041
15 113 13,988 (76) (9,408)
20 54 6,685 (183) (22.654)
16 ) (6,313) 62 7,675
13 1,600 1 1,362
129 15,969 (186) (23.025)
$3,066  \ 379,540 $2,569  \ 318,017
1. 2020 12 13
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OOooOoOoOoo
@A)
12
2021 2020
24 $ 52,422 \ 6,489,319 $ 43,833 \ 5,426,087
10 257,366 31,859,337 140,682 17,415,025
11 86,135 10,662,652 90,380 11,188,140
34,21 12 742,238 91,881,642 982,919 121,675,543
27.295

62 13 13 399 49,392 888 109,926
398 49,268 567 70,189
14 4,462 552,351 8,580 1,063,232

$1,143,420 \141,543,962 $1,267,858 \156,948,142

18 $ 204,539 \ 25,319,883 $ 113,127 \ 14,003,991

19 119,883 14,840,317 100,519 12,443,247
12 694,982 86,031,822 932,414 115,423,529
20 79,813 9,880,051 80,351 9,946,650
21 5,308 657,077 4,869 602,734

1,104,525 136,729,150 1,231,280 152,420,151

22 598 74,026 598 74,026
5,568 689,263 5,568 689,263

23 8,300 1,027,457 8,300 1,027,457
24,590 3,043,996 22,437 2,777,476

(161) (19,930) (325) (40,232)

38,895 4,814,812 36,578 4,527,991

$1,143,420 \141,543,962 $1,267,858 \156,948,142

2022

D.W.

2022 21

02263951
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(O]
12
2021 2020 °
$ 598 \ 74,02 $ 590 \ 73,036
22 - - 8 990
598 74,026 598 74,026
5,568 689,263 5,196 643,213
22 - - 372 46,050
5,568 689,263 5,568 689,263
8,300 1,027,457 8,300 1,027,457
8,300 1,027,457 8,300 1,027,457
22,437 2,777,476 20,336 2,517,393
2,937 363,571 2,755 341,041
20 (35) (4,333) (29) (3,590)
21 - - 126 15,598
Tierl 23 (749) (92,719) (751) (92,966)
482 59,667 459 56,820
(482) (59, 667) (459) (56,820)
24,590 3,043,996 22,437 2,777,476
(325) (40,232) (168) (20,797)
129 15,969 (186) (23,025)
20 35 4,333 29 3,590
(161) (19,930) (325) (40,232)
$38,805 \ 4,814,812 $36,578 \ 4,527,991
1. 2020 12 13
2021 12 2020 12

123/420
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®)
12
2021 2020 1
24 $11,320 \ 1,401,303 $16,938  \ 2,096,755
7 867 7 867
(528) (65,361) (492) (60,905)
10,799 1,336,808 16,453 2,036,717
- - 7 867
(291) (36,023) @72) (33,671)
(1,309)  (162,041) (223) (27,605)
1,903 235,572 910 112,649
303 37,508 122 52.239
MREL 24 1,500 185,685 3,400 420,886
Tierl 24 (749) (92,719) (751) (92,966)
MREL y
(451) (55,829) (1,300)  (160,927)
22 - - 380 47,040
@ (495) 7) (7,056)
206 36,642 1,672 206,977
11,398 1,410,958 18,547 2,295,933
43,718 5,411,851 22,359 2,767,821
(2,708)  (335,223) 2,812 348,007
24 $52,408 \ 6,487,586 $43,718  \5,411,851
1. 2020 12 13

21
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EC4A 4AU

UK GSG UK

GS
200
relations

GSGUK 2021 12
www .goldmansachs.com/disclosures

2013
GSG UK 2021 12
www. goldmansachs.com/disclosures

EU
EU IFRS
EU IFRS
2020 12 EU IFRS
2021 12

2021 12

25

10-Q

1606/2002

2006
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GSG UK GSG UK

10-K

10282
www.goldmansachs.com/investor-

GSG UK

GSG UK

2022 12 31

2006
IFRS

2006

2021



2020 12
11 30 12 31
2020 12 31
IFRS IFRS
IFRS
2021
IFRS
IFRS
LIBOR

DVA

13

IAS 39
IFRS

IFRS

IFRS 16

2021 12 31

IFRS

IFRS
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IFRS

IBOR

oOoOooodn
2006 402
12
IAS 39 IFRS
IFRS 16 IFRS 16
IFRS 16
IFRS
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GS
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RSU
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DVA
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IFRS
2021 12 2020 12

ECL 12

ECL

ECL

90

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL
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29

IAS 39

80%
80% 125%
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IAS 38

IFRS 16
IBR
IFRS 16 3.5%
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Oooooooo
15
12
2021 2020 1
$ 6,648 $ 6,200
1,063 1,529
3,703 3,191
- 76
11,414 10,996
2,211 2,657
1,237 1,539
3,448 4,196
(2.062) (2,419)
(1,881) (2,762)
(3,943) (5,181)
(495) (985)
$ 10,919 $ 10,011
1.2020 12 634
634
GS GSBE
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FICC
12
2021 2020
EMEA $ 7,092 $ 6,676
1,745 1,564
2,082 1,771
$ 10,919 $ 10,011
IFRS 15
12
2021 2020
$ 2,775 $ 2,198
553 599
375 394
$ 3,703 $ 3,191
12
2021 2020
$ 3,185 $ 2,825
2,053 1,680
36 43
141 145
210 194
163 181
GS
1,118 921
804 842
7,710 6,831
GS
(343) (344)
$ 7,367 $ 6,487
GS GS

IFRS 15
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Ooooooog
12

2021 2020
$ 5.6 $ 4.6
2.1 1.8
2.5 3.3
0.1 0.2
4.7 5.3
$ 10.3 $ 9.9

GS
GS 2020 12
FRC
2021 12
12

2021 2020
704 828
FICC 741 833
899 908
732 819
862 872
3,938 4,260

2021 12 3,844 2020 12 4,115
12

2021 2020
$ 2,741 $ 2,418
397 355
45 49
2 3
$ 3,185 $ 2,825

2021 12 634 2020 12 259
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30

2021

2020 12

SIP

RSU

2021

2021

RSU

SIP
2021

459

SIP
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oOoOooodn
2021
2021 29
SIP 1999
GS
2021 12 482
RSU RSU
RSU
RSU

150%
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oooooog
RSU
2021 12
922,129 3,594,376 $ 205.09 $  203.12
708,757 1,320,804 $ 258.90 $  261.67
(85,503) (63,735) $ 228.06 $ 205.29
(1,838,383) $ - $  207.94
(706,957) 706,957 $ 213.31 $  213.31
(82,401) 5,681 $ 215.18 $ 202.78
756,025 3,725,700 $ 243.70 $  223.32
2020 12
1,743,850 2,893,507 $ 193.70 $  193.54
830,270 1,159,883 $ 215.44 $  223.68
(80,808) (25,459) $ 204.95 $  198.27
- (1,878,224) $ - $  196.88
(1,502,818) 1,502,818 $ 197.82 $  197.82
(68,365) (58,149) $ 199.27 $  202.60
922,129 3,594,376 $ 205.09 $  203.12
RSU 2021 12 260.71 2020 12
220.24 RSU
2021 12 8.0% 2020 12
8.19%
2021 12 584 2020 12
576
2021 12 RSU 58,948
RSU 88,421 2020 12
RSU 37,767
RSU 56,651
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Ooooodo
12

2021 2020
$ 587 $ 583
3 29
224 215
814 827
(141) 39)
(55) (19)
(©) -
(199) (58)
$ 615 $ 769

2021 12 27.0% 2020 12
27.0%
12

2021 2020
$ 3,552 $ 3,524
27.0% 2020 12 27.0% 050 951
2 11
AT1 (202) (203)
D) 10
GS - (6)]
- 1
2 ®)
- 29
(55) (19)
$ 615 $ 769

2023 25.0% 2021 2021
2021 55
8.0% 2022
24 2023 3.0% 2022 2021
12 50 44
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10
12
2021 2020
$ 156,844 $ 75,140
100,522 65,542
$ 257,366 $ 140,682
1
12
2021 2020
$ 17,102 $ 11,350
69,033 79,030
$ 86,135 $ 90,380
2021 12 228
12 327
12

28

141/420
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12

2021 2020
$ 6 $ 338
28,256 24,759
478 586
22,326 21,790
55,505 47,135
21 9
106,592 94,617
422,209 671,483
27,761 24,778
91,010 110,493
25,805 10,824
68,861 70,724
635,646 888,302
$ 742,238 $ 982,919

12

2021 2020
$ 31,558 $ 16,772
5,703 3,700
35,497 31,473
14 40
72,772 51,985
408,017 660,262
24,749 22,141
92,707 114,495
25,626 10,663
71,111 72,868
622,210 880,429
$ 694,982 $ 932,414
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13
12

2021 2020
$ 161 $ 639
238 249
$ 399 $ 888

14
12

2021 2020
$ 2,083 $ 6,744
699 564
2,782 7,308
9 2
553 490
5 15
15 311 202
16 592 444
20 28
177 94
13 6
1,680 1,281
$ 4,462 $ 8,589

GS

143/420
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2019 11 $ 29 $ 9 $ 38
- 1 1

(20 ®) (25

2020 12 9 5 14
7 1 8

2021 12 16 6 22
2019 11 20 5 25
2 1 3

3 ® (16)

2020 12 9 3 12
- 1 1

2021 12 9 4 13
2021 12 $ 7 $ 2 $ 9
2020 12 $ - $ 2 $ 2
2019 11 $ 381 $ 194 $ 575
236 36 272

®) - ®)

2020 12 612 230 842
260 23 283

29 - @9

2021 12 843 253 1,096
2019 11 183 - 183
172 - 172

® - ®

2020 12 352 - 352
206 - 206

@5) - @s)

2021 12 543 - 543
2021 12 $ 300 $ 253 $ 553
2020 12 $ 260 $ 230 $ 490
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2008

31
2021 12 31
%
IFRIC

14

UK

IAS 19
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65

2016

2021 31
2021 12 96%
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12
% 2021 2020
1.01 1.52
RPI 3.38 2.99
CPI 2.88 2.49
1996 11 30 3.18 2.79
1996 11 30 2.88 2.49
2009 2.50 2.49
65 65
24.2 24.2
25.5 25.4
45 65
25.4 25.5
26.9 26.8
2021 12 SAPS S3
2013 CMI 2020
1.25% 0.50%
2021 12
2021 $ 3,216 $ (3,019) $ 202
- () (©))
49 46) 3
48 - 48
- 2 2
- 60 60
- 3 3
(34) 34 -
(30) 27 ®)
2021 12 31 $ 3,249 $ (2,938) $ 311
2020 12
2019 12 $ 2,682 $  (2,418) $ 264
- (©) (©)
57 (51) 6
356 - 356
- 45 45
- 470) 470)
- @ @
49) 49 -
170 (159) 11
2020 12 31 $ 3,216 $ (3,014) $ 202
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2021 12 95%
53% 47%
2022 41% 59%
2021 12
$ 892 $ - $ 892
1,219 - 1,219
- 193 193
287 - 287
564 94 658
$ 2,962 $ 287 $ 3,249
2020 12
$ 828 $ - $ 828
684 - 684
- 986 986
34 - 34
543 141 684
$ 2,089 $ 1,127 $ 3,216
2021 12
12
2021 2020

$ 4 $ 3

(©) (6)

1 3

“8) (356)

€)) (45)

(60) 470

®) 7

(113) 76

$  (112) $ 73
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) % ( ) %
2021 12
0.25% (218) (7-4) 240 8.2
0.25% 178 6.1 (165) (5-6)
115 3.9 (116) (3.9)
2020 12
0.25% (235) (7.8) 255 8.5
0.25% 190 6.3 @17 (7.2)
118 3.9 (119) (3.9)
2016 31
2018 12 31
316 2021 12
2022
32
2021 12 32
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12
2021 2020

$ 816 $ 551
(103) (54)

(161) (129)

55 78

12 -

3 (2)

$ 592 $ 444

12
2021 2020

$ 551 $ 453
265 105

- ©)

$ 816 $ 551
$ G $ (63)
@D (13)

(28) 22

$  (103) $ (54)
$ (129 $ (93)
(€23) (36)

$ (16D $  (129)
$ 78 $ 38
(23) 40

$ 55 $ 78
$ - $ -
12 -

$ (€ $ -
$ (@) $ ©)
@D 2
$ 3 $ 2
$ M $ 331
199 58

G 62
- ©)

$ 592 $ 444

149/420
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17

2021 12

100% 250
KY1-1104 PO Box 309
12
2021 2020

$ 6,038 $ 8,745

$ 315 $ 439

$ (28) $ 39)

$ 3,399 $ 2,761

150/420
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18
12
2021 2020
$ 139,284 $ 77,726
51,080 21,034
4,205 1,432
4,540 6,664
5,430 6,271
$ 204,539 $ 113,127
19
12
2021 2020
$ 2,781 $ 2,648
117,102 97,871
$ 119,883 $ 100,519

151/420
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ooooOoog
20
12
2021 2020
$ - $ 6
14 115
— MREL 16,179 21,032
— MREL 18,215 16,723
35,179 32,385
5,387 5,394
4,839 4,696
$ 79,813 $ 80,351
2021 12 2020 12 53.9 GS
53.8
GS
PRA PRA
2029 12 26 2030
GS
DVA
12
2021 2020
$ (290) $ (147)
54 (183)
48 40
$ (188) $ (290)
2021 12 48
35 2020 12 40 29
EURIBOR

152/420
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12
2021 2020
$ 12 $ 17
$ - $ 32
12
2021 2020
- $ - $ -
- 1,708 1,760
1,566 1,469
$ 3,274 $ 3,229
2021 12 1.07% 2020 12
2021 12
$ 3,202 $ 63
2020 12
$ 3,042 $ 177
2021 12
2020 12 34
12
2021 2020
$ 130) $ 50
110 (53)
$ @) ®)

153/420
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21
12
2021 2020
$ 2,649 $ 2,762
450 330
5 17
1,717 1,370
4,821 4,479
4 11
482 378
1 1
487 390
$ 5,308 $ 4,869
2021 12 2020 12
2019 11 $ 1
127
(126)
)
2020 12 $ 1
1
®
2021 12 $ 1
2020 12 1MDB
GS FCA PRA 126
1MDB
2020 12

154/420
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22
2019 11 589,608,046 $590
8,574,007 8
2020 12 598,182,053 $598
2021 12 598,182,053 $598
2020 24 8,574,007 GSG UK 44.32
380,000,000 371,425,993
23
AT1
AT1
2017 5,800 $5,800 9.00%
2018 11 2,500 2,500 8.67%
2021 12 8,300 $8,300
AT1 GSG UK
GSG UK CET1 % AT1
AT1 2021 12 749 2020 12 751

155/420
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Oooooooo
24
12
2021 2020
$ 52,422 $ 43,833
20 14) (115)
$ 52,408 $ 43,718
2021 12 25.2 2020
12 18.4
12
2021 2020
$ 3,552 $ 3,524
210 194
- 2
14 -
1 ®)
2,698 (2,793)
1,225 830
21 1 127
MREL 436 658
(104) (50)
(€)) -
- 2
8,032 2,491
(116,684) 15,666
4,245 (18,573)
240,681 (197,554)
169 983
4,436 (5,889)
132,847 (205,367)
91,412 (2,809)
19,364 15,551
(237,432) 217,774
(1,868) (11,323)
(1,035) 621
(129,559) 219,814
$ 11,320 $ 16,938
2021 12 28.1
2020 50.5 2021 12
30.5 42.2
MREL MREL AT1
MREL

156/420
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2019 11 $ 26,967 $ 692 $ 27,659
MREL 3,400 - 3,400
ATL - 751 751
MREL - 658 658
ATL - (751) (751)
MREL - (1,300) (1,300)
2020 12 $ 30,367 $ 50 $ 30,417
MREL 1,500 - 1,500
ATL - 749 749
MREL - 436 436
ATL - (749) (749)
MREL - (451) (451)
2021 12 $ 31,867 $ 35 $ 31,902
25
12

2021 2020

$141,020 $61,982

30,111 18,787

4,861 4,942

$175,992 $85,711

S.A. 2015
S.A.
BoP
S.A. BES S.A.

BES

157/420
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oOoOooodn
835 BoP 2014 12
2015 2015 12
2018
2018 BES BES
54 50
2018 10
104
BES 222
2015 11
2016 2018
2013 2016 2018 11 20
2019 13
2008 2012
2013 2016 2019
22 2019
2014 11 25
2017 15
2020 29
2020 27
2013
2016 12 2019 27
2020 23
2020 12 16
2021 17
2021 14

2021 30

158/420
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26
2021 12
$ - $ 52,422 $ 52,422
1,114 256,252 257,366
- 86,135 86,135
- 742,238 742,238
334 65 399
143 255 398
1,876 2,586 4,462
$ 3,467 $1,139,953 $1,143,420
$ 61,398 $ 143,141 $ 204,539
- 119,883 119,883
- 694,982 694,982
54,196 25,617 79,813
1,345 3,963 5,308
$ 116,939 $ 987,586 $1,104,525
2020 12
$ - $ 43,833 $ 43,833
1,896 138,786 140,682
- 90,380 90,380
- 982,919 982,919
689 199 888
517 50 567
1,742 6,847 8,589
$ 4,844 $1,263,014 $1,267,858
$ 3,851 $ 109,276 $ 113,127
- 100,519 100,519
- 932,414 932,414
55,781 24,570 80,351
1,009 3,860 4,869
$ 60,641 $1,170,639 $1,231,280

160/420
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12
27
GS
GS
EMC
12
2021 2020
$ 172 $ 21
1 1
564 255
$ 737 $ 467
187 2020 12 72

161/420
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oOoOooodn
2006
2008 410
12
2021 2020
$ 8 $ 9
$ 8 $ 9
12
2021 2020
$ 5 $ 5
2021 12 2020 12 2021 12
2020 12
2021 12 2021
12 2.0 2020 12
2020 12 2.1
2021 12
2.4 2020 12 2.5
GS
12
2021 2020

$ 8,153 $ 8,363
$ 8,018 $ 7,767

GS

2021 12 458 2020 12 13.0

162/420
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OoOoOoOoOodno
GS
GS
GS GSG UK
AT1 20 23 GS
14
GS
GS
12
2021 2020

$ 72,082 $ 43,145

6,474 7,488

$ 78,556 $ 50,633
80 2021 12 2020 12

GS GS
GS
GS
GS GS
GS 2021 12
121 2020 12 201
@)
()

163/420
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GS
2021 12
$ - $ 7 $ - $ 7
- 147,976 - 147,976
2,552 17,397 178 20,127
1,085 437,185 619 438,889
- 177 - 177
- 218 - 218
1,006 1,779 - 2,785
$ 4,643 $ 604,739 $ 797 $ 610,179
$ 17 $ 131,138 $ 87 $ 131,242
1 23,990 - 23,991
3,167 430,778 670 434,615
31,127 12,544 - 43,671
2,317 1,458 - 3,775
$ 36,629 $ 599,908 $ 757 $ 637,294
2020 12
$ - $ 993 $ - $ 993
- 94,067 86 94,153
3,455 9,596 1,091 14,142
1,365 634,405 2,123 637,893
- 193 - 193
- 215 - 215
6,036 1,151 - 7,187
$ 10,856 $ 740,620 $ 3,300 $ 754,776
$ - $ 75,388 $ 78 $ 75,466
- 14,104 97 14,201
4,546 625,421 3,111 633,078
34,737 12,257 - 46,994
1,898 1,184 - 3,082
$ 41,181 $ 728,354 $ 3,286 $ 772,821

164/420
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GS
2021 12
13 $ 454 467
(580) (848) (1,428)
8 1,047 1,055
(559) $ 653 94
- $ 720 720
GS )
1,118 1,118
GS
©) (336) (343)
1 543 544
(6) $ 2,045 2,039
2020 12
7 $ 648 658
(1,012) (1,376) (2,388)
5 964 969
- 76 76
(1,000) $ 312 (685)
- $ 438 438
GS
- 921 921
GS
© (338) (344)
- 423 423
(6) $ 1,444 1,438
GS
GSBE
IFRS 15

165/420
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oooooog
28
2021 12
$ - $ 52,422 $ 52,42
178,279 79,087 257,366
- 86,135 86,135
742,238 - 742,238
399 - 399
398 - 398
1,000 1,782 2,782
$ 922,314 $ 219,42 $1,141,740
2020 12
$ - $ 43,833 $ 43,833
92,619 48,063 140,682
- 90,380 90,380
982,919 - 982,919
888 - 888
567 - 567
6,013 1,295 7,308
$ 1,083,006 $ 183,571 $ 1,266,577
2021 12
$ - $ 146,237 $ 58,302 $ 204,539
- - 119,883 119,883
694,982 - - 694,982
- 39,190 40,623 79,813
- - 4,821 4,821
$ 694,982 $ 185,427 $ 223,629 $1,104,038
2020 12
$ - $ 97,103 $ 16,024 $ 113,127
- - 100,519 100,519
932,414 - - 932,414
- 29,426 50,925 80,351
- - 4,479 4,479
$ 932,414 $ 126,529 $ 171,947 $ 1,230,890

IFRS

166/420
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ooooood
2021 12 66.9 64.7
2020 12 46.9 54.7
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12
$ 390,986 $ (133,620) $ 257,366 $ (53,650) $ - $ (201,071) $ 2,645
94,847 (26,602) 68,245 (9,995) (38,166) (11,148) 8,936
27,688 (15,682) 12,006 1,572) (133) (8,708) 1,593
645,333 (9,687) 635,646 (561,608) (40,235) (12,245) 21,558
673,021 (25,369) 647,652 (563,180) (40,368) (20,953) 23,151
274 - 274 Q07) - - 167
3,807 (3,203) 694 - - - 694
1,163,025 (188,794) 974,231 (626,932) (78,534) (233,172) 35,593
167,509 - 167,509 - - - 167,509

$1,330,534 $ (188,794) $1,141,740 $ (626,932) $ (78,534) $ (233,172) $ 203,102

$ 336,020 $ (141,79) $ 194,224 $ (54,097) $ (2,241) $ (131,498) $ 6,388

121,390 (26,807) 94,583 (9,995) (40,368) (18,681) 25,539
683 (683) - - - - -
631,692 (9,482) 622,210 (561,720) (35,738) (4,382) 20,370
632,375 (10,165) 622,210 (561,720) (35,738) (4,382) 20,370
13,182 (8,592) 4,590 (1,120) @87) - 3,283
2,703 Q,434) 1,269 - - - 1,269
1,105,670 (188,794) 916,876 (626,932) (78,534) (154,561) 56,849
187,162 - 187,162 - - - 187,162

$1,202,832 ¢ (188,794) $1,104,038 $ (626,932) $ (78,534) $ (154,561) $ 244,011

167/420
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Ooooooog
2020 12 1

$ 222,507 $ (81,825) $ 140,682 $ (33,757) $ — $(104,988) $ 1,937
103,442 (24,095) 79,347 (5,502)  (49,489)  (17,331) 7,025
27,326 (16,195) 11,131 (1,355) (309) (8,903) 564
904,223 (15,921) 888,302  (805,825)  (48,846)  (13,109) 20,522
931,549 (32,116) 899,433  (807,180)  (49,155)  (22,012) 21,086
266 - 266 (215) - - 51
4,937 4,377) 560 - - - 560

1,262,701  (142,413) 1,120,288  (846,654)  (98,644)  (144,331) 30,659

146,289 ) 146,289 . . - 146,289

$1,408,990 $(142,413) $1,266,577 $(846,654) $ (98,644) $(144,331) $ 176,948

$ 193,074 $ (91,070) $ 102,004 $ (33,951) $ (1,322) $ (65,118) $ 1,613

117,084 (24,491) 92,593 (5,502)  (49,155)  (13,519) 24,417
1,477 (1,381) 9% - - - 9%
895,953 (15,524) 880,429  (806,171)  (47,995) (8,269) 17,994
897,430 (16,905) 880,525  (806,171)  (47,995) (8,269) 18,090
12,209 (7.663) 4,546 (1,030) 172 - 3,344
3,184 (2,284) 900 - - - 900

1,222,981  (142,413) 1,080,568  (846,654)  (98,644)  (86,906) 48,364

150,322 - 150,322 - - - 150,322
$1,373,303 $(142,413) $1,230,890 $(846,654) $ (98,644) $ (86,906) $ 198,686

1.2020 12 560
900
28.4 31.8
22.8
12
2021 2020
$ 754,957 $ 571,872

168/420
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0oooood
$ 719,879 $ 545,053
12

2021 2020

$ 34,2 $ 27,295

$ 13 $ 62

$ 39,336 $ 29,506

$ 100 $ 346

2021 12 588.3 2020 12 749.0 2021
12 743.0 2020 12 607.5
29
IFRS
GS

169/420
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iTraxx CDX
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01C 0TC
0TC oTC

10

oTC
0TC
0TC

171/420



GS

GS

CVA

172/420

EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

2021 12
- $ 178,158 $ 121 8 178,279
74,139 31,736 77 106,592
28 630,856 4,762 635,646
74,167 662,592 5,479 742,238
6 288 105 399
- 343 55 398
- 1,000 - 1,000
74,173 $ 842,381 $ 5,760 $ 922,314
- $ 145,857 3 380 $ 146,237
63,956 8,777 39 72,772
54 618,473 3,683 622,210
64,010 627,250 3,722 694,982
- 25,053 14,137 39,190
64,010 $ 798,160 $ 18,239 $ 880,409
(26) $ 12,383 $ 1,079 $ 13,436

2020 12
- 3 92,619 $ - $ 92,619
63,079 31,035 503 94,617
291 882,392 5,619 888,302
63,370 913,427 6,122 982,919
18 738 132 888
- 456 111 567
- 6,013 - 6,013
63,388  $1,013,253 § 6,365 $1,083,006
- 3 96,863 $ 240 $ 97,103
46,752 5,204 29 51,985
255 876,645 3,529 880,429
47,007 881,849 3,558 932,414
- 19,774 9,652 29,426
47,007 $ 998,486 $ 13,450 $1,058,943
36 3 5,747 % 2,090 $ 7,873

173/420



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

ooooodd
2021 12 2020 12
$157 $132
1.7%  18.0% 4.7% 0.6%  14.0% 6.1%
47.2%  72.5% 58.4% 21.6%  69.3% 35.8%
0.4 172 4.2 1.0 11.5 2.7
$464 $349
1.1%  15.1% 5.6% 0.6%  23.6% 5.9%
9.0%  60.0% 36.1 0.0%  69.7% 50.4%
1.8 28.5 5.7 2.0 25.5 8.3
$96 $22
6.5 6.5 6.5 N/A N/A
$717 $503
$49 $96
N/A N/A 6.8%  6.8% 6.8%
9.1%  76.0% 66.6% N/A N/A
N/A N/A 2.9 2.9 2.9
$56 $36
7.6 7.6 7.6 4.2 11.0 4.6
$105 $132
$55 $111
4.1%  4.1% 4.1% 3.3%  6.6% 5.6%
15.0%  15.0% 15.0% 15.0%  15.0% 15.0%

2021 12 2020 12

174/420
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2020 12
2021 12
2020 12
2021 12 2020 12
$ 354 $ 414
25% 26% 25%/26% (@)% 24% 13%/20%
bps 40 100 56/54 40 63 53/52
$ 2,317 $ 2,305
bps 5 337 142/118 2 699 100/63
N/A N/A 19 28 23/23
20% 50% 37%/40% 25% 90% 47%/40%
$ 37 $ 37
20% 23% 21%/21% 20% 23% 21%/21%
$ (1,629) $ (670)
GBND% 98% 51%/51% GB5)% 96% 46%/48%
3% 88% 18%/18% 3% 102% 16%/16%
$ - $ 4
$ 1,079 $ 2,090

2021 12

175/420



2021 12

2021 12
2020 12

2021 12 2020 12

2021 12 2020 12

2020 12

176/420
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2021 12



353 2020 12 412
211 2020 12 186
2021 12 2020 12
12
2021 2020
$ 209 153
125 181
(144) (125)
$ 190 209

1771420
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12
2021 2020

$ 6,365 $ 5,325

636 2,099

747 635

Q14 170)

(1.739) (1,428)

426 351

(461) 447)

$ 5,760 $ 6,365

$ (13,450) $ (12,306)

@ Q@,757)
15 17
(692) (340)
(12,318) (12,362)
8,026 12,677
(540) (913)
1,197 1,534

$ (18,239) $ (13,450)

2021 12 2020 12

2021 12 477 475

2020 12 17.6 16.8
81

178/420
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12
2021 2020
$ - -
121 -
$ 121 -
$ 6,122 5,058
608 2,096
747 632
(210) (170)
,716) 1,407)
244 266
(316) (353)
$ 5,479 6,122
$ 132 145
29 2
(€)) -
@8) ®)
61 85
(96) (CD)
$ 105 132
$ 11 122
w 1
- 3
() -
® (15)
(49) -
$ 55 111

179/420



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

12
2021 2020
(240) $ (1,111)
@8) 42
(@5) -
@8) 829
® -
@80) $ (240)
(3.,558) $  (3,014)
(893) (1,340)
15 17
(692) (340)
1,394 1,033
(268) (368)
280 454
G.722) $  (3,558)
(9.652) $  (8,181)
444 (459)
(12,243) (12,362)
6,660 10,815
(263) (545)
917 1,080
(14,137)  $  (9,652)

2021 12

180/420
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2020 12

2021 12

2020 12

181/420
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2021 12 2,194.3 2020 12 1,835.7
12
2021 2020
$167,014 $128,900
56,615 43,047
$223,629 $171,947

30
2021 12
$ 37,616 $ 59,403 $ 15,312 $ 30,841 $ 60,144 $ 1,257  $ 204,573
119,883 - - - - - 119,883
694,982 - - - - - 694,982
1,983 3,346 4,002 10,122 30,698 33,871 84,022
1,753 1,690 7 26 1,324 21 4,821
856,217 64,439 19,321 40,989 92,166 35,149 1,108,281
186 118,812 3,368 17,078 1,576 - 141,020

182/420
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3,198 - 1,089 164 409 1 4,861

3,384 118,812 4,457 17,242 1,985 1 145,881

$ 859,601 $ 183,261 $ 23,778 $ 58,231 $ 94,151 $ 35,150 $ 1,254,162

2020 12

$ 20,588 $ 60,064 $ 7,779 $ 20,857 $ 1,976 $ 1,875 $ 113,139
100,519 - - - - - 100,519
932,414 - - - - - 932,414
3,205 2,139 6,645 8,803 46,846 15,429 83,067
2,006 1,437 14 13 996 14 4,480
1,058,732 63,640 14,438 29,673 49,818 17,318 1,233,619
451 58,612 82 2,837 - - 61,982
3,007 - 614 627 690 4 4,942
3,458 58,612 696 3,464 690 4 66,924
$ 1,062,190 $ 122,252 $ 15,134 $ 33,137 $ 50,508 $ 17,322 $ 1,300,543

31

2021 12
IFRS

12

2021 2020
$ 22,037 $ 16,340
266 347
7,694 7,660
43,610 32,454
73,607 56,801
100 399
13 9
113 408
$ 73,720 $ 57,209

183/420
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2021 12
$ - $ -
98 1,144
98 1,144
$ o8 $ 1,144
$ - $ 2
@2 544
@2 546
) $ 546
2020 12
$ - $ -
76 619
76 619
$ 76 $ 619
$  (13) $ 299
13) 299
$  (13) $ 299
2021 12
$ - $ 133
52 263
52 396
$ 52 $ 396
$ - $ -
30 26
30 26
- @
$ 30 $ 25
2020 12
$ - $ 133
22 211
22 344
$ 22 $ 344
$ - $ -
®3) @
(€)) @
- @
$ ®3) $ ®)

185/420
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(i) (iid)
(iv) (V) GS
GSI
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GS GS
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GS Talks at GS
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GS
2021 U.K. Race at Work
Charter U.K. Women in Finance Charter 2023
30%
COVID-19
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COVID-19
- GS
GS
GS
GS ESG
GS
2025 2020 50%
- GS
GS
GS 2030 7,500
ESG GS Corporate and Workplace Solutions
GS
GS
GS 2015
100% 2020
- Office of Corporate
Engagement

IFRS
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100% GS
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2021 2020
48,292 50,305
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12 12
2021 2020
1,728 1,840
i 8,449 9,626
838 2,958
24 21
10,177 11,466
11,039 14,445
2,590 4,819
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2021 2020
2.9 3.1
2021 12 12 GHG
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2020 12 12 COVID-19
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12 12 GHG COVID-19
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2020 12 12
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84% BRE BREEAM
GS 2021 12
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2021 12 2020 12
2021 12 12 2020 12 57
2021 12 10 2020

12 52
2021 12 1.3535 2020 12
1.3653 2021 12 1.3739 2020 12

1.2950

2021
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J.M.D.
S.A. 2021 12 31

R.J.

QC 2021 31
S.P.

D.w.
T.L. OBE
E.E.
M.O.

L. Al N. 2021 11 18

2022

Ryst W’ka_

D.W.

2022 21
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERMATIOMAL (UMLIMITED COMPANT)

Income Statement
P e Enl el Dot b

5 in midlions Hode 021 200"
Gang or losses from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss $TM EXRF:]
Fees and commissions o3 ERE ]

Crher income - Fi:]
Mon-interest income 11.414 10,995
Interest income from financial mstruments measured at fair value through profit or loss 2211 2,657
Interest incoma from financial mstruments measuned at amortised cost 1.237 1.529
Interest expense from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss (2,062) (2,415)
Interest expense from financial instruments measured at amortised cost (1.881) (2.76Z)
Met inferest expengs (485} [SES)
Met revenues 5 10,918 10011

Net operating expanses & (7.367) (6.487)
Prodit before taxaticn 3,552 3524

Imenmme tay expangs 3 {815} (7ET)
Prodit for the financial pariod § 2937 5 2755

1. Tha wrmtp&uﬂwnhﬂuhm« mmhnﬁdo«mhm S Mote T for Rrther details,

2. pterest sap d ol B walue through pro® o loks and ntenest aap Fom & d it anortined cond for
lmpﬂbdmmcmmiﬂhmbmMlhﬂ.ﬂlmﬁlnphbﬂlh‘hﬁl!l\xm Sae Note & for further detsds

Bt rovenses and prolt balam taxalion of the company ade deriosd from continging apenbions in B curent and peice pariods

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Perod Ended Decembssr

£ in milions Hote Ford] 20020
“Profit for e financial period §2,937 52,755
Other comprehensive income

fems that will not be reclassifled subsequently to profit or loss

Actuarial gainfloss) relating to the pengion scheme 13 113 (76)
Dbt walusation adjustment 20 54 (183)
UK defarred tax attibutable to the components of other comprahensive income 16 (51) B2
WK current tax attributabie o the components of sther comprehensive income 13 "
Other comprehensive incomel!(loss) for the financial peried, net of tax 129 (186)
Total comprehensive income for the financial period 33,088 52,560

1. The cemparstive pericd was: for the thrteen monthe ended Decembesr 2020, See Mote 2 for further detaits,

The accompanying notes are an integral padt of these Snancial salements.
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GOLOMAN SACHE INTERMATIOMNAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Balance Sheet

A5 of Decomber
3 i malions Hote 2031 2020
Assots
Cash and cash equnalents 24 § 52422 5 43833
Collateralsed agreements 10 25T 366 140682
Customer and other recenablos 1 86,115 80,380
Trading assets (includes 534 271 and 527 295 pledged as colfateral) 12 742 218 482 818
Irvestments (includes 513 and 562 pledged as collateral) 13 399 1]
Loang 358 567
Cher 14 4 462 8580
Total assets $1,143 420 31 267 A58
Liabilities
Collateratsed financings 18 $ 453 3 1327
Customer and other payatles 18 118,882 100,518
Trading kabilities 12 694 982 932414
Unsecured borrewings 20 79,813 80,351
Crher liabéties il 5,308 & 858
Total habilites 1..1“.5_25 1,231 260
Shareholder's equity
Share captal 2 E4g 588
Share premium account 5,568 5,568
Ciher equily msiruments b §.300 8,300
Retained eamings 24,550 22437
Accurnulated athir comprehenshg noomie _(1E1) 1523)
Taotal shareholders aquity 38,805 36,578
Total llabilities and sharehokiers equity 1,443,420 51 067 608

The financial statements were approved by the Board on March 7, 2022 and signed on its behalfl by

EyE: w@%&

D. W. McDonogh
Director
March 21, 2022

The accompanying noles are an inlegral part of these Snancial stafements
Campany number 1

47

196/420



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

GOLDMAN SACHS INTERMATIOMAL (UMLIMITED COMPANT)

Statement of Changes in Equity

Pariod Ended Decembar
$ in milons Noto 2021 ma_
Share capital
Beginning balance § 588 5 590
Shares isswed &2 - &
_Ending Ealance 538 598
Share premium account
Beginning takance 5,568 5,196
Shares issued 22 - 372
“Ending balance 5,568 5 565
Other equity instruments
Beginning balance 8,300 8,300
Ending balance 8,300 8,300
Retalned earnings
Beginning balance 22,437 20,336
Prafit for the financial peried 2,937 2,755
Transfer of realised debt valuation adjustment into retained earmings, net of tax 20 (35) (29
MNor-cash capital contribution 21 - 126
Inbesrest on Additional Tier 1 notes 23 (748) (751}
Share-based payments 482 459
Managament recharge related to share-tased payments (482) (459
Ending balance 24,590 22 437
Accumulated other comprahensive income
Beginning akance (328) (188}
Cher comprehenghe incomedloss) 128 {186)
Trarsler of realised debl valuation adjusiment inte retained earmings, net of tax 20 35 29
Ending balance {181) (325)
Tetal shareholder's equity §38, 895 536 578

1, Th eomparation parss wir for the thirtaan monthe snded Decomber 2070, See Mote 2 for Ruther detail.
Bo deddends were pakd in the pariod ended December 2021 and the period snded Decembaer 2020

The sccompanying notes are an infegral pedt of these Snancial statemants.

4%
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GOLDMAM SACHS INTERMATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Statement of Cash Flows

Poriod Ended Dacember

$ in milions _ Note 2021 T
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 24 11,320 516,938
Taxation received T 7
Taxaton paid (528) (492)
Net cash from operating acthities 10,789 18453
Cash flows from Investing activities

Proceeads from sales of intangible assets - 7
Capital expenditure for propary, leasehold improvements and equipment and intangible assets (281) (272)
Purchase of imvestments {1,308) (22%)
Proceeds from Sakes of imesirments 1.803 910
Met cash from imesting acthities 303 422
Cash flows from financing activities

Increass in MREL-eligible intercompany loans 24 1,500 3,400
Interest paid on Additonal Teer 1 notes 24 (rag) (751)
Intinest paid on subordnated bans and MREL-eligible intercompany loans 24 [481) (1,300)
Receipts from ssuing share capital 22 - 380
Payments for lease labilities (4] (57)
Net cash from financing activibes 255 1,672
Met increase in cash and cash equivalents, net of cverdrafis 11,388 18,547
Cash and cash equivalents, net of overdrafts, beginning balance 43,718 22359
Foreign exchange gainsflosses) on cash and cash equivale s, net of overdratts _{2.708) 2.812
Cash and cash equivalents, net of overdrafis, ending balance 24 $52.408 43718

1. Thae comparative penicd wis for the thintsen monthe ended December 2020, Ses Mote 2 for further details.

Sa Mobe 21 for information sbout ron-cash actvities.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thews Snancial statements
48
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GOLDMANM SACHS INTERMATIONAL [UNLIMITED COMPANT )

MNotes to the Financial Statements

Note 1,
General Information

The company 15 & private wnlimited company and s
meorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address
of us registered office is Flumtree Court, 25 Shoe Lane, London,
EC4A 4 AL United Kingdom,

The company’s immediate parent underaking 5 Goldman
Sachs Growp UK Limited (GSG UKD, a company incorpofated
and domiciled in England and Wales. GSG UK together with its
comsolidated subsidiaries forms “GSG UK Group”™.

The ultimate controlling undertaking and the parent company of
the smallest and largest group for which consolhidated financial
statements are prepared is The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, a
company incorporated in the United States of Amenica. Coples
of 15 consolidated financial statements, as well as certam
regulatory Glings, for example Quarterly Repons on Form 10-0)
and the Annual Report on Form 10-K, that provide further
information about G5 Group and its business activities, can be
obtained from Investor Relations, 200 West Street, New York,

NY 10282, United States of America, G5 Group's principal
place of business, or al www goldmarsachs com/investor-
relations.

Basel IIl Pillar 3 Disclosures

The company is included i the consolidated Pillar 3 disclosures
of G3G UK, as required by the UK. capital framework. GSG
UK's December 2021 Pillar 3 disclosures will be made available
in conjunction with the publication of its consalidated financial
information at www goldmansichs com/disclosures,

Country-by-Country Reporting

The company is included in the consolidated country-by-

country reporting disclosures of G3G UK, as required by the

Capital  Requirements  (Country-by-Couniry  Reporiing)

Repulations 2013, G3G UK's December 2021 Country-by-
Country Reporting will be made available by December 31,

2022 m www goldmansachs com/disclosures,

Note 2.
Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance

These financial siatements have been prepared in accordance
with Uk -adopted intemational sccounting standards, the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006, as appheable 10
companies reporting under those standards, and International
Financial Reporiing Standards {IFRS} adopted pursuant to
Regulation (EC) Mo 16062002 as it applies in the EU. (IFRS
as 1t applies in the E.LL).

EDINETOOOO
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In the prior period, the company™s Gnancial slatements were
prepared in accordance with intemational accounting standards,
the requirements of the Companies Act 20046, as applicable to
companies reporting under these standards, and IFRS as ot
applies inthe E L.

As of December 2020, IFRS as it applies m the EU. was
incorporated  imto UK. law and became UK -adopted
intermational accounting standards, with future changes being
subpect to endorsement by the UK. Endorsement Board. As
required by the Companies Act 2006, from January 1, 2021, the
company  applied  the requirements of UK -adopled
intermational accounting  standards mstead of intermational
accounting standards. This change had no impact on the
company’'s recognition, measurement or disclosure as UK -
adopted international accounting standards were consistent with
intermational accounting standards as of December 2021

As of December 2021, UK -adopted mtemational accounting
standards were consistent with IFRS as it applies in the E.U.

These hrancinl statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis (modified as explained i “Financial Assets
and Lbilities” and “Pension Arangemenis™ below).

Going Concemn

These financial statements have been prepared on a going
concemn basis. The directors are satisfied that the company has
sufficient capital and resources to continue to operate for the
foreseeable future. In reaching this conchasion, the directors
have consadered the fmancil results of the company, its capital
management activities and hiquidity as st out in Part 1 of this
annual report.

Consolidation

The company has ¢lected not to prepare consoladated financial
statements as permitted by section 402 of the Companies Act
2006 as its subgidianes are not material for the purpose of giving
a true and fair view. These financial statements are individual
financial statements.

Accounting Reference Date

During the period ended December 2020, the company changed
ils accounting reference date from Movember 30 1o December
31 1w conform to the perisd used by the company for ULS, ax
reporting  purposes. These financial sistements have been
prepared for the twelve months ended Decembser 31, 2021, with
comparative information being presented for the thirteen months
ended December 31, 2020, As a result, amounts presented in this
annual report are not directly comparable.

199/420
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERMATIONAL [UNLIMITED COMPANT )

MNotes to the Financial Statements

Note 3,
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations
Amendments to IFRS 8 ‘Financials Instruments’ (IFRS
g), IAS 359 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’ (1AS 39), IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments:
Disclosures' {IFRS 7), IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’
{IFRS 4} and IFRS 16 'Leases’ (IFRS 18). On January 1,
2021, “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 27 became
effective and was applied by the company. The amendments
introduced the following changes:

« Practical expedients for changes in coniractual cash flows
(IFES 9, IFRS 4 and [FRS 16}

« Relef from discontiming hedge account requirements (IFRS
9 and LAS 39)

« Disclosure requirements (IFRS 7).

The company utilised the practical expedient for modifications
to amortised cost instruments which allows the benchmark
imterest rate change to be reflected prospectively by updating the
effective interest rate of the mstrument, with no immediate gain
or less, when the change 15 8 direct consequence of the reform
and oocurs on an economically equivalent basis. The relief from
discontinuing hedge acoounting requarements was nol utilissd
The practical expedients in IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 were not
relevant for the company. See "Regulatory Matters and Other
Developments — Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates
{IBORs), mcluding London [nterbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)Y”
for new disclosures required by IFRS 7.

Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Met revenues include the net profit
arising from transactions, with both third parties and affiliates,
in dervatives, securities and other financial instruments, and
fees and commissions. This is inclusive of asscciated interest
and dividends.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair
Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets and lisbalities measured at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised at fair value with realised and
unrealised pains and losses, as well as associated interest and
dividend mncome and expenses included I net revenues, with
the exception of changes in the fair value of financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss attnbutable to own
credit spreads (debt valuation adjustment or DVA), which 15
recognised in other comprehensive income, unless this would
create of enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or Joss
Financial assets are marked to bid prices and financial liabalities
are marked to offer prices. Fair value measurements do mot
include transaction costs, The company measures certam
financial assets and liabilities as a portfolio (Le., based on it net
exposure to market and'or credit nsks).

51
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Unrealised gains and losses related to the change 1n fair value of
financial asscts and labalities measured st fair value through
profit or boss are recognised from trade date in net revemses or
other comprehensive income in the case of DVA

Contractual interest 18 mcluded in interest income and expense
for all instruments other than hybnd financial instruments a1 fair
vatlue through profit or loss, for which contractual mterest s
included 1n gains amd losses from financial instruments
measured at far value through profit or loss.

Revenue from Contracts with Clients

Revenaes camed from contracts with cliemts for serviees, such
as invesiment banking. invesiment management, and execution
and cleanng (contracts with clients) are recognized when the
performance obligations related to the underlying transaction
are completed.

If the company 1z principal to the transaction, the company
recognises revenue on contracts with clients, gross of expenses
incurred to satisfy some or all of s performance oblgations.
The company 15 principal to the transaction if it has the primary
obligatton o provide the serviee to the chieni. The company
satisfies the performance obligation by nsell, or by engaging
other G5 Group affilates to satisfy some or all of s
performance obligations oa its behall Such revenue is
recognised innet revenues and expenses incurred are recogrised
in el operaling expenses.

Met revenues are recognised as follows:

« Investment Banking
Fees from financial advisory and underwriting engagements
are recogrised inoprofit and Joss when the services related 1o
the underlyving transactions are completed under the terms of

the engagement.

« Investment Management
Mamagement fees are recogmsed on an accrual basis and are
generally calculated as a percentage of a fund or a separately
managed accoumt’s average net asset value. All management
fiees are recognised over the period that the related service is
provided.

Incentive fees are caleulated as a percentage of a fund’s return
or a percentage of a fund’s excess return sbove a specified
benchmark or other performance tasget,

Commissions and Fees

Revenue from commissions and fees from execuling and
clearing client transactions on stock, oplions and futures
markets, as well as OTC transactions is recognised in net
revenues on the day the trade 15 executed.

2007420
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERMATIONAL [UNLIMITED COMPANT )

MNotes to the Financial Statements

Segment Reporting. The directors manage the company's
business activities as & single operating segment and accordingly
no segmental reporting has been provided.

Short-Term Employee Benefits. Shor-lerm emplovees
benefits, such as wages and salaries, are measured on an
undizscounted bask and sccrued as an expense over the period in
which the employee renders the service to the company.
Provision 1= made for discretionary vear-end compensation
whether to be pmd in cash or share-based awards where, as a
resuli of company policy and past praciice, a consiructive
obligation exists at the balance sheet date

Share-Based Payments. Group Inc issues awards in the
form of restmcied stock wuts (RSUs) to the company's
employees in exchange for employee services. Awards are
classified = equity settled and hence the cost of shase-based
trarsactions with emplovess is measured based on the grant-date
fair value of the award. Share-based awards that do not require
future service (1e., vested awards, mcluding awards granted 1o
retirement eligible emplovess) are expensed immediately.
Share-based awards that require future service are amortised
over the relevant service penod. Expected forfeitures are
included in determaning share-based employee compensation
expense

Group Inc. generally issues new shares of commaon stock upon
delivery of share-based awards. Cash dividend equivalents,
unless  profubated by regulation, are pgenerally pasd on
outstanding RSUs. The company has also entered into a
chargeback agreement with Group Ine. under which 1t =
committed to pay o Group Ine. (a) the grant-date fair value of
those awards and (b) subsequent movements in the far value of
those awards between the grant date and delivery 1o employees.
As m result, the share-based pavment transaction and chargeback
agreement, in aggregate, gives rise o a tolal charge 1o the
income statement based on the grant-date fair value of the
awards adjusted for subsequent movements in the fair value of
those awards prior o delivery.

Current and Deferred Taxation. Curent tax 15 caleulated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date in the countries where the company
operstes and generates takable income.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all temporary
differences that have originated, but not reversed at the balance
sheet date, where trarsactions or events have oceurred at that
date that will result in an obligation to pay more tax or a right to
pay less tax m the future with the following excephions:

« Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
more hkely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits
from which the future reversal of the underlving temporary
differences can be deducted.
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+ Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which
temporary differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws
enacted or substantively emacted at the balance sheet date,

Current tax and deferred tax is generally recognised in the
income statement or directly i other comprehensive Income
according to where the associated gan or loss was recognised
The income tax on interest on AT1 notes 1s recognised in the
income statement.

Dividends. Final equity dividends are recopnised as a habliy
and decucted from equiy in the period in which the dividensds
are approved by the company's shareholder. Interim equity
dividends are recognised and deducted from equity when paid

Cash and Gash Equivalents. This mcludes cash o bank and
highly liquid overnight deposiis held in the ordinary course of
busmess.

Foreign Currencies. The company’s financial statements are
presented m U5, dollars, whach is also the company’s functional
CUITETCY.

Transactions denominated n foreign cwmencies are translatesd
inte U5 dollars at eates of exchange ruling on the date the
transaction occurred, Monetary assets and liabalities, and non-
menetary  assels and  liabilities measured at fur valee,
denominated in foreign curencies are transhated into 115
dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date,
Foreign exchange pains and losses are recogmised in profit
befiore taxation.

Financial Assets and Liabilities,

Recaghition and Derecogiition

Financial assets and liabilines, other than cash instruments
purchased or sold in regular way transactions, are recognised
when the company becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial assets are derecogmsed when the
coniractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire or if the company transfers the financial asset and the
transfer qualifies for derecognition. A transferred financial asset
qualifies for derecoprition 1f the company transfers substantally
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset or 1
the company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset bat does
not retain control, Financial habalities are derecogmised only
when they are extinguished, i.e., when the obligation specified
in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Cash instruments purchased or 2old in regular way transactions
are recopnised and derecopnised wsing settlement  date
accounting.

201/420
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIOMAL [UNLIMITED COBPANY
Notes to the Financial Statements

Classification and Measurement: Financlal Assels
The company classifies financial assets as  subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss
an the basis of both the company’s business model for managing
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial assets. The business model reflects how the
company manages particular groups of assets in onder o
penerale future cash Oows. Where the company’s business
mode] s to hold the assets 1o collect comraciun] cash Mows, the
company subsequently assesses whether the financial assets’
cash flows represent solely pavments of principal and interest.
Finargial assets with embedded denvatives (hybrwd mstruments)
are alao subject to the same assesment.

« Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual
cash flows and have cash flows that represent solely payments
of principal and mierest are measured at amortised cost. The
company considers whether the cash flows represent basic
lending armngements, and where contractusal terms introduce
extposiine to fsk of volatility inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the financial asset 13 mandatorily measured at
fair value through profit or loss (see below). Financial assets
measured at amortised cost are imtially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs and subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective inferest method. The effective inlerest method s
a method of calculating the amortsed cost of a financial
instrument and albocating the imerest inceme over the relevant
period. The effective mterest rate 15 the rate thal exactly
disconmnits estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life ofthe financial asset or, when appropriste, a shorter period
to the net carryving valee of the financial asset When
calculating the effective interest rate, the company estimates
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
msset but does not consider future credit losses. Finance
revenue is recorded in net revenues, Financial assets measured
at amortised cost include:

« Cash and cash equivalents;

» Certamn collateralised agreements, which consists of certam
resale agreements and substantially all securities borrowed,

« Customer and other recenvables, and

» Certain other assets, which consists of certan imercompany

loans and substamtially all muscellanecus recevables and
ather.
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+» Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Fmancal assets that are not held for
the collection of contractual cash flows and'or do not have
cash flows that represent selely pavments of principal and
interest are rnmdntulil:.r mieasured at far value through profi
or loss. Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value are
initially measured at farr value with transaction costs expensed
in the income statement.  Such  fmanciml  assets  are
subsequently measured ol far value with gains or losses
recognised in net revenues. Financinl assets mandatonly
measurad at faar valwe inchade:

« Certann collateralised  agreements, which consists of
substantially all resale agreements and certain securities
borrowed,

» Trading assets, which consiats of trading cash instruments
and derivative mstrumends;

« Investmenis,
« Lomns; and

« Certain other assets, which comsists of certain inl.trmmpum}'
loans.

Classification and Measurement: Financial Liabilities
The company classifies its financial liabilities into the below
categories based on the purpese for which they were acquired or
originated.

+ Financial liabilities held for trading. Fmancml liabilies
held for tading are imitially messured a8 fair valee and
subsequently at far value through profit or loss, with gaans or
losses recognised in net revenues. Financial Liabilities held for
tradingg inchsde trading liabilities, which congists of;

+ Trsding cash instruments; and
» Derivative instruments

« Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss. The company designates certmn financial
leabilities at fabr value through perofit or loss. Financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
inftially measured at fair value and subsequemly at fair value
through profit or loss, with DVA being recogmised in other
comprehensive income, 1l it does not create or enlarge an
accounting muismatch, and the remaming changes in the far
value being recognised in nel revenmues, Amounts recognased
in other comprehensive income anributable 10 own credit
spreads are not subsequently transferred 1o the income
statement, ¢ven upon derecognition of the financial linbility,
The primary reasons for desigrating such financial Labilities
at far value through profit or loss are

« To ¢hminate or sgnificantly reduce a2 measurement or
recognilion imconststency that would otherwize anse from
measuring assels o labilities or recognising the gains and
losses on them on dilferent bases. and
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.

» The group of financeal Labilities, or fimancial assets and
lighilitses, s managed and its performance evaluated on a
fair value basis,

Firancial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
foss include:

« The majority of repurchase agreements,
» Securities loaned within FICC,

» Secured debt securities issued, intercompany loans and other
borrowings, which consists of hybrid financial instruments
and transfers of assets accounted for as financings mather than
sales; and

« Certain unsecured borrowmgs, which consists of certain debt
securiies  mssued, certmin other  borrowings,  centain
intereompany leans and prepmd commediny contracts,

Hybrad fmancial mstruments are instruments that contain
bifurcatable embediled dermvatives. [T the company elects o
hifurcate the embedded dervative from the associated deby,
the derivative i1s accounted for at fair value and the host
contract is accounted for at amortised cost, adjusted for the
effective portion of any fair value hedges. IF the company does
not elect to bifurcate, the entire hybrid financial instrument is
designated st fair value through profit or less

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Financial labilities measured sl amortised cosl are mnsially
measured at fair value plus ranssction costs and subsequently
measured i amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See “Financial assels measured at amortised oo™ above for
further information on the elfectve interest method. Finance
costs, inelwding discounts allowed on issue, are recorded innet
interest income and imerest expense. Financial liabilities
measured at amorised cost include

« Certain  repurchase agreements and  substantially  all
sepurities loaned,

« Customer and other pavables;

« Certain unsecured borrowings that kave not been desigrated
at fair value through profit or koss; and

« Cther liabalities, which primarily consists of compensation
and benefits and accrued expenses and other.
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Impairmerndt

The company assesses the expected credit losses associated with
financial assets measured at amortised cost on a forward - looking
basis i accordance with the provisions of [FRS 9, Expected
credit losses are recorded in net revenues, As of both December
2021 and Decembser 2020, the company s expected credit losses
were not material.

The company's impairment model 15 based on changes in credit
quality stnce imtial recognition of financial assets measured at
amortised cost and incorporates the followmg three stages:

+ Stage 1. Financial sssels measured of amortised cost thal are
net credit-impaired on nitial recognition and where there has
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The ECL is measured at an amount equal 1o the
expected credit losses that result from default events possible
within the next twelve months.

« Stage 2. Financial assets measured at amortised cost where
there has been a significant merease m credit risk since mmital
recogmition, however not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.
The ECL is measured based on expected credit losses on a
lifetarne basis

Stage 3. Financial assets mensured at amortised cost that are
in default, or are defined as creditampaered. The ECL
easured based on expected credit losses ona lifetime basiz

Dretermination of the relevant staging for cach financial assel 5
dependent on the delimtion of ‘sgnificant increase i credat
risk” (stage | to stage 2) and the defintion of "credit-ampaired”
(stage 3} The company constders a financial asset to have
experienced a significant increase in credit nsk when certaim
quantitative or qualitstive condittons are met. The company
comsikers a financial asset o be credit-impanred when it meets
Credit Risk’s defmition of default, which & either when the
company considers Lhat the obligor 15 unhkely to pay 15 credi
obligations to the company in [ull, withowt recourse by the
company 1o actions such oz realising security (if held), or the
obligor has defaulted on a payment and/or is past due more than
O days.
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The ECL is determined by projecting the probability of defaul,
loss given default and exposure at default for each individual
exposure. To caleulate expected credit losses these three
components are multiplied together and discounted back 1o the
reporting date. The discount rate wsed in the ECL calculatson 1s
the onginal effective interest rate. The probabality of default
represents. the likelibood of a bomower defaulting on s
financial obhigation. The loss given default 15 the company’s
expectation of the extent of loss on the default exposure, amd
takes into consideration amongst otser things, collateral on the
financial asset. The exposure at default is the amount the
compary expects 1o be owed at the time the financial obligation
defaults, The company uses imtermal credit risk ratings that
reflect the assessment of the probability of default of individual
counterparties. The company uses multiple macroeconomic
scerarios within the ECL calcubation, the weightings for which
are subject to ongoing internal review and approval.

The ECL model takes into aceount the weghted average of a
range of forecasts of future economic conditions. The forecasts
include baseline, favourable and adverse cconomic scenamos
over a three-vear penod To the extent the company has
financial assets in Stage 2 or Stage 3 which have an expected
life beyvond three years, the model reveris to histoncal loss
mformation based on a non-lincar modelled approach. The
company applies judgement in weighing individual scenarsos
each quarter based onoa variely of factors, meluding imtemally
denived  economic  outlook, markel  consensus,  recent
macreecenomic conditions and industry trends.

Forward-lecking information, such as key economic vasiables
mmpacting credit nsk and expected credat losses, is incorporated
inio both the assessment of staging and the caleulation of ECL.

The company writes off firancial sssets, in whaole or in part,
when it has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of
TeCovVery.

Classification of Financial Liabilities and Equity
Financial labiliies and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contracheal arrangements. A
financial lability 15 any Labality that 15 a contractual obhgation
1o deliver cash or ancther financial asset to another entity; or 1o
exchange financial assetz or fimancial labilities with ancther
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the
enfity. An equily instrument 1s any confract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all
liabalities. Instruments are evaluated to determine if they contain
both hability and equity components. The mitial carrving value
of a compound financial instrument 15 allocated first 1o the
liabality component, measured at fair value, and the equity is
assigned the residual amount
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Offsefting Financial Assels and Liabilities
Financial assets and liabalities are offset and the net amount
presented in the balance sheet where there s

« Currenily a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised
amounts, and

« Imtent to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simubltaneously,

Where these conditions are not met, financial assets and
liabilities are presented on a gross basis in the balance sheet.

Fair Value Measurement
See Note 29 for details about the fair value measurement of the
company s financial assets and hisbilines.

Fair Value Hedges

The company applies hedge accounting under LAS 39 for cenain
interest rate swaps used 1o manage the interest rte exposuse of
certain  fixed-rate  unsecured long-term  and  short-term
borrowings. To qualify for hedge accounting, the denvative
hedge must be hughly effective at reducing the risk from the
exposure being  hedged.  Additionally. the company must
formally document the hedging relationship at inception and test
the hedging relationship to ensure the denvative hedge
comtinues 1o be highly effective over the life of the hedgmg
relationship.

The comparny applies a statistical method that utilises regression
analysis when assessing the effectiveness of its fair value
hedging relationships in achieving offsetting changes in the fair
values of the hedging instrument and the risk being hedged (1e.,
interest rate risk). An interest rate swap 15 conssdered highly
effective n offsetting changes m farr value attribatable to
changes in the hedged nsk when the regression analysis resulls
in a coefficient of determination of 8% or greater and a slope
between B0z and 125%, Possible sources of ine Tectivensss on
these hedges include

» Differences in timing of cash fMlows between the hedped item
and hedging instrument.

« Differences i discounting between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument, as cash collateralized derwatives are
discounted using Overnight Indexed Swap discount curves,
which are not conmistently apphied 1o the hedged 1tem.

« Counterparty credit risk impacting fair value movements on
uncollateralised interest rate swaps but not the underlying

hedged iem.

For qualifying faar value hedges, gains or losses on denvatives
and the change in fair value of the hedged item aitributable 1o
the hedged nisk are included in net revenses. When a derivative
15 mo longer designated as a hedge, any remaimng difference
between the carrving value and par value of the hedged nem i
amortised over the remaining life of the hedged item using the
effective interest method.
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Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings

Collateralised  agreements include resale agreements  amd
securities  borrowed,  Collateralised  financings include
repurchase  agreements, secunities  leaned, secured  debt
securities isswed, intercompany loans and other borrowings. See
“Classification and Measurement: Financial Assets™ and
“Classification and Measurement: Financial Liabilities™ above
for detmls on the classification and measurement of these
instruments. Collmeral received of posted can be in the form of
cash or securities. Cash collateral 13 recognised ‘derecogmised
when received/paid. Collateral posted by the company in the
form of securities 19 not derecognised from the balance sheet,
whilst collateral received in the form of securities s not
recogmised in the balance sheet If collateral recemnved 1s
subsequently sold, the obligation 1o return the collateral and the
cash received are recognised in the balance sheet.

Pension Arrangements. The company 15 a sponsar of a
defmed contribution pension plan, and a hvbred pension plan for
the benefit of certain employees. The hybrid pension plan has
both o defined benefit section (the FPlan) and 3 defined
comribution section, These are accounted for as follows:

= For the defined contnbution persion plan and the defined
contribution  section of the hybrid persion plan, the
contnbutions payable for the period are charged to net
operating  expenses.  Differences  between  contributions
payable for the period and conmbutions actually paid are
shown as either aecruals or prepavments in the balance sheet.

« For the Plan, the amoumts charged 1o net operating expenses
are any pasl service costs, adnunistration costs and any gains
or losses on settlements and curtalments. These amownts are
included m compensation and benefits. The net interest is
included in net mterest income/(expense). Actuarial gains and
losses are recognased immeditely in other comprehensive
mncome, Plan assets are measured st far value and Plan
labilities are measured on an actuanal basis wsing the
projected wat credit method and discounted at a rate
equivalent to the cumrent rate of retum on a high-quality
corporate bond of equivalemt currency and term to the Plan
labilities, Full actuanal valwstions are obtaned at least
triennially and updated at each balance sheet date. Any sisplus
or deficit of Plan assets over Plan liabilities is recognised in
the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or liability (defiest)
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Property, Leasehold Improvements and Eguipment.
Property, leaschold improvements and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and provision  for
impatrment, Fixtures, fittings and equipment are depreciated on
a straighi-line basis over ther estimated useful lives, which is
between 3 to 7 vears. Leaschold improvements are depreceated
over the shorter of the useful economic life of the asset or the
remaining life of the lease when the asset s brought nto use,
Depreciation is inéluded in net operating expenses, Depreciation
policies are reviewed on an annul basis,

Intangible Assets. Intangible assets are stated ot cost less
accumulsted amortisation and provision for impairment. Subject
to the recognition criteria in [AS 38 *Intangible Assets’ being
met, costs incurred during the pericd that are directly
attributable to the development or improvement of new business
application software are capitalised as assets in the course of
comstruction. Assets in the course of construction are wransferred
1o compater software once completed and ready for ther

intendied wse,

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated wseful life, which iz theee vears, No amortisation is
charged on assets in the course of construction. Amortisation is
included in net operating expenses and the amortisation policies
are reviewed on an annual basiz.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances suggest that an asset’s or asset group’s
carrying value may not be fully recoverable.

Leases. Leases are recogmised as a nght-of-use asset and a
commesponding liability a1 the date of commencement of the

lease,

Lease hiabilities were measwred ot the present value of the
remaining lease pavmerts, discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate (TBR) a= of the lease commencement
date or adoption of IFRS 16, whichever is later, as the interest
rate miphicit mn the lease carmot be readily determined. The
welghted average discount rate applied to the lease lisbilities on
adoption of IFRS 16 was 3.5%.

Assets and habilities armsing from a bease are initially measwred
on & present valee basis, Lease labalities include the et present
value of fixed and vanable payments {including those under
reasoaably certain extension oplions), less any lease incentives
receivable, and payment of penalties for terminating any lease,
The lease payvmients are discounted using the lessee’s IBE. The
finance cost 15 charged to the ncome statement over the lease
peried so as to produce a constant pertodie rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the lmbility for each perod.
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Eight-of-ume assets are measured at cost comprising the initial
measurement of lease liability, any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives
receved, and any anitial direct costs. Right-of-use assets are
deprecmated over the lease term on a siraight line basis. The
company has chosen not to revalue its right-of-use asses.

Extension and termination options are inclueded in the office
premises lexse entered into by the company. These are used 1o
maxamise operational fexibility in terms of managing the assels
used 1n the company’s operations. The extension and
termination options held are exercizable only by the company
and not by the respective lessor,

Righi-of-use asseis are tested for impatrment whenever events
of changes in circumstances suggest that an asset’s or asset
group’s carrying value may not be fully recoverable An
mparment loss, caleubated as the dilference between the
estimated recoverable amount (being the fair value) and the
carrying value of an asset or asset group, 15 recognised if the sum
of ns expected undiscounted cash fows s less than s
cormesponding carrying value,

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets. Provisions are recognised in the firancial statements
when it 13 probable that an cutflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle a present {legal or constructive) obligation,
which has ansen as a result of past events, and for which a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Legal oblizations that may anse as a result of proposed new laws
are recognised as obhigations only when the legislation s
virtually certain to be enacted as drafted,

A contingent lishility 15 a possible obligation that anses from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
OCCUTERnce OF Non-oecrmence of one of more uncenain future
events not whally within the control of the company or a present
obligation that anscs from past events but s not recognised
because either an outflow of economic benefits 1s not probable
or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably measured.

A contingent asset 15 a possible asset that arises from past evenis
and whose exastence will be confirmed only by the ocourence
or nen-oceumence of one or more undenain future events not
whelly within the conitrol of the company.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are nol recognised in
the fimancial statements. However, disclosuse is made for
comtingent liabilities unlbess the probability of settlement is
remate.
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Note 4.

Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management Lo
make judpements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts recegnised in these financial statements. The nature of
estimation means that actual oucomes could differ from those
estimates, The following estimates have had the most segnificant
effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Fair Value Measurement

Certain of the company s financial assets and labilities include
sigruficant uncbservable imputs (Le., level 3). See Note 29 for
information about the carrying value, valuation techniques and
significant inputs of these instrumenits.

Dafined Benefit Pension

The cost of the Plan and the value of the Plan lhabilities are
determined using actuarm] valwtions. This involves making
assumplions about discount rates, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the
complexity of the valuation, such estmates are subject to
sigrificant uncertamty. See Mote 15 for further mformation
about the company s Plan.
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Note 5.
Met Revenues

Met reverues include net interest expense and non-interest
meome. Met interest expense includes interest and dividends on
financial mstruments measured at far value and amortised cost.

The ahble below presents net revemaes.

Pariod Ended Decsmbsr

£ in miliong sl 20"
Non-interest income
Finaszial inalnasaly mandatadlly missiuned &t

air valkis theough probt or loas § 0,848 5 B,200
Financial insnaments designated ot

Hair vakis theough probt or loat 1,083 1529
Fas s comimisaasns 313 R
Cther income - T
Nor-indenedd indome 11,40 10, 284
InbeTest bncomss
Inflerusd income Fom inancial nsinaments

msasured at fak value through profit or loss am 2857
Iriedwal incorme Fom Enancal netumeniy

sasured at amort sed cost 1,59 1,538
Todal inberest Incone 3,448 4,158
InbeFesl enponan
It el o § will 4]

msasured at fak valus through profit or loss (2083 (24198
Ieftern s expene Forn Enancial i

s ol amortised col 1,331} e -vy ]
Total Interest expense 3,347} 15,181}
Net Ird erest expense 55 (S5,
Nl revenues 10,910 001

1. For the period ended December 2020, 3634 mullion of the
compary’s interest  expense  from  financial  instruments
measured at amortised cost was disclosed as interest expenss
from financial instruments measured at fair value. Comparatives
have been restated, with no change to total inerest expense to
move 3634 milhon of mierest expense from inlerest exponse
from financial mstruments measured at farr value o interest
expense from fmancial instruments measured at amortisad cost.

In the table above:

« Gains and losses on francial instruments  mandatonly
reasured at fair value through profit or loss primanly relates
to non-interest gains and losses on trading assets, investmenis,
loans, trading labilities and certain collateralised agreements,

« Gains and losses on financial instruments designated at fair
value through profit or loss primarily relates to non-interest
gaims and losses on certain unsecured bomrowings and
collateralised financings.

« Fees and commissions primarily relates 1o net revenues from
ceftain financial advisory and underwriting engapements,
executing and clearing client transactions amd  certain
invesiment maragement services.
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« Other meome, which related to consideration received from
GSBE in connection with the transfer of certain of the
company s activities and employees as a pant of GS Group's
Brexit planning

Financial mstruments desigznated ot Gair valuwe through profit o
loss are frequently economacally hedged with financial
instruments measured mandatorly at fair valee through profit
of less, Accordingly, pains or losses that are reported in
financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or
loss can be partmlly offset by gains or lesses reported in
financial mstruments measured mandstonly at farr value

through profit or loss.

Geographic Information

Due o the highly integrated natse of intemational Gnancial
markets, the company manages its busmesses based on the
profitability of the enterprise as a whole. The methodology for
allocating profitability to geographic regions 15 dependent on
estimates and management judgement.

Geographic results are generally allocated as follows:

» Investment Banking: location of the chient, mvestment
bankimg team and underlying nsk

« FIOC and Equities: location of the market-making desk or the
primary market for the underlying secunty.

o Investrment  Manapement:  locatiom  of the  mvestmient
management leam.

The table below presents nel revenues by geographic region
allocated based on the methadology referred 10 above,

[Parind Ersdied Ddeesm bar

oOoOooodn

% in millions e 200
EMES § T.0ar 5 8878
Amaricas 1745 1,564
Baia 2,097 1,771
Tota soge 0011

Revenue from Contracts With Customers

The table below presents revenue from contracts with customers
subgect o IFRS 15, whach are incheded in fees and commissions
within non-interest income:

Pariod Enced Dacambar
5 i relleong ol 2020
Finaarscind a oy snd wnderwritng sngagements 52775 52,160
Exsoubon and chent cearing ransactons 53 2]
i i AE I
Tor 703 55100
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Note 6.

Net Operating Expenses

The table below presents net operating expenses.

Pariad Ended December

§ i riliong 2 220
Compensation snd beredits 53,185 s2m2h
Trasaction bated sopente 3,053 1,680
Market e sinpment a8 43
Communicaions and technology iT1] 145
Duprecaation and amortaation 210 184
Professonal fees 163 181
Management charges Fom G5 Group afflstes 1,118 a2
Cthar expenses Bﬂ-_l ﬂ
Cptrating expenses 7,710 8,831
Marsageensat chaiged b G5 Group afllates (343} [
Nl cparating expardes §7,967 56,487
In the table above:

« Mammgement charges includes charges relating to operational
and administrative support and management services, received
from and provided 1o GS Group affilmates

« ther expenses primarily includes TFRS 15 expenses,

miscellaneous taxes, provisions for labilities and chartable
comtributions,

The table below presents the fees pavable to the company's
awditor, which are included in professional fees,

Prariod Ended December
§ in milipny 1 o
A fess T 46
Faxclt related avmrance sarvices 1 18
Cthd Eifuilinid diietad 5 343
TaxaSon complimss Sevices ol 02
Tiotal e for non-aisdit services [%) [E]
Totid fids 103 8.8

In the table above:

» Other assurance services included the company’s share of fees
related to certain services provided by a network firm of the
company’s auditor to various G5 Group affiliates, These fees
wiere apportioned to the variows GS Group affiliates, including
the company, by reference to cach entity’s asset size. Other
assurance services for the period ended Diecember 2020 also
included fees m conmection with a thematie regulatory review.

Tax compliance services included services provided under the
transitional provisions of the FRC's Revised Ethical Stancdard
and are no longer provided by the auditor a5 of December
2021,

L]
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Nate 7.
Compensation and Benefits

The table below presents the company’s average monthly
emplovee headcount, mcluding executive directors.

FAoverage for the

Periad Ercled December

i | 2020
“irastent Banking EC] B2

FIKC ran k]
Equities. L 08
lrrvi e Mlaca garmant T3 B8
Support Funcions - 7 T2
Tolal average headcount 1508 &, 260

Tetal headeounm was 3,844 as of December 2021 and 4,115 as
of Degember 2020

The table below presents compensation and benefits costs
incurred by the company, including those relating to directors.

[Paricd Erbthiedd Dis i i

5 in melbons ol 2020
Wiages and salanes 27 52418
Sochl security costs =T A5
Pangion coats
(Dbl comiribation plan and dakned conlributan

section of the bybrid pensicn plan LEY 4B
D Fireed Enia i scton of the hybed pansion plan z 3
Toeal 788 50608

In the table above, total compensation ard benefits included a
charge of 3634 million for the pertod ended December 2021 and
a charge of 3259 million for the period ended December 2020
representing recharges from Group Inc. equivalent to changes in
the bur value of share-based payment awards duning the period.
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Nate 8,
Share-Based Payments

Stock Incentive Plan

Group Inc. sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman Sachs
Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (2021) (2021 SIF),
which provides for, amongst others, grants of RSUs, restriciad
stock, dividend equivalent nights and incentive stock options,
each of which may be subgect 1o terms and conditions, inehuding
performance or markel conditions, On Apnll 29, 2021, Group
Inc.’s shareholders approved the 2021 SIP. The 2021 SIP is a
sucoessor to several predecessor stock incentive plans, the first
of which was adopted on April 30, 1999, and each of which was
approved by GS Group's shareholders.

The company recorded share-based compensation m respect of
the amortsation of granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of
2482 millien for the pericd ended December 2021 and 5430
million for the penod ended December 2020, The resultant
credit to equity ansing from these share-based payments has
been offset in equity as a result of the recognition of a liabilaty
for amounts ansing under the terms of the chargeback
agreement with Group Ine. under which the company 1=
committed 1o pay to Group Ine. the grant-date fair value, as well
as subsequent movements in the fair value of those awards
Group Inc. at the time of delivery 1o its emplovees.

Restricted Stock Units

Group Inc. grants RSUs (including R3Us subject 1w
performance of markel conditions) to the company s employess
under the 2021 SIP, which are generally valued based on the
closing price of the underlying shares on the date of grant after
taking into account a liquidity discount for any applicable post-
vesting and delivery transfer restrictions. The value of equity
awards also considers the impact of material non-public
mformation, of any, that the firm expects to make available
shortly following grant. RSUs generally vest and underlying
shares of common stock deliver (net of required withholding
tax) as outlined in the applicable award agreements. Employee
award agreements generally provide that vesting 15 accelerated
in cerain circumstances, such as on retrement, death, disabilaty
and conflicted employment. Delivery of the underlying shares
of common stock is conditioned on the grantees satisfyimg
certain vesting and other requirements outlined in the award
agreements. RSUs nol subject to performance conditions
generally vest and deliver over a three-year period.

RESUs that are subject to performance or markel conditions
generally deliver after the end of a thres to five-vear perwsd. For
awards that are subject 1o performance or market conditions,
generally the final award 15 adpsted from zero up to 150% of
the original grant based on satisfaction of those conditions.
Divedend equivalents that sccrue on these awards are paid when
the awards settle.
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The table below presents the activity related to RSUs.

WViighbed Average
Grant-Diste Fak Value of
Routrated Stock [Retricted Stock
Units Qutitanding Unite Outstanding
Future Mo Future Future Mo Fulure
Serdice Serdice Service Serdoe
Reeguined Risguineed Rogquired  Reguired
Baicd Enged December 2031
Beginning balance IR DSBATE §204.00 Shoaid
Graned TORTET 1,320,804 §258.00 SPE1ET
Fut eitnd (B5,500) (63,735 S220.06 FH05.70
Dedsrad = {1,838,38%) 5 - F07.84
ested (TOB,85T) TO8 BT §21201 E Ak ]
Traoera fe s (E2AD01) 5681 S216.18 SROZTE
Ending balance THB,025 2,725,700 S240.70 [FFEET]
Peried Enced Dectrmber 2020
Begnning balance 17430850  2A93.507 $103.70 510354
Gt BAD2T0 1,185,883 SHE44 §22368
Forfeted {80,808} 26, 45 520465 10027
Dolbgind ~ (1 ETE I L] - 519688
Weslad {1,602818, 1502818 $187.82 s187.82
Traevlars {68,365) 158, 145 5188.27 520260
Ending balance SIS REMATE $205.00 20312
In the table above:

» The weighted average grant-date fuir valwe of RSUs granted
was 326071 dwing the period ended December 2021 and
§230.24 duning the period ended December 2030, The fair
value of the RSUs pranted included a liquidity discount of
80" during the period ended December 2021 and 819%
during the period ended Diecember 2030, to reflect post-
vesting and delivery transfer restnctions, generally of up to 4
YA

« The aggregate far value of awards that vested was 5584
million during the period ended December 2021 and $376
million during the period ended December 2020,

+ The ending balance for the period ended December 2021 also
included RSUs not subject to future serviee requirements but
subject to performance conditions of 58,948 RSUs and the
maximum amount of such RSUs that may be carned was
88,421 RSUs, and for the period ended December 2020 also
included RS5Us not subject to future serviee requirements but
subject to performance conditions of 37,767 RSUs and the
maximum amount of such RSUs that may be carmed was
56,651 RSUs
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Nate 9,
Income Tax Expense

The table below presents an analysis of the company’s income
1ax expense.

3 in milipng 0 20
Current fax

UK, aation 5 ar -]
Adfustments in respect of prior periods | =
Chmronat taxaton Frl] 215
Tistal current tax [IL] K7
Dreferred tax

Crigination and reversal of mponary dfssnces (1T} 0
Efect of increased U K. coporation tax rale 135) (3]
Adjustrnts i respect of priod periods @ -
Todal deferred tax [TLLT] (i1
Total income 1ax expense 5018 i)

The twble below presents o reconciliation Belwesn income 1
expense and the amount calculated by applying the weighted
average rate of UK, corporation tax applicable to the company
for the period ended December 2021 of 27.0% (penod ended
December 2020: 27.0%%) o the profit before taxation.

Pariod Ended December

§ in puiliong il 00
Fuoft bedore tanation 1,951 EEEF
Pt multiphed by UK. corpomion tax rabe of

T 0% (pariod snoed December 2000 37 0%) L e ]
Changes in recogrdion and mestumment of

dalerrad lar s15es 2 14
Tax desductible on inteeest on ATY notes 202y {203y
Permaneet differences (L1 10

Tax loases surrendensd Wom GS Group
aflates ke nil conaldembion

= 3
E flact of higher tsves on overseas ssmings - 1
Exchange ciffersnces and cther 2 L]
Adfustrmeets in rospect of prior periods = 20
Efact of increased UK. coporate tax rate S5) (451

Tt incomi lax axpenss EILIE 3 e

The Finance Act 2021, which increases the UK. corporale tx
main fate fram 19.0% o 25,086 from Apeil 1, 2023, was enacied
in June 2021, During 2021, the company”s deferred tax assets
were remeasured and a deferred tax benefit of 555 million was
recognized in the income: statement. Following the increase in
the UK. corporatc tax main rate, the UK. povernment
undertook a review of the 8.0%% bank surcharge, applicable 1o
the company, to ensure that the combined tax burden on banks
does not rise substantially. Cn Febreary 24, 2022, the Finance
Act 2022 was enacted which reduced the bank surcharge from
B.0f% 1o 3.0% from Apnl 1, 2023, Tf this rate change had been
substantively enscted as of December 2021, the company’s
deferred tax asset would have been lower by 550 million, of
which 544 million would have been recogmsed in the income
statement znd %6 mallion i other comprehensive income.

ol
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Naote 10,
Collateralised Agreements

The table below presents collateralized apreements.

s of Decembar
3 in g HH Parri]
Fesale agresmants 138848 5 TH 140
Sacuritios b 100,522 G552
Todal §FET,0686 5140682
Mot 11.

Customer and Other Receivables

The table below presents customer and other receivables

A al Deeanbar
3 in ellong otk | 2020
R res Fom b dert and cleanng
orgmnnaticns F7, 103 $51.350
P il e ) pat 9,003 79030
Total 98,135 590,380
In the table above

+ Total customer and other receivables primanly consists of
receivables resulting from collsteral posted in connection with
certam derivative transactions, customer margin loans amd
balances related 1o listed dervative activity

+ Recewvables from customens and counterparties imcludes
receivables from contracts with clients, which were 3228
million asof December 2021 and 5327 million as of December
2020
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Mate 12.
Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities include trading cash instrumients
and derivatives held in connection with the company *s market-
making or nisk management activities. Trading assets includes
asmels pledged as collateral. See Note 28 for further information

The wble below presents trading assets,
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Mote 13,
Investments

Investments incledes debt instruments and equity securities that
are accounted for at fair value and are generally held by the
company in connection with 1ts long-term investing activities.
Investments inchales assels pledged as collateral, See Note 28
for further information.

The table below presents information about investments,

Az ol Decambar
5 in milions. 21 2020 /s of December
Trading cash instuments £ in milllong ma e
Moy market instnuments 5 L Cotporabe debl instromesss §161 5630
G and agency obiig il 24,750 Eguity tecusiing na 248
Morigage and o asselbacied Tota a0 SEH
loans and secunbes ars LB
Corporate debt insnaments. a3 e In the table above:
A —— 55,508 47,135 ) L .
Commodbes a1 ¥ » Corporste debt instruments pnmarily mcludes mezzmne,
Total irading cash irstruments 108,392 EH senior and distressed debt.
Dierivativis . . ) . . )
[ —— 122709 671,483 + Equaty secunities consists of the company's public and private
Crecit E 28,778 equity-related mvestments in corporale entities
Cumenscies w00 110,483
Cemmaodbet o 0,824
Equities 3,561 70,724
Totm derlyates 35,608 898,307 Note 14.
Total irading assels $rLER W2 ﬂther ﬂESEtS
The table below presents trading liabilities. The table below presents other assets by type.
L of Decomber _

% in milions 021 20 ) s of December
Trading cash Instruments 3 i mikons il 200

Intescoengany boans 52,083 [T
Govemment and agency obiigatans 3 M3 516772 Wi —_ e ey 54
Corporate debt insnaments 5,703 3700 -
Equity Setusfies 5,497 M 473 L“““"“"“:m" — 2'": ?'Hg
Commodtes M 40 i ey 353 450
Todal irading cash rmiruments L 81,005 . - P M -
Drarivatives

Penskon suplus (sae Hobs 185 mn frar )
e R G -
o ﬂ‘l?'ﬂil' 1“:“5 Prispagymanty aod aterued 0 m
Commodties 428 0,86 Taeraiatod axsets r B
Equitier A 72060 Micalanacus tmcelveties and sihe i il

* o Y e

Totd derivatives CEE ] :::“"""”w Ll ::ﬁ: s:tﬁ
Total trading Nabilities S84,982 392414 :

In the tables above:

« Corporate debt instruments includes corporate loans, debt
securities, convertible debentares, prepmd  commodiy
trarsactions and wansfers of assets accounted for as secured
loans rather than purchases

» Equity securities includes public and exchange-traded funds,

In the wble above, miscellancous receivables and other
pramarily inchades receivables for allocation of net revenues
ameng G5 Group affilistes for their participation in G3 Group's

husmess activities
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Property, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment
The table below presents the movements in property, leaschold
mmprovements and equipment during the current and prior
peniod.

Fiatureg,

Leasshold fimngs mned
3 in eeilong WM w Tital
Ceat
A of Hovesiber 2018 528 E-3] 538
Additionrs - i 1
Disposal . {20} [ []
An of Decirter 2020 ¥ 5 [0
i s T 1 B
s of December 2021 8 [} 22
Accumul aled depreciation
A of Hovember 2018 | 5 25
Charge ot the paricd z 1 3
Dipotay {13p (1] {16}
A of December 2020 E] 12
Chargs kot the paricd - 1 1
At of Decoriber 2021 ¥ 4 13
Nt Book valse
A of Decersber 2021 57 532 59
“An of Decemoe 2020 5 - (B [
Intangible Assets

The table below presents the movements mn intangible asscts
dunng the current and prior persod.

AEnals in Beb

Computer cowme of
3 in railiong roftwate  conabiudtion Total
Cost
Ax of Novermber 2018 31 S5 5 A4TE
AddtioriTranifers. e k] me
Drsposais 15 = {5k
As of Deconber 2020 B2 30 32
AddtionsTransters. 150 F=} w3
Dmpariaiy 139} = 128}
As of Docerber 202 241 Fk] 1,086
Accumilsed amortisaton
As of Hoversber 2018 183 = 183
Chargs for the panod 172 = 72
Dispota @ - o
Ax of December 2020 352 = 52
Chargae for the pariod Far ] - Hb
Diiposshs 115) - 115)
A of December 2021 Ear] - 3
Nt Bool ke
Ak of Ducomber 2021 M0 §353 § 553
A5 of Ducember 2020 a0 [0 & 480
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Mote 15.
Pension Arrangements

The company sponsors a persion plan with a hybrid structure,
having both a defined benefit section (the Plan) and a defined
comribulion section. The Plan provides retirement benefils on
the basis of members” final salary, with & normal retirement age
aof 65 for most members, The Plan is funded, with the assets of
the scheme held separately from those of the company, in
separate trustee-administered funds.

The Plan was closed to new entrants with effect from Apnl 1,
2008, and was replaced by a defined contnbution plan. As of
March 31, 2016, the Plan was closed 1o fulure benefit accruals
for existing participants

The Plan operates under trust law and is managed and
admirustrsted by the Goldman Sachs UK Retrement Plan
Trsstee Limited (the Trustee) on behalf of the members and
beneficiaries inaccordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and
Rules and relevamt legslation. The Trustees act on behall of the
members and beneficianes and have the responsibality for
setting  the  investment strategy and agrecing  funding
requirements with the company through the valwation process.

A full actuanal valuation of the Plan was carmed owt by a
qualified indeperdent actuary as of December 31, 2021 using
the projected it ¢redit method based upon membership data as
of July 31, 2021, As of December 2021, the Plan liabalities
comsist of 96% in respect of future beneficiaries and 4% m
respect of current beneficianes

There &= no asset ceiling imposed on the amount of pension
surplus recogrised i the financial statements as the company is
able to utilise the Plan surplus in the scenarios set out m “IFRIC
14 - 1AS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefin Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements and their Interaction”

Risks of the Plan
The mainrisks of the Plan are:

« Funding Shortfall. Additiomal comtributions will be
required if the investment returns are not sufficient to pay for
bemefits. The level of aquity returns will be a key determinant
of overall investment return; the myvestment portfolio 15 also
subject 1o a range of other risks typical of the asset classes
held, in particular inerest rte nisk and inflation risk on bonds.

« Asset Volatility. A consequence of the Plan's invesiment
strategy, with a zignificant proportion of the assets invested in
eoquities andd other retum-sesking assets is that the difference
between Plan assets and Plan labilities may be volatile

Plan Liabilities Sensitivity. Plan liabilities are sensitive to
the assumptions made about futere inflation and life
expectancy. It iz also sensitive to the discount rate, which
depends on market yields on sterling-demommated AA
corporate bonds.
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Financial and Mortality Assumptions

The table below presents the significant firancial and mortalaty
assumptions used to determine the present value of the defined
benefit obligation,

As of Dt immibiar

% T ST, enneel oty =] 2021 2020
Financial A ssumglions
Drisdentt citi 1M 152
Rate of price mfabion = RPI 133 288
Rote of price inflation = CPI 288 248
Raoie of increase in pansions in payments

(past-November 3. 1593 acerusl) 218 2,78
Raote of inceass in pansons in celemment

ipost-November 3. 19258 accrual) 288 248
Rt ol [LT: u L] ]

ipost-Agel §, 2000 scorual) 250 248
Maortality Assumptions
Lite axp y ot 65 for o k iy o 65

Malis M.Tyears 4.2 yean

Females M4 years 254 yeams
Lits nxp y ot 55 for @ bar currenty of 45

Males ha years  T55 yean

Femakes M0 pears D58 yean

In the table above, the mortality assumplions adopted for the
penod ended Decembeer 2021 were the “SAPS 53 very light (All
Pensioners) series” base table with an allowance for future
mprovements from 20013 onwards in line with the Ch1 2020
core projections with a long-term rate of improvement of 1.25%
per annum and an initial addition to monality improvement
parameter of 030 per annum,

Reconciliation of Pension Surplus
The table below presents a reconciliation of Plan assets, Plan
lLiabalities and the net pension surplus.

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Fair Value of Plan Assets

The Flan Trustees have a de-rsking framework in place to adjust
the long-term asset allocation strategy of the Flan upon reaching
certain funding targets, The Flan reached the funding tnigger of
95% at the end of December 2021, As such, the existing sirategy
to invest 53% of assets in retumn secking mvestments (such as
equity funds/mdices, alternative investments and fixed income
secunities) and 47% i Lhabality matching assets (such as Gilts)
was adjusted 10 invest 41% of assels in return seeking
investments and 59% in liability matching assets in 2002,

The Plan has a hedging programme investing in swaps and other
derwatives inorder to reduce the exposure to changes in interest
rates and inflation

The table below presents the fair value of Plan assets.

5 i oy Cucted Unquoted Total
As of December J021

Eaquity Linch/idces 5 B2 5 - § B2
Gis 1,218 - 1218
Swagrs - 183 163
Cash and cash equivalents F 1 - 287
Cthar 564 ™ B5E
Total 52,088 FECH 53,040
B of December 2020

Equity lnds/indices 5 B8 5 - 5 0
G Ba4 - -0
Swaps - T 08
Cash and cash squivalents En - n
Chiae 543 fal TS
Tetal $2.080 §1,127 53,218

In the table above, other primanly consists of invesiments i
alternative investments and fixced income secunties. During the
period ended December 2021, changes were made 1o simplify

Hat the Plans labality-driven imvestmend portfolio by reducing

Pian  Flan  pension exposige o swaps 1o allow for mere investment i Gilts, whach
£ s mlliorm - Sisets Esbllies  surpius will increase the expected long-term retun of the Plan with
Asof ey 1, 2020 B SO SN2 minimal risk and more efficient portfolio operation.
Adminisirative cost = el e}
It it incomel e penta) I (45} 3 Defined Benefit Cost
Rustum on Plan axsets greater than discount rabs 4% - A The tahle below presents the defined benefit losa/{pain) related
Aciuarial gain = lablity saperimce - z z to the Plan recognised in the income statement and in other
Actuarial gainfost) - natiel " - b bl comprehensive income,
Astuanial guini{loasy - Ssmograghic sssmetons - 3 3
Benedis paid ) Bl = Parod Ended December
Forsign axchangs gendloss) o] E ] § in padiang L] ]
As of December 31, 2021 SLHS 23R 5310 TPy pre——
Pericd Endad Decembee 2020 Bekvinistrative £ oat 5§ 4 5 3
Ax of December 1. 2018 20 HIdnl 34 e s e o o]
Adruiniairative cobt - % & Total chargeaicredited] Lo ihe Income stalement 1 [
Infeust incometexpense) &7 151 & Beher comprehnaln o
Ruetum on Plan sssets greater than discourt rate WL = e Ritum on Plan asseis greater than dcount fale [LL1] (2585
Actuarial gain - isbiky speincs - il e Actuarial gain = labiity axperence [F] (45
Actuarial gaini{ioat) - Snkntial 5 - @0 T Actuaiial Issligan) — Snancial iiesplont (L] 470
Actuarial ga b = demographt v - M M Actusrial lossiigain} — dsmegraghic sssumghons m 7
Benaeftn puid (4% % - Total lossiigain) recognised in olher
Foreign axchange gendjoas) 10 059 L. comprehensve income 113} T
A of Ducersber 31, 3020 $3T16 HA04 5302 Total defined berefit bos sl gan w117 5 73
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Sensitivity Analysis
The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of Plan liabilities
for each significant actuarial assumption.

gt to Flan Liabditie

NS N BTN N DHoL PibBE i o
§ i mifions * & in miliong %
0.25% change in
dmesunt rate 218 [r2 ] 540 L]
0.25% changs in price
infation 178 [X] [165) 5.6)
1 year changs in ke
wapaciancy 115 e SR L] [RE]
&8 of December 2020
0. 26% change In
dreount rate 235 LER. 5 L]
0.25% changs in price
indation 180 83 27 T2
1 year changs in ke
BapaCiBnCy 11a an (1% 38

I the table above, the sensitivities are based ona change in ¢ach
assumplion while holding all ether assumptions constam

There are inherent limitateons in the sensitivity analysis, as such
wdiosyneratic  movements ase  unlikely to occur. The
methodology used to calculate the sensitivities are corgistent
across the two periods presented in the table above.

MNature of Future Cash Flows

Since the Plan’s closure to future aceruals from BMarch 31, 2016,
the company has ceased to make regular contnbutions info the
Plan but wall continue to assess the funding requirements of the
Plan with the Trustees on a pertodic basis.

On a trienmal basis, a formal funding valuation of the Plan 15
performed for the Trustees io assess the funding needs of the
Flan, This valustion differs from the actuarial valuation required
for acoounting purposes due to the wse of different assumptions.

The mosi recent funding valuation of the Plan was performed by
aqualified independent actuary as of December 31, 2018, which
indicated that the Flan was ina funding surplus of 5316 million.
The prelimimary results of the next formal tnennia] valustion as
of December 2021 are likely 1o be available i the third quarter
of 2022 and based on initial estimaies and the cuwrrent funding
surplus in the Plan, the company currently does nol expect 1o
nged 1o make any further conributions into the Flan

The company expects 332 million of benefits to be paid out of
the Plan to memibers in the next vear.

The weighted average duration of Plan labalitics was 32 years
as of December 2021,
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Mote 16,
Deferred Tax Assets

The table below presents the components of the company’s
deferred tax asset.

As of December

§ i rliong il 2020
Delerred compensation S8 3851
Pertlrt rardat Bnatee 103 {54}
Fropesty, mpr Bl o

and intanglle sl (181} 128
Dl wihuition aduitmant 5 ]
Unreabsed gains oo intercompany seosed Lndng (§Fi] -
Cthar bemporary differences [=5] [ri]
Totd § a7 4l

The table below presents changes in each component of the

company s deferred tax asset,

Pasiod ended Decambar

§ i mllong okl 2020
Deferred compensanon

Bégnnng balanis 5551 $453
Trasvi hr b3 th incoma atatement 5y 105
Dispossl of defemed by 6ssels = K]
Ending balandd 5 218 5 B51
Post-retirem ent benefiis

Baginning balance 5 [ 5 B
Trasi fawr b3 the Rsome tlatemant [Fi] AEL
Traenfar bo ather comprahenthes income [Fi] 2
Ending bl e S103) 5 [B4)
Prapeny, leasehald improvements and equiprment

arvdl intangible adsets

Baginning balance B ElL ]
Traev e po the meome shatemant [EF] a8
Ending balance S[161) 51128
Debt valuation adjustment

Beginning balance 5 [ 3-T]
Traen for bo cther comprehenshes income [rE] A
Ending balance EREE] FEL]
Unrealises gaes on mercompany

secured funding

Beginning balance 5 - 5 -
Traeri lae i the meome stabsrmant (k] =
Ending balance 5 [12) 5 -
Other temporary differences

Begnning balance. 5@ 5o
Traet ar o this e o stabemasnt ] z
Ending balance e 5 @
Total

Eeginning balance S444 5331
Traes e Do the meoma statemant (see Nots 5) ma 43
Traew for ba cther comprehenshes incomae &) 82
Ditpoial of defpmed lax asiete - 0
Ending balance 5502 F444

In the tables above, defierred compensation is mainly in respect
of share-based compensation.
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Note 17.
Interests in Other Entities

The table below presents the subsidiary over which the compamy
exercised control as of December 2021

Hiclding
and

propertion  Clawd of

Name of Cowntryel  ofvoting  shares Shares  Mabure of
pany ingep rights g hed s

Cesldeman Sachy

{Cayman) Cayrman Ovdinary Financial
Limbed Islands 100f%  shares 0 sevices

The registered office address of Goldman Sachs (Cayman)
Limited 15 the offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO
Box 3%, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, K¥1-1104, Cayman
[slands,

The company has interests in a mumber of special purposs
entities and capital guaranteed funds which do not meet the
defmition of a legal subsidiary, but give rise 1o the risks and
rewards that are, in substance, no different than of they were
legal subsidiaries. The activities of these special purpose entities
and capital guaranteed funds consist of the ssuance of loan
notes under the terms of a repackaging programme. These
speci] purposes entities and capital guaranteed [unds are
comsalidated m the financial statements of Growp Inc

Uncoensolidated Structured Entities

The company has mterests in structured entities that it does not
comral (meonsolsdated structured entities), which primarnly
includes: semior and subordinated debt, denvaiives and
puarantees. Structured entities generally finance the purchase of
assels by issuing debt securities that are either collateralised by
or indexed 1o the assets held by the structured entity. The debt
securities 1ssued by a structured entity may inchede tranches of
varying levels of subordination. The company’s involvement
with structured entities primartly includes the purchase and sale
of beneficial interests ssued by mongage-backed structursd
entities in conpection with markel-making activities amd
denvatives the company has entered into with structured
enfities, such as total retum swaps. In certain instances, the
company provides puarantees, including derrvative guaraniees,
to unconsolidated structured entities or holders of interests in
unconsolidated struchred entities.

The table below presents a summary of the unconsolidated
structured entities mn which the company holds interests.

As of December
§ in miligng vl 2020
Anvets in snuctured entities 56,003 30,745
Carying vakue of interesis - ssseis § M3 5 438
Carrying value of ntenests - Enbiite: 5 (| 5 e
Mo dapodars 10 loas k] 52,781
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In the wble above:

+ The earrving values of the company”s interests are included
in the balance sheet in trading assets or trading liabilities.

+ The company™s maimum exposire 1o loss s mainly 4 result
of derwvatives, commitments and guarantees, for which the
macimum exposure o loss 18 the notional amount, which does
not represent anticipated losses and also has not been reduced
by unrealised losses already recorded. As a result, the
maximum exposure to loss exceeds babilittes recorded for
derivatives, commitments and guarantees.

Note 18,
Collateralised Financings

The table below presents collateralized financings.

#s of Decembaer
§ in milons mH 2020
Repurchass agresmants FIEC T
Sacuritied kaned 1,080 20,004
Infisroerpany loans 4,205 1,432
Dot pcuriins miwed 4,540 B e
Cthr boet cwinga 5430 &2M
Total $7H509 5113127

In the table above, intercompany loans, debt secunities issued
and other borrowings are secured by secunties which have been
pledged as collateral. This pledged collateral 15 either recogmssd
in trading assets or collateralised agreements.

Nete 19.
Customer and Other Payables

The table below presents customer and other payables.

A% of December
S0 malions M2t o0
Payables o brokesidealers and dearng
crganmabons $ 3T 5 Rdal
P 1o v €U 197,102 7871
Tot S119.883 5100519

In the table above, todal customer and cther pavables primanly
comsist of collateral receved in connection with certain
derwative transactions, customer credit balances related to the
company s prime brokerage activities and balances related to
listed derivative activity.
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Nate 20
Unsecured Borrowings

The table below presents unsecured borrowings.

A% of Decumber

5 i mailiang 2021 20
Bank loars T - 5 8
Crmrcrats “ 115
Intecormpany kaes = nor-MREL-eligibhe 16,178 082
vt ety bk — MIRE Lk gible 18,215 18,723
Dot pecuritien) rsised aare .85
Subcrdinabed loans 5,087 5384
Cehar bor rowings ﬂ 4, 656
Total 579,813 80,351
In the table above:

« Payments on debt sccunities ssued and other bormowings
mstruments are fypically referenced to underlying financial
assets, which are predominately interest rates, equitics and
currencies-related.

Subordinated loans of 55.3% billion as of both December 2021
and December 2020 consist of long-1erm loans of §5.38 billion
from s parent undertaking and other GS Group alliliates,
which are unsecwred and carry interest al & margin over the
U5 Federal Reserve’s Federal Funds rate, and assoceted
accrued interest. The margin is reset on a penodic bass to
reflect changes in G3 Group™s weighted average cost of deb

These loans comtitute regulatory capital &z approved by the
PRA and are repayable subject to PRA approval. These loans
are repayable between December 26, 2029 and September &,
2080,

Debt Valuation Adjustment

The company caleulates the fair value of debt securities 1ssued
that are designated at fair valee through profit or loss by
discoamting future cash Mows wl a e which incorporates G5
Group's credit speeads. The table below presents information
about the cumulative net pre-tax DVA gains{losses) on such
financial liabilities, which is included in accumulated other
comprehensive income.

Pariod Ended Detember
b il E- 4] 2020
Begnning balsnce S0} 14T}
Dbt waluation acfuatment for the percd 54 {183
Trasaler to retsined samings Ll 40
Ending bl aroe S1RE) (200}

In the table above, net losses of $4% million (335 million, net of
tax) for the penod ended December 2021 and net losses of 580
million {329 million, net of tax) for the period ended December
20200 realised upon early redemption of cerain such fimancial
liabalities, have been transferred from  accumulated other
comprehensive income 1o retaned sarnings.

a7
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Hedge Accounting

The company designates interest rate swaps as fair value hedges
that are used 1o manage the interest rale exposure of certain
fixed-rate unsecwed long-term and short-term debd. These
initerest rate swaps hedge changes in fair value attnibutable 1o the
relevant benchmark imerest rate (ep, EURIBOR), effectively
comverting Dixed-rate obligations into feating-rate obligations

The 1able below presents information about  hedging
instruments, which are classified in derivatives within trading
assets and labilities in the balance sheet.

45 of December
$ in rmdins FuFl 2020
Aswet camying value [3F] [1H
Luabdity camying valua 5= 532

The table below presents the notional of hedging instruments by
contractual matunty date.

s of Decenmber
$ in millony ol 2020
1 =3 months 5 = 5 =
3naftl — 1 yias - -
1=5ysars 1,708 1,760
Greater than § wears 1,568 1 468
Total $3,214 [FEE]

The average fixed rate of the company”s hedging instruments
was 1.07% for the perrod ended December 2021 and 1.16% for
the periad ended December 2020,

The table below presents the carrying valwe of hedged items that
are designated in o hedging relationship and the related
cumulative hedging  adjustment  (increasefdecrease)) from
current and prior hedging relationships included in such carrying
values.

Cumulatve

Carrying  Resdging

§ in milons _ value _adgestment
B8 of December J21

Lrvsater o] b=t b otinsgs = v § 63
£ of December 2020

Lingacured lang-liim bar owisg 53,042 5177

In the table above, cumulative hedging adjustment for items no
longer designated in a hedgimg relationship were 39 million as
of December 2021 and 534 mallion &= of December 2020,
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The bl below presents the company”s gains/(losses) from
interest rale derivatives accounted for as bedges, the related
hedged bomowings and the hedge ineffectivencss on these
denvatives recognized in net revenues.

[Pairicd Efsdied D2 dimibai

5 in millons Fardl 2020
Ittt FElE hedges FTRELT) 550
Huidgad bafmawingt 110 (53}
Huetdge nelfectvemess % (20} 3 01
Naote 21,
Other Liabilities
The table below presents other labilities by type.
Az of Decamber
in pilans 024 2020
Compentation nd Benet e SLTE
Income tax-related kabiges 450 330
Lewse kabites 3 1
Azcrusd erpeniet and olher 1.?_“" 1.3-71
Tetal inancml Eabiitisg 4,81 4470
Intoma tax-rested kabikes 1 T
Cthar tams ansd social secwriy costy 487 m
Prondtinng 1 1
Tetal o b ancial babites a7 30
Total 3,08 54,860

In the table above, acensed expenses and cther meludes contract
liabalities, which represent consideration receved by the
company in connection with 1ts contracts with clients prior to
providing the service. As of December 2021 and December
2020 contract liabilities were not material

Provisions

The table below presents provisions, which are in respect of
legal and regulatory proceedmgs in which the company is
mvolved

£ in millony

As of Hoseeeiber 2018 1

Charge during the period 137

Mo cash captal contribubion (125
Utiisad during the priod {1}
As of December 2020 1

Chaigs duing this piiad 1

Utiisad during the period (k1]
As of December 2011 i1
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In the table above, provisions charged during the peniod ended
December 2020 included fines of $126 million levied by the
FCA and PRA in relation to GS Growp's zettlement of
governmental and regulatory investigations relating 1o IMDB,
which, in accordance with the indemnification agreement
between Group Inc. and the company in relation o 1MDB
losses, were paid by Group Inc. These fines were recognised as
an expense n the company’s ncome stalementl, with a
commesponding  non-cash  capital  contribution  in retwned
eammings, fesulling in no Rt impact 1o the company’s total
shareholder's equity as of December 2020,

Note 22,
Share Capital
The table below presents share capital.

Ordinary sharss
Allosed, coliad up and fally paid of §1 wach § i pnilfiang
s of Novembar 2018 a4, G0H, 06 S0
Bllgmed during the pericd 8,574,007 a
As of December 2020 543,182,053 [T
As of December #3031 $494, 182,057 St

On March 24, 2020, 8,574,007 ordinary shares of 31 cach were
allotted at 544,32 10 G5G UK. The tolal consideration received
was 5320000000 m cash, incorporating a share premaum of

B371.425593,

Note 23,
Other Equity Instruments
The table below presents information about unsecured ATI
notes
e of
Manth ol iswance AT1 netes 5 mrlons inberest rate
June T0A7 3,800 53,800 BO0% pa
Hoeembar 2010 2,500 L5080 AT P
As of December 2021 8,300 58,300

The company™s AT notes of §1 million each have been issued
to GSG UK, They have no fixed maturity date and are not

callable.

The AT notes will be arrevocably written-down @ the event
that the CET1 capital ratio of the company or the G3G UK

Group falls below T4

The company paid interest on s AT 1 notes of $749 million for
the pertod ended December 2021 and 5751 mullion for the period
ended December 2020, Interest pard 15 recogrised in retainad
earmings. The associated tax effect is recognized in income tax
expense. The mon-cumulative fixed interest 15 pavable at the
company s discretion subject 1o cemain solvency and regulatory

conditions.
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Note 24,
Statement of Cash Flows Reconciliations

The table below presents cash and cash equivalents, net of
overdrafts for the purpose of the statements of cash flows.

Ax of December
§ in miliony il 2020
Cazh and cath squivalents $52422 S I
Crenscraks (1o Nobe 20 114} {115}
Total BA2A08 S4B TIE

In the table above, cash and cash equivalents included cash that
15 not available for use by the company of 5252 billion as of
December 2021 and §1.34 ballion as of December 2020,

Reconciliation of Cash Flows Frem Operating
Activities

The table below presents a reconciliation of cash flows from
operating activities

Pariad Ended December
$ in milions — ma W0
Prolt badors taciation F 3,852 5 AEM
Adusmants for
Deprecation and smordsation (e Nobe &) 210 154
Lot on disposal of leasehald mpro - 2
Loss on disposal of intangibie assets i1 -
Chargaiicrecil) for defined banet plan (ves Mote 155 1 =i}
Forsign axchangs lowsssigaing 2,608 [irdri-s ]
Sharebated companiation aapenss 1,425 =]
Provisions (ses mobe 21) 1 127
Iternet on wbordingled Icany

arsd MREL-aligible intercompany lcans Rl )
Caing an ivestmonts (104} =0
Gain on desposal of lsases (L] -
It el Expente on lnatey = 2
Cash ganarsted bedors changss in opsrating

a3ty and kabdtes 8,032 2491
Changes in operating assets
DChuser i #] in col Etad ag (UL 15, 50
Dy o S N1 CF @B 5E) i CUSROMET Bnd

cther mosvabies LR T] (85TS
Dhser idridolinier dads] i irnding asoeis 240,681 [LE-TA- 1
Decroase in loans 160 )
Dy Nincrease) in oiher asseis 4436 (1=
Changes in opemting sssets 132,847 (20535
Charges in aperating Kabilities

{decrease} in o financings a4z [}

Incraase in customer and ofed payables 18,364 15,881
In LE i Ermding BBt @ITATZ 2T T4
Duecraass in unseeurod bormeowsngs .B6E (11325
Incressafdecreasel in other babdtes {1,005} 21
Changes in opermting Sitdities (129,538) 216,514
Cash genersled from operaions § 1030 5 16504

In the table above, cash generated from operations includead
interest paid of $2.81 billion for the period ended December
2021 and $5.05 billion for the period ended December 20000, and
interest received of 33,05 hillion for the peniod ended December
2021 and 54.22 hillion for the penod ended December 2020,

&
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Reconciliation of Cash Flows From
Activities Excluding Lease Liabilities

The company includes MREEL-elighle borrowings as financing
activity for the purposes of its statement of cash flows, which
conmzists of s AT notes, subcrdirated loans amd MREL-
cligihle intercompany loans. Both the principal and mterest
related to these borrowings is classified as financing activity.

Financing

The table below presents a reconcibiation of cash flows from
financing activities excluding lease Lhabilities.

5 i el s Principal  nfereal Testal
A of Novembar 2019 SNEB8T 5 B2 527085
Inerate in MREL- ol gisle nbereampany laans 3,400 - 3400
intereat on ATY nobes = 51 T
Intirn it on wuibonSnated cant

ard MIREL-slgiksle inbersompary loany - ] 858
Interat pabd on AT1 notes E (TE1) 761y

Ivteresd paid on subcrdinated loans

arsd MAEL-sligile intersompary lsany = (1.3 (1,300
A of Decarbae 2020 $0367 3 &0 a7
Incrasse in MAEL-si gible inbercompany loans 1,400 - 1,500
Irternet on AT robes e 49
Irtitadl? on suboidineted loant

and MAEL-slighie intercompany loans - 1% 4%
Irtmra st paid on AT1 notes - ra% a9
It a2 i o aubedknated loans

anvd MAEL-alghds intercompany loans 451) 451
Ag of Decembar 2001 SNMT 5 1 Sha

Mote 28.
Financial Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies
The table below presents commitments and contingencies,

As of Ducenber
5 i il Fordl 2020
Colalaraksad agiasmants 541,020 561,882
Collaterabsed Enanciegs EL AR 10707
Cthar 4,861 4842
Todal 175,002 585,711

Collateralised agreememts commitments includes forward
starting resale and secunities bomowing agreements, amd
collateralized financings commitments includes forward starting
repurchase and secured lending agreements that settle ata future
date, generally within three business davs  Collaeralised
agreements commitments alse inchede transactions. where the
compary has entered into commitments 1o provide contingent
financing to its clients and couerparties through resale
agreements, The company’s funding of these comm itments
depends on the satisfaction of all contractual conditions to the
resale agreement and these commitments can expire unused.

Other commiments primarily relate 1o collateral commitments,
underwriting commitments and investment commitments.
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In addition, there are registered charges on the company's assets
which have arisen in the crdinary course of business.

Legal Proceedings

The company is involved in & number of judicial, regulatory and
arbitration  proceedings (includmg those described below)
CONCeTning matters arising in connection with the conduct of the
company’s business. Except as noted in the first matter below,
1t 15 not practicable to reliably estimate the possible financial
mpact, if any, of these procesdmgs on the company.

Bance Espirite Santo 5.A. and Oak Finance., Beginning
in February 2015, the company commenced sctions against
Nowe Banco 5.A. (Novo Banco) in the English Commercial
Cowt and the Bank of Poriugal (BoP) in Portuguese
Adminustrative Court in response to BoP's decisions m
December 2014, September 2015 and December 2005 to reverse
ani earlier transfer to Nove Banco of an 5835 mullion faeiliy
agreement (the Faoility), structured by the company, between
Oak Finance Luxembourg 5.A. {(Cak Finance), a special purpose
vehicle formed in connection with the Faclity, and Banco
Esparito Santo 5.A (BES) prior to the failure of BES. In July
2018, the English Supreme Court found that the English cousts
did mot wet have junisdiction over the company’s action. [n July
2M8, the Ligudation Committee for BES issued a decision
seeking to claw back from the company 554 million paid to the
company and 350 million pad to Oak Finance in connection
with the Facility, alleging that the company acted 1n bad faith
extending the Facality, including because the company allegedly
knew that BES was at risk of imminent failure. In October 2018,
the company commenced an sction in Lisbon Commercaal Court
challenging the Liquidation Committes™s decision and has since
also ssued a claim agamst the Poriuguese Siate secking
compensation for losses of approximately 3222 million related
to the failure of BES, together with a contingent claim for the
5104 milleon sought by the Liquidation Committes.
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Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company 1
among the defendants named in a putative antitrust class action
relating to the trading of interest rate swaps, filed in November
2005 and consolidated an the U5, District Court for the Southern
Dhstrict of Mew York. The company is also among the
defendants named m two antitrust actions relating 1o the trading
of interest rate swaps, commenced in Apnl 2016 and June 2018,
respectively, mthe U5, District Count for the Soathern District
of Mew York by three operators of swap execution facilities amd
certain of their affiliates, These actions have been consolidated
for pretrial proceedings. The complaints generally assen claims
under federal antitrust law and state commeon law in connection
with an alleged conspiracy among the defendants to precludes
exchange trading of interest rate swaps. The complaints in the
individual actions also assert claims under slate antifrust law.
The complaints seck declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as
treble damages in an unspecified amount. Defendants meved 1o
dismiss the class and the first individual action and the district
conarl dismussed the state common law claims asserted by the
plaantifls in the first individual action and otherwise limited the
state common law clam in the putative class action and the
antitrust elaims in both actions to the peniod from 2013 1o 2006,
On November 20, 2018, the court granted m part and dended in
part the defendants” motion 1o dismiss the second individual
action, dismussing the state commeon law clams for unjust
enrichment and tortious inderference, but denving dismissal of
the federal and state antitrust claims. On March 13, 20019, the
courl demed the plamtifs’ motion in the putative class action 1o
amend their complaint to add allegations related to conduwct from
2008 to 2012, but grarted the motion to add limited allegations
frem 2003 1o 2016, which the plairtiffs added in a fourth
comolidated amended complaint filed on March 22, 20019, The
plantiffs in the puistive class action moved for class
certification on March 7, 2019,

Commodities-Related Litigation, The company 15 among
the defendants named in putative class actions relating to trading
in platinum and pallacium, fled begmmng on November 25,
2014 and most recently amended on May 15, 2007, in the U.S
District Court for the Sputhern District of New York, The
amended complaimt generally alleges that the defendants
violated federal antrirust laws and the Commodity Exchange Act
in connection with an alleged corspiracy to manipulate a
benchmark for physical platinum and paltadium prices and seek
declaratory and injunctive relief, s well as treble damages iman
unspecified amount. On March 29, 2020, the court granted the
defendants” motions to dismiss and for reconsideration,
resulting in the dismisal of all clams. On Apnl 27, 2020,
plaantiffs appealed 1o the Second Cireuit Count of Appeals.
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The company is among the defendants in o number of putative
class and individual actions filed beginning on August 1, 2013
and corsolidated i the US. District Court for the Southemn
District of MNew York. The complants generally allege
violations of federal antitrust laws and state laws in connection
with the storage of aluminium and alummndum trading. The
complaints seek declaratory, injunctive and other equitable
relief, a5 well as unspecfied monetary damages, including treble
damages. In December 2006, the distnel court granted
defendants” motions 1o dismiss and on August 27, 2019, the
Second Circuit vacated the district court’s dismissals and
remanded the case to district count for further proceedings. On
July 23, 2020, the distrect court denied the class plaintiffs’
maotion for class certification, and on December 16, 2020 the
Second Circuit dented leave to appeal the denual. On February
17, 2021, the district coun granted defendants” motion for
summary judgment with respect to the claims of most of the
individual plaintiffs. On April 14, 2021, the plaintiffs appealed
10 the Second Cirewt Cowt of Appeals.

Credit Default Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company 1s
ameng the deferndants named m a putative antitrust class action
relatng to the settlement of credit default swaps, filed on June
3, 2021 in the LS. District Court for the District of New
Mexico. The complaint generally asserts claims under federal
antitret, law and the Commodity Exchange Act in connection
with an alkeged conspiracy among the defendants to manpulate
the benchmark price uwsed to value credit default swaps for
seftlement. The complant also asserts a clum for unjust
enrichment under stale common law, The complant seeks
declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as unspecified amounts
of treble and other damages. On November 15, 2021, the
defendants filed a motion 1o dismiss the amended complamnt. Cn
February 4, 2022, the plaintiifs filed an amendsd complaint.

!
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Regulatory Investigations and Reviews and Related
Litigation. Group Inc. and certain of its afTilistes, including the
company, are subject to a number of other investigations and
reviews by, and in some cases have received subpoenas and
requests for documents and information  from, various
governmental and regulatory bodies and  self-repulatony
organisations and litigation relating 1o various matters relating
10 G5 Growp”s businesses and operations, meluding:

+ The public secunies offering process and underwmting

praclices,
+ Investment management and financial advisory services,

Conflicts of inlerest;

Tramssctions imvolving  povernment-related fnancings and
other matlers,

The offering, auction, sales, trading and clearance of corporate
and povernment secunties, curmencies, commodities and other
financial products and related sales and other communications
and activities, az well as GS Group's supervision and controls
relating to such actvities, including compliance with
applicable short sale rubes, algonthmic, high-frequency amd
quantitative trading, fwtures trading. options trading. when-
issued trading. iransaction reporting, technology systems and
controls, securities lending practices, prime  brokerage
setivities, tradmg amd  clearance  of oredit  denvative
instruments and interest mle swaps, commodities activities
and metals storage, private placement practices, allocations of
and trading in securittes, and trading activities and
communications in connection with the establishment of
benchmark rates, such as currency rates;

Compliance with the UK. Bribery Act and the U.S. Foregn
Corrupt Practices Act,

-

Hirng and compensation practices;

System of risk management and controls; and

Insider trading, the potential misuse and dissemination of
material non-public information regarding corporate and
governmental developments and the effectiveness of insider
trading controls and mformation barrers,

-

In addition, investigations, reviews and htggation invelving the
company’s affiliotes and such afilistes” businesses and
operations, including various matters referred 1o above b also
other matters, may have an impact on the company’s businesses
and operations.
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Mote 26.
Maturity of Assets and Liabilities

The table below presents the expected mistunty of the
company s assets and labilites

Han-
§ in miliony _ ] Cumaeat Total
Al Detember 2071
Assels
Cash and cash equivalents 5 = § 82437 5 82413
Colalasabited agraamanty 1,114 258, 257 57,48
Cuial i o - BE, 133 EE1X
Trading astnte - T TR LR
Frepstments E =] B L
Losng Lk 255 Fe
Cthar msels 1578 L5 4442
Tolal aseels 5 JABT SLIRESY 51,1340
E———
Liabdngies
Colalsraksed Enancngs 5 61,3RE 5 MAMT § A AR
Customar and other payables - 116, EE2 1Me8=
Treding habdtsa - G604 =T [0 K v
Linisaes L] Bie criregrs M, 100 25,817 TRED
Char lisbditios 1, M5 1,063 5,308
Titad labilities STI6030 5 ORF.SP8  $1.104,535
£ of December 2020
Assels
Cash and cath squivalents -3 = § 803 F 430
Colaterabived agresmants 1006 130 TS 140682
Customer and cther receivables - B0 380 B0, 2
Trading avsets - f:lied h ] k=T
Irvaatmies GED 182 =
Lomns 8T inl ST
Cther sszeis 1,742 6847 8550
Tiotal sueete § 4B 512830014 51.087.058
Llabilities
Collateralited Snancings 3851 5 10027 §
Customar and cther payables - pliE3t] 00519
Tﬁdnu babd @es - Az 404 2414
Unsacuned bormowings 55.™1 24570 B0 ¥
Cihar linbdies 1,008 4860 4 255
Ttal hat o 5 BOS41 51170639 51,290,080

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

In the wble above:

« Current assets and liabilities include amounts that the
company expects 1o realise or settle in its normal operating
cycle and includes assets and labilives held for trading
purposes and cash and cash equivalents.

« Mon-current assets are amounts that the company expecis to
be recovered after more than twelve months and primarily
includes  certain  collateralised  agreements,  cenain
investments, certam leans, intangible assets, deferred tax
assels, pension surplus and certain intercompany koans.

+ Mon-current liabilites are amounits that the company expects
to be settled after more than twelve months and primanly
includes collateralised financings and wsecured bomowings
with contractual maturities greater than ane vear, with the
exceplion of conracts that have trigger events that are not in
the control of the company, which are classified as current.

Note 27.
Related Party Disclosures

Parties are considered to be related if ome party has the ability 1o
directly or indirectly comtrol the other party or exercise
sigrificant infleence over the parly in making fnancial or
opermtional decisions, The company s related parties include:

» The company”s parent entilies,
« Cabwer G5 Group alfilates,
+ kev management personnel of the company,

« Key management persormel of the company”s parent entities,
and

« Oiher related parties, which includes the company's defined
benefit scheme and associates of G5 Group.

Key management personnel are defined as these persons having
authority  and responsibility  for planmng.  directing  and
comrolling the activities of the company, Key management
personnel of the company include the directors of the company,
members of the EMC whe are employvees of the company and
members of semior management who are designated as managers
under the PRA and FCA’s Senior Managers and Certification
Regime.
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Key Management Compensation
The table below presents the compensation pard or payable by

the company for emplovee services to key management
personnel of the company and nis parent entities.

Pariad Endid Digafmba
£ i poilons: sl 2020
Salaries and cthar shot-ferm benefts. e 21
Perit- rpleymrsnt banafty 1 1
Share-based compensation TS M5
Total e HET

In the table above:

« Salanies and other shor-term benefits includes fees paid to the
nen-execidive directors of the company.

» Share-based compensation included a charge of $187 millon
for the period ended December 2021 and a charge of 72
million for the period ended December 2000 representing
recharges from Group Inc, equivalent to changes in the fair
value of share-based payment awards during the period.

Directors' Emoluments

In accordamce with the Companies Act 2006, directors’
emclumenls represent the proportion of tetal emoluments paid
or payable in respect of qualifving services only, This total only
includes the value of cash and benefits in kind, and does not
mclude the value of equity awards in accordance with the
provisions of Schedule 5 of the Statuory Instruments 2008/410
Dhrectors also receive emoluments for non-qualifying services
which are not required to be disclosed.

The table below presents the company s directors” emoluments.
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Three directors were members of a defined comtribution scheme
fior both the pericd ended December 2021 and December 2020,
Three directors including the highest paid director, have
received or are due 1o receive Group Inc. shares in respect of
long-term  incentive schemes for both the period  ended
December 2021 and December 20200

The aggregate emoluments of the eight non-executive directors
for the pertod ended December 2021 (penod ended December
2020: eight non-executive directors) who were members of the
Board for all or part of the period ended December 2021 was
approxamately 32,0 million (for all or part of the persod ended
December 2020; approcamately 321 muallion),  Additional
angoing fees inrespect of advisory services provided by certain
non-executive directors was approximately 32.4 million for the
pertod ended December 2021 (period ended December 2020¢
approxamately $2.5 millson).

Transactions with Related Parties
The company's transactions with related parties primanly
include the following.

Risk Management and Market-Making Activity

The company routinely enters into derivatives and buys and sells
securities and loans with related parties for risk management and
market-making purposes, which are recogmized in trading assets
and trading liabilities.

The table below presents the gross outstanding buys and sells of
regular-way securities and loans fromfe other G5 Group
affaliztes.

As of Decemiber
Pariod Ended B $ in realicons £ 2020
$ in rilions Fora] 00 Crtatanding regelarwary Buys of securities and lasns §8,153 50,363
Agoregeie smoumens [T] 58 Cutitandng regaarway sels of securibes a=d loans 58,018 57,767
Cornipasty panasan oonl Bulioni bo mday
purthatn Sthienng - = The company also helds securities in, and makes corporate loans
Total 53 58 to other G3 Group affibiates, which are classified in trading

The whle below presents emoluments for the highest paid

director.

Puriad Ended Desambas

5 in muiliong s 2020

Ageregets emoluments 55 35
Company pention ooniribetions bo money

purchase schemes - -

Aztrued annual penseon at end of the pensd = -

73

assets. The company also exchanges cash and security collateral
in eonmection with denvative transachons. Cash collateral
received is recognased in customer and other pavables. Cash
collateral paid is recognised in customer and other receivables,
The company posted security collateral 1o related parties of $458
million as of December 2021 and 31,30 billkon as of December
2020,

In addition, the company alao executes and intermediates listed
dervatives with other G5 Group affiliates, resulting in the
exchange of margin, which 15 recognised m customer and other
receivables and customer and other payables.
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Funding Activity

The company routinely enters inte collateralised agreements and
collateralised financings with G5 Group affiliates, primarily to
souree securities and fund inventory on a secured basis

In addition, a significant portion of the company’s unsecured
borrowings 15 from G5 Group affilistes, including the
company’s AT1 notes issued to GSGUK. Sec Notes 20 and 23
for further details. The company has also made loans to certain
G35 Group alfilates. See Note 14 for further detmls.

Interest-bearing instruments are typically priced based on the
term, currency, size, subordination and whether the instrument
i= secured or unsecured.

Cash Management Services

The company receives cash management services from other G5
Group alflmtes and places cash deposits with them in the
normal course of business which 15 recognised in cash and cash
equivalents

Commitments and Guaranfees
The table below presents commitments and contingencies with
other GS Group affiliates.

As of Ducrmbe

% in milions for ] 2020
Colalembsed agresmants §T2,082 543 145
Cotatabusd Enanssq BAT4 7488
Total §78,556 5500633

The company has received a guarantee from Group Ine. related
o transactions entered into with ceriain of its counterparties for
up to 5% hillion of exposure at default. The exposure at default
being guaranteed as of both December 2021 and December 2020
was Sl

74

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Transfer Pricing and Management Charges

The company participates in the allocation of net revenues
among G5 Group affiliates for their involvement in G35 Group's
business activities. In addition, the company incursireceives
management charges to'from G5 Group affiliates relating to
operational and administrative support and  management

SETVICEs.

Taxation

The company receives group rehiefl from other G5 Group
affiliates. See Mote 9 for the tax-efTected losses surrenderad
from other G5 Group affilistes for mil consideration The
company also recewved tax-effected losses from cther GS Group
affiliates of 5121 million for the period ended December 2021
and 3201 million for the penod ended December 2020 for whach
comsideration will be paid i full.

Share-Based Payments
The company has entered mto a chargeback agreement with

Group Ine. under which 1t 15 committed to pay 1o Group Inc. (a)
the gram-date fair value of those swards and (b) subssquent
mevements in the fair value of those awards between the grant
date and delivery to employess. See Mote 7 and Note 8 for
further information.

Transactions with Key Management Personnel

Certain key management personne]l and their close family
members. have brokerage and‘or discretionary accounts at the
company. They are provided services in the ordinary course of
busmess on commercial terms, and in each case in compliance
with the relevant laws ansd regulations.

Close family members of certain key management personne] are
emploved by the company. The amount of com pensation paid 1o
the family members was determined in accordance with the
company’s standard compensation practices applicable to
similarly-situated emplovees.

223/420

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAM SACHS INTERNATIONAL [UNLIMITED COMPANT )

Motes to the Financial Statements

Related Party Assets and Liabilities

The table below presenis assets and liabilities with related
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Related Party Income and Expense
The table below presents income and expenses related to

parties. transactions with related parties other than Key Management
Personnel,
Cther  Other
Paent G5 Group  relabed Othae  Rhar
$ in s acttien  afiates  partier  Toll Pawt GAGrous  meesd
i of Qegember 2071 % in i sontien afiates  patties  Totl
Anseld Pt Ended December 2031
Cash and cash squivalents 5 - % r & -3 ¥ Mt revenues
Colateralised agresmants - QLTS T = 4rEre It 42 BN oreed 5 13 £ 454 - 5 487
Cuskomar s cihar rec 2542 17,7 1T 0 Internsd e ponse {540y {B4E) - plam
Tredng asseiu 1,08% 437,185 B9 4389 Traen far pricing revenues | 4 1,047 - 1,055
Ifrvi 4t et L - T = 1rr Bthar incoeme - - - -
Lowns - 2iE - 8 Total net revermes S (29 5 653 - 5 o
Cthar mivets 1,006 1,778 - TES “HeL cperating expenses.
Tolal ascels 5 A04) SEDATN 5 m_'i'nmn Trarsacion based spenses 5 - 5 T20 = § TH
Liabingies Meegeneat chages kom 05
Colatrakned Bnancings 5 FF A TR R B k) Group aflisles - 1,118 - 1,113
Customar and cther payables 1 1000 - EEn Masigement chirges 12 G3
Trading inbdiges 3167 4R B0 43615 Group aMiates il {336) = 3y
Unsacuned bomosings mar T = dEn Cthar scpenues 1 543 = 44
Cther lisbdties M7 1458 - AT Total net operaing expenses & (8] 5 &045 5-  S4009
Total liabilines SI6600  SS0N00F  § 757 SBajaMh ‘Paricd Enced Decerrter 2020
s of Decermber 2020 Met revents
Fy— et o 3 7 5 b 3 % &
Cash and eash squivalanty 5 - 5 @@ % - 5 @ Intern st expanse ond (.76 - e
Colaterabied ageements - fa0dT B p4im m:ﬂ:‘ﬂ"":’ ] & “E: - i‘:
e ; 1,081 = T =
?Mnn.x#vlwm ?ﬁ “Eﬁ 2123 ﬁ;;x Tetal ot revanuss 50,0000 5 312 53§ (585
Frepitnets - 16 - 193 Hel cperating expenses
[T - B4, _ Iy Trasacton baved expanise 5 - 5 438 - 5 438
o h— 8,008 1,181 - 77 Mandgaanaat chigia from O3
Tolsl s1ate 510656 5740620 53,300 5754776 Group afliies - w21 - i
Liabingies Menagement charges o G5
Consturakssd Inanciags 5 - s7R 3 TR 5 7naes Group affiates m 2 - B
Customer amd sihar payabies - i 8 d430 Déhar mipanaey - = - o=
Trading abisas 455 BZ54Z1 21T GX0TE Tt oot cparating sxpavses M SleM 3- ¥148
Uvigee it besrs crmvifea .7 12257 - AR
Cothar lisbdties 1,800 1,184 Y In the table above:
Toolal Knbilins 541,181 §72B.35 53,288 SI7281
L

« Other income related 1o consideration recerved from GSBE in
connection with the transfer of certain of the company’s
activities and emplovees as a pant of GS Group's Brexit
planning.

« Tramsaction based expenses and other expenses primarnly
include IFKS 15 expenses.
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Note 28.
Financial Instruments

Financial Assets and Liabilities by Category
The tables below present the camying value of financial assets
and liabalities by category.

Finandsl Avls
TWandaionly | Ameansd
$ in millons ! ke eabun ot Total
Az of December 2031
Caah and cash souiealsnty 5 = 5 S2432 & SRAER
Collalbrabisd & samanly 18,379 70,087 25T W5
Cuttemer asd cthar tecevalisd - B6,133 BEA3S
Trading assets 742,738 - 438
4 - T
e - e
1,000 1,782 B TED
¥ Ba,300 Saaa4e0 SLIL0
Cash and cash equialents 5 - 5§ 43833 g 43E
Colaterabsed agresmants ford 3] 40063 1400, £
Gk i oEha e - B0, 3680 jkt-]
Treding asseiu S50 3B - = rd- 1]
vty Beg - o=
Losris BE&T - -1
Cthar miseln &013 1.285 T8
Tictal 51,080, 008 S1H3ET1 51,268,577
Frnancal Liskdties
Hedd for  Dwrsegnabed Amortised
$ in mailigng _ wrading af fak value cost Tital
As of December 2081
Colaterabied Enanarg 5 = SMBET § SEMZ S 4,500
Cuttemar asd cther payables - - TIREE3 110,883
Trading inbdiges BO4, 0ET = = BBEZ
Unescued boromings - E RL LR ] ToRiE
Cthar lisbdtes - = 4,831 4,81
Tt SHOOEY  B1RRART  STEREEE $1,004,008
Az of December 202
Colateabsed Enanorgs H = 587103 & 16dda s 12T
Cusbomar gnd ofhee payabies - = 130518 100,518
Treding labdites Az 404 = = HIZ44
Ul st B i ol - =418 50,825 BO.351
Cthad linbliten - - 4478 4478
Tetal SRIZ414  FI28.529 FITLMMT §1.230800

T
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Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The tables below present financial assets and hiabilities that are

subpet to enforceable netting agreemenis and offsetting.

Amounts are only offset in the balance sheet, when the company

currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognisad

amoaunts and an intention either 1o sentle on a net basis, or 1o

realise the assel and settle the lability simultanecusly. In the

tables below:

» Giross amounts exclude the effects of both counterpany netting
and collsteral, and therefore are not represemative of the
company”s CConomIc exXpOsure.

+ Amounts not offset in the balance sheet inclede counterparty
neing (1.¢., the netting of fmancial assets and habilities for a
given counterparty when a legal nght of set-off exasts under an
enforceable netting  agreement), and cash and securiy
collateral received and posted under enforceable credit suppon
agreements, thal do not meet the ereria for offsetting under
IFES.

« Where the company has received or posted collateral unsder
credit support agreements, but has not yet determined whether
such agreements are enforceable, the related collateral has not
been included in the amounts not offset in the balance sheet.

« Giross amounts for the company included derivative assets of
$6.6% billion and denvative liabilites of 36.47 hillion as of
December 2021 and denvative assets of 54.69 billion and
denvative labalities of 3547 ballion as of December 2020
which are not subject 1o an enforceable neiting agreement or
are subject 1o g netting agreement that the company has not vel
determined to be enforceable

Substantially all resale agreements and securities bormowed
within collateralized agreements and repurchase agreements
and securities Joaned within collateralised financings are
subject to enforceable netting agreements as of December
2021 and Diecember 2020,
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A% of December 2001

Amcianils  Mat amnodnt

offsed inEhe  presented in
| e

Arounts ot offaet i 1he BaANCY areet

Gross c paaty Cmh  Security Net
$ in miliony aounis sheel sheet neming  collsersl  colateral ameant
Financial Assels
Collaleraksed agresmanis 5 OGIS  S{IIEN0]) 5 IS § [s3.850) 5 - BEMOTE 5 ZB4S
Curshs e ethae 4347 126,602) k243 19, 395) 138,186) (11,148 8838

Tradeng cash nstrumants T 15,682 12,008 1,372} 1133} 18,708 1,583
\Decieatioes S5 9.BET) BEREE (=61, 608) [LLRFELT] (12,245 1,558
Trading assstu [LTE TR 125,380) BT R 583, W80y [T (40,957 FERET]
Lapnn I - o] 1107 - - 187

_Oter seses _ Y : - o
Finarzial assaty subiecl 2 enforceakie roitng &g 1,183,025 {1BE, 754 [T %] %I8,032)  (FBAM)  [23%,173) 35,503
Financial svssts not subject bo b natting agr 167509 167,508 167,508

el )] 41, el 1 |
Einancial Liabilivies
Colatprabied Enanarg 5 0y H181,706)  F 84T § (84,007} 5 (2241)  B{100408 5 6,388
Cuttomer and ofher payables 121350 |26, 307) 58D 9,594 40,368] (18,681) 25,579
Tradeg cash nabumants [ 1BE3) = = = = -
ﬂ-m-l.iv\ﬂ_ 3853 19,403 Lrrieil] (58, F 20y 5,7 4,203 20,370
Trading labinss SIS 1, T T T & ;
Unsscuned borrowings 13,182 {8,597 4,580 {1,120} {17} 1,283
Cthiar linbiisns 2703 1,434) 1389 - - R 1,269
Finarzial kb bt wtet 1a 6o Ercaabie netng agresmmnts TIB5870  (IRE704)  BIBATE IBg33)  RAM) (154,561) 56,540
Financial Eabiities not subject to enieceable neting agresmants 1T 82 - 187,183 = - - 187,162
“Total financial IsbiNes. FIWEAIE  SIEH,T04]  §1,000GE  80,902)  BH,0041  BLISLA0Y  Seb011
As of December 2020’
Amountt not offyel in the balance thest
Amouwsts  Met amsunt
el the  preteniedin
[y Bl e bl Cauntarg Cash Seeurity Mt
# in rrilions Bmounts shaat et neting  collsterl  colstera b

Financisl Assels
Colaterakied agesments § ZZZEOT 5 (BIE2E) 5 140882 5 (3,757 & - sip4sEEm 5 1,837
Cusbamar amd sihar 103,442 {24,085} T8.M7 B50Z)  pBABE  (17.331) 1025

Tradieg cach natruments TN {18,185} 1143 11,355y {30 (RB03) 564
Derrvatives 804, 223 {16,821} e M {E06, 8265 450,846} 13,108 20,622
Tredng assets 231,849 @216} [ TR {20, 180y 8,158} [FFITF] 21,086
Lamnt ] - ] 15 - - 51

Lt s 4897 HATT L] _- - B 580
Finarcial avuals subject bo aniy e rptting By 1T [AEFE S 1920, il (B A5 00 GEL} {144, 331) 30658
Finarecial assebs nod subject b natting &g nts 148,289 148258 148,288
Tolal inancial Busets S1408550  WIS2413] 5106577 SB46 664)  SDBGS4}  5(184.331)  S176,888
Firuisniciil L iabilities
Collatpraliied Enancag § 153074 S 0Tm 5 102004 § (3851 § (.32 § (8511m 5 1813
Cuttemar asd athar payablen 117.084 {24481} pra k] 15502 01558 13,518 24417

Tradirg cash natumens 1477 1,381} E3 = = = 3
Daeraatrots £35,551 {15,524} 880479 (BO06171) 47,885} (8,268 17,6084
Tradng labikes B57,430 {16,805} BO0.EDS B0B,171) 47,885} 18,268 18,000
Uinuesuned bomowings 12209 {1663} 4 56 1,050y [LEri] 3544
Cther lishdes U 12,204} b = = = 000
Finarcial bt subpect to eafrcsabin neRing o gresrmenty 1.222.961 142413} 1,080,568 (48,654, [T {88,906} &0, 364
Finaneial Ralditii nol tulject b5 anls 5l FaPEAG B s 150,322 - 150322 - - - 150,322
Tolal inancial kabiles 51373303 S{142413) 5123080 S(B46.654)  S{DABE4} 5 (BA.006  5108,688

1. Met amounts presemted in the balance sheet as of December 2020 have been restated to move $5360 million of other assets and $900
million of cther habilitses that are subject 1o enforcesble netting agreements from not subject to enforeeable netting agreements 1o
subject to enforceable netting agreements, In addition, gross ether assets and other labilities subject to enforceable netting agreements
have been increased by 32,84 illion and 33,18 billion, respectively, and other assets and other habilities offset in the balance sheet

have both been increased by $2.28 ballion. Total financeal assets and Labilities remaimed unchanged.
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Collateral Received and Pledged

The company receives cash and securities (e g, government and
agency obligations, corporate debt securities, equity securities)
a3 collateral, primasily in comnmection with resale agreements,
securities  borrowed, denvative transactions and  customer
margin loans. The company obtains cash and securities as
collateral on an upfront or contingent basis for denvative
mstiruments and collateralised agreements 1o reduce s credit
exposure Lo individual counterparties.

In many cases, the company is permitted to deliver or repledge
financial mstruments received as collateral when entening into
repurchase agreements and secunities lending agreements,
primarily in conmection with secured client financing activity.
The company 15 also permitted to deliver or repledee these
financial instruments in comnection with other secured
financings, collateralised derivative transactions and meeting
company or customer seitlement requirements.

The company also pledges certain trading assets m connection
with repurchase agreements, secunties lending agreements and
other secured financings 1o counterpanies who may or may not
have the reght to deliver or repledge them

The table below presents financial instruments received as
collateral that were available to be delivered or repledged, and
that were deliversd or repledped.

As of Decemiber
£ in milions il 2020
Colateral svailable 10 be deirvered o repledged 754,057 3671072
Collataral Bl wan delvened or repledged STI0ETE  SS4E05

The whle below presents information about asseis pledged

Ad ol Dacimbie

% in miliang e 2020
Pledged 1o countesparties thad had the fight 1o deliver or replodge

Tradieg seeete fuam T
et § 11 5 &2
Pledged 10 counterparties hat did not have the right bo deliver or repledge
Trading asssts 530,338 L0 808
renaaants § 100 5 348

The company has received cash collateral of $58.83 billion as of
Drecember 2021 and 57490 hillion as of December 2020, and
posted cash collateral of $74. 30 hillion as of December 2021 and
536075 billon as of December 20200 Amounts received and
posted are mainly in respect of trading assets and tradmg
liabalities.
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Mote 29,
Fair Value Measurement

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability inan
orderly transaction  between market participants at the
memsurement date, Financial assets are marked 10 bid prices and
financial liabilities are marked to offer prices. Fair value
mensurements do nod include transsction costs. The company
messures certain fNinancial assels and liabilities as a portfolio
(1.e., based on its net exposure to market and/'or credit risks).

IFRS has a three-level hierarchy for disclosure of fair valug
measurements. This hierarchy priontises inputs 1o the valuation
techniques used to measure fair value, giving the highest prionty
to level 1 mputs and the lowest priority 1o level 3 inputs. A
financial instrument’s level in this hierarchy is based on the
lowest level of mput that s sigrificant 1o its fair value
megsurement.

The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

Lewvel 1. Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
to which the company had access at the measurement date for
udentical, unrestricted assets or habilities.

Level 2. Inputs to valuation techniques are observable, enther
directly or indirectly.

Level 3. One or more inputs to valuation techniques are
significant and unohservable.

The fair valwes for substantially all of the company’s financial
assets and Lisbilities that are fair valued on a recurring basis are
basad on observable prices and inputs and are classified m kevels
1 and 2 of the fur valwe hieraschy, Certain level 2 and level 3
financial assets and liabilities may require valuation adjusimenis
that a market participant would require to arrive a1 fair value for
factors such as counterparty and the company’s and GS Group's
credit quality, funding risk, transfer restrictions, liquadity amd
bidiaffier spreads. Valuation adjustments are generally kased on
market evidence.
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Valuation Technigues and Significant Inputs

Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans.
Valuation techniques and significant inpas for each level of the
Eair value hierarchy include:

Level 1

Level 1 instruments are valued using quoted prices for identical
unrestricted rstruments in active markets. The company defines
active markets for equity instruments based on the aversge daily
trading volume both in absolute terms and relative 1o the market
capitalisation for the instrument. The company defines active
markets for debt instruments based on both the average daily
trading volume and the number of days with trading activity.

Level 2

Level 2 instruments can be verified to quoted prices, recent
trading activity for identical or similar mstruments, broker or
dealer quotations or allernative pricing sources with reasonable
lewels of price transparency, Consideration s given 1o the nature
of the quetations (e g., indicative or firm) and the relationship of
recent market activity o the prices provided from alternative
Pricing sources,

Valuation adjustments are typically made to level 2 instruments
(i) if the instrument is subject to transfer restrictions and'or (i)
for other premiums and hguidity discounts that a market
participant would require to arrive at far value Valuation
adjwstments are generally based on market evidence.

Level 3

Level 3 mstruments have one or more significant valuation
inputs that are not observable. Absent evidence to the contrary,
level 3 instruments are mitally valued at transaction price,
which is considered 1o be the best initial estimate of fair value,
Subsequeritly, the company wses other methodologies 1o
determine fair value, which vary based on the tvpe of
imstrument. Valuation inputs and assumplions are changed when
comoborated by substantive observable evidence, including
values realised on sales of fnancial assets.

™
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Valuation techniques of level 3 instruments vary by instrument,
but are generally based on discounted cash flow technigues. The
valuation techniques and the nature of signifcant inputs used to
determine the fair values of each tvpe of level 3 irading cash
instrument, investments and loans are descnbed below:

« Mortgages and Other Asset-Backed Loans and
Securittes. Sipnificant inputs are pererally determined
based on relative value analyses and include:

« Market vields mplied by transactions of similar or related
assels,

« Tramsaction prices in both the wnderlving collateral and
instrumients with the same or similar underlving collmeral;

« Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recavery assumplions il a default sccurs; and

« Timing af expected future cash Nows (duration) which, in
cemain  cases, may mcorporate the impact of other
unobservable mputs (e g, prepayment speeds),

norpurate Debt Instruments, Government and
Agency Obligations and Loans. Sigrificant inpuis are
generally determined based on relative value analyses, which
incorporate comparisons both o prices of credit default swaps
that reference the same or similar underlving instrument or
entity and 10 other debd instruments for the same or similar
issuer for which observable prices or broker quotations are
available. Sigraficant inputs include:

+ Market yvields implied by transactions of similar or related
assels,

+ Current levels and changes in market indices, such as the
iTraxx and CDX (indices that track the performance of
corporate credit);

« Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recovery assumptions if a default occurs;

« Maturity and coupon profile of the instrument, and

« Market and trarsaction multiples for corporate  debs
instruments with convertibility or participation options.

Equity Securities. Equity secunties consists of private
cquity securnties. Recent third-party completed or pending
transactions {eg, merger proposals, tender offers, debt
restructurings) are considerad 1o be the best evidence for any
change in fair value. When these are not available, the
following valuation methodologies are used, as appropriate:

» Industry multiples and public comparables,

+» Transactions in similar mstruments; and

+ Discounted cash flow techniques.
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Derivatives. Denvalives may be traded on an exchange
{exchange-traded) or they may be privately negotiated contracts,
which are usually referred to as OTC derivatives. Certain of the
company’s OTC derivatives are cleared and settled through
central clearing counterparties (07T C-cleared), while others are
bilateral contracts between two counterpartics (balateral OTC)

The company’s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued using
dervative pricing models (e, discounted cash flow models,
commelation models, and models that incorporate option pricing
methedologies, such as Monie Carle simulations). Price
tramsparency of derivatives can generally be charactermed by
product type, as described below.

« Interest Rate. In general, the key inputs wsed o value
nterest rate derivatives are transparent, even for most long-
dated contracts, Interest rate swaps and options denom inated
in the cumrencies of leading indusirialised nations are
characterised by high trading volumes and tight bid/offer
spreads. Interest rate dertvatives that reference mdices, such as
an nflation ingdex, or the shape of the yield curve (e.g., 10-year
swap rle va 2vear swap rale) are more complex, bt the key
inputs are generally observable,

Credit. Price transparency For credin default sweaps, ineluding
both single names and baskets of credits, varies by market and
underlying reference entity or obligation. Credin default swaps
that reference indices, large corporates and major soversigns
generally exhibat the most price transparency. For credit
default swaps with other underliers, price transparency vanes
based on credit rating. the cost of borrowing the underlying
reference obligations, and the availability of the underlying
reference obligations for delvery upon the default of the
issuer. Credin default swaps that reference loans, asset-backed
securities and emerging market deb instruments tend 1o have
less price transparency than those that reference corporale
bonds. In addition, more complex credit derwvatives, such as
those sensitive to the comrelation between two or more
underlving reference obligations or to secured funding
spreads, generally have less price transparency.

Currency. Prices for currency derivatives based on the
exchange rates of leading industrialised mations, including
those with longer tenors, are generally transparent. The
primary  difference  between the price tramsparency  of
developed and emerging markel curency derivatives is that

emerging markets tend 1o be only observable for contracts
with shorter tenors.
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+ Equity. Price transparency for equity derivatives varies by
market and underlier. Options on indices and the common
stock of corporates included in major equity indices exhibit the
most price wansparency. Equity denivatives generally have
observable market prices, except for contracts with long tenors
or reference prices that differ significantly from current market
prices. More complex equity derivatives, such as those
sensitive 10 the correlation between two or mese individual
stocks, generally have less price transparency,

Licuidity 15 essential 1o observability of all product tvpes. If
transaction volumes decline, previously transparent prices and
other inputs may become unobservable, Conversely, even
highly structured products may ot times have trading volumes
large encugh to provide observability of prices and other inputs,

Level 1

Level 1 derwatives mnclude short-term contracts for future
delivery of securitics when the underlying security & a level 1
mstrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively
traced and are valued at their quoted market price.

Level 2

Level 2 dervatives inchude OTC derivatives for whach all
significant valuation inputs are corroborated by market evidence
and exchange-traded derivatives that are not actively traded
and'or that are valued using models that calibrate to market-
clearing levels of OTC derwvatives.  In evaluating the
significance of a valuation input, the company considers, among
other factors, a portfolio’s net nsk exposure 1o that input.

The selection of a particular model to valwe a derivative depends
on the contractual terms of and specific nisks mherent in the
instrument, a5 well as the availabaliny of pricing mformation in
the market, For denvatives that teade in ligquid markets, model
selection does not involve significant management judgement
because cutputs of models can be calibrated 1o market-clearmg
levels.

Valuation models require a vanety of inputs, such as contractual
terms, market prices, yield curves, discount rates {including
these denved from interest rates on collateral received and
posted as  specified in credit support  agreements  for
collateralised denvatives), credit curves, measures of volatliy
and comrelations of such inpuls. Saficant inputs 1o the
valuations of level 2 derivatives can be verified 1o market
tranzactions, broker or dealer quotations or other altermative
pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency.
Corsideration 15 given 1o the nature of the gquotations (eg,
indicative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity
to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources.
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Lavel 3

Level 3 derivatives are valued using models which wtilise
observable level 1 and'or level 2 inputs, as well as unchservable
level 3 inputs. Unobservable inputs include centain comelations,
illiquid credit and secured funding spreads, recovery rates and
certain equity and interest rate volatilitics.

Subsequent to the mitial valuation of a level 3 denvative, the
company updates the level 1 and level 2 imputs to reflect
observable markel changes and any resulting gains and losses
are classified in level 3. Level 3 inputs are changed when
corroboratad by evidence such as similar market transactions,
third-party pricing services and or broker or dealer quotateons or
other emparical market data [n circumstances where the
company cannot verify the model value by reference to market
trarsactions, it is possible that a different valuation medel could
produce a materially different estimate of far value. See below
for further information abow significant unobservable mputs
used in the valuation of level 3 denvatives,

Where there is a difference between the imtial transaction price
and the fuir value caleulated by internal models, & gain or less is
recognised after initial recognition only to the extent that it
arises from a change in a factor (including time) that market
participants would consider in setting a price.

Valustion Adjustments

Valuation adjustments are mtegral 1o determining the fair value
of denvative portfolios and are used to adjust the mid-market
valustions produced by denvative pricing models to the exat
price valustion, These adjustments mcorporate  bad/offer
spreads, the et of Lguidity, CVA and funding valwition
adjuwiments, which sccount for the credit and funding risk
inherent in the uncollateralised portion of derivative portfolios.
The company also makes funding valustion adjustments to
collateralised derivatives where the terms of the agreement do
not permit the company to deliver or repledge collateral
receved.  Market-based inputs are generally used when
calibrating valuation adjustments 1o market-clearing levels.

In additton, for denvatives that include sigmificant unobservable
mpuls, the company makes model or exat price adjustments 1o
aceount for the valuation unceriainty present in the transaction.

£l
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Other Financial Assets and Liabilities. Valuton
techniques and significant inputs of other financial assets and
liabilities include:

+ Resale and Repurchase Agreements and Securities
Borrowed and Loaned. The significant inpuls 1o the
valwation of resale and repurchase agreements and secumities
borrowed and loaned are funding spreads, the amount and
tming of expected future cash flows and interest rates.

« Other Asgets. Other assets measured at fair value consist of
an unsecured intercompany loan. The significant inputs to the
valwation of this unsecured ntercompany loan measured at fair
value are the amount and timing of expectad future cash flows,
interest rates and the credit spreads of GS Group,

+ Other Secured Financings. The sigrofican imputs to the
valwtion of secured debt securities ssued, other borrowings
and intercompany loans measused at fuir value are the amount
and timing of expected future cash Mows, interest rates,
funding spreads, the fair value of the collateral delivered by
the company {which 15 determined wsing the amount amd
tming of expested futwre cash flows, market prices, market
vields and recovery assumptions), the frequency of additional
collateral calls and commodity prices for prepaid commaodity
transactions.

Unsecured Borrowings. The smmificant mputs o the
valution of unsecured borrowings measured at fair value are
the amount and tming of expected future cash Mows, imerest
rates, the credit spreads of GS Group and commodity prices
for prepaid commedity transactions, The inputs used to value
the embedded derwative component of hyvbrid fnancial
irstruments are consistent with the inputs used to value the
company”s other derivative instruments.
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GOLDMAM SACHS INTERMATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Motes to the Financial Statements

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities by Level
The table below presents, by level within the fair value
hierarchy, financial assets and liabilities measured at fair valwe
an @ recurring basis

Significant Unobservable Inputs Used in Level 3 Fair
Value Measurements

Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans.
The table below presents level 3 trading cash instrument assets,
invesiments and loans and ranges and weighted averages of

Someon beml et Lewd I significant unobservable inpuls used to value level 3 trading
As of December 2081 .
Financial assets cash instruments, mvestments and loans.
Codatsrabsed agresments 5 - SI7E1E 5 1M 5 17EIM
[T TR r— X LR EL) L] A of December 2031 At of Decembar 2020
Dol iSRS 7 BIOGSE  A7EF  S35E46 % in milions, Amount or  Weighted Amountor  Wsighted
Trading assets TI8T  BERAET  SATe MRS sl inpats Range  Average Range  Average
Irvesimnents . w0 o Trading Cash Ivtnumsrts
Losny - M3 = e Morigages and other asset-backed boans. and securities
Cthar miveti — 00 - 100 Liwel 3 mssats $157 sz
Lotal STANVE SALIA) B AW S REOM Field L% RN ATH DAMtelaD% Bi%
;‘;‘_‘:_‘“'_'::‘::' S - SHSMSTS 308 M2 ;u:u;y rate 4?.nlnn-.';:. HA% 716 60N 3539;
—MET.#., P — ey =T TR ration {years) 04 1o 172 [¥] 1000 11.6 2
Divivalive insiruments B eI8AT) apE emaw g el e g i il Wegpirv g
Tradng abiRes Woie Barash 3y eeaEe Lerwel 3 misets o 48
Lrissu g Bert et - 75,053 14137 30,190 Yisld 1A% I 151% 5.5% 005 1o 23.6% S
Total SE1010  STOS.100 SIEIE0 5 EED 409 Resovery rabe 0% to 80.0°% 1 0L 1 6. 7% 50.4%
Duration {years) 1.8 to T84 ar 2010256 B3
Neet dervatives 5 (M § 12383 51,079 § 13436 e
A ol e 2020 Lol 3 mssids 5 52
Finsncial sssets Ciuration {years) 6,510 6% BS [y s,
Colaterabsed agresmants 5 =5 82818 § =% ®2E18 Total E1a b $504
Trading cach netrumants =T 035 503 EIT
(Dl el T E i BEZAGT 5619 E85MT Invgsimnens
Trading assets [ET TR [XF-I X 1T] Corporate debd instruments
Irvaaieninty e e 1w b [ p— 549 506
;:1"“ - - &;Isi m ﬁ:’f; Yieid ™ Wik B 06 B
e i — — R Recoverymate  B1% 10 78,0%  85.8% i, i,
=T 63,358 51,013,263 5 6365 51,008,008 Durstion tyears) i wn 29128 29
Financial Babilities
Colaterabsed fnancegs § -5 06863 5 M05 9700 Equity securkies
Tradieg cath nstruments 4B TE2 5.0 T Lol 3 miaety 558 5 38
|Dipstwation suats 55 BTEE45 A5 BED479 Wultiples Tl e T lx Tl 4.2 o 11 0w A
Trading babdites ATENT B Bad  Aho  Panand Total 108 5132
u o bt i - 19,774 9852 THADE
Tiatal 4T 00T & oo0a08 S13.sR0 1008 040 Lgans
Hit disrivantives £ 3§ E747 520805 7ET: Corporste
Lol 3 msnnts 555 i
Yield 41% 10 4.1% 1% 3% 1o 6,6% 56%
Rocovery rate  150% o 15.0% 1500 15.0P% 0 15.0% 16.0%

In the table above:

+ Ranges represent the sigmficant unchservable nputs that
were used in the valuation of each type of cash instrument and
weighted averages are calculated by weighting each input by
the relative fair value of the instrument
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« The ranges and weighted averages of these nputs are not
represendative of the appropriate nputs to use when
caleulating the fair value of any one trading instrument. For
example, the highest yield for morigages and other asset-
backed loans and securities is appropriate for valung a
specific mortgage but may not be appropriate for valuing any
other mortgages. Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do not
represend uncertmnty in, of possible ranges of, far value
measurements of level 3 rading cash instrumenits

» Increases in yvield or duration wed i the valuation of level 3
instruments would have resulted anoa lower fair value
measurertent, while increases in recovery mate of multiples
would have resulted in a higher fair value measurement as of
Drecember 2021 and December 20200 Due 1o the distinctive
natere of cach level 3 metrument, the interrelationshap of
inputs 15 not necessarily uniform withan each product type.

Morgapges and other asset-backed loans and securities,
corporate debt instruments and government and agency
oblizations and loans are valued wing discoumted cash Dows,
and equity securities are valued using market comparables and
discoumted cash Mows,

The fair value of any one instrument may be determined using
multiple valuation technigues. For example, market
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used together
to determine fair value. Therefore, the level 3 balance
encompasses both of these techniques.

« Duration was not signifscant 1o the valuation of level 3 equity
securities recopnised in trading cash irstruments as of
December 2020,

Yield and duration were not sigrificant to the valuation of
level 3 corporate debt mstruments recogrused in investments
as of December 2021,

Hecovery rate was nod significant to the valuation of level 3
corporate debl mstruments recogrused innvestments as of
Drecember 2020,
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Derivatives. The table below presents net level 3 denvatives
and ranges, averages and medians of significant unobservable
inputs used to value level 3 denvatives.

Aok of Decamber 3001 As of Decomber 2000
5 in g, Amount or  Aversgel Amount o Sragal
sxcen! inpatfs Range Pibevian Range Wdian
Inberest rates, el $ 954 3 414
Correlation 25N 10 % TR 0% fo 24 1IN
Wolatiity (Bet) 40 to 100 Eatkad 40 1o 63 ST
Credit, Fid Fam7 52305
Cradit spreads (bpa} Sto33F  HNE 2 bo B89 100053
Upfront cradit points A s 1910 200 n
Recovery mbes 20 oSy PRI 2F o ATRAD
Currencies, net E - 5 a7
Ciaarelation B e X IR 20 to 2P TR
Equities. et 1A HETn
Corrplation OIS WY (SN b Rar
“elatity Ao FEN RN e 10Z%  1ENAE%
Commoddities, net 5 - 5 4
Total $10M0 52.000

In the table above:

Met derivative assets are shown as pogitive amounts and net
derivative hiabilities are shown as negative amounts.

-

Ranges represent the significant unobservable inputs that were
used 1n the valmation of each type of derivative. Averages
represemt the anthmetic average of the mnputs and are not
weighted by the relative fair value or notional of the respective
financial imstruments. An average preater than the median
indicates that the majority of inputs are below the average.

-

The ranges, avernges and medins of these inpuls are not
represemtative of the appropriate mputs to wse when
calculating the fair value of any one denivative. For example,
the highest comelation for equity derivatives is appropriate for
valuing a .qmcil'ic equity derivative but may not be appropriate
for valuing any other equity derivative. Accordingly, the
ranges of inputs do not represent uncertainty in, or possible
ranges of, fur vahee measurements of level 3 derivatives.

Interest rates, carencies and equities dervatives are valued
using optien pricing models, and credit denivatives are valued
using option pricing., comelation and discounted cash flow
models

The fair value of any one instrument may be determined using
multiple valustion techriques. For example, oplion pricing
models and discounted cash flows models are tepically wsed
together to determine fair valwe, Therefore, the level 3 balance
encompasses both of these techniques.

« Correlation within currencies and eguities includes cross-
product type comelation.

« Upfront credit points were not significant to the valuation of
level 3 credit derivatives as of December 2021,
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Range of Significant Unobservable Inputs
The tollowing provides information about the ranges of

significant unobservable inputs used to value level 3 denvative
insiruments;

« Correlation. Ranges for corelation eover a variety of
underlzers both within one product type (2.2, equity index and
equity single stock names) and across product types (eg..
correlation of an inerest rate and a currency), as well as across
regons.

Volatility., Ranges for volatihty cover numerous underliers
across a vanety of markets, maturities and stnke prices. For
example, volatility of equity indices 15 generally lower than
volatlity of single stocks

Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spreads, upfront credn points and
recavery mtes cover a varwly of underliers (mdex and single
names), regions, sectors, maturities and credit gualities (high-
yield and investment-grade) and also includes secured funding
spreads. The broad range of this population gives nise to the
width of the ranges of significant uncbservable inputs,

Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement fo Changes in
Significant Unobservable Inputs

The followmg is a description of the directional sensitivity of
the company’s level 3 fair value measurements 1o changes n
significant unobservable mputs, in isolation, as of cach period-
end:

« Correlation. In gemeral, for contracts where the holder
benefits from the convergence of the underlying asset or index
prices (e, interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange
rates, inflation rates and equity prices), an IMkrease in
correlation results in & hagher faar value measurement.

« Volatility. In general, for purchased options, an increase mn
volatality results in a higher fr value measumement.

« Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. Ingeneral, the fair value of purchased credit profectson
mncreases as credit spreads or upfront credit pomis Increase or
recovery rates decrease, and the fair value of secured funding
capacity increases as secured funding spreads increase, Credit
spreads, upfront credit pomits and recovery rates are strongly
related to distinctive nisk factors of the underlving reference
obligations, which include reference entity-specific factors
such as leverage, volatility and industry, market-based risk
factors, such as borrowing costs or hoguadity of the underlying
reference obligation, and macroeconomic conditions.

Due o the distinetive nature of each of the company’s level 3
denvatives, the mnterrelationship of mputs 1s ol necessanly
unifiorm within each product type.
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Other Financial Assets and Liabilities. Swnificant
unobservable inpuis of other financial assets and liabalities
include:

+ Resale and Repurchase Agreements and Securities
Borrowed and Loaned. As of December 2021, the
significant unobservable inputs used to value kevel 3 resale
agreements are ncorposated into the trading cash instruments
disclosures related to unobservable inputs. See “Trading Cash
Instruments, Investments and Loans” and “Dervatives”
above. As of December 2021, there were no level 3 securiies
bosrowed, repurchass agreements and securiies loaned, As of
December 2020, there were no level 3 resale agreements,
securities bomrowed, repurchase agreements and secsitics
loaned

« Other Secured Financings. As of December 2021 amd
Drecember 2020, the significant unobservable inputs used to
value level 3 other secured financings are incorporated into the
denvatives and trading cash mstruments, nvestments amd
loans disclosures related to unobservable nputs. See “Tradmg
Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans™ and “Dernivatives™
above.

Unsecured Borrowings. As of December 2021 amd
Drecember 2020, the significant unchservable inputs used 1o
value level 3 unsecured bomawings are incorporated into the
denvatives and trading cash mstruments, investments amd
loans disclosures related to unobservable inputs. See “Tradmg
Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans™ and “Derivatives™
above,

Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

During the period ended December 2021 and period ended
December 2020, there were no significant transfers between
level 1 and level 2 Ninancial assets and lisbilities measured at fair
value on & recurring basis.
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Fair Value Financial Assets and Liabilities Valued
Using Techniques That Incorporate Uncbservable
Inputs

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities may be
determined in whele or part using a valuation technique based
on assumptions that are not supported by prices from observable
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on
available observable market dsta and  changing  these
assumptions will change the resultant estimate of fur value, The
potential impact of wsing reasonable possible alterrmtive
asmumptions  for  the wvaluations, including  sigmificant
unobserveble inputs, has been quantified as approximately 3333
million as of December 2021 and 5412 million as of December
2020 for favourable changes, and 5211 million as of December
2021 and 5186 mullion as of December 2020 for unfavowrable
changes. In determining reasomably  possible  alternative
unfavourable assumptions, a detailed business and position level
review has been performed to idennfy and quanufy instances
where potential uncertainty exasts. This has taken inle accoun
the positions’ fair value as compared o the range of available
market information, As of December 2021 and December 2020
the impact for favourable changes was pnmanly driven by
changes in the sssumptions around sscured funding spreads and
valuation adjustments in equity and fixed income denvatives,
and the impact for unfwvoursble changes was primarily driven
by changes in the assumptions around secured Tunding spreads,
volatlity and correlation inputs.

The table below presents the amounts not recognised m the
mcome statement relating 1o the difference between the fair
value of fnancial assets and liabalines at imtal recognition
uging the valuation techniques and the teansaction price (day 1
P&L).

Parind Ended Ducomber
$ in eiliang T T
Bggnning balsnce 5209 183
Huw transactions 125 L]
Arnzenls ecogieed n the Roeme wabensent
dunng the penod [ (138
Ending balance 5 100 )
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Level 3 Roliforward

The table below presenis a summary of the changes in farr value
for all level 3 fimancial assets and liabilittes measured at fair
vialue on a recurring basis.

Paeriad Ended Decembes

§ i\ mliag aan ]

Todal Nimancinl sveets

Beginning balancs $ BIES 5 53

Caiaiiosses) 636 2000

Purchases AT (2}

Zale [FA] (170
Setdements (739 (1,40
Traseslars inbs level 3 420 51

Trass fors out of level 3 i) (4T
Ending balance § 5760 % 64

Total Nnancial Nabillies

Baginning balancs B0430) 312308
Gadrallouses) Wi (1,757
Purchawes 15 17

atin wazp
IssuBnCes w2 2D
Satdements w028 12677

Traevs fars inte: el 3 1540 [ k]
Traeralars oo of vl 3 1,107 1,534

Ending balance S18,208) 513450
In the table above:

o ITa financial asset of Ginancial hability was wansferred 1o kevel
3 during a reporting period, its entire gain or loss for the period
15 classified in level 3. For level 3 financial assets, increases
are shown as pesitive amounits, while decreases are shown as
negative amounts, For level 3 financial lizbalities, increases are
shown as negative amounts, while decreases are shown as
posItive amounis.

« Tramafers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are
recognised at the beginning of the reporting period in which
they occur, Accordingly, the tables do not include gains or
losses for level 3 financial assets and labilities that were
transferred out of level 3 prior (o the end of the period.

Level 3 fmancea]l assets and labilities are frequently
coonomically hedged with level 1 and level 2 financial assets
andd lisbiliies. Accordingly, level 3 gains or lesses that are
reported for o particular ¢lass of financil asset or financial
leakality can be partially offset by gains o losses attributable
to level 1 or level 2 in the same class of financial asset or
financial liability or gains or losses attributable 1o level 1, level
2 or level 3 in a different class of firancial asset or financial
leabality. As a result, pams or losses included in the level 3
rollforward do not necessarily represent the overall impact on
the company’s resulls of eperations, hgudity or capital
MESOLMoes

-

Gains({lasses) are predominately attribatable o changes in
unrealised gains or loesses relating to level 3 Ananci] assets
and financial liabilities.
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« The net gams on level 3 Gnancial assets for the period ended
December 2021 and period ended December 2020 are reported
in “Met revenues” in the income statement

« The met losses on level 3 financial liabilities of 3477 million
for the period ended December 2021 meluded losses of 3475
million reported in “MNet revenues”™ in the ncome statement
and losses of 32 mullion reported n “Debt valwstion
adjustment”™ in the statement of comprehensive mcome. The
net lesses on level 3 financial habilities of $1.76 ballion for the
period ended December 2020 included losses of 31,63 billion
reported in “Net revenues™ in the income statement and losses
of 581 million reported in “Debt valwation adjustment” in the
statement of comprehensive income.

The table below di=aggregates, by the balance sheet line tems,
the information for financial assets included in the summany
table above.

Pariod Ended Oecember
§ n millong Ficl a0
Collateralited agresments
Baginning balance 5 = 5 -
Traeeilers inbo heved 3 12 -
Ending balance £ 1M £ -
Trading asseis
Eisgenin g Ealani e §8172  S50E8
Gains/iosses) &OE il ]
Purchaies T -+
Sees 21m (17
Settements .71 (1,400
Traenfers inba hevel 3 A o]
Trashars ol of vl 3 {318 (353
Ending balance 55479 S 6102
Inwestments
Beganning balance $ 1§ 148
Gainuifiosues) Fa 2
Sees &) -
Sedements [1E] &
Traevsfars inbo bevel 3 &1 -]
Travihars out of leval 3 ] )
Ending balance § 105 5 132
Lexams
Beginning balance 1M1 5 2
Cainuiievied) 1) i
Perchasos - 3
Geles i -
Seldamanty 5 (15
Traeelers out of level 3 e -
Ending balance 5 5 F
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The 1able below disaggregates, by the balance sheet line items,
the information for firancial liabilites included in the summary
table above.

Patiod Erded Decomber
£ in millons man o]
Collaterali i d Anandngs
Baginning balance: 5 (40 5 (1
Caai it} 128) 42
ISSUBnCes 175 -
Setements {2%) L F'l
Tt fiw 4 inthes binead 3 m -
Trases fors out of level 3
Ending balance 5 {380 5 (240

Tradng labilives

Baginning balancs {3,558 5 (3004
Gasnt/loases) (B8N (1,40
Purchases 15 17
Sales [T [
Satiements 1,754 1,053
Trae fors inbs vl 3 (o] ]
Traevfors ouft ol level 3 D 454
Ending balanses £ AFM 5 RSk
Unsecured bomowings
Bginning balance FEsEn F (BEg
G/ iosses) 444 (e
hiunnces 12,243 (1230
Setdements B860 10815
Traews fars into level 3 1263 et
Traevi hars ouf ol vl 3 w7 1,080
Endinyg balance Hi4,137) 5 (R

Transfers Between Level 2 and Level 3 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

Transfers between level 2 and level 3 generally ocour due to
chamnges in the transparency of level 3 inputs. A lack of market
evidence leads to reduced transparency, whereas an increase in
the availability of market evidence leads 1o an merease

IrAnSParEncy.

Fimancial Assets.

Period Ended Decembor 2021

Collateralised Agreements. Trnsfers e level 3
collateralized agreements primarily reflected transfers of resale
agreements from level 2, due 1o a lack of transparency as a result
of a lack of market evidence in these irstruments.

Trading Assets. Transfers into level 3 trading assets primarily
reflected transfers of certain equity denvatives from level 2,
prancipally due 10 reduced transparency of cenain volatility amd
correlation inpads.

Transfers out of level 3 irading assets pnmarily refleciad
transfers of certain equity dervatives 1o kevel 2, principally dus
to increased transparency of certam volatility and correlation
inpats, and transfers of certamn cash instruments to level 2,
prncipally due to increased trarsparency of certain viekd inputs.
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Investments. Transfers into level 3 investments primanly
reflected transfers of investments from level 2, principally due
to reduced transparency of certain yvield products.

Tranafers out of level 3 investments primanly reflected transfers
of certain mwvestments into level 2, principally due to increased

trarsparency of certain yield products.

Loans. Transfers out of level 3 loans reflected transfers of
ceftain Joars o level 2. prncpally due 1o increased
trarsparency of certain yield products.

Paried Ended December 2020

Trading Assets. Translers mto level 3 trading assets prmanly
reflected tanslers of certain equity denvatives from level 2,
principally due 1o reduced wansparency of centain volatility and
cormelation inputs, and transfers of certain cash instruments from
level 2, principally due to decreased transparency of certain
yield products.

Transfers out of level 3 trading assels primarily reflected
trarsfers of certan equity dervatives 1o kevel 2, principally duse
1o increased transparency of certam volatility and cosrelation
inputs, transfers of cemain credin derivatives 1o Jevel 2,
principally due to increased transparency of certain credit spread
inputs, and transfers of certain cash instruments anto level 2,
principally dws to increased trarsparency of certain vield inputs,

Investments. Transfers into level 3 investments primarnly
reflected transfers of certam  investmemnts from level 2,
principally due to reduced transparency of certain yield
products.

Transfers cut of level 3 investments primanly reflected transfers
of centain myestments into level 2, principally due 10 increassd
trarsparency of certain vield products,

Financial Liabilities.

Period Ended December 2021

Collateralised Financings. Trnsfers mlo level 3
collmsteralised financings were ot material,

Trading Liabilities. Transfers into level 3 trading habilities
primarily reflected transfers of certain equity dervatives from
level 2, principally due to reduced transparency of certain
volatlity and correlation inputs.

Transfers ot of level 3 trading habilities primanly reflected
trarsfers of certain equity denvatives 1o kevel 2, principally due
1o increased transparency of certam volatlity and correlation
inpLs,

Unsecured Borrowings. Transfers mio kevel 3 unsecured
borrowings primanly reflected transfers of certain hybrad
financial instruments from level 2, principally due to reduced
trarsparency of certain volatility and cormrelation inputs.

87
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Transfers out of level 3 unsecwred borrowings primarily
reflected transfers of certain hybrid financial instruments to
level 2, principally due to increased transparency of certain
volatility and correlation inputs,

Period Ended December 2020

Trading Liabilities. Transfers into level 3 trading liabilities
primarily reflected transfers of certain equity derivatives from
level 2, prmecipally due to reduced transparency of certmin
volatility and correlation inputs.

Transfers out of level 3 wrading liabilities primanly refleciad
transfers of certain credn derivatives to kevel 2, principally due
to increased transparency of certain volatlity and correlation
inputs,

Unsecured Borrowings. Tramfers into level 3 unsecured
borrowings primanly reflected transfers of certain hybrid
financial mstruments from level 2, principally due to reduced
transparency of certamn volatlity and correlation inputs.

Transfers out of level 3 unsecured borrowings prnimarily
reflected transfers of certmn hybrd fnancial nstrumenls 1o
level 2, principally due to increased transparency of certain
volatlity and corvelation inputs.

Fair Walue of Financial Assets and Liabilities Not
Measured at Fair Value

The company had financial assets of 321943 hillion as of
Diecember 2021 and 5183.57 hallion as of December 2020 that
are not measured at fair value, Given that substantially all of
these balances are short-term in nature, their carmying values in
the balance sheet are a reasonable approxamation of fair value.

The table below presents the company”s financial labilities that
are fot mensured ot fair value by expected matunty,

At of Ducemiber
$ s pellovas 02 020
Cutrert SIB7,014  5128.800
o ourment 56,615 3,047
Total $220820 51T 84T
In the table above:

« Current fimancial labilities are shori-term in nature and
therefore their carrving valwes in the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value,

« Mon-current financial liabilities primarily related to long-term
intercompany loans and repurchase agreements. The interest
rates of these instruments are variable in natune  and
approximate prevailing market interest rates for mstruments
with similar terms and charsctenistics. As such, their carrying
values in the balance sheet are a reasonable approsimation of
fair value,
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Note 30.

Financial Risk Management and Capital

Management

Cenain disclesumes in relation o Ginancial nsk management and
capital management have been presented alongssde other risk
management and regulatory information in Part [ of this annual
report and are sdentified as audited, where relevant

Maturity of Financial Liabilities

The table below present an analysis of the cash flows of financial
liabilities by contractual maturity except for trading habalities,
which are classfied as trading’on demand. reflecting the
company’s role as o market maker,

Ini the table below

« Cagh fows by contractunl matuiy include interest that will
acerue on financial liabilities,
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» Financial liabalities, with the exception of those that are held
fior trading o designated at faar value through profit or loss,
are disclosed at their undiscounted cash Nows, The fair values
of firancial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss have been
disclosed as this 15 consistent with the values used in the
liguidiny risk management of these instruments.

Liquidity rek on denvatives is mitigated through master
netting agreements and cash collaeral arrangemens.
Unsegured borrowings include centmn delb securities 1ssued
that have trigger evenis thal are not in the control of the
company and could be repaid earlier than their contractual
maturities

Tracingl Less 3 Gmater
o than 13 months 1-5 than

§ in eilians demard 1 month months -1 yaar years & yuars Total
A3 of December 3031

Colatembied Enanargn § W68 § 59403 15,112 F30,841 SBD, 144 § 1257 § P57
Customar snd cthar payables 110,883 - - - - - 11EES
Trading kabiiges L1 - - - - - Lo X T
Unsecuned borrowings 1,083 3,348 4,002 0,122 30, Bk 3,7 FIE
Cthar lisbdtes 1,753 0,680 [ 26 L] il 4%
Tolal - on Calance shest 358,217 XE] 15,321 40,880 DL 35,148 [RLTE1N
= ised 0 . [ 18,812 3,368 (] 1,578 - 141800
Cthar 1188 - 1,080 184 408 1 4281
Total - o balance shes! 3,384 118,812 4 A5T 17,43 1085 1 145,561
Totdal - § 850,601 183,251 533,778 EEEEEL S04, 181 §35.150 §1,254, 163
Sl el 2020

Cotatprabied Enangrgn §  20.560 § 60,064 $T.7TR 20857 F1.478 § 1T R ERAERE]
Curtomar and other payablet 100,519 - - - - - 100519
Trading kabiEes 832414 - - - - = HE2LA4
Unsecured borr gwings 3,205 i3 8645 .803 e 15,420 0T
Gther lisbdtes 2006 1,437 14 13 L 14 4,480
Tolal - on balance shest 1,088,732 3,620 14,438 28873 Zn818 17,318 1233818
Colistersbiad ogr F] EEE1Z 82 FITH - - 61,502
Cther 3,007 - a4 a7 580 4 4542
Tetal - o Calance sheet 3458 T S 346 [ % )
Tolal 51,062,180 S122.752 $15,134 533,137 ] S17.322 51300543

BE
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Note 31.
Transferred Assets

Asszets Continued to be Recognised in Full. During the
penod ended December 2021, the company transferred certam
financial assets where the transfers fuled o meet the
derecognition critenia, as contained in [FES 9, and as a result of
which the company continues 1o recognise these assets in full in
the balance sheat

The company transfers assels owned W counterparties n the
ordinary course of business 1o collmeralise repurchase
agreements and other securities lending transactions, In these
traractions the transferred assets contimue to be recognised by
the company for accounting purposes because the transactions
require the fnanceal instruments to be repurchased at maturity
of the agreemen and the company remains exposed to the price,
credit and interest rate risk of these instruments. When the
company receives cash proceeds from the ransfer of the assel. a
financial lability 15 recognised in respect of the consideration
received and recorded in colluteralised financings, When the
company receives non cash collateral {in the form of securities)
no hability is intaally recoprised. If collateral received s
subsequently sold, the obligation o reétum the collateral s
recognised as a lisbility in trading liabilites.

In sddition 1o repurchase agreements and securities lendimg
agreements, the company obtains furkding throwgh the wse of
other amangements that fail 1o meet the derecognition cniteria.
For example, sales of securities with related derivatives, such as
total retwn swaps, through which the company retains
substantially all of the risk and reward of the transferred assets,
A financial liabality is recognised i such cases for the proceeds
receved.

Other fmancial assets transferred that contime to be recognised
on balance sheet for sccounting purposes relate o pledges of
securities as collateral, primanily for derivative ransactions. The
obligations under such denvatives are recorded i trading
liabalities.

bt
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The table below presents financial assets which have been
transferred but which remain on balance sheet for accounting
purposes.

Az of Decambar
Lk mitns - it Fus
G and pgency obiig 2,007 $16.340
Morigage and other assel-backed loans and
sRUTBeE i a7
Conporats el imtlramenti T 604 7.880
Exuuity securtios 43,810 32454
Traethnig cash insbumants Tasar EE& B
Corporate delt instnaments 100 E]
Equity tscuriini 13 l
I it mesy "I A8
Total .70 557,208

The camying wvalue of the associated financial liabalities
generally  approximate the carmving value of the assels
transferred,

Derecognised Assets With Ongoing Exposure. The
company has continuing invelvement in the form of derivative
transactions and puarantecs with certain  unconsolidated
structured entitties to which the company had transferred
financial assets, These derivatves may be credin-linked to the
asset transferred and result in the company retaining specific
risks in the transferred asset or require the company 1o make
pavments to the structured entity to compensate losses on the
assel i certain conlingent evenls oegur,

In addition, the company transfers [nancml sssels 1o
securitisation vehicles, The company generally receives cash in
exchange for the transferred assets but may have continuing
invalvernent with the trarsferred assets, including ownership of
beneficial mterests in the securitised financial assets, primarnly
in the form of debt instruments. The company may also purchase
semior of subordinated securities issued by securitisation
vehcles in connection with secondary market-making activities.

Where the company’s contimuing invelvement n transferred
assels is through derivatives o guarantess, the maximum
exposge 10 loks s the notional amounts of the derivative of
guarantee. For retained or purchased imterests in securitised
assets, the company”s risk of loss is limited to the fair value of
these interests. In all cases these retained interests are camed at
fair value.

The company accounts for assets pending transfer a1 farr value
and therefore does not tvpically recognise sigmficant gains or
losses upon the transfer of assets. The company does not have
cominuing invelvement that could requrre the company o
repurchase derecognized financil assels
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The tables below present information aboul exposure through

continuing involvement and the gains or losses related 1o those

Trarsactions.
Maxrum
Caemang BEDIEUNE
§ in miliony valug o loss
A o Decembir SO
Assels
Trading cash isstrurrsnts | 3 $§ =
Dhriwalivgs. L 1,144
Tracing aviete 3 1,144
Total 588 1,144
Liakdtizirs
Tracing cath isttrurents 5 - 5 2
Dhistrafredes (k] 4
Trading babdtes [F1] 1]
Tolal $in L]
Saof Decembir 2020
Assels
Trading cash instruments 5 - 3 -
DChistrwafrett. ™ L1k
Treding astnts TE 618
Tiotml 506 5 618
“Labinzies
Dhistrwd vt 1% 5 90
Trwdhing habd g 1y S
Totml ETRE $ b
Incomal  Cumulative
{nnpanin) incemned
5 in milkong i the pariod  {axpanse)
Az of December 2031
L1t
Trading cah ity 5 - 5133
Drteatrees brd o]
Trading asseiu Er3 b
Total Ear Fibb
Liabingies
Trading cash instrurrents $ - $ -
Charierabivg 0 L
Trading inbiiget 0 F
Cushomar nd oher payabies = 1)
Total i F &
Aaol December 2020
Assels
Trading cash instrurments ¥ - 153
Chiwrwafrdt. 4 Fikl
Trading aunts = 34
Tetal 522 4
“Dabinties
Treding cath ity L 1 5 -
Drrivatives = #
Trading kabdes = )
Cuitomar and cther payables = 4]
Tl 33 5 (51

kol
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Directors’ Report

The direclors present ther report and the audited fnancial
statements for the period ended December 2021,

Introduction

In accordance with seetion 4144 of the Companies Act 2006,
the directoss have prepared a strategic report, which is included
in Part [ of this anmal report and which contains a review of the
company’s businesses and a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the company. The directors have chosen
to disclose the company's risk management objectives amd
policies, including exposures to market nsk, credit nsk and
liguidity risk, and the future outlook of the company in the
strategic reporl in accordance with sectien 414C(11) of the
Companies Act 2006,

Accounting Reference Date

During the period ended December 2020, the company changed
1tz accounting reference date from Novembser 30 1o December
31 to confoem to the penod wsed by the company for U5, tax
reporting  purposes. These financial statements have been
prepared for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, with
comparative information being presented For the tharteen moniths
ended December 31, 20200 Asa result, amounts presented in this
annual report are not directly comparable.

Corporate Governance

The company has a robust corporate governance framework
which 13 embedded in its approach to running 185 business. This
framework aligns with legal and repulatory requirements amd
gusdance issued by vanous bodies as relevant to the company
and as appropriate for its business and shareholding structure.
As a whollv-owned subsideary within GS Group, the compamy
also aligns its corporate governance with that of GS Group.
While the company does not formally apply any single corporate
governance code, is governance arrangements are broadly
consistent with the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) Wates
Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies,

Role of the Board, The Board has overall responsibility for
the management of the company. As part of this role, the Board
approves and oversces implementation of the company s
strategic objectives, nsk strategy and intemal governance. The
Board monitors the integrity of the company s secounting and
financial reporting systems including financial and operational
comrals and regulatory compliznce and his oversight of senior

management.

Purpose, Values and Culture, Whilst some of these areas
of responmbality are delegated to Board committess, the Boasd
as 4 whole is responsible for overseeing the compiny s strategic
direction and culture.

The purpese of G5 Group as a whole is to advance sustainahble
cconomic growth and financial opportunity across the globe. As
a subssdiary within G5 Group, the company 1s aligned 1o this
purpose.

3
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The company sirives 1o mamlam a work environment that
fosters  professiomalism, excellence, diversity, cooperation
among employess and high standards of business cthics. The
company recognises that it needs the most alented people to
delver outstanding results for clients. A diverse workforce in
terms of gender, ethmicity, sexual onemtation, background,
culture and education ersures the development of better 1deas,
presducts and services

The Board recognises the mportance of maniaming and
developing the culture of the company, ard does so by setting
the “tore from the top” and everseeing bow culture and values
are fostered by the management of the company, The Board
receves regular updates on culiure, conduct and diversity and
miclusion from management.

G5 Group maimains a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,
which was updated in March 2021, supplemented by 14
Busimess Principles, and a compendium of miterral policies to
nform and guide employees in their roles.

Strategy. GS Group's focus 1s on delivening sustainable, long-

term returns for its shareholders through a strategy that revolves

around its cliems. Tis strategy comprises three core objectives

« To grow and strengthen its existing franchise; to capture
higher wallet share across a wider range of chents.

+ Todiversify its products and services: to build a more durable
source of eamings.

+ Tooperate more efficiently: so that it can drive higher mangins
and refums across the organisation.

The company’s strategy, aligned with that of GS Group, s
implermnented by the executive management of the company with
Board oversight. The chief executive officer of the company
updates the Beard on the company’s performance against 1ts
strategic objectives at board meetings.

Composition of the Board. The directors collecuvely
possess a broad range of skills, backgrounds, experience and
knowledge appropriate for the effective oversight of the
company’s business. The roles of the char of the Board and the
chief executive officer are held by different individuals.

The Board considers. that the size and structure of the Board 15
appropriate to oversee the businesses conducted by the
company. As of December 2021, the Board 1s compnsed of ten
directors, five of whom are independent. The company has
Awdit, Risk, Nommatons and Remuneration Board
Committees,
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The Board MNoeminations Committee 15 responsible for
identifying and recommending qualified candidates for Board
membershup and wilises a Succession Planning Framework
which sets out the process and criterin, which include a
consideration of board diversaty, for the selection of new
directors, The use of a skills matrix enables the experience and
expertise of the Board both individually and as a whole 10 be
asmessed. Mew directors ase provided with a comprehensive amd
bespoke induction programme. The chair of the Board oversees
an ongoing training and development programme for the
directors 1o enhance their knowledge and engagement.

The Board Nomnations Commiltee oversees the effectivensss
of the Board, tts Committees and their chairs and members, and
evahumies this annually. 1t also reviews the size, siructure and
composition of the Beard, including the balance of independent
and non-independent directorns,

The approsch 1o drectors’ conflicts of interest and the
anbicipated time commatment required 15 dscussed with each
director on their joining the Board and reviewed annually as part
of the fitness and propriety assessmen process. All the directors
meet the applicable regulatory requirements for the number of
directorshps they are permitted 1o hold.

Responsibilities and Accountability. The company's
governance model fully incorporates the Sentor Managers and
Cemification Regime

The Board is supparted by varicas Board Committees, each with
a charter setting out its duties and the responsibilities delegated
to it. The Committees are comprised of non-executives only to
enable them to provide oversight and challenge to managemen.
The chairs of these board Committees repont to the Board on the
proceedings and recommendations of the Committees. Certain
matters are seserved for decision by the Board alone.

Further details of the G351 Board Risk Committes and G351 Board
Audht Committes are sel o an the “Overview and Structhge of
Risk Management — Structure”™ section of the strategic report.

Opportunity and Risk. The company believes that effective
risk management is critical 1o its success, and 50 has established
an enterprise nisk mamagement framework that employs a
comprehensive, integrated approach to risk mamagement, and
through which the nisks associated with the company's
businesses are identified, assessed, monitored and managed.
The company’s nsk maragement structure 15 buiht around three
core components: governance; processes; and people.

iz
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Risk management governance starts with the Board, which both
directly and through its committees, incheding the GEI Board
Risk Committes and the GSI Fisk Commitee, oversee the
compary’s  risk  management  policies and  practices
miplementad  through  the  enterprise rsk  management
framework. The Board is responsible for the annual review and
approval of the company's risk appetite statement, which
deseribes the levels and types of risk it is willing to accept, in
order 1o achieve the objectives included in s strategic business
plan, while remaining in compliance with regulatory
requirements. The company’s strategy set out above & aligned
with that of GS Group and the Board is ultimately responsible
for overseeing and providing direction abowt the company™s
strategic business plan and risk appetite.

The chief nsk officer reports o the G31 Board Risk Committes.
Az part of the review of the firmwide risk portfolio, the chiel
risk officer regularly advises the G351 Board Risk Committee of
relevant risk metrics and materinl exposures, including nisk
limts and thresholds established in the company”s nisk appetite
statement,

Further details of the GSI Board Risk Commitiee are sei out in
the “Cnverview and Structure of Risk Management — Structare”
section of the strategic report,

Remuneration Framework. Atracting and retaiming talent
s fundamental to GS Group's long-lerm success as a firm
Compensation, when structured appropriately, 1s an important
way of attracling, retaining and incentivising talemi and in
reinforeing GS Group's culture. GS Group’s remumeration
philesophy is reflected in the Goldman Sachs Compensation
Principles as posted on the Goldman Sachs public website. In
particular,  effective  remuneration  peactices  should: (i)
Encourage a real sense of teamwork and commumication,
binding individual short-term interests to the institution’s long-
term inderests; (1) Evaluate performance on a multi-vear basis,
(i) Discourage excessive or concentrated risk-taking, (i)
Allow an institstion 1o attract and retain proven talent, and {(v)
Align aggregate remuneration for GS Group with performance
over the cvele,

The company develops remuneration policies and practices in
sccordance with applicable regulatory rules whilst ensuring that
these are aligned 0 far as possible with the Goldman Sachs
Compensation Principles. Emplovees share in performance-
based incentive schemes,

The GSI Beard Remuneration Commiltee oversees the
development and implementation of these remuneration policies
and practices.
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Stakeholder Engagement. The company's stakeholders
include its shareholder, emplovees, suppliers, clients, regulators
and the commumities and environment in which it operates.

Engagement with Shareholder

The company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Group Inc. As
such its purpose, culture, values and strategies are aligned with
those of its ultimate shareholder. The Board receives regular
updates en GS Group strategy, Chairs of Board Commitiees
meet regularly with their counterparts on the G 3 Group board of
directors. The company®s chiel executive officer is a member of
GE Group's Management Committes and one non-executive
dircetor is.a member of G35 Group’s board of directors

The company considers its emplovess as ils greatest asset and

the Board i responsible for overseeing the company’s
engagement with them. This includes regular updates from
management on various metrics, including on diversity and
inelusion.

Sensor management engaged with emplovess in vanous ways
duning the period mcluding firmwide or regional *Town Halls®,
where questions are solicited in advance and feedback gathered
afterwards, Talks at GS with external and internal speakers;
penodic  emplovee  feedback:  email  and  voicemail
communications and manager engagement at a dvisional level.
Emplovess are  invited 1o watch quarterly  earnings
announcements and receive internal briefings so that they are
made aware of the Orancial and economie fctors affecting the
performance of the company. A sophasticated firmwide intranet
further enables employees o be engaged.

The company supports the diversity and inclusion mitiatives of
G Group and 15 committed 1o sustaiming a work environment
where its people feel comfortable bringing their authentic selves
to work and are empowered to reach their full potental G5
Group has a range of initiatives in place to increase diverse
representation ab all levels and foster mclusion, Varous alfinaty
groups for employees are supported by the company. In
September 2021, the company mel ils commitment, 35 a
sigratory to the UK. Race at Work Charter and the UK.
Women in Finance Charter, of women professionals comprising
30 of the senior talent (vice presidents and above) by 2023,

i3
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With respect 1o the COVID-19 pandemic, the company's
priociy remains 1o safeguard its employees and (o seek (o ersure
continuity of business operations on behalf of s clients.
Throughout the year, the company has invested in supporting its
emplovees working remotely and 15 focused on ensuring that
emplovees are able to safely work from s offices. Senior
management make regular announcements to employees on the
Iatest governmental and public health advice on COVID-19 and
continue to memtor emplovee sentiment around the company s
management of the pandemic to inform its decisions as to the
type of suppont to make avalable,

Engagement with Other Stakeholders
Clients — the chief exccutive officer of the company regularly

meets with clients and hosts and participates in clienl evenis.
The Board as a whole regularly receives updates from

management on client engagement

Suppliers — G5 Group has globally consistent sandards armd
procedures for the on-boarding, wse and payvment of external
suppleers (vendors), In parinering with GS Group to deliver on
s objectives, suppliers are required to meet  business,
compliance and financial stability requirements and adhere to
G5 Group’s vendor code of conduct, which descnbes the
expectations G3 Group has of its suppliers o conduct business
responsibly. Suppliers i indhstries percerved to be of higher
risk in relation to environmental, social and governance (ESG)
or modem slavery and human irafficking are subject to
entanced due diligence and monitonng. The company reports
s activities on this within s anmeal Modern Slavery Act
statement, which is reviewed and approved by the Board GS
Group has 2 long histery of working with small and diverse
businesses as part of its vendor diversity programme and has
mplementad strategies to promote greater diversity within its
supplier base and remaing committed to 13 goal to increas:
spend with small and diverse suppliers by 5056 by 20235 {from
ts 2020 baseling).

Regulators — the company has an active diaslogue with ats
regulators.  Semior management and  directors meet with
regulators on o frequent bases

Envirenment - (35 Group has a global approach to sustainability
through 1ts platform for sustaimable (mance. GS Group's
approach to sustamable fimance is focused on two long-term
mperatives: advancing the climate transiton by helping
mdustiees usher in, and thave in a low-carbon economy, sl
driving inclusive growth by leveraging its business capabilities
to improve access and affordability and to advance economic
empowerment. G5 Group has announced a target to deploy 5750
billion in sustainable financing, investing and advisory activity
by the beginning of 2030, in which the company will play a part
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As part of s ESG framewaork, G5 Group's Corporate and
Workplace Soelutions division looks to reduce the environmental
impact of G5 Group's global operations and supply chain,
through operational resiliency; ensuring facilities adhere to the
highest levels of environmentally sustainable standards, carbon
footprint and energy usage reduction initiatives; the sourcing of
sustaimably produced poods and resource conservation. This
approach i applied corsigently peress all entities in GS Group
mcluding the company. G5 Group has been carbon neutral
across its operations and business travel since 2015, and met its
20200 poal of procuring 1007 of electricity from rencwable
FOUGER

Commumities — the company supports its commumitics in mamny
ways, with global initiatives coordinated through the Office of
Corporate  Engagement. These include the 100000 Small
Businesses entreprenewsship programme which helps small
business owners create jobs and economic opportunity by
providing access 1o education, capital and business suppeort
services, and the 100000 Women programme which fosters
ceonomic growth by providing women entrepreneurs with a
business  and  mansgement  education, mentoring  and
netwarking. and access 1o capital. Charitable mitiatives include
Goldman Sachs Gives, which supports innovative ideas, solving
cconomic and social dssues, and emabling progress i
underserved communities, and the Community Teamworks
volunteenng imitiative which erables the company’s employees
to coniribute their 1deas, time and expertize to drve tangible
progress m communities through work in partnership with non-
profit organisations.

Internal Contrel over Financlal Reporting. Management
of the company is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate  mitemal control  over  financial  reporting. The
company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed
1o provide reasomable assurance regarding the relmbality of
financial reporting and the preparation of the company's
financial satements for external reporling purposes  in
accordance with [FRS.

The company s internal control over financial reporting includes
policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, aceurately and fairly reflect
trarsactions and dispositions of assets; provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary o permi
preparation of financial statements in accordance with [FRS,
and that receipts and expenditures are being made only n
accordance with authorisations of management and the directors
of the company, and provide reasomable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use
or disposition of the company s assets that could have a matenial
effect on the company s financial statements.
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Section 172{1) Statement

Uneler section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, the directors of
the company are regquired to act in the way they consider, in good
faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the
company [or the benelt of s stakeholders as a whole. In doing
this, section 172 requires a director to have regard, among other
matters, to- the likely consequences of any decision in the long
term; the interests of the company™s emplovees, the need to
foster the company's business relationships with clients,
suppliers and others; the impact of the company’s operations on
the community and the environment, the desimability of the
compsany maintaining a reputation for high standards of business
conduct, and the need 1o act fairly with stakeholders of the
COMpany.

The directors give careful consideration to the factors set out
above in discharging their duties under section 172 and they
miform the directors’ decision-making as a board. The company
endorses G35 Group's updated Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics set out on the Goldman Sachs public website and looks
to conduct its business in accordance with the highest ethical
standards and in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

The directors are committed to effective engagement with all of
the company” s stakeholders. They recognise that banlding strong
relattonships with these stakeholders will help the company
deliver its strategy in line with 15 long-term values, and operate
the business in a sustainable way. The Board seeks to understand
and balance the relative interests and pricntes of each group amd
to have regard to these, as appropriate, in their discussions and
m the decision-making process. As part of this, the Board
receives regular updates from the chief executive officer of the
company on his interactions with clierts and how these are
shaping the company’s strategy. It also recerves feedback from
the company’s sharehalder, A rigosous agends setling process
fior Broard meetings ensures topics relevant to stakeholders are
brongghit to the Board in a frequent and timely manner,

In addition, the Board may receive iraining and other
mformatien o further develop its understanding of key 1ssues
mpacting the company’s stakeholders. The Board is further
supported by the G351 Beard Audit Committee, the G351 Board
Risk Committee and the G531 Board Remuneration Committes
whe consider in more detail the systems and controls in place in
relatzon 1o engagement with stakeholders.

More details aboul the company's engagement with 1s
stakeholders can be found in "Corporate Governance —
Stakeholder Engagement” above,
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Carbon, Energy and Business Travel Consumption
and Reporting

The company's main sources of Greenhouse Gas (GHG)
emissions are the operation of office facilities, dedicated dma
centres and business travel. Carbon neutrality 15 a prioey for the
operation of (G5 Group and its supply chain. In 2015, GS Group
achieved carbon newtrality in its operations and business travel,
ahead of #s 2020 goal announced in 2009 and the offices and
data centres utilised by the company i the UK. source 100F%
renewable electmeity, G5 Group has expanded its operational
carbon commitment 1o inchade its supply chain, targeting net-
zere carbon emissions by 2030, hMore mformation on G35
Group's sustainability efforis, inchading its sustairable finance
strategy, energy consumption and carbon emissions can be
found in the anmual Goldman Sachs Sustaimability RKepor,
available at www goldmansachs com/s/ sustainability-report.

Streamlined Enorgy and Carbon Reporting (SECR).
The tables below presemt the company's UK. energy

corsumplion and associated GHG emissions, as well as
normalisation metrics for the purposes of SECR. As multiple GS
Group subsidianies occupy the same office space, the UK.
energy consumption and associated Scope 1 and 2 GHG
emissions across G5 Group have been allocated io the company
based on the company’s UK. headoount, less any employees
seconded to other GS Group UK, entities, as a proportion of G5
Group's total UK. headcount

The table below presents the company’s energy consumption.

Twabew Months
Endid Dacarsbas
MR M 2020
Tofal energy consumption 43,797 501,305

The table below presents the company’s GHG emssions.

Twahed Mlontha

Ended Decembaer
e ] HH 2020
Ecope 1: Diret emissions
Dienet 1.73% 1,840
Ecope I: Indirect emissbons
Location - indinect B 9,626
Warkat - gt - -
Scope J): Other indirect eméssions - Business ravel
Commenial sr B3E 958
Cround b s speortaton 4 H
Totals
Brope 1, 2 location) hLR 11,468

Beope 1, 3 focsion) and 3 busins trivel
Bcope 1, 7 [marked) and 3 business trave 2,580 4.8

11,038 14,44
-
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The table below presents the company s normalisation metrics.

Twahvn lbonivs

Ended Decemiber
FoO-U K vy e I
Seope 1, T location) EX] EXl

The company's energy consumption and scope | and 2 GHG
emissions have decreased during the twelve months ended
December 2021 in comparison to the twelve months ended
December 2020 primanly due a decrease inthe company s share
of UK. headeount and the closure of two UK. premises as a
part of the continued rationalisation of G5 Group’s London
campus, partially offiet by an increase in cecupancy rles as
miwe emplovees returned to the office following the easing of
COVID-19 restrections, Scope 3 business travel GHG emissions
have decreased dunng the twelve months ended Decembser 2021
n comparison to the twelve months ended Decembser 2020
primanly due to a sigmficant reduction in business ravel as a
result of the COVID-19 pandenic and the transfer of ceriain
emplovees to other GS Group affiliates.

G5 Group's GHG emissions are cakoulated in line with the
Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard (revised edition). The boundares of the GHG
mvertory are defined using the operational control approach and
cover the emissions G5 Group is responsible for across Scope
1, 2 and material Scope 3 business travel. The emissions are
calculated wsing the conversion factors for the respective vear
published by the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial

G5 Growp gathers data from its operstions on an angoing basis,
with primary evidence sourced from office manapers and
managed centrally via G3 Group’s GHG Emissions Reporting
Operating Procedure. GS Group ensures the accuracy of its
environmental metrics and doa collection processes by
maintaining @ robust indermal mveniony management plan,
continuously enhancing is carbon accounting methodology and
obtmning third party venfication of s Scope 1, 2 and Scope 3
business travel emissions,

Maximising Energy Efficlency

(G5 Group’s stratezy o maximise energy efficiency 15 to occupy
more energy efficient real estate, consolidate space and use more
effacient technology equipment. As of December 2021, 84% of
Goldman Sachs” UK. rentable square foctage holds BREEAM
certification.

During the pertod ended December 2021, G5 Group continued
to maximise the operational efficiency of 1ts real estate, focusmg
on increasing the efficiency of power and cooling syslems and
utilising more efficient technology equipmen

2447420
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTEAMATIONAL IUMLIMITED COMPANY)
Directors’ Report

Employment of Disabled Persons

Applications for employment by disabled persons are fully and
fairly considered with regard to the aptitudes and abilities of
cach applicant. Efforis are made 1o enable any employees whe
become dizsabled during emplovment 1o continwe thelr carsers
within G5 Group. Traming, carcer development and promotion
of disabled persons are, to the extent possible, identical to that
of ather employees who are net disabled.

Dividends

The drectors do not recommend the payment of an ordinary
dividend far the peried ended December 2021, No dividends
were paid in the period ended December 2020,

Charitable Contributions

The company made donations to chanty of 312 million for the
penod ended December 2021 and 557 million for the perwod
ended December 2020, This included donations of 310 million
for the pentod ended December 2021 and 552 mullion for the
penod ended Decembser 2020 to Goldman Sachs Gives (UK), a
regetered chanty, for general chantable purposes in Englamd
and Wales,

Exchange Rate

The British pound 1S, dollar exchange rate was £51.3535 as
of December 2021 and £31.3653 as of December 2020, The
average rate for the period ended December 2021 was £31.3739
and for the period ended December 2020 was £81.2950.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors
In the case of each of the persons who are directors of the
company at the date when this report was approved:

« S0 far as each of the direclors 15 aware, there 15 no relevant
audit information of which the company’s auditors are
unaware;, and

« Each of the directors has taken all the steps that they ought 10
have taken as a director 1o make themselves aware of any
rebevant audil information and 1o establish that the company's
audiioss are aware of that information.

Independent Auditors

The company has passed a resolution to re-appoant
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP &= auditors of the company for
financial penods commencimg on or after January 1, 2021,

EDINETOOOO
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Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in Respect of
the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report anmd
the Dmancial statements in accordance wath applicable law amd
regulation

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial vear. Under that law the directors
have prepared the financial statements in accordance with UK .-
adopted mternatioral accounting standards.

The company has also prepared fimancial statements in
aocordance with International Financial Beportmg Standards
(IFRS) adopted pursuant 1o Regulation (EC) No 1606/ 2002 as 1
apphes inthe E L

Uneler company law, directors must not approve the Onancial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or
loss of the company for that period. In prepanng the financial
statements, the directors are required to:

« Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently,

« State  whether  applicable UK -adopted  intemational
secounting  standards and  IFRS  adopled puarsuamt 1o
Regulation (EC) No 160620602 as it applies inthe ELU, have
been followed, subjeet to ary matenial departures disclosed
and explwned inthe financial statements,

« Make judgerients and estmates thal are reasomable and
prwdent; and

+ Prepare the financial statements on the pong concern basis
unless it 15 inappropriate 1o presume that the company will

continue in business,

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
company and hence for taking reasomable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other iregularities

The directors are also responsshle for keeping adequate
secounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
a1 any time the Drancal position of the company and enable
them o ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006,

The directors are responsible for:

« The maintenance and integrity of the company’s financial
statements on the Goldman Sachs website.

« Presenting the financial statements in compliance with the
requirements set cut in the Delegated Regulation 2019815 on
Ewropean Single Electronic Format (ESEF Regulation).

Legislation in the UK. governing the preparation and

dissermination  of financial statements may  differ  from

legaslation in other jurisdictions.

245/420
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GOLOMAN SACHS INTERMATIONAL (LIMNLIMITED COMPANTY)

Directors” Report

Directors' Confirmations
Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed n
“Dhiregtors” below, confirm that to the best of their knowledge:

» The financial statements, which have been prepared in
aconlangs with Uk-adopted  intermational  accounting
standards and IFRS adopted pursuant to Regilation (EC) Mo
1606/ 2002 as it applics in the EU., give a trus and fair view
of the assets, labilitics, financial position and profit or loss of
the company; and

Date of Authorisation of Issue
The financial statements were authorised for ssue by the Board
on March 7, 2022,

33k w@&

By order of the Board
« The strategic report includes a fair review of the development D. W, McDonogh
and performance of the business and the position of the Director

company. together with a description of the principal risks and
uncerlaintics that the company faces.

Directors
The darectors of the company whe servesd throughout the peniod
anid to the date of this seport, excep where aoted, were:

4. ML [ Barross, Chair

5 A Boyle [resigned December 31, 2021)
€. Cripps

R. 4. Gnodde, Chied eosoufre oficer
Lond Grabiner QO {resgnes May 31, 2021)
5. P Gyimah

H. Harman

0, MeDanagh

T. L Millet OBE

E. E. Siocher

W, O Winkelsan

The appeintiment of L. A Donselly and N, Pathmanablan was
approved by the Board on MNovember 18, 2021 subject to
regulatory approval.

N director had, ot the peried end. any inberest requiring nole
herin.

37

March 21, 2022
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2020 12 31
@
2020 2019
12 11
$7,729 956,773 $5,786 716,249
3,191 395,014 2,506 310,218
76 9,408 i _
10,996 1,361,195 8,292 1,026,467
2,657 328,910 4,965 614,617
1,539 190,513 2,694 333,490
(3,053) (377,931) (4,310) (533,535)
(2,128) (263,425) (3.782) (468,174)
(985) (121,933) (433) (53,601)
6 10,011 1,239,262 7,859 972,866
7 (6,487) (803, 026) (5.425) (671,561)
3,524 436,236 2,434 301,305
10 (769) (95, 195) (426) (52,735)
$2,755 341,041 $ 2,008 248,570
@)
2020 2019
12 11
$2,755 341,041 $2,008 248,570
16 (76) (9,408) (159) (19,683)
21 (183) (22,654) (201) (24,882)
17 - 7,675 % 11,141
" 1,362 ) 124
(186) (23,025) (269) (33,300)
$ 2,569 318,017 $1,739 215,271
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2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
26 $ 43,833 5,426,087 $ 22,397 2,772,525 $24,396 3,019,981
11 140,682 17,415,025 156,348 19,354,319 203,334 25,170,716
12 90,380 11,188,140 71,807 8,888,989 62,633 7,753,339
27,295
35,307 20,511
13 982,919 121,675,543 785,365 97,220,333 592,781 73,380,360
62 14
28 39 888 109,926 1,492 184,695 1,318 163,155
567 70,189 1,550 191,875 820 101,508
15 8,589 1,063,232 2,617 323,958 2,291 283,603
$1,267,858 156,948,142  $1,041,576 128,936,693 $887,573 109,872,662
19 $ 113,127 14,003,991 $ 115,936 14,351,717 $140,110 17,344,217
20 100,519 12,443,247 84,968 10,518,189 76,150 9,426,609
13 932,414 115,423,529 714,640 88,465,286 545,987 67,587,731
21 80,351 9,946,650 88,669 10,976,336 88,140 10,910,851
22 4,869 602,734 3,109 384,863 3,269 404,670
1,231,280 152,420,151 1,007,322 124,696,390 853,656 105,674,076
23 598 74,026 590 73,036 582 72,046
5,568 689,263 5,196 643,213 4,864 602,115
25 8,300 1,027,457 8,300 1,027,457 8,300 1,027,457
22,437 2,777,476 20,33 2,517,393 20,070 2,484,465
(325) (40,232) (168) (20,797) 101 12,503
36,578 4,527,991 34,254 4,240,303 33,917 4,198,585
$1,267,858 156,948,142  $1,041,576 128,936,693 $887,573 109,872,662
2021 11

D. W. McDonogh

2021 24

02263951
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2020 2019
12 11
$ 590 73,036 $ 582 72,046
23 8 990 8 990
508 74,026 590 73.036
5,196 643,213 4,864 602,115
23 372 46,050 332 41,098
5,568 689,263 5,196 643,213
8,300 1,027,457 8,300 1,027,457
8.300 1,027,457 8,300 1,027,457
20,336 2,517,393 20,070 2,484,465
2,755 341,041 2,008 248,570
21 (29) (3,590) - -
22 126 15,598 - -
24 - - (1,000)  (123,790)
Tierl 25 (751) (92,966) (742) (91,852)
459 56,820 452 55.953
(459) (56,820) (452) (55,953)
22,431 2,777,476 20,336 2,517,393
(168) (20,797) 101 12,503
(186) (23,025) (269) (33,300)
21 29 3,590 - -
(325) (40,232) (168) (20.797)
$36,578 4,527,991 $34,250 4,240,303
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2020 2019

12 11
26 $16,938 2,006,755 $(2,498)  (309,227)
7 867 3 371
(492) (60,905) (151) (18,692)
16,453 2,036,717 (2,646)  (327,548)
7 867 - -
@72) (33,671) (220) (27.,234)
223) (27,605) (596) (73.779)
910 112,649 395 48,897
422 52,239 (421) (52.116)
MREL 26 3,400 420,886 3,367 416,801
Tier 1 26 (751) (92.,966) (742) (91,852)

MREL 2
(1,300)  (160,927) (325) (40,232)
23 380 47,040 340 42,089
24 - - (1,000)  (123,790)
15 1)) (7,056) (125) (15,474)
1,672 206,977 1,515 187,542
18,547 2,295,933 (1,552)  (192,122)
26 22,359 2,767,821 24,243 3,001,041
2,812 348,097 (332) (41,098)
26 $43,718 5,411,851 $22,359 2,767,821
22 26
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UK

GSG

GS
200

www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations

GSG UK 2020 12

www .goldmansachs.com/disclosures

2013
GSG UK 2020 12

www.goldmansachs.com/disclosures

FRS 101

IFRS

IFRS 1

2006

IFRS

UK

10-Q
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GSG UK GSG UK
10-K
GS
10282
GSG UK
GSG UK
2021 12 31
EU 1606/2002
FRS 101
IFRS IFRS

2006 402
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2020 12
11 30 12 31 2020 12 31 13
2019 11 30 12
3
IFRS
IFRS 2008 /410
1AS
2019 11 2018 12
IFRS
2019 11
IFRS
$ 22,397 $ - $ 22,397
156,348 - 156,348
A 73,693 (1,886) 71,807
B 788,407 (3,042) 785,365
A 409 (409) -
A 264 (264) -
B - 1,492 1,492
B - 1,550 1,550
A C - 2,617 2,617
$1,041,518 $ 58  $1,041,576
F $130,087 $(14,151) $115,936
D EF 162,542 (77,574) 84,968
714,640 - 714,640
E 1 (€H) -
D - 88,669 88,669
C E - 3,109 3,109
1,007,270 52 1,007,322
590 - 590
5,196 - 5,196
8,300 - 8,300
C 20,330 6 20,336
(168) - (168)
34,248 6 34,254
$1,041,518 $ 58  $1,041,576
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2018 12
IFRS
$ 24,396 $ - $ 24,39
203,334 - 203,334
A F 64,793 (2,160) 62,633
B F 594,129 (1,348) 592,781
A 315 (315) -
A 406 (406) -
B - 1,318 1,318
B - 820 820
A C - 2,291 2,291
$ 887,373 $ 200 $ 887,573
F $152,145 $(12,035) $ 140,110
D EF 155,246 (79,096) 76,150
545,987 - 545,987
E 78 (78) -
D F - 88,140 88,140
C E - 3,269 3,269
853,456 200 853,656
582 - 582
4,864 - 4,864
8,300 - 8,300
C 20,070 - 20,070
101 - 101
33,917 - 33,917
$ 887,373 $ 200 $ 887,573
GS GS Group Inc.
2019 11 18.9
409 264
2018 12 13.7
315 406
2018 12 1
2019 11 11.0 17
373
15.5
2018 12 932 17
368

253/420
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2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2018 12

2018

11

12

11

12

11

12

78
1

12
790

IFRS

GS

2018 12

874.

30.6

58

5

866.9

29.9

2019

790

11

IFRS

IFRS 16

GS

GS

141.5

254/420

EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

ooooood

IFRS 16

52
200

12.2
730
1
2018 12 1 120.4



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OooooOodd
2019 11
IFRS
A B C $ 8,096 $ (237) $ 7,859
c (5.440) 15 (5,425)
A (243) 243 _
B 13 (13) -
2,426 8 2,434
CD (624) 198 (426)
$ 1,802 $ 206 $ 2,008
$ (159) - $ (159)
(201) - (201)
90 - 90
1 - 1
$ (269) - $ (269)
$ 1,533 $ 206 $ 1,739
2019 11 243
2019 11
13
2018 12 IFRS 16 2019 11
15 133
148
1AS 12
IFRS
2019 11 AT1 200
2019 11 2018 12 IFRS
2019 11
MREL
AT1 MREL MREL
33.3
IFRS 16

255/420
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RSU
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AT1
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IFRS IFRS

ECL

ECL

ECL

90

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL

12
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IAS 39 IAS 39

80%
80% 125%

261/420



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

262/420



IFRS 16

IBR
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IFRS IAS 39 IFRS IFRS 16 2020 27 1ASB

2021

31

16

GS GSBE

2020 2019
12 11
$6,200 $7,372
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1,529 (1,586)
3,101 2,506
76 -
10,996 8,292
2,657 4,965
1,539 2,694
4,196 7,659
(3,053) (4,310)
(2.128) (3,782)
(5,181) (8,092)
(985) (433)
$10,011 $7,859
2019 11 766

2019 11
137

FICC
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2020 2019
12 1
ENEA $ 6,676 $5,608
1,564 1,406
1,771 845
$10,011 $7,859
IFRS 15
2020 2019
12 1
$2,198 $1,516
599 652
394 338
$3,191 $2,506
2020 2019
12 1
$2,825 $2,394
1,680 1,177
43 94
145 122
194 249
181 186
4 78
Gs
921 919
838 576
6,831 5,795
GS
(344) (370)
$6,487 $5,425
IFRS 15
2020
12 467 2019 11 270
GS GS
IFRS 15
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2020 2019

12 11
$4.6 $6.0
1.8 4.1
3.3 1.1
0.2 0.2
- 0.1
5.3 5.5
$9.9 $11.5

2020 12
11 1.4 2020 12
2019 11 2.3
2019 11
GS
GS

2020 2019

12 11
828 819
FIcC 833 813
908 836
819 786
872 924
4,260 4,178

2020 12 4,115 2019 11
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2020 2019
12 11
$2,418 $2,075
355 268
49 51
3 -
$2,825 $2,394
2020 12 259 2019 11
175
RSU
2018 2018 SIP
2018 2018 SIP 2018
2015
2020 12
2019 11 452
2018 SIP RSU
RSU
RSU
150% RSU
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RSU
2020 12
1,743,850 2,893,507 $193.70 $193.54
830,270 1,159,883 $215.44 $223.68
(80,808) (25,459) $204.95 $198.27
- (1,878,224) $ - $196.88
(1,502,818) 1,502,818 $197.82 $197.82
(68,365) (58,149) $199.27 $202.60
922,129 3,594,376 $205.09 $203.12
2019 11
1,623,466 2,493,081 $200.55 $198.25
1,142,547 1,619,850 $174.64 $179.14
(111,861) (50,221) $189.94 $191.53
- (2,087,925) $ - $183.30
(916,482) 916,482 $182.76 $182.76
6,180 2,240 $188.07 $206.17
1,743,850 2,893,507 $193.70 $193.54
RSU 2020 12 220.24 2019 11
177.28 RSU
2020 12 8.19% 2019 11
8.46%
2020 12 576 2019 11
435
2020 12 RSU 37,767 RSU
RSU 56,651 RSU 2019 11
RSU
10
2018 12 1 2020 12 2019 11
2018 12 1
75.00 89.99 249,813 $78.78 0.08
249,813 $78.78 0.08
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2020 12 2019 11 249,813
171.32
10
2020 2019
12 11
$583 $160
29 5
215 246
827 411
(39) 15
19 -
(58) 15
$769 $426
2020 12 27.0% 2019 11
27.0%
2020 2019
12 11
$3,524 $2,434
27.0% 2019 11 27.0%
951 657
11 15
AT1 (203) (200)
10 (10)
GS (€)) (40)
1 3
® (O]
29 5
(19) -
$ 769 $ 426
2020 2020 22 2020 19.0% 17.0%
19.0% 2020 12
2019 11 27.0%
19
2021 2023 19.0% 25.0%
8.0%
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1
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$75,140 $72,770 $127,474
65,542 83,578 75,860
$140,682 $156,348 $203,334
12
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$11,350 $10,520 $9,620
79,030 61,287 53,013
$90,380 $71,807 $62,633
2020 12 327 2019 11 203 2018 12
236
2020 12
2019 11 2018 12 0
13

30
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2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$ 338 $ 672 $428
24,759 39,544 33,499
586 233 484
21,790 18,738 16,552
47,135 44,728 29,167
9 25 88
94,617 103,940 80,218
671,483 491,471 294,986
24,778 33,564 28,463
110,493 89,323 111,791
10,824 8,054 12,644
70,724 59,013 64,679
888,302 681,425 512,563
$982,919 $785,365 $592,781
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$ 16,772 $ 16,955 $21,700
3,700 3,883 3,545
31,473 23,292 22,353
40 20 2
51,985 44,150 47,600
660,262 481,797 287,789
22,141 31,371 26,080
114,495 91,522 111,863
10,663 7,853 12,758
72,868 57,947 59,897
880,429 670,490 498,387
$932,414 $714,640 $545,987

2721420



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

oOoOooodn
14
30
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$ - $ 17 $ 17
- 1 1
639 1,101 932
249 373 368
$888 $1,492 $1,318
15
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$6,744 $ 600 $ 258
564 859 830
7,308 1,459 1,088
2 13 20
490 392 294
15 56 182
16 202 264 406
17 444 331 256
28 22 27
94 76 17
6 4 1
1,281 1,158 1,203
$8,589 $2,617 $2,291
GS GS

273/420



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

ooooood
2020 12 2019 11 2018
12 1 102

2018 12 $51 $10 $61
9 - 9
(E2D) @ (32

2019 11 29 9 38
- 1 1
0 ® 5

2020 12 9 5 14
2018 12 35 6 41
7 - 7
(22) (€)) @3

2019 11 20 5 25
2 1 3
as) ©) @6)

2020 12 9 3 12
2020 12 $ - $ 2 $ 2
2019 11 $ 9 $4 $13
2018 12 $ 16 $4 $20
2018 12 $191 $183 $374
200 11 211

(10) - (10)

2019 11 381 194 575
236 36 212

® - ®)

2020 12 612 230 842
2018 12 80 - 80
109 - 109

Q) - ®)

2019 11 183 - 183
172 - 172

©) - ©)

2020 12 352 - 352
2020 12 $260 $230 $490
2019 11 $198 $194 $392
2018 12 $111 $183 $294
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2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$ 15 $ 56 $182
$(17) $(97) $(210)
2020 12 2019 11 2019
11
32
2020 2019 2018
12 1 12
$ - $24 $ 20
- - 1 1
-1 4 33 64
- 13 38 130
1 2 6
$18 $98 $221
2020 12 57 2019 11 125
2020 2019
12 11
$19 $133
2 7
$21 $140
2020 12
2019 11 2018 12 21
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16

2008
31

UK

96%

IFRIC 14 1AS

19

2020 12 31
%
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65

2016

2020 31
2020 12
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oOoOooodn

% 2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
1.52 1.99 3.14
RPI 2.99 3.02 3.50
CPI 2.49 2.27 2.50
1996 11 30 2.79 2.82 3.30
1996 11 30 2.49 2.27 2.50
2009 4 5 2.49 2.27 2.50
65 65
24.2 24.1 23.5
25.4 25.3 24.7
45 65
25.5 25.3 24.8
26.8 26.6 26.2
2020 12 SAPS S3
2013 CMI 2019
1.25% 0.50%
2020 12
2019 12 $2,682 $(2,418) $264
- (6) 3)
57 () 6
356 - 356
- 45 45
- 470) (470)
- ™ ™
(49) 49 -
170 (159) 1
2020 12 31 $3,216 $(3,014) $202
2019 11
2018 12 $2,222 $(1,816) $406
69 (56) 13
393 - 393
- 21 21
- (560) (560)
- (13) (13)
4 44 -
42 (39) 4
2019 11 30 $2,682 $(2,418) $ 264
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53%
47Y%
2020 12
$ 828 $ - $ 828
684 - 684
- 986 986
34 - 34
543 141 684
$2,089 $1,127 $3,216
2019 11
$1,400 $ - $1,400
351 - 351
- 665 665
177 - 177
- 89 89
$1,928 $ 754 $2,682
2018 12
$1,126 $ - $1,126
497 - 497
- 395 395
108 - 108
- 96 92
$1,731 $ 491 $2,222
2020 12
2020 2019
12 11
$ 3 $ -
®) (13)
() (13)
(356) (393)
(45) (1)
470 560
7 13
76 159
$ 73 $146
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ooooooo
( ) i ( ) %
2020 12
0.25%
$(235) (7.8) $255 8.5
0.25%
190 6.3 @17 (7-2)
1
118 3.9 119) (3.9)
2019 11
0.25%
$(189) (7.8) $206 8.5
0.25%
184 7.6 173) (7.2)
1
89 3.7 89 3.7)
2018 12
0.25%
$(138) (7.6) $151 8.3
0.25%
109 6.0 (127) (7.0)
1
75 4.1 (75) (4.1)
2016 31
2018 12 31
316
2020 12 12 45
2020 12 33



17

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

oOoOooodn

2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$551 $453 $431
(€] (63) (95)
(129) (93) (68)
78 38 12)
@ (O] -
$444 $331 $256
12 11
2020 2019
$ 453 $431
105 22
m -
$ 551 $453
$(63) $(95)
(€%)) ®
22 40
$(9) $(63)
$(93) $(68)
(36) (25)
$(129) $(93)
$ 38 $(12)
40 50
$ 78 $38
$ @ $ -
2 4
$ @ $ (4
$ 331 $256
10 58 (15)
62 90
m -
$ 444 $331
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18

2020 12

100% 250
KY1-1104 PO Box 309

2020 2019 2018
12 11 12 1
$8,745 $5,563 $6,467
$ 439 $ 308 $ 419
$ (39) $ @D $ (6)
$2,761 $3,787 $3,816
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19
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$ 77,726 $53,134 $ 85,230
21,034 52,222 44,314
1,432 722 -
6,664 3,467 2,933
6,271 6,391 7,633
$113,127 $115,936 $140,110
20
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$ 2,648 $2,923 $2,178
97,871 82,045 73,972
$100,519 $84,968 $76,150
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ooooood
21
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$ 6 $ 86 $ 170
115 38 153
- MREL 21,032 43,714 54,159
- MREL 16,723 13,805 -
32,385 22,422 24,370
5,394 5,554 5,600
4,696 3,050 3,688
$80,351 $88,669 $88,140
2020 12 53.9 2019 11 55.5 2018 12 56.0
GS 53.8
GS
PRA
PRA 2029 12 26
2030
GS
DVA
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$(147) $ 54 $(411)
(183) (201) 465
40 - -
$(290) $(147) $ 54
2020 12 40
29
LIBOR
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2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$17 $18 $26
$32 $ - $ -
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
- $ - $ 2 $ -
- - 6 93
- 1,760 125 14
1,469 2,804 2,728
$3,229 $2,937 $2,835
2020 12 1.16% 2019 11
1.25%
2020 12
$ - $ -
$3,042 $177
2019 11
$ 8 $ -
$2,841 $133
2018 12
$ 85 $ -
$2,582 $ 28
2020 12 34
2019 11 2018 12
2020 2019
12 11
$50 $ 108
(53) (108)
$® $ -
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Oooooodo
22
2020 2019 2018
12 1 12
$2,762 $2,046 $1,652
330 128 1
15 17 97 210
1,370 490 863
4,479 2,761 2,726
11 42 127
378 305 338
1 1 78
390 348 543
$4,869 $3,109 $3,269
2020 12 2019 11 2018 12
2018 12 $ 78
3
24
(56)
2019 11 $ 1
127
(126)
@
2020 12 $ 1
2020 12 1MDB GS
FCA PRA 126 1MDB
2020
12
2019 11 2019 FCA
45 2019
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23
1
2018 12 581,964,161 $582
7,643,885 8
2019 11 589,608,046 $590
8,574,007 8
2020 12 598,182,053 $598
2020 3 24 8,574,007 GSG UK 44.32
380,000,000 371,425,993
2019 21 7,643,885 GSG UK 44.48
340,000,000 332,356,115

24

2020 12
2019 11 26 1 1.70 10.0
25
AT1
AT1
2017 6 5,800 $5,800 9.00%
2018 11 2,500 2,500 8.67%
2020 12 8,300 $8,300
AT1 GSG UK
GSG UK CET1 7% AT1
AT1 2020 12 751 2019 11
26

286/420
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ooooooo
2020 12 2019 11 2018 12

$43,833 $22,397 $24,396

21 (115) (38) (153)

$43,718 $22,359 $24,243

2020 12 18.4 2019
11 42.2 2018 12 34.4
2020 12 2019 11
$ 3,524 $ 2,434
7 194 249
2 9
- ®
16 (©) (13)
(2,793) 328
830 601
127 (21)
MREL 658 758
(50) 24
2 7
2,491 4,373
15,666 46,986
(18,573) (9,174)
(197,554) (192,584)
983 (730)
(5.889) (425)
(205,367) (155,927)
(2,809) (24,174)
15,551 8,818
217,774 168,653
(11,323) (3.357)
621 (884)
219,814 149,056
$16,938 $ (2,498)
2020 12
50.5 2019 11 71.3 2020 12
42.2 77.5 2019
11 137
MREL AT1
MREL

2871420
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ooooood

2018 12 2019 MREL
2018 12 $13,677 $ 223 $13,900
9,923 36 9,959
MREL 3,367 - 3,367
AT1 - 742 742
MREL - 758 758
ATL - (742) (742)
MREL - (325) (325)
2019 11 30 26,967 692 27,659
MREL 3,400 - 3,400
AT1 - 751 751
MREL - 658 658
AT1 - (751) (@751)
MREL - (1,300) (1,300)
2020 12 $30,367 $ 50 $30,417

27
2020 12 2019 11 2018 12
$61,982 $63,292 $60,530
18,787 28,006 27,155
4,942 2,906 2,400
$85,711 $94,204 $90,085
3
22
IMDB 2012 2013 65 1MDB
2018 11 DOJ
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GS
FCPA
28
2019
2020 18 GS GS
2020 10 22 GS 1MDB
SEC FRB
GS
GS
GS GS
DOL
DOL
GS GS
GS 2018 11 1MDB
2019 12 13
GS
2019 19 GS
1MDB
2021 15
2019 GS
2018 12 20 GS
2020

2015 11
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OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Ogoooood
GS
FCPA
2018
FCPA
D0J
1MDB
14
D0J
NYDFS FCA PRA
DOJ FCPA
GS
FCPA
GS
2020 10  GS
QPAM

2021

GS GS

220
IMDB  GS
2020 11 13
1MDB
1MDB
2019 10 28
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2008 2012

22

2017

2013

2016 12

2020 27

GS

2016

2013

15

2018
2013 2016
2016
2019
2014 11 25
2020 29

2020
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oOoOooodn
2018 11 20
2019 13
2019
27
2019 27
2020 23
2020 12 16
2021 17
EU

GS
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28
2020 12
$ - $ 43,833 $ 43,833
1,896 138,786 140,682
- 90,380 90,380
- 982,919 982,919
689 199 888
517 50 567
1,742 6,847 8,589
$ 4,844 $1,263,014 $1,267,858
$ 3,851 $ 109,276 $ 113,127
- 100,519 100,519
- 932,414 932,414
55,781 24,570 80,351
1,009 3,860 4,869
$60,641 $1,170,639 $1,231,280
2019 11
$ - $22,397 $22,397
1,721 154,627 156,348
- 71,807 71,807
- 785,365 785,365
1,200 292 1,492
1,512 38 1,550
1,586 1,031 2,617
$6,019 $1,035,557 $1,041,576
$5,347 $ 110,589 $115,936
- 84,968 84,968
- 714,640 714,640
64,266 24,403 88,669
849 2,260 3,109
$70,462 $ 936,860 $1,007,322
2018 12
$ - $ 24,396 $ 24,39
1,158 202,176 203,334
- 62,633 62,633
- 592,781 592,781
1,078 240 1,318
645 175 820
1,293 998 2,291
$ 4,174 $ 883,399 $ 887,573
$10,305 $ 129,805 $ 140,110
- 76,150 76,150
- 545,987 545,987
53,213 34,927 88,140
771 2,498 3,269
$64,289 $ 789,367 $ 853,656
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12

12

29
GS
GS
EMC
2020 12 2019 11

$211 $162

1 1
255 167
$467 $330

12 72 2019 11
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45

oOoOooodn

2020
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2006
2008 410
2020 12 2019 11
$9 $7
$9 $7
2020 12 2019 11
$5 $4
2020 12 2019 11
2020 12 2019 11
2020
12 2019 11
2020 12 8
2019 11 7 2.1 2019
11 1.8
2020 12
2.5 2019 11

2.3
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GS
2020 2019
12 1
$8,363 $10,018
$7,767 $9,003
GS
GS 2020 12 0
2019 11 108 2020 12 13.0
2019 11 19.6
GS
GS
GS GSG UK
AT1 21 25 GS
15
GS
GS
2020 12 2019 11 2018 12
$43,145 $27,113 $15,012
7,488 14,619 8,117
$50,633 $41,732 $23,129
2020 12
80 2020 12
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GS

GS

GS

201

(b)

GS

10
2019 11

GS
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GS
GS 2020 12
113

@
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GS
2020 12
$ - $ 993 $ - $ 993
- 94,067 86 94,153
3,455 9,596 1,001 14,142
1,365 634,405 2,123 637,893
- 193 - 193
- 215 - 215
6,036 1,151 - 7,187
$10,856 $740,620 $3,300 $754,776
$ - $ 75,388 $ 78 $ 75,466
- 14,104 97 14,201
4,546 625,421 3,111 633,078
34,737 12,257 - 46,994
1,898 1,184 - 3,082
$41,181 $728,354 $3,286 $772,821
2019 11
$ - $ 5 $ - $ 5
- 88,428 48 88,476
3,014 9,894 774 13,682
1,233 449,670 1,389 452,292
- 230 - 230
- 2 - 2
14 1,350 - 1,364
$ 4,261 $549,579 $2,211 $556,051
$ - $87,079 $ - $87,079
1 8,614 91 8,706
3,769 444,972 2,085 450,826
30,870 34,622 - 65,492
926 436 - 1,362
$35,566 $575,723 $2,176 $613,465
2018 12
$ - $ - $ - $ -
- 129,749 - 129,749
1,240 10,254 498 11,992
1,488 297,931 502 299,921
- 198 - 198
- 17 - 17
6 921 - 927
$ 2,734 $439,070 $1,000 $442,804
$ - $ 98,800 $ - $ 98,800
9 10,504 31 10,544
2,171 292,539 942 295,652
24,877 38,032 - 62,909
498 745 - 1,243
$27,555 $440,620 $ 973 $469,148
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GS
2020 12

$ 7 $ 648 $3 $ 658
(1,012) (1,376) - (2,388)
5 964 - 969
- 76 - 76
$(1,000) $ 312 $3 $ (685)
$ - $ 438 $ - $ 438

6S
- 921 - $ 921

GS
® (338) - (348
- 423 - 423
$ (8 $ 1,444 $ - $ 1,438

2019 11

$ 26 $1,665 $6 $1,607
(1,251) (3,386) - (4,637)
49 687 - 736
$(1,176) $(1,034) $6 $(2,204)
$ - $ 230 $ - $ 230

6S
_ 019 _ 919

6S
) (362) - (370)
11 285 - 296
$ 3 $ 1,072 $ - $ 1,075

GS
IFRS 15

298/420
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OoooooO
30
2020 12
$ - $ 43,833 $ 43,833
92,619 48,063 140,682
- 90,380 90,380
982,919 - 082,919
888 - 888
567 - 567
6,013 1,295 7,308
$1,083,006 $183,571 $1,266,577
2019 11
$ - $22,397 $ 22,397
91,586 64,762 156,348
- 71,807 71,807
785,365 - 785,365
1,492 - 1,492
1,550 - 1,550
_ 1,459 1,459
$ 879,993 $160,425 $1,040,418
2018 12
$ - $ 24,396 $ 24,39
146,767 56,567 203,334
- 62,633 62,633
592,781 - 592,781
1,318 - 1,318
820 - 820
- 1,088 1,088
$ 741,686 $144,684 $ 886,370
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2020 12
$ - $ 97,103 $ 16,024 $ 113,127
- - 100,519 100,519
932,414 - - 932,414
- 29,426 50,925 80,351
- - 4,479 4,479
$932,414 $126,529 $171,947 $1,230,890
2019 11
$ - $ 74,580 $ 41,356 $ 115,936
- - 84,968 84,968
714,640 - - 714,640
- 49,239 39,430 88,669
- - 2,761 2,761
$714,640 $123,819 $168,515 $1,006,974
2018 12
$ - $108,170 $ 31,940 $ 140,110
- - 76,150 76,150
545,987 - - 545,987
- 50,930 37,210 88,140
- - 2,726 2,726
$545,987 $159,100 $148,026 $ 853,113
2019 11 77
31
IFRS
2020 12 46.9 54.7
2019 11 46.5 49.6
2018 12 61.5 51.0

2020 12 2019 11 2018 12
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2019 11 967 2018 12 1 556
2020 12
$ 222,507 $ (81,825) $ 140,682 $ (33,757) $ - $(104,988) $ 1,937
103,442 (24,005) 79,347 (5,502)  (49,489)  (17,331) 7,025
27,326 (16,195) 11,131 (1,355) (309) (8,903) 564
904,223 (15,921) 888,302  (805,825)  (48,846)  (13,100) 20,522
931,549 (32,116) 899,433  (807,180)  (49,155)  (22,012) 21,086
266 - 266 (215) - - 51
2,003 (2,003) - - - - -
1,259,857  (140,129) 1,119,728  (846,654)  (98,644)  (144,331) 30,009
146,849 - 146,849 - - - 146,849
$1,406,706  $(140,129) $1,266,577 $(846,654) $(98,644) $(144,331) $176,948
$ 193,074 $(91,070) $ 102,004 $ (33,951) $ (1,322) $(65,118) $ 1,613
117,084 (24,491) 92,593 (5,502)  (49,155)  (13,519) 24,417
1,477 (1,381) 96 - - - 96
895,953 (15,524) 880,429  (806,171)  (47,995) (8,269) 17,994
897,430 (16,905) 880,525  (806,171)  (47,995) (8,269) 18,090
12,209 (7.663) 4,546 (1,030) Q) - 3,344
1,219,797  (140,129) 1,079,668  (846,654)  (98,644)  (86,906) 47,464
151,222 - 151,222 - - - 151,222
$1,371,019 $(140,129) $1,230,890 $(846,654) $(98,644) $(86,906) $198,686
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2019 11

$ 216,916 $ (60,568) $ 156,348 $ (65,240) $ - $(88,735) $ 2,373
83,400 (23,902) 59,498 (4,199)  (39,222)  (10,159) 5,918
18,645 (12,834) 5,811 (1,106) - (4,450) 255
692,404 (10,979) 681,425  (611,648)  (40,336)  (11,283) 18,158
711,049 (23,813) 687,236  (612,754)  (40,336)  (15,733) 18,413
67 - 67 ) - - 65
1,011,432 (108,283) 003,149  (682,195)  (79,558)  (114,627) 26,769
137,269 - 137,269 - - - 137,269

$1,148,701  $(108,283)  $1,040,418  $(682,195)  $(79,558) $(114,627)  $164,038

$ 176,490 $ (67,914) $ 108,576 $ (65,410) $ (904) $ (40,768) $ 1,494

100,565 (23,598) 76,967 (4,199)  (40,336)  (12,752) 19,680

1,423 (1,218) 205 - - - 205
681,774 (11,284) 670,490  (610,920)  (38,186) (8,188) 13,196
683,197 (12,502) 670,695  (610,920)  (38,186) (8,188) 13,401

7,150 (4,269) 2,881 (1,666) (132) - 1,083
967,402  (108,283) 859,119  (682,195)  (79,558)  (61,708) 35,658
147,855 - 147,855 - - - 147,855

$1,115,257  $(108,283) $1,006,974  $(682,195)  $(79,558) $ (61,708)  $183,513

2018 12

$270,215 $ (66,881) $203,334 $ (83,337) $

$(116,825) $ 3,172

68,493 (15,727) 52,766 (5,450)  (32,439) (7,415) 7,462

19,525 (13,407) 6,118 (1,595) (43) (3,448) 1,032

523,283 (10,720) 512,563  (448,820)  (34,886)  (10,769) 18,088
542,808 (24,127) 518,681  (450,415)  (34,929)  (14,217) 19,120
75 - 75 - - - 75

881,501  (106,735) 774,856 (539,202)  (67,368)  (138,457) 29,829

111,514 - 111,514 - - - 111,514

$993,105  $(106,735) $886,370  $(539,202) $(67,368) $(138,457)  $141,343

$207,093  $ (73,992) $133,101  $ (83,375) $ (1,609) $ (46,370) $ 1,747

86,429 (15,727) 70,702 (5,450) (34,928) (10,482) 19,842
730 (709) 21 - - - 21
509,108 (10,720) 498,388 (448,348) (30,815) (5,867) 13,358
509,838 (11,429) 498,409 (448,348) (30,815) (5,867) 13,379
9,385 (5,587) 3,798 (2,029) (16) - 1,753
812,745 (106,735) 706,010 (539,202) (67,368) (62,719) 36,721
147,103 - 147,103 - - - 147,103

$959,848  $(106,735) $853,113  $(539,202) $(67,368) $ (62,719)  $183,824
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2020 12
2019 11
447 45.1 2018 12 32.5
32.0
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$571,872 $468,465 $484,249
$545,053 $419,742 $429,161
2020 2019 2018
12 11 12
$27,295 $35,307 $20,511
$ 62 $ 28 $ 39
$29,506 $33,221 $29,363
$ 346 $ 851 $ 814
2020 12 749.0 2019 11 587.1 2018 12 541.0
2020 12 607.5 2019 11 488.3 2018 12
449.7
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31

IFRS

GS

(H (i)
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iTraxx CDX

01C 0TC
0TC oTC
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CVA
GS
GS
2020 12

$ - $ 92,619 $ - $ 92,619
63,079 31,085 503 94,617
291 882,392 5,619 888,302
63,370 913,427 6,122 982,919
18 738 132 888
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- 456 111 567
- 6,013 - 6,013
$63,388 $1,013,253 $ 6,365 $1,083,006
$ - $ 96,863 $ 240 $ 97,103
46,752 5,204 29 51,985
255 876,645 3,529 880,429
47,007 881,849 3,558 932,414
- 19,774 9,652 29,426
$47,007 $ 998,486 $13,450 $1,058,943
$ 36 $ 5,747 $ 2,090 $ 7,873

2019 11

$ - $ 91,586 $ - $ 91,586
76,927 26,492 521 103,940
13 676,875 4,537 681,425
76,940 703,367 5,058 785,365
19 1,328 145 1,492
- 1,428 122 1,550
$76,959 $ 797,709 $ 5,325 $ 879,993
$ - $ 73,469 $ 1,111 $ 74,580
38,594 5,337 219 44,150
15 667,680 2,795 670,490
38,609 673,017 3,014 714,640
- 41,058 8,181 49,239
$38,609 $ 787,544 $12,306 $ 838,459
$ 2 $ 9,195 $ 1,742 $ 10,935
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2018 12
$ - $ 146,767 $ - $ 146,767
53,173 26,326 719 80,218
17 508,315 4,231 512,563
53,190 534,641 4,950 592,781
32 1,047 239 1,318
- 695 125 820
$53,222 $ 683,150 $5,314 $ 741,686
$ - $ 107,234 $936  $ 108,170
42,951 4,637 12 47,600
21 495,993 2,373 498,387
42,972 500,630 2,385 545,987
- 41,377 9,553 50,930
$42,972  $ 649,241 $12,874  $ 705,087
$ (4 $ 12,322 $1,858 $ 14,176
2019 11 777 30
2020 12 2019 11 2018 12

$132 $125 $171

0.6%  14.0% (6.1%) 1.2%  18.6% (7.2%) 2.4%  16.5% (6.5%)

21.6%  69.3% (35.8%) 48.3%  75.0% (61.6%) 19.0%  75.0% (50.0%)

1.0 11.5 (2.7) 0.5 10.6 (4.3) 0.5 13.4 (5.1)

$349 $378 $536

0.6%  23.6% (5.9%) 1.8%  13.2% (4.8%) 0.7%  10.2% (3.7%)

0.0%  69.7% (50.4%) 0.0%  69.5% (37.1%) 0.0%  69.9% (53.4%)

2.0 25.5 (8.3) 2.6 16.5 (8.7) 0.5 13.2 (3.0)

$96 $102 $206

6.8%  6.8% (6.8%) 7.06 7.0 (7.0%) 8.9%  28.2% (11.0%)

N/A 65.4%  65.4% (65.4%) 42.5%  78.0% (71.4%)

2.9 2.9 (2.9) 5.4 5.4 (5.4) 1.9 3.9 (2.2)

$36 $42 $33

4.2 11.0 (4.6 ) 4.1 11.0 (5.4 ) 4.1 11.0 (5.4 )
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2020 12
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$111 $122 $125
3.3%  6.6% (5.6%) 1.9%  6.7% (5.5%) 6.6%  6.6% (6.6%)
15.0%  15.0% (15.0%) 15.0%  15.0% (15.0%) 5.1%  15.0% (12.5%)
2020 12 2019 11 18 2018
12 12 2019
11
2020 12 2019 11 2018 12
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2020 12 2019 11 2018 12
$414 $202 $76
@)% 24% (13%/20%) @2)%  16% ((5)/2%) 1% T2% (T2%/72%)
bps 40 63 (53/52) 50 70 (62/62) 64 143 (84/78)
$2,305 $2,344 $2,003
bps 2 699 (100/63) 2 1,321 (122/83) 2 589 (141/104)
19%  28% (23%/23%) 76%  82% (80%/81%) % 46% (22%/22%)
25 90 (47/40) 10 41 (27/25) 25 45 (37/40)
$37 $50 $(115)
20%  23% (21%/21%) 200 23% (22%/22%) 5% 32% (18%/15%)
$(670) $(862) $(108)
(35)%  96% (46%/48%) (70)%  97% (43%/45%) (63)%  98% (47%/53%)
3 102 (16/16) 2 70 (12/6) 4 81 (17/13)
2020 12 4 2019 11

2018 12
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2020 12
2019 11 2018 12
2020 12 2019 11 2018 12

2020 12 2019 11 2018 12

2020 12 2019 11 2018 12

312/420



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

2020 12 2019 11
412 2019 11 346 2018 12
2020 12 186 2019 11 237
240
2020 12
2020 12 2019 11
$ 153 $ 146
181 90
(125) (83)
$ 209 $ 153
2020 12 2019 11
$ 5,325 $ 5,314
2,099 942
635 659
@70 (249)
(1,428) (1,039)
351 445
(447) (747)
$ 6,365 $ 5,325
$(12,306) $(12,874)
(@,757) (1,745)
17 7
(340) (418)
(12,362) (6,352)
12,677 8,710
(913) (852)
1,534 1,218
$(13,450) $(12,306)

313/420
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2020 12
356
2018 12
2019 11 2018 12



3
2020 12 2019 11
2020 12 17.6
81
2019 11 17.5
120
2020 12 2019 11
$ 5,058 $ 4,950
2,096 942
632 631
(170) (243)
(1,407) (1,002)
266 414
(353) (634)
$ 6,122 $ 5,058
$ 145 $ 239
2 6
- 7
- O]
® 33)
85 31
©) (99)
$ 132 $ 145
$ 122 $ 125
1 (O]
3 21
15 O]
- 14
$ 111 $ 122

314/420
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2020 12 2019 11
$ (3.019) $ (2,385)
(1,340) (918)
17 7

(340) (418)
1,033 645
(368) (294)
454 349

$ (3.558) $ (3,014)
$ (1.110) $  (936)
42 68

- (263)

829 1

- 19

$  (240) $ (1,111)
$ (8.181) $ (9,553)
(459) (895)
(12,362) (6,089)
10,815 8,064
(545) (558)
1,080 850

$ (9.652) $ (8,181)

2020 12

315/420
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2019 11

2020 12

2019 11
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2020 12 1,835.7 2019 11 1,604.3
2018 12 1,446.8
2020 12 2019 11 2018 12

$128,900 $139,760 $132,043

43,047 28,755 15,983
$171,947 $168,515 $148,026

2019 11 777 30
32
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2020 12
$ 20,588 $ 60,064 $ 7,779 $20,857 $ 1,976 $1,875 $ 113,139
100,519 - - - - - 100,519
932,414 - - - - - 932,414
3,205 2,139 6,645 8,803 46,846 15,429 83,067
2,006 1,437 14 13 996 14 4,480
$1,058,732 63,640 14,438 29,673 49,818 17,318 1,233,619
451 58,612 82 2,837 - - 61,982
3,007 - 614 627 690 4 4,942
3,458 58,612 696 3,464 690 4 66,924
$1,062,190 $122,252 $15,134 $33,137 $50,508 $17,322  $1,300,543
2019 11
$ 32,197 $ 36,404 $25,351 $16,652 $ 3,608 $1,739 $ 115,951
84,968 - - - - - 84,968
714,640 - - - - - 714,640
3,644 938 2,180 14,896 54,160 16,088 91,906
484 482 872 74 831 19 2,762
835,933 37,824 28,403 31,622 58,599 17,846 1,010,227
- 58,253 2,285 2,258 496 - 63,292
2,750 - 121 35 - - 2,906
2,750 58,253 2,406 2,293 496 - 66,198
$ 838,683 $ 96,077 $30,809 $33,915 $59,095 $17,846  $1,076,425
2018 12
$ 33,044 $ 50,017 $23,778 $22,974 $ 8,026 $ 2,281 $ 140,120
76,150 - - - - - 76,150
545,987 - - - - - 545,987
4,322 985 2,399 24,247 41,525 18,186 91,664
577 755 563 72 755 15 2,737
660,080 51,757 26,740 47,293 50,306 20,482 856,658
- 60,332 198 - - - 60,530
2,299 - - - 101 - 2,400
2,299 60,332 198 - 101 - 62,930
$ 662,379 $112,089 $26,938 $47,293 $50,407 $20,482 $ 919,588
33
2020 12
IFRS
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2020 12 2019 11 2018 12

$ - s 2 s -

16,340 27,609 22,938

347 147 -

7,660 8,328 6,549

32,454 32,443 20,387

56,801 68,529 49,874

- 17 13

399 852 767

9 10 73

408 879 853

$57,209 $69,408 $50,727

2020 12

$ - $ -
76 619
76 619
$ 76 $619

319/420



$(13) $299
(13) 299
$(13) $299
2019 11
$ 1 $ 46
85 693
86 739
$ 86 $739
$(20) $245
(20) 245
$(20) $245
2018 12
$ - $ -
63 802
63 802
$ 63 $802
$ () $111
[€)) 111
$ (1) $111
2020 12
$- $133
22 211
22 344
$22 $344
$(3) $@
(©)] (©)
- @)
$(3) $ ()
2019 11
$1 $133
68 189
69 322
$69 $322
$34 $ ()
34 [©))
- (1)
$34 $(2)
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATICHAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Income Statement

Paxicd Ended
December Mavember
5 i il _ Nl i 18
Gang of losses from firancial ingtruments at Tair value through profit or loss §T.728 35,786
Fees and commissions 31 2,506
Cher incoms 76 -
Nor-interest income 10,996 8202
Irterest income from financial irstruments measwed at fair value through prof or (0SS 2,857 4965
Interest income from financial instruments measwred at amortised cost 1.539 2694
Interest expense from financial instruments measurad at fair value through profit or loss (3,053) (4,310)
Interest expense from financial instruments measuwred at amortised cost [2,128) (3,782)
Net interest expense {985) (433)
Mel revenues L] 10,091 §,8599
Wet operating expenses 7 (6,487) (5,425)
Prodit befere taxation 3.524 2,434
Income ax expense 10 (769) [426)
Prodit for the financial period § 2755 32,008
Nt rvanuss and peoBt bafone taxation ofthe company are didivid lom consnuing cpmmtion s in the cument and prior percds.
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Parod Ended
Decarmber Reovember
5 i o Hole 030 a0
Frofit for the financial pariod $2,755 %2008
Cther comprehensive Income
Iters that will not be reclassilled subsequently to prafit or loss
Actuarkal loss relating to the persion scheme 16 (76) {159
Debt valuation adjustrant 29 {183} {201)
LK. cheferned tax attribatatie o the components of other comprehensive income 17 B2 a0
LLE. current tax attributabe t_o-lhe cormponents of other compréhensive income ‘I'I_ 1
Other comprehensive loss for the financial perlod, net of tax {186) {265
Tetal comprehensive inceme fer the financlal peried 52,569 51,738

The accompanying notes e an integral part of fwees francial statements.
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GOLOMAN SACHS INTERNATICNAL (UNLIMITED SOMPANY)

Balance Sheet
Asof

Dwscen bor Mevember  December 1
3§ i mailons Hote ] 018 2018
BAssets
Cash and cash equivalents 26 $ 4383 5 22387 5 24356
Collateralised agresmants 1 140,682 156,348 203334
Customer and other recerables 12 90,380 71,807 62,633
Trading assets (includes 527,295, $35 307 and 530,511 pledged a3 collateral) 13 982,919 TE5,365 582,731
Investments (includes $62. 528 and 539 pladged as collateral) 14 fiiisi] 1,492 1,318
Loans SET 1,550 820
Other assats 15 8,589 2817 2,291
Total assets 1267858 51041576 SB87 573
Liabilities
Collateralised financings 18 § M3427 5 115836 5140110
Customer and other payables 20 100,519 B4,968 76,150
Trading hakilities 13 932414 714 640 545,987
Unsecured borrowengs 2 B0, 351 BB 5G9 BE140
Other Fabilities 22 4,869 3,109 3,289
Total liabilities 1,231,280 1,007 322 B53 656
Shareholder's equity
Share capital 23 558 580 582
Share premium account 5,568 5,196 4,864
Other equity instruments 25 8,300 8,300 8,300
Retained eamings 22 AT 20 336 20,070
Accumulated cther comprehensive income [325) {168} 101
Total shareholder's equity IE5TE 34,754 33817
Total liabilities and shareholder's equity 1267858 51041576 SBET 573

The financial statements were approved by the Board on March 11, 2021 and signed on its behall by:

Bt wﬁ%}&

D. W, McDonogh
Directar

March 24, 2021

The accompanying rofes ane an inlegral part of fess Snancial stabemenls.
Company fusber. 02283541

63
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Statement of Changes in Equity

Pariod Ended
December Hovember

ifrl Tl Hetle 0 01E
Share capital

Baginning balance § 580 5 S8z
Shares issued 23 B a
Ending balance 558 ]
Share premium account

Beginning balance 5,196 4 854
Shares issued 23 3Tz 332
Ending balance 5,568 5 156
Other equity instruments

Beginning balance 8,300 B,300
Ending balance 8,300 8 300
Retained earnings

Baginning balance 20,336 20,070
Prafit for the financial peried 2,785 2,008
Transfer of nealised debt valuation adjustment inte retained earnings, nat of tax Fal (=] -
Non-cash capital contribution 22 126 -
Irterim dividends paid 24 - {1,000
Interest on Additional Ter 1 notes 25 (751) (Ta2)
Share-based payments 452
Management recharge related to share-based payments [458) {452)
Ending balance 22,437 20,338
Accumulated ether comprehensive Income

Baginning batance (168) 101
Ciher comprehensive lkoss {186} (289}
Transfer of realised debt valuation adjustment into retained earnings, net of tax 21 0 =
Ending balance {325) {168}
Total shareholder's equity 36,578 534,254

The accompanying rotes am an integral pan of Bete Irancial sabements,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Statement of Cash Flows

Perigd Endad

Decembser Haovember
5 ﬁ’:migom Ml a0 e
Cash flaws from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 26 §16,938 5(2,a598)
Taxation recetved 7 3
Taxabion paid [492) {151}
et cash fromiused in) operating activities 16,453 {2,646)
Cash flows from Imvesting activities
Froceeds from sales of intangible assets T -
Capital expenditure for property, leasehald improvements and equipfment and nta ngible assets [272) (2200
Purchirge of invesiments [223) (596)
Froceads from Sales of imesiments 810 385
Wet cash fromiused in) imvesting activities 422 {421)
Cash flows from financing activities
Increase in MREL-eligible intercompany loans 26 3,400 3,367
Imterest paid on Additional Tier 1 notes 26 [781) (T42)
Interest paid on subordinated kans and MREL-eligible intercompany leans 26 {1.300) (325)
Receipts from issuing share capital 23 g0 340
Imtesim dividends paid 24 - {1,000
Fayments for lease liabdities 15 [57) {125)
het cash from financing activities 1,672 1,515
Wet increasef{decrease) in cash and cash equivakents, met of cverdrafts 18,547 (1,5852)
Cash and cash equivalents, net of overdrafts, beginning balance 26 2,359 24243
Forelgn exchange gains/{kisses) on cash and cash equivalents, net of overdrafts _ 2,812 (332
Cash and cash equivalents, net of overdrafts, ending balance 26 #3718 22359

Sow Hotes 22 and I5 for informaticn aboul non-cath actvibieg,

The accompanying notes are an inbegral part of e fnancial ststements.
65
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 1,
General Information

The company 15 a prvate unlimited company and s
incorperated and demiciled in England and Wales. The address
of its registered office is Flumtree Court, 25 Shoe Lane, London,
EC4A 4AL, United Kingdom.

The company’s immediate parent undertaking 15 Goldman
Sachs Group UK Limited (GSG UK), a company incorporated
and domiciled in England and Wales, G536 UK together with its
consalidated subsidiaries forms “GS5G UK Group™.

The ultimate controlling undertaking and the parent company of
the smallest and largest group for which consohdated financial
statements are prepared 15 The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., a
company incorporated in the United States of America. Copies
of its consolidated financial statements, as well as certain
regulatory filings, for example Quarterly Reports on Form 10-0)
and the Annual Report on Form 10-K, that provide fusther
information about GS Growp and its business activities, can be
obtmned from Investor Relations, 200 West Street, Wew York,
NY 10282, United States of America, GS Group's principal
place of business, or at www goldmansachs com/investar.
relations.

Basel Il Pillar 3 Disclosures

The company 15 included in the consolidated Pillar 3 discloswses
of GG UK, as required by the UK, capital framework. GS5G
UK s Decenber 2020 Pillar 3 disclosures will be made available
i comunction with the publication of its consolidated financial
information at 'di

Country-by-Country Reporting

The company 15 included in the consolidsted country-by-
country reporting disclosures of GSG UK, as required by the
Capital ~ Requiremenis  (Couniry-by-Country  Reporting)
Regulations 2013 GSG UK's December 2020 Country-by-
Country Reporting will be made available by December 31,
2021 at www.goldmansachs. com/disclosures.

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Note 2.
Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance

These Gnancial statements have been prepared in accordance
with international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and International
Fimancial Reperting Standards (IFRS) adopted pursuant o
Regulation (EC) No 160623302 as it apphies in the ELUL Inthe
prior period, the company prepared financial statements under
UK. GAAP, in accordance with FES 101 *Reduced Disclosure
Framework™ (FRS 101} As such, the company has prepared
IFRS transition disclosures required by [FRS 1 ‘Fist-ime
adeption of International Financial Reporting Standards”. The
impact on the company’s (inancial statements as a result of
adopting IFRS 15 described m MNote 3.

These hnancial statements have been prepared on the going
concern basis, under the historical cost basiz (modified as
explained in “Financial Assets and Liabilnties™ and “Pension
Arrangements” below),

Consolidation

The company has elected not to prepare consolidated financial
statements as permitted by section 402 of the Companies Act
20046 as its subsidsaries are not matenal for the purpose of giving
a true and fair view. These financial statements are individual
financial statemenis.

Accounting Reference Date

During the period ended December 2020, the company changed
its accounting reference date from Movember 30 to December
31 to conform to the period used by the company for U5, tax
reporting purpeses. As such, these financial statements have
been prepared for the thineen months ended December 31,
2020, with comparative information being presented for the
twelve months ended Movember 30, 2019, As a result, amounts
presented in this annual report are not directly comparable.

Mote 3.
First Time Adoption of IFRS

Reconciliation of Equity

On adoption of [FRS, the company has changed the format of
its balance sheet from one that was based on Schedule 1 of the
Stamutory Instruments 2008410 1o one that is based on order of
liquidity as permitted by IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements’. In order to aid comparability between the two
formats, the company”s balance sheets under UK. GAAP as of
Mevember 2019 and December 1, 2018 have been presented
belew in order of bgudity and fnancial statement lines
spanning amounts due within one year and amounts falling due
after more than one year have been combined

325/420

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

The tables below provide a reconciliation of the company’s

EDINETOOOO
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adjustment. To the extent these adjustments impact the

balance sheets between UK. GAAP and [FRS. Sex disclosures in this Annual Report, comparatives have been
“Reconcihation Notes” below for an explanation of each updated.
5 in milieng A4 of Nevembss 2019
Prondous prossntasion HNate UK. GAAP Adprsirants IFRS  Cusment présentation
Assols Aasels
Cash a2 bank and in hand 5 AT ] = § SET  Cash and cash equivalents
Colaberaiised agresments 166,348 - 15548 Colstenslised agresmants
Dedstons A T30 {1.688) TIBO0T  Cuodoms and cthid racivablig
Ferancial mstruments cwned B Teg, 407 (3,042 Teh 366 Trading assets
Frond aaaity A 408 1405 =
Pension wphus A bl [F ] -
B - 1,482 1,462 Investmaents
B - 1.550 1,550 Leans
AL - 2817 2817 Ohir akisti
Total assels §1,041,518 5 53 21,041,576 Total assets
Llabiities Liabimies
Colateraized fnancings F § 130,087 5{14,151) 5 115838  Colsterslined Bamseing
Othar credion DEF 162,542 (T7.574) BL0GA  Customes and cthes payables
Francial ivsroments soid, but not yet purchased 74,840 = TI14640  Tracing babsbites
Prindtian b babitias E 1 [ -
[+] - B8, S BH668  Unsescured borowings
GC.E - 3,108 3108 Other Babdities
Total laksilites 1,007,270 2 1,007,323 Total liabdRies
Capital and ressrves Sharehalder's quity
Called up share captal &80 - &B0  Share capstal
Ghare premum account 5,198 - S198  Share premium sccount
Gther equity instruments 800 - 8300 Cher equity Inshuments
Praft and loas acosuont = 20,330 ] 2033 Retwned samings
Accumulated other compraleniive ingome {168 = (IEE A lated ther L% SHB InCome
Total sharaholder's funds FENIT] [] .25 Total shareholder's squity
Total liabilities and sharehalders funds 51,041,512 5 o3 §1,041.576  Total llabiiRties and shareholders equity
5 i mliond A af Dy b 1. 2018
Lenicen preppntsion Hols LK gARP Sopraments ERS T pressnieton
AsRuls ARslE
Cath o2 bank and in hand 3 MG 3 - § 24308 Cash and cash equivalents
Colatersised agresments 203,204 = 203,33 Colsterslined agresmants
Dadslors AF B, T (2. 9809 GBI Cudoms and cther recesvableg
Ferancial mstruments owned B.F 554,128 (1,348 532,781 Tmding asweds
Frand asssls A s ) 1] -
Prension surplus a, A0 {306 =
B - 1,38 1,318 vesimaents
B - 7] 820 Loans
s - 2,281 Ziﬁl Crhar ansabs
Total assets SRET I ¥ 200 FEET.S73  Total assets
Liakiities Liaigies.
Coilatoralssd Snancings F S152145 F12,035) SO0 Collateralived Bamncings
Cthae cradion DEF 155, 46 (79,006) TS0  Customser and cthed payabiey
Francial ivsiraments soid, but not yet purchased 545,087 - 458087 Trading kabilitas
Prinddasr b bababtigd E Ta T8 -
oF - B8, 140 86180  Ussacured borowings
C.E - 3,269 3268 Orher kabdties
Total labilites #1458 Hi EHLGSG  Total llabifties
Capital and reserves Shareholder's squity
Called up share captal SB2 = 682  Share captal
Share prafiuem accourt 4,554 - 4864 Share premium secount
Gther squity instruments B 00 - B300  Other eguity instruments
Probt gnd ks acoani [« 20,070 - 20070  Aetmined samings
Accumulated other comprebensive income 101 - 1 Accurmulated other compeshensie income
Total sharaholder's funds FEIE - FLOIT  Total sharsholder's squity
Total labiliies and shareholder's funds $887,373 200 $TE7.573  Tokal llabiliies and shareholder s equity

a7
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Reconciliation Notes

A, Other Assets. The company has reclasafied certain
miscellaneous receivables from G5 Group  affiliates,
deferred tax assets and other assets from debtors 1o other
assets. The impact of this change is:

« As of November 2019, the company has reclassified 31.89
ballion of miscellancows receivables, deferred tax assets
and cther assets from deblors o other asséts. In addition,
the company has reclassified 3409 million of fixed assets
andd s pension surplus of $264 million 1o other assets.

+ Az of December 1, 2018, the company has reclassified
51.37 billion of miscellaneous receivables, deferred tax
assels and other assets from deblors to other assets. In
addition, the company has reclassified 5315 million of
fixed assets and its pension surplus of 3406 million to other
assels,

The remaining debtors, following the reclassification of
prepaid commodity balances as of December 1, 2018 have
been renamed as customer and other receivables.

B. Investing Activity. The company has reclassified the
following balances held in conmection with its long-terim
nvesting activities:

« As of Movember 2019, 5110 billion of corporate debt
mstruments, %17 million of government and agency
obligations, $1 million of mortgage and other asset-backed
boare and securities and 3373 million of equity securities
have been reclassified from financial instruments owned to
mvestments, In addition, the company reclassified 51,55
billion of corporate loans classified i corporate debt
mstruments from financial istruments owned to loans.

As of December 1, 2018, 53932 million of comporate debt
mstruments, 317 million of government and agency
obligations, 31 million of mortgage and other asset-backed
loans and securities and $368 million of equity securities
have been reclassified from financial instruments owned to
myvestments. In addition, the company reclassified $820
million of corporate loans classified i corporate debt
mstruments rom fnancial instruments owned o loans.

The remaining fimancial instruments owned have been

renamed as trading asseis.

C. Leases. The company has retrospectively adopted [FRS 16
“Leases” (IFRS 16) as of December 1, 2018, The impact of
this change is:

« As of Movember 2019, other assets increased by 558
million and cther liabilities increased by 352 million. The
company” s nel agquaty changed by 56 million

» As of December 1, 2018 both other assets and other
habilities increased by 3200 mallion, with no change to net
cquity.
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D. Unsecured Borrowings. The company has reclassified

unsecured borrowings and accrued interest on unsecured

borrowings from other creditors to unsecured homowings,

The impact of this change is:

« As of November 2019, the company has reclassified
38745 hillion of unsecwred borrowings and 31,22 billion

of acerued inerest on unsecwred borrowings from other
creditors to unsecured borrowings.

» As of December 1, 2018, the company has reclassified
£86.69 hillion of unsecured borrowings and 3 730 million
of accrued interest on unsecwred borrowings from other
creditors to unsecured bermowings.

. Other Liabilities. The company has reclassified

miscellaneous payables to GS Group affiliates, share-based
compensalion, corporation tax pavables, other taxes and
social secunity costs and other creditors and accruals from
other creditors to other liabilities, In addition, the company
has reclassified provisions for abilities to other labalities.
The impact of this change is:

« Az of Movember 2019, the company has reclassified $3.06
billion of miscellaneous payables to G5 Group affiliates,
share-based compensation, corporation tax payables, other
taxes and social secunty costs and other creditors ard
accruals from other creditors to other habalities. In
addition, the company has reclassified 51 million of
provisions for labilines 1o other labilities,

« As of December 1, 2018, the company has reclassified
2299 billien of miscellaneous pavables 1o GS Group
affiliates, share-based compensation, corporation tax
pavables, other taxes and socal security costs and other
creditors and accruals from other creditors to other
ligbilities. In addition, the company has reclassified 378
million of provisions for liablities to other Labilities.

The remaimng other creditors, following the reclassification
of unsecured borrowings, accrued interest on unsecured
borrowings and prepaid commodity balances as of
Drecember 1, 2018 have been renamed as customer and other
payables,

. Other.

« The company has reclassified secured client payables of
%14.13 killion as of November 2019 and $12.04 billion as
of December 1, 2018 from collateralised financings to
customer and other payables.

+ The company has reclassified 3790 million of prepaid
commadity assets from debtors 1o trading assets and S790
millicn of prepaid commodity habilities from other
creditors 1o unsecured borrowings as of December 1, 2018,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Reconciliation of Total Comprehensive Income

The tables below provide a reconciliation of the company”s total
comprehensive income between UK. GAAP and IFRS. See
“Reconciliation Notes™ below for an explanation of each
adpzstment. To the extent these adjusiments impast disclosures

5 in millons

mn this Annual Beport, comparatives have been updated. In

addition, certain other adjustments not related to the first time
adoption of IFRS are described in Note 6.

Furiod Ended November 2018

Provious presentafion HMote LK. GlAP Adprements IFRS __ Cwment presantation

Bl Fas L [Y-¥+ 5 8058 S{2AT [ T T ——

A siratien Eopen s =] 5440} 15 (5425}  MNet operating expentes

rtng! paynbis and cimilar espars L] 243y 243 -

Pt fnance income B 13 k] -

Profit before taxalion 2 A28 [l 24 Profit before taxaion

Tax an profi c.0 (B4} 198 I8 Income bax

Prodit Tor the Ninancisl period 51,502 5 206 5 Z.00B Profit for the financial peniod

Other com prehansive Incomes Oitfier comprenensive iIncome

Eems that will mot be reclassifled eEms thead will not Be reclassified
subseguenty 1o profit or los subdsquently 1o profit or lots

Muctuarial loss relating to the pension schems § (5@ $ = 5 [(155% Actusnal lows relating b e pension schems

Dt valiaation adpstmant 01} - (201} Debt valuation sdustment

LK. defered tax atnbotabls to the components UK. delered tax attributabie bo the components
of ofer comprshensve incoms &l - B0 of othas comprehensive nosme

LLE. currend tax aSributable to the components UK. current Eax attrbatable fo the components
of ofer comprehensve income 1 - i of othes comprehensive noome

‘Dther comprehensive loss Tor the Nnancisl Oifer comprehensive loss lor the Nnancisl
prod, nal of tax L] i - $ (268 period, et of Tax

Total comprehensive Income Tor the Total comprehensive income Tor the
financial period 51,533 5206 $1.730 financial period

Reconciliation Notes Reconciliation of Cash Flows

A. Interest on Subordinated Loans. The company has
reclassified interest on its subordinated loans of $243 million
for the period ended November 2019 from mterest pavable
and similar expenses 1o net revenues.

B. Interest on Pension Surplus. The company has
reclassified interest income on ils pension surplus of 513
million for the period ended MNovember 2019 from net
finance Ncome 1o el revenues.

C. Leases. The company has adopled IFRS 16 as of December
1, 2018, resulting in net revenues decreazing by 37 million,
nel  operating  expenses  decreasing by $13 million
{depreciation and amortisation increasing by $133 million
and occupancy decreasing by 3148 million) and income tax
experse increasing by 52 million for the period ended
November 2019

D. Tax on Dividends. The company has adopted the
amendment e [AS 12 “Income Taxes” which clarified the
requirements o recogmse the income tax consequences of
divedends where the transactions of evenis that generated the
distnibutable profits were recognized on @ retrospective basis
i accordance with [FRS 1, resulting in income tax of 5200
million on interest pard on the compamy™s AT1 notes for the
penod ended November 2019 being reclassified from
retaaned earmings W the incoms statement

G

Ll

The adoption of IFRS resulted in no change 1o the company’s
cash and cash equivalents, net of overdrafts &s of Novemnber

2019 and December 1, 2018, The company™s statement of cash
flows for the period ended Movember 2019 includes the
following changes:

« Financing Activity. The company has revised its definition
of financing activity to now include all MREL-cligible debt.
This includes the company’s AT1 notes, subordinated loans
and MEEL-eligible intercompany loans. Previously, MREEL-
elimble mercompany loans were classified as operating
activity. The impact of this change was a reduction in net cash
used in operating activiies of 3333 hillion, with a
corresponding increase in net cash from Mnancing activities.

« Leases. On adoption of IFRS 16, the company has

reclassified cash Mlows related 1o leases from operating activily
to financing activity. The impact of this change was a
reduction in net cash from financing activities of 3125 million,
with 2 corresponding increase in net cash used in operating
aclvilics.

Investing Activity. The company has reclassified its cash
flows related 1o investments from operating activily o
investing activities. The impact of this change was a reduction
in et cash used in operating activities of 5198 million, with a
corresponding increase innet cash used in myvesting activities.
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Note 4.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Met revenues include the net profit
arising from transactions, with both third parties and affiliates,
in derivatives, secunities and other financeal mstruments, and
fees and commissions. This s inclusive of associated mterest
and dividends,

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair
Value Through Profit or Loss

Financal assets and habilites measured at far valee throwgh
profit or loss are recogmised at farr value with reahsed and
unrealised gains and losses, as well as associated mterest and
dividend mncome and expenses included in net revenues, with
the exception of changes in the far value of Drancal Liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss attributable to own
crecit spreads (debt valuation adjusiment or DVA), which 15
recognised in other comprehensive income, unless this would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch i profit or loss
Financel assets are marked to bid prices and fGinancial Labilities
are marked 1o offer prices Fair value measiurements do not
include transaction costs. The company measures certam
financial assets and liabilities as a portfolio (1Le., based on its net
exposure 1o markel andlor eredit nsks).

Unrealised gains and losses related to the change in fair value of
financial assets and Labilities measured at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised from trade date i net revenues or
other comprehensive income in the case of DVA

Contractual interest 1= mcleded ininterest income and expense
for all instruments other than hybrid financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss, for which contractual interest is
included in gains and losses from fnancial nstruments
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Revenue from Coniracts with Cllents

Eevenues earmed from contracts with clients for services, such
as investment banking, investment management, and execution
and ¢leanng (contracts with clemts) are recognised when the
performance obligations related to the underlying transaction
are completed,

If the company 15 principal to the transaction, the company
FECOZNESes revenus on contracts with clients, gross of expenses
ineurred to satisfy some or all of s performance obligations.
The company is principal to the transaction if it has the primary
chligation to provide the service to the client. The company
satisfies the performance chligation by itself, or by engaging
cther G5 Group affiliates to satisfy some or all of s
performance obligations on ots behall Such revenue is
recognised in net revenues and expenses incurmed are recognised
in el operating expenses.
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Met revenues ane recognised as follows:

« Investment Banking
Fees from financial advisory and underwrifing engagements
are recognised in profit and loss when the services related to
the umderlving transactions are completed under the terms of
the engagement

Investment Management

Management fees are recogmised on an accrual basis and are
generally caleulated as a percentage of a fund or a separately
managed account’s average net asset value, All management
fees are recognised over the period that the related service 15

provided,

Incentive Fees are caleulated as a percentage of a fund’s return
or a percentage of a fumd's excess return above a specified
benchmark or other performance target,

- Commissions and Fees
Revenue from commissions and fees from executing and
clearmg client wansactions on dock, options and futlures

markets, as well as OTC transactions 15 recognised in net
revenues on the day the trade is executed.

Segment Reporting. The directors manage the company”’s
business activities as a single operating segment and accordingly
ne semental reporting has been provided.

Short-Term Employee Benefits, Short-term emplovee
benefits, such as wages and salaries, are measured on an
undiscounted basis and accrued as an expense over the peniod in
which the employee renders the service to the company.
Provision 15 made for discretionary vear-end compensation
whether 1o be pard in cash or share-based awards where, as a
result of company policy and past practice, a constructive
obligation exists at the balance sheet date,

Share-Based Payments. Group Ine issues awards in the
fiorm of restricted stock units (R3Us) and stock options to the
company's emplovees i exchange for emploves services.
Awards are classified as equity settled and hence the cost of
share-based transactions with emplovees 13 measured based on
the grant-date fair value of the award, Share-based awards that
do not require future service (Le., vested awards, including
awards granted to retirement eligible employees) are expensed
immediately. Share-based awards that require future service are
amortised over the relevani service period. Expected forfeitures
are  included in determining  share-based  employee
COMPEnsSAtion expense
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Group Inc. generally 1ssues new shares of common stock upon
delivery of share-based awards. Cash dividend equivalents,
unless prohibited by regulation, are generally paid on
cutstanding R3Us. The company has also entered into a
chargeback agreement with Group Inc. under which it is
commilted 1o pay to Group Inc. (a) the gran-date fair value of
those awards and (b) subsequent movements i the far value of
those awards between the grant date and delivery to employees.
As aresult, the share-based payment transaction and chargeback
agreement, in aggregate, gives rise 1o a total charge to the
income statement based on the grant-date Gur value of the
awards adjusted for subsequent mavements in the fair value of
thase awards prior to delivery.

Current and Deferred Taxation, Current tax is caloulated
on the basis of the 1ax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date in the countries where the company
operates and generates taxable income,

Deferred tax 15 recogmsed in respect of all temporary
differences that have originated, but not reversed at the balance
sheet date, where transactions or events have occurred at that
dane that wall resull inan obligation 1o pay more W of a fght 1o
pay less tax m the future with the following exceptions:

+ Deferred tax assels are recognised only io the extent that it is
more likely than not that there will be suntable taxable profits
from which the future reversal of the underlying temporary
differences can be deducted.

+ Dieferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax
rates that are expecied 1o apply in the pericds in which
temporary differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Cuzrent tax and deferred tax 15 generally recopmised in the
income statement or directly in other comprehensive income
aceording to where the associated gain or loss was recognised
The inceme tax on interesl on AT] noles is recogmsed in the
income statement.

Dividends. Final equity dividends are recognised as a hability
and deducted from equity m the period i which the dividends
are approved by the company’s sharcholder. Interim equity
dividends are recognised and deducted from equity when paid.

Cash and Cash Equivalents., This includes cash a bank and
highly liquid evemight deposits held in the ordinary course of
business,

Foreign Currencies. The company’s Ninancial statements are
presented in LS. dollars, whach 15 also the company s functional
CLUITENCY.

n
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Transactions denominated n foreign currencies are transkated
into 115, dollars at rates of exchange ruling on the date the
transaction occwrmed. Monetary assets and labilities, and non-
monetary assets and liabilitics measured at fair value,
denominated in foreign currencies are franslated into 1.5
doellars ot rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are recogmised in profi
before taxation.

Financial Assets and Liabilities.

Recognition and Derecognition

Financial assets and liabilities, other than cash instruments
purchased or sold in regular way transactions, are recognised
when the company becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the mstrument. Financial assets are derecogmsed when the
contractual rights to the cash Mows from the Onancial assel
expire of if the company transfers the financial asset and the
transfer qualifies for derecognition. A transferred financial asset
qualifies for derecognition if the company transfers substantally
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset o if
the company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but does
ne retain contrel. Financial labilities are derecogmised only
when they are extinguished, 1e., when the obhigation specified
in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires,

(Cash instruments purchased or sold in regular way transactions
are recognised and derecogmised using  settlement  date
ACCOURiE,.

Classification and Measurement: Financial Assels
The company clissifies Onancial assels as  subsequently
measurad at amertised cost or far value through profin or loss
on the basis of both the company s business model for managing
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the fimancial assets. The business model reflects how the
company manages particular groups of assets in order to
generate future cash flows. Where the company’s business
madel is 1o hold the assets 1o collect contractual cash flows, the
company subsequently assesses whether the financial assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest.
Fimancial assets with embedded dervatives (hybrid instruments)
are also subject to the =ame assessment.
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« Financial assets measured at amortised cost.
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual
cash fows and have cash flows that represent solely payments
of principal and mterest are measured at amortised cost The
company considers whether the cash flows represent basic
lemding armangements, and where contractual terms introduce
exposwre to nsk or volaulity inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the financial asset 15 mandatorily measured at
fair value through profit or loss (see below), Financial assets
measared at amortised cost are inially measured a1 fair valse
pliss ransaction costs and subsequently al amortised cost uwsing
the effective interest method. The effective imerest method is
a method of calculating the amonised cost of a Onancial
instrum ent and allocating the interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the Ginancial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period
to the net camying value of the financial asset When
calculating the effective interest rate, the company estimates
cash flows considermg all contractual tesms of the Anancal
asset but does not consider future credit losses. Finance
revenus 15 recorded in net revenwes. Financial assets measured
al amonised cost inclsde:

« Cash and cash equivalents,

« Certamn collateralised agreements, which consists of certain
resale agreements and substantially all securities bormowed;

» Customer and other receivables; and

« Certaan other assets, which consists of cenain intercompany
loans and substantially all muscellaneois recevables and
other.

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets that are not held for
the collection of contractual cash flows and'or do not have
cash flows that represent solely payments of principal and
interest are mandatonly measured at fair value through profit
o loss. Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value are
initially measured ot Fair value with transaction costs expensed
in the meome statement. Such fnancial assets  are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains or losses
recogrised in met revenues. Financial assets mandatorily
measured at fair value include:

» Cemtain  collateralised  agreements, which consists  of
substantially all resale agreements and certain secuntics
borrowed;

» Trading assets, which consists of rading cash instruments
and dervative nstruments,

» Inwestments,
« Loans; and

» Certain cdher assets, which consists of cenain intercompany
loans.

7
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Classification and Measurement: Financial Liabilities
The company classifies s financial liabilities into the below

categories based on the purpose for which they were acquired or

origmated.

« Financial liabilities held for trading. Financial liabilities
held for trading are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently at fair value through profit or loss, with gains or
loases recognised in met revenues. Financial liabilities held for
trading include trading liabilities, which consists of:

+ Trading cash instruments; and
« Derivative instruments.

= Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss. The company designates certain Anancial
habilities at far valee through profit or loss. Financial
liabalities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss, with DVA being recogmised in other
comprehensive meome, if it does not create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch, and the remamning changes in the fair
value being recogmised in net revenues. Amounts recognised
in other comprefensive income attributable to own credit
spreads are nol subsequently  wransferred 1o the meome
statement, even upon derecognition of the fnancial lability.
The primary reasons for designating such financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss ane;

» To eliminate or significantly reduce a measurement ar
recognition inconsistency that would ctherwise anse from
measuring assets or habilities or recogmising the gains and
losses on them on different bases; and

« The group of financial Labilives, or financial assets and
liahilities, is maraged and its performance evaleated on a
fair value basis,

Financial habilities designated at fair value through profit or

loss include:

« Substantially all repurchase agreements;
+ Securities loaned within FICC;

« Secured debt sscurities 1ssued, intercompany loans and other
borrowings, which consists of hybrid fimancial instruments
and transfers of assets aceounted for as financings rather than
gales; and

« Certain unsecured borrowings, which consists of certain delbt
securities 1ssued, certan  other bomrowings, certain
mtercompany loans and prepaid comm odity comracts.
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Hybrid financial instruments are instruments that contam
ifurcatable embedded dervatives. If the company clects to
hifwrcate the embedded derivative from the associated deb,
the denvative 1s accounted for at fair value and the host
contract is accounted for at amortised cost, adjusted for the
effective portion of any [air valee hedges, I the company does
not elect to bifurcate, the entire hybnd financial mstrument is
designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are mtially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
measared st amortised cost using the efective interest method
See “Financial assets measured al amortised cost™ above [or
further information on the effective interest method. Finance
costs, inchsding discounts allowed on issue, are recorded innet
interest mcome and interest expense. Financeml liabilines
measured at amortised cost inclede:

« Centain  repurchase agreements and  substantially  all
securities loaned,

« Customer and other payables,

« Certain unsecured borrowings that have not been designated
at fair value through profit or loss, and

« Other liabilities, which primarily consists of compensation
and benefits and accrved expenses and other.

Impairment

The company assesses the expected credit losses associated with
financial assets measured at amortised cost on a forward-looking
basiz in accordance with the provisions of [FRS 9 ‘Financial
Instruments” (IFRS 99, The measurement of expected credit
Iesses reflects an unbiased and probability weighted amount that
15 determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the
tme value of money, and reasomable and supportable
information that 15 available withoan undue cost or effon at the
reporting date about past events, current condibons and
forecasts of future economic conditions. Expected credit losses
are recorded in net revenues,

3
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The company’s imparment model 15 based on changes i credit
quality since imtial recognition of financial assets measured at
amartised cost and incorporates the following three stages:

- Stage 1. Financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
ol credit-imparred on initial recognition and where there has
been o sigmficant increase i credit rsk since inatial
recognition. The ECL 15 measured at an amount equal to the
expected credit losses that result from default events possible
within the next twelve months.

« Stage 2. Financial assets measured at amortised cost where
there has been a significant increase in credit nisk since initaal
recogmition, however not yet deemed 1o be credit-impaired.
The ECL iz measured based on expected credit losses ona
lifetaime basis.

- Stage 3. Financial assets measured at amortised coat that are
in default, or are defined as credit-impaired. The ECL 15
measured based on expected credit losses ona hifetime basis.

Dretermination of the relevant staging for each financial asset is
dependent on the definition of “significant increase in eredit
risk” (stage | o stage 2) and the definition of *credit-impaired”
(stage 3). The company considers a Onancial asset o have
experienced a significant increase in credit nisk when certain
quanfitative or gqualitative conditions are met Cuantitative
threshaolds inchede absolute probabality of default thresholds on
investment-grade financial assets and relative probability of
default thresholds on non-invesiment grade firancial assets.
Cualitative review 15 also performed as part of the company's
credit risk management process, ncluding a back-stop
consideration of 30 days past due. The company considers a
financial asset 1o be credit-impaired when it meets Credit Risk's
definition of default, which is either when the company
considers that the obhligor is unlikely to pay its eredit obligations
to the company in fll, without recourse by the company o
actions such as realismng secunity (f held), or the obligor has
defaulted on a payment andfor 15 past due more than %0 days.

The ECL is determined by projecting the probability of default,
loss given default and exposure st default for each mdividual
exposwre. To caleulate expected credit losses these three
components are multiplied together and dscounted back 1o the
reporting date. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is
the orginal effective interest rate. The probability of default
represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its
financial obligation. The loss given default is the company’s
expectation of the extent of loss on the default exposure, and
takes into consideration amongst other things, collateral on the
financial asset. The exposure at default is the amount the
company expects 1o be owed at the time the financial obligation
defaults. The company uses intenal credit msk ratings that
reflect the assessment of the probability of default of individual
counterparties. The company uses multiple macroeconamic
scenarios within the ECL caleulation, the weightings for which
are subject to ongoing internal review and approval.
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The ECL mode] takes into account the weighted average of a
range of forecasts of future economic conditions. The forecasts
include baseline, favourable and adverse economic scenarios
over a three-year period To the extemt the company has
financial assels in Stage 2 or Stage 3 which have an expected
life bevord three vears, the model reverts to historical loss
information based on a non-linear modelled approach. The
company applies judgement in weighing individual scenarios
each quarter based on a variety of factors, including intermally
derived  economic  outlook, market  consensws,  recent
macroeconomie condiions and industry trends.

Ferward-looking information, such as key ecancmic vanables
impacting credit risk and expected credit losses, 15 incorporated
o both the assessment of staging and the caloulation of ECL.
The company wriles off fnancial assets, in whole or in par,
when it has concluded that there 15 no reasonable expectation of
recovery, When a financial asset is deemed to be uncollectable,
the company cancludes thiz to be an indicator that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. The company stll seeks to
recover amounts 1t 15 legally owed in full, but which have been
wholly or partially written off due to no reasonable expectation
of full recovery.

Classification of Financial Liabilities and Equify
Financial labilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements. A
financial liability is any liability that is 2 contractual cbligation
te deliver cash ar another financial asset to another entity, of 1o
exchange hnancial assets or fimancial habilites with ancther
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable o the
entity. An equily instrument 15 any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all
liabalities. Instruments are evaluated to determine if they contam
both liability and equity components. The initial carrving value
of a compound Onancial mstrument & allocated Grst o the
liahality component, measured at fair value, and the equity s
assipned the residual amount.

Offsetting Financial Assels and Liabilities

Financkal assets and liakalities are offset and the net amount
presented in the balance sheet where there is:

« Currently a legally enforceable right to set-ofT the recognised
amounts; and

« Intent 1o settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously

Where these conditions are not met, fnancial assets and
liahilities are presented on a gross hasis in the balance sheet.

Fair Value Measurement
See Note 31 for details about the fair value measurement of the
company s fimancial assets and liabilities.
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Fair Value Hedges

The company applies hedge accounting under IAS 39 "Financial
Instruments: Recopnition and Measurement” (IAS 39) for
centain interest rate swaps used to manage the interest rate
exposure of ceriain froed-rate unsecured long-term and shori-
term  borrowings. To qualify for hedge accounting, the
dervative hedge must be highly effective at reducmg the nsk
from the exposure being hedged Addionally, the company
must formally document the hedging relationship at inception
andd test the hedging relationship 1o enswre the derivative hedge
continues 1 be highly effective over the life of the hedging
relationshap

The company applies a statistical method that wtilises regression
analysis when assessing the effectivencss of its far valbue
hedping relationships in achieving offsetting changes in the Dair
values of the hedgmg instrument and the risk being hedged (1.2,
interest rate risk). An interest rate swap 1= considered highly
effective in offseiting changes in fair value atributable 1o
changes in the hedged nsk when the regression analysis results
in a coefficient of determination of 80®a or greater and a slope
between 80 and 125%. Possible sources of ineffectivensss on
these hedges include:

« Differences in timing of cash flows between the hedged item
and hedging instrument.

« Differences m discounting between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument, as cash collateralized dervatives are
discounted using Cwvermight Indexed Swap discount curves,
which are not consistently applied to the hedged item.

« Counterparty credit rsk impacting Ffair value movements on
uncollateralised interest rate swaps but not the underlying
hedged item,

For qualifying fair value hedges, gains or lesses on dervatives

and the change in fair valuz of the hedged item attributable o

the hedged risk are included in net revenues, When a derivative

i5 no lomger desipnated as a hedge, any remaining difference
between the carrying value and par value of the hedged item is

amorised over the remaining hife of the hedged ilem using the
effective interest method.
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Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. Collateralised  agreements  include  resale
agreements and securities borrowed. Collateralised financings
include repurchase agreements, securities loaned, secured debt
securities 13sued, intercompany loans and other borrowings, See
“Classiflication and Measurement: Financial Assets™ and
“Classihication and Measurement: Financial Liabilites™ above
for detaills on the classification and measurement of these
instruments. Collateral received or posted can be in the form of
cash or securities. Cash collateral is recognised ‘derecogrsed
when received/paid. Collateral posted by the company in the
form of securities is nod derecognized from the balance sheet,
whilst collateral recewved in the form of securities is not
recognised in the balance sheet. If collateral recenved 1s
subsequently sold, the obligation o retumn the collateral and the
cash recewved are recogrised in balance sheet,

Pension Arrangements. The company 15 a sponsor of a
defined contribution pension plan, and a hybeid pension plan for
the benelit of cenain emplovees. The hybrid pension plan has
both a defined benefit section (the Flan) and a defined
comribution section, These are accounted for as follaws:

+« For the defined contnbution pension plan and the defined
contribution section of the hyvbnd pension plan,  the
contributions  payable for the period are charged o net
operating  expenses. Differences  between  contnbutions
payable for the pericd and contributions actually paid are
shown as either accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.

For the Plan, the amounts charged to net operating expenses
are any past service costs, administiration costs and any gains
or losses on settlements and curtailments. These amounts are
included i compensation and benefits, The net inferest is
included in nel mterest income/(expense). Actuearial gains amd
losses are recogmised immediately in other comprehensive
income. Plan assets are measured at far value and Plan
liabiliies are measured on an actuanal basis wing the
projected wnit credit method and discounted a1 a rate
equivalent to the current rte of return on a high-quality
corporate bond of equivalent currency amd term 1o the Flan
lisbilies. Full actuanal valwations are obtained at least
triennially and updated at each balance sheet date. Any surplus
or deficit of Flan assets over Flan liabilities is recognised in
the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or liability (deficit).

Property, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment.
Property, leasehold improvements and equipment are stated at
codl  less accumulated  depreciation and  provision  for
impairment. Fictures, fithings and equipment are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which is
between 3 to 7 vears. Leasehold improvements are depreciated
over the shorter of the useful economic life of the asset or the
remaining life of the lease when the asset is brought into use,
Depreciation is ingluded innet operating expenses, Depreciation

policies are reviewed on an annual basis.

5
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Intangible Assets. Intangible asscts are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and provision for imparrment. Subject
to the recognition criteria in IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ being
met, costs incwmed during the period that are directly
atiributable to the development or improvement of new business
application software are capatalised as assets in the course of
construction. Assets inthe course of construction are transferred
to computer software once completed and ready for their
interded use.

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life, which is three vears, No amortisation 15
charged on assets in the course of construction. Amortisation is
mneluded in net operating expenses and the amortisation policies
are reviewed on an annual basis,

Intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever evenls or
changes in circumstances suggest that an asset’s or asset group’s
carrving value may not be fully recoverable,

Leases. Leases are recognised as a night-of-use asset and a
comesponding lability at the date of commencement of the
lease.

Lease liabalities were measured at the present value of the
remaining lease pavments, discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate (IBR) a3 of the lease commencement
date or adoption of IFRS 16, whichever is later, as the interest
rate implicit i the lease cannct be readily determined. The
weighted average discount rate appled to the lease liabalities on
adoption of IFRS 16 was 3,5%,

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are imtially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of fised and varable payments (mcluding those under
reasomably certain extension options), less any lease incentives
receivable, and pavment of penalties for terminating any lease.
The lease payments are discourted using the lessee’s IBR. The
finance cost is charged to the meome statement over the lease
period 50 as to produce a constant pentodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Eight-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the imtial
measurement of lease liability, any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease mcentives
recewved, and any mitial direct costs. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated over the lease term on a straght line basis, The
company has chasen nat 1o revalue its nght-of-use assets,

Extension and termiration options are included in the office
premises lease entered into by the company. These are used 1o
maximise operational fexibality in terms of managing the assels
used in the company's operations. The extension and
termination opticns held are exercisable only by the company
and not by the respective lessor
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Fight-of-use assets are tested for impamrment whenever events
or chamges in circumstances suggest that an asset’s or asset
group’s carrving value may not be fully recoverable. An
impairmert loss, calculated as the difference between the
estimated recoverable amount (being the fair value) and the
carrying value of an assel or assel group, is recognised if the sum
of s expected undiscounted cash flows 15 less than s
comesponding carrying value.

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets. Provisions are recognised in the financial statements
when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
regquired 1o settle o present (legal or constructive) abligation,
which has ansen as a result of past events, and for which a
reliable estimate can be made of the amownt of the obligation.
Legal ehligations that may anse as a resull of proposed new laws
are recognsed as obligations only when the legislation s
virtually certain to be enacted as drafted,

A contingent Lability 15 a possible obligation that anses from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
CCCUTENGE OfF RON-0CCurrence of One of more uneeriain fuiure
evenls rol wholly within the control of the company ar & present
obligation that anses from past events but 15 not recogmsed
because either an cutflow of economic benefits 1s not probable
or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably measured.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occumence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the company,

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not recognised in
the financial statem ents. However, disclosure s made unless the
probability of settlement is remole,

Mew Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Mot
Yet Adopted During the Year

Amendments to IFRS 8, IAS 38, IFRS 4 ‘Insurance
Contracts' and IFRS 16. On August 27, 2020, the [ASE
issued “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 27 which
provides optional rehefl for ssues alfecting Onancial repoding
when changes are made to contractual cash flows of financial
instruments or hedging relationships as a result of reference rate
feform, The company has not elected to early apply the relicfs
available, which are otherwise effective for peniods beginning
on or after Jameary 1, 2021. The company 1= currently assessing
the impact of the adoption of these amendments on its financial
statements.

To
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Hote 5.

Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

The preparation of firancial stalements requires management io
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts recognised in these financial statements. The mature of
estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from those
estimates, The following estimates have had the most significant
effect on amounts recognased in the Dinancial statements:

Fair Value Measurement

Certain of the company’s financial assets and liabilites include
sigmficant uncbservable inputs (1e., level 3) See Note 31 for
information about the carrying value, valuation techniques and
sigmficant inpus of these instruments.

Defined Benefit Pension

The cost of the Plan and the value of the Plan labilities are
determined using actuarial valustions. This iwaolves making
assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases, Due (o the
complexity of the valuation, such estimates are subject o
sigmficant uncertainty. See Note 16 for further information
about the company s Plan,
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Hote 6.

MNet Revenues

MNet revemues include net mnterest expense and non-interest
income. Met interest expense incledes interest and dividends on
financial instruments measured at fair value and amortised cost
Mon-interest income includes:

« Gaing and losses on financial | instruments mandatorily
measered a1 fair value through profit of loss, which primarily
relate to mon-interest gains and losses on trading assets,
investments, loans, trading liabalities and certan collateralised
agrecments.

Gains and losses on financial instruments designated at fair
value through profit or less, which primarily relate o non-
interest pains and losses on certam unsecured borrowings and
collateralised financings.

Fees and comm issions, which primarily relates to nel revenues
from certain financial advisory and  underwriting
engagements, executing and clearing client transactions and
Cerlain investment management services,

» Other income, which relates to consideration received from
GSBE i coarection with the transfer of certain of the
company's activities and emplovees as a part of GS Group’s
Brexit planning

The table below presents nel revenues.

In the table above:

= Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or
loss are [requently econcmically hedged with [inancial
instruments measured mandatonly at fair value through profit
of loss, Accordingly, gams or losses that are reported in
financial instruments desipnated ot fair value through profit ar
loss can be partially offset by gains or losses reported in
fimancial instruments measured mandatonly at farr valwe
theough profit or boss.

The company has reclassified 5766 million of net revenues,
predominately from underwriting engagements, from financial
instruments measured at fur value through profit or loss 1o
fees and commiszions for the peried ended MNovember 2019 in
order o conform to the current peried’s presentation.

-

« Interest income and expense from financial instruments
measured af amortised cost for the period ended November
2019 has increased by 3137 mallion to conform to the current
penod’s presentation. This s 1o reclassify negative interest
income to interest expense and negative interest expense to
inerest income for certain instruments.

Geographic Infermation

Due to the highly mtegrated nature of intermational financeal
markets, the company manages its businesses based on the

Pericd Ended profitabality of the enterprise as a whole. The methodology for
December  Hovambs allocating profitability to geographic regions 15 dependent on
5 i iliens R0 2018 : ;
Fore e e estimates and management judgement.
Fe il i datority d al . g
fnir valu thecugh praBt o loss (PP P Creographic results are generally allocated as follows:
Firancial i derigrted al « Investment Banking: location of the client, investment
Fair valus theough proBt o loss 1520 (1.588) banking team and underlying risk
Fens and commitsions ERL 308
Othee incoms Te - « FICC and Equities: location of the market-making desk or the
Honrinterest intome 10,608 a2 primary market far the urderlving security.
Interest income
interest incomu from dnancial instrumaents « Investment  Maragement:  location of the invesiment
marsurnd at fir value through profit or loss 25T 4 965 management leam
Infewrest income from fnancial mstruments '
msxsured at amortised cost 1,536 2Ehs The table below presenis net revenues h:,r E_;:nﬂm]:hi: region
Total Interest income 4,100 T.858 allocated based on the methodology referred to above.
Interest expense
Inesnst from 4 ial sl S Pariod Ended
msxsuend at fair value through profit or loss (2,053) (4. 310 December  HNovember
Infevnsi papense Fom fnancial nstnsments % iy i I frnt |1
s sured at amortised cost (2,128 (3,782} “EMEA 5 6,676 55,608
Total interest expnse (5,181} (B.092) fI— 1,584 1,408
Het Interest sxpenss {BRSH [&53) Agin 1,771 B
Het revenues 10,011 § 7850 Totad 10,0011 7880
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Revenue from Contracts With Customers
The table below presents revenue from contracts with customers
subject to IFES 15, which are included in fees and commissions
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The table below presents the fees payable to the company’s
awditor, which are included in professional fees.

o . . Puried Ended
within non-interest income. T
P Erdad § in millions a0 2018
—ﬂbﬂ'ﬂwm'lh' At feas S4B 5 B0
5 in iions 020 2M8 Fad® ralated BYRUMNSH SRAACHE 18 41
Ferancial advisory and undenvritng sngagements 2188 51,516 Chor assurance sarvices ¥ 1.1
Exwcution and chent clearing tran sactions Eo 652 Tauation complance services (1% oz
vemstment management serdces k] 350 Cither rorraudt sevices - =R
Total 3,191 52,506 Total fews for non-sud servces 53 3
Total Tees 5.9 5
Note 7. I the table aboye:
. « The fees for the company’s awdit for the period ended
Net Operating Expenses Decernber 2020 decreased by $1.4 million compared with the
The table below presents net operating expenses, period ended November 2019 and fees for audit related
assurance services for the period ended December 2020
Pacied Ended decreased by 323 million compared with the period ended
. n“‘“‘g “”';:‘1: MNovember 2019, primarily dug 10 the company changing its
Compansatin and Gt T5,005 R accounting reference date.
mﬁm‘“‘“m "’z ""': « Audit related assurance services for the period ended
- ) ard tachnalogy 5 122 Movember 2019 included fees in comnection with the audit of
Diogrecistion and arortiation 1 240 the company’s financial information and reporting to GS
Professional fees 181 186 Group's auditor for the purposes of G5 Group”s audit due toa
Cucupsncy 4 L difference in the accounting reference date between the
m;:'m" fromn G Group wfiistes m :: company and G5 Group in the prior period.
Cpamaling wphmss 85N il « Other assurance services mcluded the company’s share of fees
::“ﬂ'""':;".:'ﬂ"h G Group sate “E:;:] sz::: related to certain services provided by a network firm of the
company”s auditor to various GS Group affiliates. These fees
In the table above: were apportioned to the various G5 Group affiliates, including

» Brokerage, cleaning, exchange and distnbution fees has been
renamied transaction based expenses and sdditionally includes
expenses resulting from completed transactions, which ane
directly related to client revenues, and certain expenses
incurred 1o satisfy  performance  oblipations where  the
company 15 primcipal 1o a transaction as required by [FRS 15
Such expenses were previously reported in other expenses and
were 3467 million for the period ended Decembser 2020, The
company has reclassified 3270 million of such expenses for
the period ended Movember 2019 to conform to the current
presentation.

« Management charges includes charges relating to operational
and administrative suppost and management services, received
from and provided 1o GS Group affiliates

« Oaher expenses primanly includes expenses incurred (o satisfy
performance obligations where the company 15 principal 1o a
transaction as required by IFRS 15, miscellancous taxes,
provisions for liabilities and charitable contributions.

the company, by reference to each entity’s asset size. Other
assurance services for the period ended December 2020 also
included fees in connection with a thematic regulatory review.
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Note 8.
Compensation and Benefits

The table below presents the company's average monthly
employee headeount, including executive directors.

Avnrage for the
Pasicd Ended

December  Movember
Normber 220 208
e stmant Barking TERE “am
FICC B33 f: gk |
Equition 908 a3
invaatmant Mas sgamant 219 786
Suppad Functions B2 e
Total average headcourt 1,760 aite

Total headcount was 4,115 as of December 2020 and 4,230 as
of Movember 2019,

The table below presents compernsation and benefits costs
incurred by the company, including those relating to directors,

Paricd Ended
December  Hovember
3 in milions por 2018
Vibgus and salaries AR SLO076
Escial ascurity ealy 185 268
Fention casty
Db e rsribution i and coined sentrbus
saction af the hybrid perion plan 10 5

Dafirpd banaSt sestion of the hybeid pansion pan k. -
Tatal $2.E2%  seaad

In the table above, tofal compensation and benefits included a
charge of 3259 million for the pertod ended December 2020 and
a charge of 5175 million for the period ended November 2009
representing recharges from Group Inc. equivalent to changes in
the fair value of share-based payment awards during the permod,

Note 9.
Share-Based Payments

Stock Incentive Plan

Group Ine. sponsors a stock mcentive plan, The Goldman Sachs
Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (2018) (2018 SIP),
which provides for, amongst others, grants of RSUs, restricted
stock, dividend equivalent rmghts and incentive stock options, On
May 2, 2018, Group Inc.'s sharchalders approved the 2018 SIP.
The 2018 SIF replaced The Goldman Sachs Amended and
Restated Stock Incentive Plan (2015) previcasly in effect, and
apphes to awards granted on or afler the date of approval
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The company recorded share-based compensation in respect of
the amortisation of granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of
5459 million for the peried ended December 2020 and 3452
million for the period ended Movember 20019 The resultant
eredit to equity arising from these share-based payments has
been offset in equity as a resull of the recognition of a lability
for amounts ansing under the terms of the chargeback
agreement with Group Inc. under which the company 1=
committed to pay to Group Inc. the grant-date fair value, as well
a5 subsequent movements in the far value of thoss awards 1o
Group Ine. at the tme of delivery 1o its emplovees.

Restricted Steck Units

Group Inc. grants RSUs (o the company’s emplovees under the
2018 SIF, which are generally valued based on the closing price
of the underlying shares on the date of gramt after aking nto
accound a hguidity discount for any applicable post-vesting and
delivery  transfer restrictions. RSUs generally vest and
underlying shares of common stock deliver (net of required
withhalding tax) as outhined in the applicable award agreements.
Employee award agreements generally provide that vesting is
acoelerated in certain circumstances, such as on retirement,
death, disability and conflicted employment. Delivery of the
underlymg shares of common stock 15 condiioned on the
grantecs satisfving certain vesting and other requirements
outhined m the award agreements. RSUs not subject o
performance conditions generally deliver over a three-year
perivd. RSUs that are subject to performance conditions
generally deliver alter the end of a three-vear performance
period. For these awards, based on performance, the final award
is adjusted from zero to 1507 of the original grant. Dividends
that accree during the performance period are paid at settlement,

The tables below present the activity related to RSUs,

Waeighted Average WWasghted Aversge
Grant:Date Fair Value of Granl:Cate Fair Value of
Restricted Stock Restricted Stock
Uit ‘Cutstmnding Uniits, Owrtstmnding
Future Mo Fulure Futurs ta Fubure
SaicE Sardti Sardci k= L
Required Requined Required  Requred
Period Ended December 2099
Bagening balsnes 1,743,250 2,893,507 S19370 $100.54
Granbe=d a3a.zro 1,159,583 SR 522063
Forfaited {B0,803) [E2450) S204.93 AT
Dalrared = I1ETE2M) H - 10688
Vieted (1,302,818)  1,502.818 F107.82 #0782
Trantfus. {68,183) (58, 144 10037 S20260
ﬂ balance AR 3584076 205,00 20092
PButiod Ended hovemnber 2018
Beginning balance 1623488 248308 300 55 210028
Granbed TA4LET 1810050 17464 217014
Forfeied (111,861 (50,221) 100 0 191,53
Celrered = (2047 525 -3 - 103,50
Vested (816,462) BG40z 10278 02TE
Transfes. 5,180 2,240 18807 220817
Ending balance 1,743,850 28083,807 19370 519354
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Inthe tables above:

« The weighted average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted
was 522024 durmg the penod ended December 20200 and
5177.28 during the pertod ended Movember 2019, The fair
value of the R3Us granted included a liquidity discount of
8.19% dunng the period ended December 2020 and 8.46%
during the pericd ended November 20019, to reflect post-
vesting and delivery transfer restrictions, generally of up 1o 4
YEArs.

« The aggregate fair value of awards that vested was 3576
million during the pertod ended December 2020 and 5435
million during the period ended MNovember 2019,

+ The ending balance for the pericd ended December 2020 also
included ESUs subject 1o performance conditions but mot
subject 1o fuure service requirements of 37,767 RSUs and the
maximum amount of such RSUs that may be eamed was
30,051 R5Ls No such RSUs were granted during the period
ended November 2019,

Stock Options

Stock eptions penerally vest as catlined in the applicable stack
option agreement. In general, options expire on the tenth
anniversary of the grant date, although they may be subject to
earlier termination or cancellation under certain circumstances
i accordance with the terms of the applicable stock option
agreement and The Goldman Sachs Amended and Restated
Stock Incentive Plan im effect at the time of grant.

The tahle below presents options cutstanding as of Decembaer 1,
2018, There were no options outstanding as of both December
2020 and Movember 2019,

Wilsighted Wihinghitind

Evarage avaage

Cipticns sosciss  remnaining ke

Exwrcize Price cutstanding price fpeaeE
5 76,00 § BO.6S 240,813 5.7 0.08
Total outssnding 346,813 $78.78 0.08

During the pericd ended December 2020, no oplions were
exercised. During the pertod ended November 2019, 249,813
options were exercised with a weighted average share price at
the date of exercise was 3171.32.

5O
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Mote 10.

Income Tax Expense

The table below presents an analysis of the company s income
tax expense.

Puriod Ended

December  Mowsmbar
§ in malions Ay ) ]
Current fax
LLE. bxention 5583 S160
Al stiranns in reapeet of priod paiods 9 5
it s bavation Ha 245
Total Currant T w7 an
Deferred tax
Orignation and nivertal of ermponary difecancet 3% 15
Effect ol ncreated UK. comporation tax rate 1% =
Tatsl defemed Lax 159) 15
Talal Income ax expends §7a5 S

The table below presents a reconcilistion between income tax
expense and the amount calculated by applving the weighted
average rate of UK. corporation tax applicable to the company
for the penod ended December 2020 of 27.0°% (penod ended
November 2019: 27.08%) to the profit before taxation.

Porod Ended
December  Movember

3 iy rralions M froni ]
ProM betors taxabon S350 sram
Profdt multipled by UK. corporation Eax rate of

27.0% (period ended Mosember 2018 27.0%%) i 657
Changes in recog and ol

deferred tax avsets " 18
Tax deductible on interest on AT1 notes [F. 7] {200y
Perrnanden o M e es w0 1oy
To bosses surendered Fom G5 Group

affliates for mil consl deration (nl} (4]
Effect of higher baxes on oversess samings 1 3
Exchange differences and other # id)
Adprstments in respect of prior periods il ]
EMect ol incrensed UK. corporabe bax rale 19 -
Total income fax spenss § 769 5 428

The Finance Act 2020 received Roval Assent on July 22, 2020
and mamtained the UK. corporation tax main rate at 19.0%,
when it had been due to decrease from 19.(P% to 17.0% from
Apnl 1, 2020, As a result, the UK. corporate rate applicable 1o
the company for the period ended December 200240 was 27.0%,
congistent with the period ended November 2019, This change
resulted in the company recognising a gam of 319 million on

remeasurement of its deferred tax assets.

The UK. government announced in its budget on March 3, 2021
that the UK. corporation tax main rate will increase from 19,00
to 25.0%% from Apnl 1, 2023, while noting that the 8.0% bank
surcharge applicable to the company s under review. The
company will remeasure its deferred tax assels on substantive
emactment of this change.
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Hote 11,

Collateralised Agreements

The table below presents collateralised agreements.
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Note 13.
Trading Assets and Liabilities

Tradmg assets and habalities include trading cash instruments
and derivatives held in connection with the company s market-

oOoOooodn

m "'““h — ; making or risk management activities. Trading assets includes
December  Movem b . .
-
P 2070 . 2018 assels pledped as collateral. See Nete 30 for further information.
Fpsale 8 gresments $ TS0 5 TITMD  SET 4T .
Securities borrowed 85,542 maTe  TemE0 The table below presents trading assets
Total S140082 515638 5003
s of
December Movember December 1
£ i malbons 2020 Fo1i]-] ]
Hote 12, Traling cash insiruments
. Menay marks! nsumeti § 33 5 8 5 4m
Customer and Other Receivables Gevaenmant snd agancy sbigations MIH WS4 3348
) Mestgage and cifer aset-Eacked
The table below presents customer and other receivables. bowns and scurting 588 3 484
Corporate debt insbrumaents. e 18,73 16 52
A al Equity mecuritiss 47,135 &, T 08T
Degambar  Movenber Dacambar 1 Commadtios & 5 L]
5 i milions 7070 2018 28 Tolal trading cash insruments W67 103,840 B0.Z18
Rescesvabins fom broksrdealars Derivatives
and clearing organisations 11,250 10,820 o620 Interest rabes BF1ART 401 4T T S
Recesvables fom cusiomers Crodi M7 a0 e I8 4N
and {ounte parbes. 79,050 &1,87 303 Currendies 110,403 e S -1 ]
Total ‘§00,330 71,807 552 633 Commodities 0,824 8,084 1254
Equitiss. Fo,rae 50,03 54,570
In the table above: Total derivatives BEE,I0Z7  BA1AZ5  GIZEE3
. . . Total tradiing assets SEEZ019  5TA5.365  SEERTEM
+ Total custormer and other receivables primarily consists of
receivables resulting from collateral posted in connection with The table below presents trading liabilities.
certaun dervative transactions, customer margin leans and
balances related to listed derivative activity R e —
+ Receivables from customer and counterparties includes § in milians 2020 219 2018
receivables from contracts with clients and contract asssts. Trading “:h.:.dm“:n ) B,
The compiny’s recevables from contracts with !’.ill.m[& Were Corparate datt im':::r:m 2700 3,883 8848
%327 million as of December 2020, %203 millwon as of Equity securiies 31,473 7 gy
Movember 2019 and 3236 million as of December 1, 2018 Comnadtion A 0 2
Contract assels represent the company’s right o receve Tt wacding chsy Isramencs M 40 47,00
consideration for services provided in connection with iis Derlratives
h clients for which collection is conditional and Intarest malas BEOZET 281787 E0TES
contracts with clients for which collection 1s conditional a Eradlt 51 .47 00
not merely subject to the passage of time, As of December F—— 113,408 BEZ 100,883
20240, November 2019 and December 1, 2018 conlract assets Commadiins 10,883 7.853 12758
werne Sml. Equitat TiB68 57,947 SRET
Tota derivatives EEDAD B0, 400 A58, 37
Total trading labilicies FHIZAM STi4ga0 5545 oly
In the tables above:

1

= Corporate debt instruments includes corporate loans, debt
secirities and convertible debenturas.

» BEquaty secunties includes public and exchange-traded funds
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 14,
Investments

Investments includes debt instruments and equaty securities that
are accounted for at fair value and are generally held by the
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Property, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment
The table below presents the movements in property, leaschold
improvenments and equipment during the current and prior
period.

Fistures.
company in connection with its long-term investing activities p——— ihogt and
Investments includes assets pledged as collateral. See Note 30 § i el improvemicts  equpried Tetal
for further information. cost
A5 of December 1, 2018 5651 510 k1.1
The table below presents information about investments Additions # - 4
Disposals {31) i1} (22}
Asol s of November 2018 - ] 1
Dcemnbad  Movembar D bar 1 Rdds = 1 1
5 in pillions 2090 019 2018 Disposals ] 151 25
G and apeacy obligat 5 = i 17 5 17 A& ol Dacanbar 2020 L 5 14
Morigage snd othar assetbacked
|pans and securites = 1 1 Accumulated depreciation
Corporaty debd instnments 838 1,10 a12 A of Dcember 1, 2HE 3 8 ']
Exquity securities 48 T3 asa Charge fiar the periss 7 = 7
Tofal SAEE 51,482 51.318 Di il 23 i1} (23
A of November 2018 F 5 F3
In the tahle above: Charge k¢ tha pericd ] 1 3
) o ) Cigposals 13 3 i1
« Corporate debt instruments primarily includes mezzanine, A% of Decembar 2020 n 3 IR
sentor and distressed debt,
+ Equity securities consisis af the company”s public and private A5 of December 2020 § - 537 § 2
equity-related investments in corporate entities, 23 of Hovambar 2010 T8 54 e
Ax of Decembaer 1, 2018 516 5 4 5 0
Mote 15,
Intangible Assets
Other Assets The table below presents the movements in intangible assets

The table below presents other assets by type.

during the current and prior penod,

Aszots in e
Ag ol Compuier courss of
Detemnbed  Movembar Decembaer 1 £ in mallons sofware  consruction Total
§ in milfons i) 2018 2 [
nsecompany loans 56,744 5 600 5 258 #s of December 1, 2018 S 5183 574
Ml BNS0UE M BLES B0 oEhar i [ B30 AddiiaiiTranalers 200 11 1
Tetal Baprcial nvsats. 7,008 1,458 1,068 [Lp— {10 = {10
Fropety, leavehold impiovements Au of Movembar 2010 31 L0} 53
and equpmant 2 13 b AddtieraTran il 73 36 wE
ranpli gty 4 2 2 Digporials (5 - i
Reight-of-uibe siaets = 5 182 Fs of December 2000 [3H 230 [
Pandion wuiplul (e Neta 18) 0z 264 £08
Cisfie ol tihx Adbts (il Nete 17) 44 p x| 258 Accumulated amortisation
Prepayments and acerued incorme b 22 m Az of Decomiber 1, 2018 L - a0
Tan-ridabad antale L] kL] 7 Chargs for the perod 106 - 109
Mcellanecus receivables and dther L) 4 1 Ditpotals L] - (1]
Tetal non-fnancial assets 1amn 1,158 1,208 Am ol Hovember 2018 153 - 153
Total 8588 sze7  s20m Charge for the period 7z - 7
Dizposals -
Inthe table above: h’:’ul:uem 2020 3::2 = HE:]
« Miscellaneows  recevables and other primarily  imcludes Nt Book valise
recevables for allocation of net revenues among G5 Group s of Decembar 2020 o 30 450
affiliates for theirr participation in G35 Group’s business Ax of Hovambar 2018 S8 B $152
activities Ax of December 1, 208 1 183 prac

« Miscellaneous receivables and other also includes receivables
from contracts with clients of 3nil as of both December 2020
and Movember 20019 and S102 mallion as of December 1, 2018
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities

The company leases certain buildings under non-cancellable
lease agreements. Under these lease agreements, which are
subject to renegotiation at varwous intervals specified in the
leases, the company pays all insurance, maintenance and repairs
of these properties.

The table below presents the right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities.

s ol
December  Movenbsr Decsmber 1
£ in miSons 2030 2018 2018
[T epr——— 30 556 a2
Lew s hnbdites 517 ST} W2

During the period ended December 2020 and penod ended
Movember 2019, there were no significant additions to the
company s right-of-wse assets, The decrease in company s right-
of-use assets inthe period ended Movember 2019 was primarily
driven by the company consolidating its London activities in its
new Buropean headguarters in Plumiree Court,

The table below presents the undiscounted cash fows of the
company™s lease lishilities by contractiml matunty. These
amounts are mcluded n other habilities in the matunty of
financial liabilities disclosure in Mote 32

Az ol
December  Movenber December 1
£ in milons 00 2018 2018
L#ss than one manth 5= 24 5 20
Eabween one and thies months - 1 |
Batwaan thres montha and cas year 4 3 B4
Batwoen cne and Tre years 13 a8 130
Chomr vl year 1 F &
Total 3 T =10

The company's total cash outflow for leases was $57 million for
the period ended December 2020 and 5125 million fior the period
ended Movember 2019,

The table below presents the amounts recognised in the income
statement relating to leases,

P Erded
December  Novambse
5 i mnilhons R0 209
Depreciation of nght-ok wse asset 19 5133
Interas! epente 2 T
Total 521 5140

Total future minimum sublease payments expecied to be
recenved by the company under non-cancellable subleases were
Snil million as of December 2020, 3% million as of November
2019 and 521 million as of December 1, 2018,

B3
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Note 16.
Pension Arrangements

The company sponsors a persion plan with a hybrid strecture,
having both a defined benefit section (the Flan) and a defined
contribution section. The Plan provides retirement benefits on
the bagis of members” final salary, with a normal retirement age
of 65 for most members. The Plan is funded, with the assets of
the scheme held separately from those of the company, n
separate trustee-administered funds,

The Plan was closed 10 new entrants with effect from Apnl 1,
2008, and was replaced by a defined contnbution plan. As of
harch 31, 2016, the Plan was closed to future benefit accruals
for existing participants,

The Plan operates wnder trust law and 15 mansged and
adminstrated by the Goldman Sachs UK Retirement Flan
Trustee Limited (the Trustee) on behalf of the members and
beneliciares in sccordance wath the terms of the Trust Deed and
Rules and relevant legislation. The Trustees act on behalf of the
members and berelicianes and have the responsibality for
selting  (he  investmient strategy  and  agresing  funding
requirements with the company through the valuation process.

A full actuarial valuation of the Plan was carmed out by a
qualified independent actuary as of December 31, 2000 using
the projected unit credit methoed based upon membership data as
of July 31, 20200 As of December 2020, the Plan liabilities
consigt of 96% in respect of futuse beneficiaries and 4% in
respect of current beneficmnes.

There 5 no asset caling imposed on the amount of pension
surplus recopnised in the financial statements as the company is
able to utilise the Plan surplus in the scenarios set out in “IFRIC
14 - 1A% 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements and their Interaction”

Risks of the Plan
The main risks of the Plan are:

« Funding Shortfall. Additional comnibutions  will be
required 1if the investment returns are not sufficient 1o pay for
benefits. The level of equity returns will be a key determinant
of averall investment return; the investment ponfolio is also
subject to a range of other risks typical of the asset classes
held, in particular interest rate risk and inflation nsk on bonds.

« Asset Volatility. A consequence of the Plan's investmem
stratepy, with a significant proportion of the assets invested 1n
equities and other retum-seeking assets is that the difference
between Plan assets and Plan liabilities may be volatile.

« Plan Liabilities Sensitivity. Plan liabilities ane sensitive 1o
the assumptions made about future inflation and life
expectaney. It s also sensiive to the discount rate, which
depends on market wields on sterling-denominated AA

corporate bonds,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Financial and Mortality Assumptions

The table below presents the sigmificant financial and mortality
assumptions wsed 1o determine the present value of the defined
benefit obligation.

A of
% pav annum, except modalily December Nowember December 1
—Sesuplions Fa o] 2018 2018
Financlal Assumptions
Discount rate 1.32 188 114
Fentn of price inflaton = AP .99 3.0z 380
Ratn of preza inflaton = CPI 249 227 280
Rate ofincreate in pantions in payments
(it Menmrrisee 30, 1998 acerual) 2 182 330
Eate afincraate in pentiont in defsemant
(parit-Ngrprmbeie 30,1598 actrual) 1.4% 227 -l
Rta alinerdati in panisand in dellemenl
(pait-Apal 5, 2009 accnsal) 249 2.27 250
Maortality Assumplions
Life expectancy a1 85 for 8 member currently at 65:
Males 4.2 yearg 241 years 235 years
Females 254 years 253 years 2.7 years
Lifle sxpactancy a1 85 for a membar curnenty ot 45:
Males 255 years 253 years D48 years
Fomales 6.8 yeaid 2608 yoars 392 years

In the table above, the mortality assumplions adepted for the
penod ended December 2020 were the “SAPS 53 very light (All
Pensioners) sertes” base table with an allowance for future
improvements from 2013 anwards in line with the CMI 2019
core projections with a long-term rate of improvement of 1.25%
per annum and an inial sddition io mortality improvement
parameter of 0.50%% per annum,

Reconciliation of Pension Surplus
The table below presents a reconciliation of Plan asseis, Plan
liabalities and the net pension surplus.

Nt
Fan Plan  penwcs
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Fair Value of Plan Assets

The Plan Trustees have a long-term asset allocation strategy to
invest 53% of assets in retumn seeking investments (such as
equity funds/indices, alternative investments and fixed income
securities) and 47% in lmbility matching assets (such as Gilis).
The Flan has a bedging programme investing in swaps and other
denvatives in order to reduce the exposure 1o changes ininterest
rates and inflation

The table below presents the fair value of Plan assels.

% in mallions Duched U'w Ttal
As of December 170

Equity beduindees § IR 5 - 8w
Gty R - 634
Swnps - Gk LE
Cash and cash squivaknts k) - B2
Cithar 543 i 634
Tatal Sroe .07 s
s plHovembar 2018

Equity bimthfndices 1,400 3 $1.400
Gilts &1 = 3
Swaps - (£ [
Cash and cash squivakets 177 - 177
Cithar - a8 ]
Tetal 51,528 5 T4 S2E82
Equity bmdufndces 51,128 5 - .18
Gits 487 - 457
Swaps - 3|5 355
Cash and cash equivaliris lc:] - 108
Char - 04 o
Total £1.73 5 481 $207

In the table above, other primarily consists of mvestments in
altemative mvestments and fxed income secunties. Dunng the
period ended December 20240, the Plan has further diversified its
exposwre  and  partizlly moved inwestments  in equity
funds‘indices into alternative nvestments and fixed income
securilies.

5 in milions aigely ablten  worplus
At of Dacarmiee 1, 2019 LIERT IR 3 284 Defined Benefit Cost
Administrative cost - [E] # The table below presents the defined benefn loss related to the
nserast incoms{axpansa) 7 {31 ¢ Plan recogmised in the mncome sistement and in other
Restum on P'rmmluw.hnﬂmurl ratm a5 - b mmFrcluns.in: income.
Mctuarial gain = Eabdity sapenence - 45 45
MActuarial loss - nancisl sssumpbons - oy [anm .
Actuarial loss = demographic assumpbions - [F) i n‘“;ﬂmmEﬂN:im
Banwelts paid ey a9 - )

ratlong Y 08
Forsign sxchangs gainiossh ] 11 Sinmilons ____ !
A% of December 31, 2020 $3,216  §3,014 § 202 RAmaRHArask coit § 3 5 -

Inbarit incoma i1

A of Dwcomber 1, 2018 2222 H1B& 5 408 Tots credited 1o e Income SIBmers E l1:;]|
Agdrministrative cost = = = Gifver comprehenaive Income
hhiaat meemaiecpen el & 158 12 Rabam on Man asvets greabir San dwcowt et (B =N
Returs o Plan sasets greater than dracount rate 393 - 353 Actusrial gain — Eabiity axparience s 21
Actuarial gain - Eabdiy sxpadence - Kyl n 8l bkt — - o 470 580
Asiuarial los - & inl & i - {580 (550) i okt — o . NS 7 15
Actunrial lass — demographi o - (13 03 Tolal loss recognised in olher
“"f“' pakd ) gl - - cempaehensive Incane 6 158
Foreign exchangs gainfioss) 423 4 Total defined benenl loss E] % a8
Az of Nenremiber 30, 2018 2602 HIaE 5 M4

54
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Sensitivity Analysis
The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of Plan liabilities
for each significant actuarial assumplion

gt bo Plan Liabdities
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Mote 17.
Deferred Tax Assets

The table below presents the components of the company's
defermred tax asset.

[ in " [ i b
5 in mling % 5 in millcns 3
A5 of Decemirer 2070 Ax ol
0 26% change in December  Novembe Decembaer 1
digcount rate ${235) (7.8} § 255 &S § in milions 020 2018 2008
0.25% changs in price Daterred compenaanon 5551 453 a1
alatian i 8.3 {27} .5 Poskrelitamant Banaits 154) 83 [85p
1 ynar change in ife Property, lasshald improvenents and
[ 11% 1.8 {118y (3.4 aguipmant and intangible aswets {129y 93 131
gl N 2018 Dwbe valistion sdjustmant Y 35 [LF
0.25% change in Ohar benporary difscencet 12 ) -
ditcount rate 10 7 4 208 as Totsl 544 5331 5256
0.25% change in price
nduiion 184 78 EE] an The table below presents changes in each component of the
1 ywar change in ife company’s deferred tacc asset.
L i s B3 a7 (Bg) A7
As of Decomber 1, 2018 Panod sndad
0.25% change in December  Novermbaer
discount rate 3138 (7.8 515 a3 § in malling i 019
025% change in price Defered compensati on
infation ] EQ (127 7. Bagrnng balance 5453 =il
1 year changs in ife T T b B bak il 0% 22
espectancy 75 4.1 (75} 4.1} Disponal of defermed tax ssaaty @ =
Ending balance & 551 A3
Inthe table above, the sensitivities are based ona change in each “Postretirement benedits
assumption while holding all other assumptions constant, Baginning balance LRl $085)
Transler ba S i [LE] i}
There are inherent limitations in the sensitivity analysis, as such Transfor to other comprehansive incoms Lo 40
:diaﬂ:.'ncmtu: movements  are  unlikely to ocour. The Endling balanice § 1 L1
B . Propeily, leaiehald I proversents and eguipmen
methodology used to calculate the sensitivities are consistent and intangible assets
across the two periods presented in the table above. Baginning balance § (o 5 (68}
Trans{er bo Bve income staberment (R3] (28)
Nature of Future Cash Flows Ending balance 129 % (63}
Since the Plan’s closure to future accreals from March 31, 2016, Dbt waluation adjustment
the company has ceased 1o make regular contributions into the Begening balance 5 Bt
Plan but will continwe 1o assess the funding requirements of the :"T r.::;mwmmm- 3 :: T :
Plan with the Trestees on a periodic basis. Siher temporary Gierences
N . ' . . Begnning halance 5 M 5 -
On a triennial basis, a formal funding valuation of the Plan is Transfar bo B i i 2 I
performed for the Trustees to assess the funding needs of the Ending balance 5 @ [l
Plan. This valueation differs fram the actuarial valuation required ;::M patance g5 o
. . . : ng
for accounting purposes due to the use of different assumptions. ol th o ot emant Chae Moty 5 pord
The most recent funding valuation of the Plan was performed by L""’: :m. “":‘::: nemma ";] QE
a qualified independent actuary as of December 31, 2018, which h:g T Ty )

indicated that the Plan was in a funding surplus of 3316 million

As such, the company currently does nod expect to make any
further contributions into the Plan.

The company expects 5435 mullion of benelits o be pand out of
the Plan to members in the twelve months following December
2020,

The weighted average duration of Plan lmbilities was 33 vears
as of December 20240,

85

I the tables above, deferred compensation is mainly in respect
of share-based compensation.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 18,
Interests in Other Entities

The table below presents the subsicdiary over which the company
exercised control as of December 2020,

In the table above:

« The carrving values of the company’s interests are included
in the balance sheet n trading assets or trading habilities.

« The company’s maximum exposure 1o loss is mainly a pesult
of dervatives, commitments and guarantees, for which the

Hiding maximum exposure to loss 15 the nottonal amount, which does
= not represent anticipated losses and also has not been reduced
propetion Gl of by unrealised losses already recorded. As a result the
Hame of Country of of voting  shares Humber  Nature of s ds it d
. e = rights hald heid  businass ma:.{tm!.lm c'q:q:mu'r: to boss exceeds labilities recorded for
Goldman Sachs derivatives, commitments and guaranizes
(Gayman) Cayman Ordinary Financial
Limitad llards 100%  sharaes 250 werdcen

The registered office address of Goldman Sachs (Cavman)
Limited 15 the offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO
Bex 309, Ugland House, Grand Cavman, KY1-1104, Cavman
Islands.

Mote 19,
Collateralised Financings

The table below presents collateralised financings.

The company has interests in a number of special purpose As of

entities and capial guaranteed funds which do not meet the — D'“f;ﬁ mn"ﬂ;;
definition of a legal subsidiary, but give rise to the risks and Fh:;.-eﬂuu h 777 S51M 5 B&?.;n
rewards that are. in substance, no different than if they were Securts loansd 21,004 52337 44,314
legal subsidiaries. The activities of these special purpose entities Inbarzeenpany loass 1432 T -
and capital guaranteed funds consist of the issuwance of loan ;““‘”""““""’ :":’: :-;:': :':2

. BF EETEARgS. ’ x \

notes under the terms of @ repackaging programme. These Tatal $113,127  $116.836  $1401790

special purposes entities and capital guaranieed funds are
consolidated in the financial statements of Group Ine.

Unconsolidated Structured Entities

The company has interests in structured entities that it does not
comtrol (uncornsolidated structured entities), which primarily
includes: sentor and  subordmated debt,  denvatives and
guarantees. Structured entities generally finance the purchase of
assets by 1ssuing debt securities that are either collateralised by
or indexed to the assets held by the strectured entity. The debt
securities isswed by a siructured entity may inclede tranches of
varying levels of subordination, The company’s involvement
with structured entities primanly includes the purchase and sale

In the table above, ntercompany loans, debt secunties ssued
and ather borrowings are secured by secunities which have been
pledged as collateral. Thas pledged collateral 15 either recogmised
in trading assets or collateralised agreements.

Mote 20.
Customer and Other Payables
The table below presents customer and other payables.

f

of beneficial mterests ssued by mongage-backed structured [rrer——— hﬁ‘ Dwcermber 1
entities in comnection with market-making activities and § it s 030 WG L]
derivatives the company has entered inte with structured Paryables bo bokerfdealers

entities, such as total retum swaps, In cenain instances, the '“““'“:‘“:”"’"'“:"d’ AME izwa B

a a = n s hr«m CUROMErs a

company pl't.JF:Il:h-.'& puarantees, |n..c.|udug derivanve .gmrunlcc.s, countarparties oram 82,006 T
to unconsolidated strectured entities or holders of interests in Tota 5100510 M4 068 576,150

unconselidated structured entities.

The table below presents a summary of the unconsolidated
structured entities in which the company holds interests

In the 1able above, wal customer and other payables primanly
consist of collateral received in connection with certain
derivative transactions, customer credit balances related to the
company's prime brokerage activities and balances related 1o

A of = < : e
T PSR Y E——e——— listed derivative activity.
3§ in millons frivira] 2018 2Ma
Azwels in dructured entities $E,745 55553 $5.457
Carrying valoe of mtenesls - saely 5 439 5 M 5 419
Cmirying valkie of irderels - Eablities E N EL) ] 508
Mlawimum sxpesune bo loss 52,761 53,787 g

il
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 21,
Unsecured Borrowings

The table below presents unsecured borrowings.

s of
December  Movenber December 1
5 in milions fivra] 2018 28
Bank loans 5 & 5 85 8 170
Devisidrally 115 | 153
Ricompany loant —non-MREL-sighls 1,052 43,714 5158
ntescompany loans = MREL-sligible 16,773 13,805 -
Dbt securites issued 313,385 o X v} 24,370
Subcedinaled loans 50 B 554 B600
Othar bomowings A, 508 3,080 AGm
Total SEO,081 SRS 58S 140
Inthe table above:

« Payments on debt securities ssued and other borrowings
instruments are typieally referenced to underlying financial
assets, which are predominately interest rates, equities and
currencies-related.

Subordinated leans of $5.39 billion as of December 2020,
55.55 hallion as of November 2019 and 5560 hillion as of
Drecember 1, 2018 consist of long-term loans of 5538 hllion
from its parent undertaking and other G35 Group affiliates,
which are unsecured and carry interest al a margin over the
U5, Federal Reserve's Federal Funds rate, and associated
accrued interest. The margin is reset on a periodic basis to
reflect changes in G Group's weighted average cost of deba.
These loans constitute regulatory capital as approved by the
FEA and are repayvable subject to PRA approval. These loans
are repavable between December 26, 2029 and September 9,
20340,

Debt Valuation Adjustment

The company caleulates the fair value of debtl securities issued
that are desigrated st fair value through profit or loss by
discounting future cash flows at a rate which incorporates G3
Group's credit spreads. The table below presents information
about the cumulative net DV A gainsi{losses) (pre-tax) e such
financial liabalities, which 15 mcluded in accumulated other

Hedge Accounting
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The company designates certain interest rate swaps as fair value
hedges that are used to manage the interest rate exposure of
certain Nixed-rate unsecured long-term and shor-term debd.
These interest rate swaps hedge changes in fair value
attributable to the relevant benchmark interest rate (eg.,
LIBOR), effectuvely converting Oxed-rate obligations o
floating-rate ohligations.

The table below presemts  information  abowt  hediing
mstruments, which are classified in denvatives within trading
assels and liabalities in the balance sheet.

s of
Dacambar  Movember December 1
£ i rltlions 2020 e an ]
Aatat camrying value T e 05
Liskd®ty earrying valus p=F g - L.

The table below presents the notional of hedging mstruments by

contractual matunty date,

Axal

December Nooembe December 1
% in millons 2020 g g
-3 oo 5 - § 2 35 -
3 months = 1 year - B o
1 -Eyare 1,760 125 14
CGirwater than S years 1460 2004 z7:
Total 3,099 52807 SeEE

The average fixed rate of the company’s hedging instruments
was 1. 16% for the period ended December 2020 and 1.25% for
the period ended November 2019,

The table below presents the carmving value of hedged items that
are designated n a hedging relationshop and the related
cumulative hedeing adjustment (inerease{decrease)) from
current and prior hedging relationships included in such carmying
vilues,

comprehensive income. Currulative
Cmrying  hadging
Poriod Endad § in mallians _ valus _meljtirment
December  November December 1 Mp o - _ . s
£ i el 008 2019 2018 -t v - -
Baggnning balance S(147) 5 54 S11) Unsecured long-tenm Borosingt 23,047 17T
Dhisot v aLssbaon aecuistmank for the period [l =] (201} 455 £ ol Hovermbar 2018
Trareafer 1o retained samings L] = - Unsecured shor:beem bormoswvings 5 8 5 -
Ending balance S290) $(14T) 5 54 Unsecured long-tenm borosings 52 841 £133
&5 0l December 1, 018
In the table above, net losses of 340 million (329 million, net of Unsacured shortteem bormawings 5 85 5 -
tax) for the period ended December 2020 realised upon early Unsecured ang-tenm bormawings 52,682 5

redemption of certain such financial liabilities, have been
trarsterred from accumulated other comprehensive income to

retained eamings. Such losses were ned material in the prior
perntods.

B
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In the table above, cumulative hedging adjustment for items no
longer designated in a hedging relationship were 334 million as
of December 2020 and 3nil as of both November 201% and
December 1, 2018,

The table below presents the company’s gains{losses) from
interest rate denvatives accounted for as hedges. the related
hedged borrowings and the hedge ineffectivencss on these
derivatives recognised in net revenues,

In the table above:

« Provisions charped during the period ended December 2020
included fines of $126 million levied by the FCA and PRA In
relation to G5 Group's settlement of governmental and
regulatory  investigations relating to 1MDBE, which, in
accordance with the indemmification agreement belween
Grroup Inc. and the company in relation to 1MDE losses, were
paid by Groap Inc. These fines were recognised as an expense
inthe company”s income statement, with a corresponding non-

Pared Ended cash capital comtnbution in retained eamings, resultmg in no
Dacanribar Howambar net impact to the company’s total shareholder's equity as of
5 in mvilions 00 2018 o miber 2020
Fhernst rate hedges 50 5108 -
Hedgad beetemings ik {os + Provisions utilised during the period ended November 2019
Hedge InefTedt veness 53 3 -

included 345 mllion related 1o a fine levied by the FCA in
March 2019 relating o transaction reporting. This fine was
pard i April 2019,

HNote 22,
Other Liabilities
Mote 23,
The table below presents other labilities by tvpe. N
Share Capital
L
December Movember Decembar 1 The table below presenis shase capital
§ in iliong 200 mid 208
Compansation and bensfits £2.082 52 048 51,682 Ordinary shares
Ircome tas-relaled inbdisen i) 128 1 Nhumﬂ.ﬂdtp_-ﬁdhﬂrnﬂd ﬂ_ti'lhbth £ i millions
Learse linbiites (see Note 15) 7 a7 210 A of Ducember 1, 2016 S1B161 S5
Acorued sxpenses and otfer 1,378 450 B Mlotied duwing the perod T.543 985 B
Tolal Bnencial labiting AATE 2,781 2728 s of November 2018 SE0,608,048 5500
Tt thn-tedal e habd s 1 42 127 Alotted dusing the peciod __B.574,007 B
Other taxes amd Locisl sesurty comks e 305 338 A5 of December XM SR, 102,053 S5uR
Promiass 1 1 bi: |
Tetal rron-8 rancial Babidtii 190 Y 543 Om March 24, 2020, 8,574,007 ordinary shares of 31 each were
Tatal S4889 s 108 $3.260 allotted at $44.32 10 G3G UK. The total consideration received

Inthe table above, accrued expenses and other meledes contract
liahilities, which represemt consideration received by the
company in conmection with its contracts with clients priar to
providing the service. As of December 2020, November 2019
and December 1, 2018 contract liabilities were not material.

Provisions
The table below presents provisions, which are in respect of
legal and regulatory proceedings in which the company is

was S350 000,000 in cash, incorporating a share premium of
$371,425993.

On January 21 2009, 7,643 885 ordinary shares of 31 each were
allotted at 344.4% 1o G306 UK. The total consideration recemved
was 3340,000,000 in cash incosporating a share premium of
5332356115

involved. Note 24.
Dividends

5 in milions

A% of Decemom 1, 2018 50

Charge dering the period 3 No dividends were paid m the penod ended Decembier 2020,
Reeducton in provisian (4

Utiived during the period (56} The directors declared and paid an intenm dividend of $1.00
Ao of Havarnbar 2018 31 billion on Movember 26, 20019 to G3G UK representing $1.70
Charge during the periad LF per share,

Mor-cash captal contrbution [RFL

Uttlised disring the period L]

s of December 2020 5 1

bt

347/420



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 25,
Other Equity Instruments

The table below presents information about unsecured AT
notes.
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Reconciliation of Cash Flows
Activities
The table below presents a reconciliation of cash flows
from/{used in) operating activities.

From OQperating

Puriad Ended
Humbes of December Movemnbar
Manth of issuancs AT notes §ondions  Interes ity :':.m’ - a’:;: - g;:
June 2017 5500 5,800 00 pa Edows tmtion b
Hovember 2018 2,800 2,500 AP pa Acustmemnty for
A% of Dacamiber 2020 5,300 5,900 Dapraciation and fon (e Neke T 1 248
Loss on disposal of lsasehald imgro z E
The company’s AT 1 notes of 31 million each have been issued Ghain "‘hmm:?:: mm i r; [1[:;
to GSG UK. They have no fxed maturty date and are not Forsign wch . osing) @ am
callable, Share-basad o =10 =]
. . . ) . . Prowisions 1 21
The AT1 notes wall be rrevocably written-down in the event Wntarest on subordinated loans
that the CET1 capital ratio of the company or the GSG UK and MREL-slgbie intercompany isans LCE 58
Group falls below 7%, Lossesigains) on insestrents 50 M
Interest spssrse on leases F4 7
The company paid interest on its AT1 nofes of 3751 million for Cash genecsted befors changes in opersting
the period ended December 2020 and $742 million for the period '“"‘:“ """’h'; L
er':leld Movemnber 2019, Interest pm:d 15 recognised in retained h_ﬂgm m_'mmd_w -
camings, The associated tax effect is recognised in income tax Increase in cushomes and ofher recevabies (8575 (BT
expense. The non-cumulative fixed mterest 15 payable a1 the increase in tradng assets (107.554) (192584
company”s diseretion subject to cerain solvency and regulatory Qecranppfincraus)in kuny b (7
conditions. Incdgadi i othie BB 15, 5849) 425
Changes in cperating svsets (205,287 (185527
Changes in operating labilites
Dwcrease in colaberakued Bnancings 2309 (24974
Note 26. I n and oher payables 15,841 B818
I Increate in tadng ksbiites NI 1emesd
Statement of Cash Flows Reconciliations Ducrense n mmsacured borrawing A asen
) Increasalidecr sa su} in ciber Fabilties 521 B84
The table below presents cash and cash equivaleniz, net of Changes in operating Bebiites 0B 140,088

overdralls for the purpose of the statements of cash [lows,

A of
December  Movembs Ducember 1

S nilicns 2000201

Cash and cash squivalents 3,803 $22 %57 24 306

_Cvercralts (ves Note 21) {115} ()] {153

Total =T 522 aa 224,243

Inthe table above, cash and cash equivalents included cash that
15 nod available for use by the company of $1.84 billion as of
Diecember 2020, 34.22 billion as of November 2019 and $3.44
billion as of December 1, 2008,

B

Cash ganerated Iromdused In) aperations 5 16038 (2486

In the table above, cash generated from operations included
interest paid of $5.05 hillion for the period ended December
2020and 57.13 billion for the period ended November 2019, and
interest received of $4.22 billion for the peried ended December
2020 and 5775 hillion for the pericd ended November 2019
The interest paid and interest received for the persod ended
Movember 2019 has inereased by 5137 mulhon to conform tothe
curent  period’s  presentation.  See Mote 6 for  further
information

Reconciliation of Cash Flows From Financing
Activities Excluding Lease Liabilities

The company includes MEEL-eligible borrowings as linancing
activity for the purposes of its statement of cash flows, which
comgists of s AT1 notes, subordinated loans and MREL-
eligible intercompany loans, Both the principal and interest
related to these borrowings is classified as financing activity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Between December 1, 2008 and January 1, 2019, the company
amended the terms of an intercompany loan, resulting in 1t
becoming MREEL-eligible, For the purposes of the company’s
Statement of Cash Flows, this has been recognised as a non-cash
transaction

The table below presents a reconciliation of cash [ows
from/{used in) fimancing activities excluding lease liabilities,

& in mélicny Principal  Intenest Tetal
Az of Dwcember 1, 2018 S13677 % 22 S13800
Mon-cash movemant 8823 T 8,855
incramse in MREL: sligibie intencompany loans 3,367 - 3,367
naerest on AT1 notes - 742 T4z
Interosl on subordrated loans
ansd MREL-sligide inlercampany loam - 758 TEE
Intenat paid en AT Aoles S R
raitadl paid on subordrsted Baf
ansd MREL-shigitle inbsccampany loan - (325 (325
A of Mersemioer 2010 76,067 #82  27.859
creass in MREL-olighls intarsompany Icars: 2400 = 2400
rternst on AT1 notes - 751 il
Rternsl on wbondirated laans
and MREL-eligikde inbercampany loans = L5 LEES
WRiidadl paid on AT1 nobis - {751) 751)
Riernl paid on subsrdnated e
ansd MREL-sligitde inteccampany hoan - 1300 {1,300
s of Decembeer 2020 w0387 5§ s0 $RaF
Hote 2T.

Financial Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies
The table below presents commitments and contingencies.

Ax of
Dwgambar  Movenber Dacembar 1
5 in milions 2030 2018 218
Collataralized agrasmanty $61,982 322 560530
Colaterslsed francings 18,087 6,008 27188
Othar 4,942 2006 2400
Total 585,711 504,204 5S0.085

Collateralised  agreements  commitments  mcludes  forward
starting resale and secunties bomowing agreements, and
collateralised financings commitments includes forward starting
repurchase and secured lending agreements that settle at a fsture
date, generally within three business davs. Collateralised
agreements commitments also include transactions where the
company has entered inte commitments 1o provide conlingent
financing te s chents and counterparties through resale
agreements. The company’s funding of these commitments
depends on the satisfaction of all contractual conditions o the
resale agreement and these commitments can expare unused.

Other commitments primarsily relate to collateral commitments
and nvestment commitments.

Inaddition, there are registered charges on the company’s assets
which have arisen in the crdinary course of business

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Legal Proceedings

The company 18 involved ina number of judicial, regulatory and
arbitration  proceedings (including those described  below)
Conceming matters arising in connection with the conduct of the
company’s business, however it is not practicable to reliably
estimate the financial impact, if any, of these proceedings on the
company, except as disclosed m Mote 22

1MDB-Related Matters. Between 2002 and 2013,
subsidianes of Group Ine., mcluding the company, acted as
arrangers or purchasers of approximately $6.5 ballion of debt
seowmities of 1MDB. On November 1, 2018, the US,
Department of Justice (DO wnsealed a criminal information
ard puillty plea by Tim Lessner, a former participatng
managing director of GS Group, and an indictment against Ng
Chong Hwa, a fermer managing director of GS Group, and Low
Tack Jho. Lessner pleaded guilty to a two-count criminal
information charging him with conspiring to launder money and
conspiring to violate the ULS. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act's
(FCPA)  anti-bribery  and  internal  accoumling  controls
provisions. Low and Mg were charged m a threc-coum
incdhetment with conspining 1o lusder meney and conspinng 1o
violate the FCPAs anti-bribery provisions. On August 28, 2008,
Leissner's gty plea was accepted by the U8, Dustnct Court
for the Eastern District of Mew York and Leissner was
adjudicated guilty on both counts. Ng was also charged in this
mdiciment with conspinng to vielate the FCPA's nternal
accounting controls provisions. On May 6, 2019, Np pleaded not
gualty 1o the DOI's criminal charges.

O August 18, 2020, GS Group announced that it entered into a
seltlement agpreement with the Govemment of Malaysia 1o
resolve the criminal and regulatory proceedings in Malaysia
involving G% Group, which includes a guarantee that the
Government of Malavsia receives at least 31.4 billion in assets
and proceeds from assets seired by governmental authorities
around the world related 1o 1MDB.

On October 22, 2020, GS Group announced that 1 reached
settlements of governmental and regulstory nvestigations
relating to 1IMDE with the DOJ, the Secuntics Exchange
Commission (SEC), the FRBE, the New Yark State Department
of Financial Services (NYDFS), the FCA, the PRA, the
Smgapore  Atorney  General’s Chambers, the Singapore
Commercial Affairs Depantment, the Monetary Awhority of
Smgapore and the Hong Kong Securiies and Fulures
Commission. Group Inc. emtered o a three-year deferred
prosecution agréement with the DOJ, in which a charge against
G5 Group, one count of conspiracy 1o violate the FCPA, was
filed and will later be dismissed if G5 Group abides by the terms
of the agreement. In addition, GS Malaysia pleaded guilty to one
count of conspiracy 1o violate the FCPA.
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(3% Group has been working to secure necessary exemptions and
authonsations. from regulators so that these settlements do not
impact G5 Group's activities or the services that it provides to
clients. In October 2020, GS Growp submatted 1ts application to
the U5, Department of Labor (DOL) 1o maintain its status as a
qualified professional asset manager (OPAM) and in January
2021 the DOL published for public comment a notice of
proposed exemplion GS Group expects 1o obtain the exemplion
before the sentencing of GS Malaysia,

G5 Group has received multple demands, beginning in
Movember 2018, from alleged shareholders urder Section 220
of the Delaware General Corporation Law for books and records
relating to, among other things, G5 Group®s involvement with
IMDE and i1s compliance procedures, On December 13, 2019,
an alleged sharcholder of Group Inc. filed a lawsuit in the Court
of Chancery of the State of Delaware seeking books and records
relating to, among other things, G3 Group’s involvement with
IMDE and its comphange procedures. The parties have agreed
to stay proceedings pending resolution of the books and records
demand.

Cm February 19, 2019, a purported shareholder derivative action
relating to 1MDEB was filed in the ULS. Dastrict Court for the
Southern Dhistrict of New York against Group Inc. and the
directors at the time and a former chairman and chief executive
officer of GS Group, The second amended complaint filed on
Movember 13, 2020, alleges beeaches of Oduciary duties,
including in connection with alleged insider trading by certain
current and former directors, wnjust enrichment and violations
of the anti-fraud provisions of the Exchange Act, including in
comnection with Group Inc’s common stock repurchases and
solicitation  of proxies and secks umspecified damages,
disgorgement and injunctive relief. Defendants moved to
dismiss this action on January 135, 2021

Beginning in March 2012, GS Group has alse received demarxds
from alleged sharcholders to mvestigaie and pursue claims
apamst certain current and former directors and executive
officers of Group Inc. based on their oversight and public
dis¢losures regarding |MDB and related internal controls.

Cn December 20, 2018, a putative securitics class action lawsuit
wias filed in the LLS, District Court for the Southern District of
Mew York sgainst Group Inc. and certamn former officers of GS
Group alleging violations of the anti-fraud provisions of the
Exchange Act with respect to Group Inc's disclosures
concerning 1MDB and seeking unspecified damages. The
plaintiffs filed the second amended complaint on October 28,
2009, which the defendants moved to dismiss on January 9,
2020,

%1
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Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company is
among the defendants named ina putative antitrust class action
relating to the trading of interest rate swaps, filed m November
2015 and consolidated inthe 115, District Court for the Southern
District of Mew York The company s also among the
defendants named in two anlitrust actions relating io the irading
of interest rate swaps, commenced in Apail 20016 and June 20018,
respectively, in the U5, District Court for the Southern District
of Mew Yaork by three aperators of swap execution facilities and
certain of their affiliates. These actions have been consolidated
fior pretrial proceedings. The complaints generally assert claims
under federal antitrust law and state common law in connection
with an alleged conspiracy among the defendants 1o preclude
exchange trading of interest rate swaps. The complants m the
mdividual actions also assert claims under stale antitrest law.
The complants seck declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as
treble damages in an unspecified amount. Defendants moved 1o
dismiss the class and the first individual action and the district
court dismissed the state common law claims asserted by the
plaintiffs in the first individual action and otherwise limited the
state common law claim in the putative class action and the
antitrust claims in both actions to the period from 2003 to 2016,
On Movember 20, 2018, the court granted in part and denied in
part the defendants” motion 1o dismiss the second mdivideal
action, dismissing the state common law clams for unpust
ennchment and tortious interference, but denying dismissal of
the federal and state antitrust claims. On March 13, 2019, the
court dented the plamtiffs" motion m the putative class action to
amend ther complaint io add allegations related io 2008-2012
conduct, but granted the motion to add limted allegations [rom
201 3-2016, which the plaintiffs added in a fourth consolidated
amended complant [iled on March 22, 2019, The plaintiffs in
the putative class action moved for class certification on March
7, 3019,

350/420

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Commaodities-Related Litigation. The company 1s among
the defendants named in putative class actions relating to trading
in platinum and palladium, filed beginning on MNovemnber 25,
2014 and most recently amended on May 15, 2017, in the U5
District Court for the Southern Dhstrict of Mew York. The
amended complaint generally alleges that the defendants
vialated federal antitrust laws and the Commodity Exchange Act
in connection with an alleged conspiracy to mampulate a
benchmark for physical platinum and palladium prices and seek
declaratory and injunctive reliel, as well as treble damages in an
unspecified amount. On March 29, 2020, the court granted the
defendants” motions to dismiss and for reconsideration,
resulting i the dismissal of all chums. On Apral 27, 2020,
plaintiffs appealed to the Second Cirewt Court of Appeals.

The company 15 ameng the defendants in a number of putative
class and individual actions filed beginmng on August 1, 2013
and consolidated m the U3, Distnct Court for the Southemn
District of New York The complants genemally allege
violauens of federal antitrust laws and state laws in connection
with the storage of alumimum and alumium trading, The
complaints seek declaratory, injunctive and other equitable
relief, as well as unspeaified monetary damages, including treble
damages. In December 2016, the distnict court granted
defendants” motions to dismiss and on August 27, 2019, the
Second Cireunt vacated the distnict court’s dismissals and
remanded the case to distriet court for further proceedings. On
July 23, 2020, the district court demied the class plaintift's
motion for class cemification, and on December 16, 2020 the
Second Cirewt denited leave 1o appeal the demal. On February
17, 2021, the district court granted defendants” motion for
summary judgment with respect to the claims of maost of the
inddividual plaintiffs.

The company iz among the defendants in an action filed on
February 27, 2020 in the High Count of Justice, Busimess and
Property Courts of England and Wales. The particulars of claim
seeks unspecified compensatory and exemplary damages based
on alleged vielations of UK. and EU. competiion laws m
connection with the storage and trading of aluminium,
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Regulatory Investigations and Reviews and Related
Litigation. Group Inc. and certain of its affiliates, including the
company, are subject to a number of cther mvestigations and
reviews by, and in some cases have received subpoenas and
requests for documents and information from, various
governmental and  regulstory  bodies and  self-regulmory
organisations and htigation relating 1o vanous matters relatng
to G5 Group's businesses and operations, including:

« The public offering process,
« Investient management and fGnancial advisory services,
« Conflicts of interest;

« Transactions inwolving government-related financings and
other matters;

« The offering, auction, sales, rading and clearance of corporate
and government secunities, currencies, commoedities amd other
financial products and related sales and other communications
and sctivities, as well as GS Group's supervision and controls
relating to suwch actvities, meluding compliance with
applicable shont sale rules, algonthmie, high-frequency and
quantitative trading, futures trading, options trading, when-
issued trading, transaction reporting, technology svstems and
controls, securities lending practices, trading and clearance of
credit demvative instruments and interest rale  swaps,
commodities activities and metals storage, private placement
practices, allocations of and rading in securities, and tradng
activities and commumications n connection with the
establshment of benchmark rates, such as currency rales,

« Compliance with the UK. Bribery Act and the FCPA;

-

Hinng and compensation practices,

-

Svatem of risk management and controls, and

« Insider wrading, the potential misuse and dissemination of
material non-public information regarding corporate and
governmemial developments and the effectiveness of insder
trading controls and mformation barriers.

In addition, mvestigations, reviews and litization invalving the
company's affilates and such affilimes’ businesses and
operations, including vartous matters referred to above but also
other matters, may have an impact on the company's Businesses
and aperations,
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Note 28,
Maturity of Assets and Liabilities

The table below presents the expected maturity of the
company s assets and liabilities

Hes-
5 in millons ey Curent Tekal
A5 of Decermber 2020
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents § - § 43813 § 43313
Collateraised agresments 18096 138,706 o s
Cusk and ofher rec - a0,330 a0, 183
Trading assets - fEz e E2,919
rstments BER 199 iy
Ledni LIl 50 S&7
Othar avsels 1.742 6,847 2559
Tolal assels § 484 51,263,004 51,267,333
Linkibties
Coilateralssd Srancings § 388 £ 108276 § M
Cusbernie and other payatied - 100,519 00,519
Trading labites - 24 iz ana
Unseturad bomowings 55781 4,510 20,341
Othar labilities 1,000 1,880 4,088
Total llabillies $60.641 51,170,609 §1,231,280
Ag of Hovember 2018
Bssets
Cath and cath equivalenty 3 - % nWT ¥ W
Collaterafised agreements | Mg | 154 827 156,348
Cusly ard othiar bl = 71807 e
Traging astets - THS 365 785 ME
vastmants 1,200 252 1,452
Lesmnis 1.512 ] 1,550
Othar assels 1,586 1.031 ZEIT
Total ettt 5 6019 51035557 510415768
Liabinnes
Coilateralised Snanangs S§537 5 110589 % 115938
Custerne and ather payabies = 84,568 B4,558
Trading habd s = Ti4.84D 714,840
Ui urad Bomdwing &4 258 24,400 B8, G
Other labiites B4 260 3,008
Total BobiRine SI0460 5 UB6BE0 51,007,327
A of Decomber 1, 2018
Assets
Cath snd cath equivalenty ] = § M3 3 24394
Colateralised agresments 1.158 22 Te 205,554
(=T 1 and athar bl - B2B33 B2 EX3
Trading assety - SE2TE a2,
Frasiments 1,078 240 1,318
Ledne 5 175 o]
Othae assebs 1.283 G568 22
Total avsts § 4174 5 8339 5 WAT.STI
Linkiinies
Coilateralised Snancings 10305 £ 128806 S 140010
= and other payak - TR 150 TR 50
Trading kabd ez - Sl gy b, a7
Linscured bormowings 3.3 34,927 B 140
Other labities ™ 2458 3265
Total Nnkikting SE4.780 5 THOIET 5 BS3.E5E

93
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In the table above:

« Current assels and lhabilities include amounts that the
company expects 10 realise or settle m its normal operating
cycle and includes assetz and habilies held for trading
purposes and cash and cash equivalents

« Won-current assets are amounts that the company expects to
be recovered after more than twelve months and prirearily
includes  certain  collateralised  agreements,  certun
investments, certam loans, intangible assets, deferred tax
assets, pension surplus and certain intércompany koans.

Ll

Mon-current lbilities are amounts that the company expects
to be seitled after moge than twelve months and primarily
includes collateralised fmancings and wmsecured bormowings
with contractual maturiies greater than one year, with the
exception of contracts that have tngger events that are not in
the cortrel of the company, which are classified as current

Mote 29.

Related Party Disclosures

Pasties are considered to be related if one party has the ability 1o
directly or indirectly control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the party in making financial or
operational decizions. The company™s related parties include:

« The company’s parent entities;
s Other G5 Group affiliates,
« Key mamagement persennel of the company;

« Key mamgement personne] of the company’s parent entities;
and

= Other relmted parties, which incluedes the company s defined
benefit scheme and associates of GS Group.

By management personnel are defined as those persons having
authority  and  responsibility  for  planmung, directing  and
controlling the activities of the company. Key management
personnel of the company include the directors of the company,
members of the EMC who are emplovees of the company and
members of senior management who are designated as managers
under the PRA and FCA's Sentor Managers and Certification
Regime
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Key Management Compensation

The table helow presents the compensation pakd or payable by
the company for employee services to key management
personnel of the company and its parent entities

Pericd Ended
“December Hovember
5 w0 wlians Hd 28
Ealanes and othar shortdemrn benefiis =11 H162
Post-employmaent benefits 1 1
Share-baed compeniation 255 167
Total 8T 5330

Inthe table above:

+ Salaries and other short-term benefits includes fees paid to the
non-executive directors of the company.

+ Share-based compensation included a charge of 572 million
for the period ended December 2020 and a charge of 345
million for the period ended Movember 2019 representing
recharges from Group Inc. equivalent to changes in the fair
value of share-based pavment awards duning the pencd.

Directors’ Emoluments

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, directors”
emoluments represent the proportion of total emoluments paid
or payable in respect of qualifymg services only. This total anly
includes the value of cash and benefits in kind, and does not
include the value of equity awards in accordance with the
provisions of Schedule 5 of the Statutory Instruments 2008410,
Directors also receive emoluments for non-gualifving services
which are not required 1o be disclosed.

The table below presents the company's directors” emoluments

Paricad Ended
December  November
5w melons ] 2ma
“hgregats emdumes 7] v
Gompany pension confributions to money
purcha bl ichemat = =
Total 0 7

The table below presents emoluments for the highest paid
director.

Pariod Ended
Deecmnber  Movembsr
5 in milions Far 209
Agoregate emoluments 53 B
Company pans utions to maney
plrcin b Schemes = -

Accrued armual pension af end of the period - -
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Three directors were members of a defined contribution scheme
for both the period ended December 2020 and Movember 2019
Three directors including the highest paid director, have
received or are due to receive Group Inc. shares in respect of
long-term incentive schemes for both the period ended
December 20020 and Movember 2019, No director has exercised
stock options duning both the penod ended December 2020 and
MNovember 2019,

The appregate emoluments of the eipht non-executive directors
during the pericd ended December 2020 (period ended
Movember 2019 seven non-executive direciors) who were
members of the Board for all or part of the period ended
December 20200 was approxamately 52.1 million (for all or part
of the peniod ended Movember 2019 approcamately 518
million). Certain non-execwtive directors received or will
receive additional ongoing fees in respect of advisory services,
the agaregate amount of which 15 approxamately 2.5 million
during the period ended December 2020 (penod ended
MNovember 2019: approximately 32,3 millwon).

Transactions with Related Parties
The company's transaclions with related parties primanly
mclude the following.

Risk Management and Market-Making Activity

The company routinely enters into derivatives and buys and sells
securities and loans with related parties for risk management and
market-making purposes, which are recognised in trading assets
and trading liabilities.

The table below presents the gross onstanding buvs and sells of
regular-way securitics and loans fromfto other G35 Group
affiliates,

Az ol
“December Hovembaer
§ i rllang HI0 Jran -]
Crutebanding nigalar-wiy By of pecusites and lpans $8,363 Si0.008
Outstanding reguiar-wry sels of securities and loars 57,07 5 5,003

The company alse helds securities in, and makes corporate loans
to other G3 Group affilistes, which are classified in trading
assets. The company also exchanges cash and security collateral
mn connection with denvative transactions. Cash collateral
received = recognised in customer and other pavables. Cash
collateral pard 15 recognised in customer and other receivables,
The company received security collateral from other G5 Group
affibates of $ml as of December 2020 and $108 million as of
Movember 2019 and posted securnity collateral to related parties
of §1.30 billion as of December 2020 and $1.96 billion as of
MNovember 2019,
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In addition, the company also executes and intermediates listed
dervatives with other GS Group affiliates, resulting in the
exchange of margin, which i recognised in customer and other
receivables and customer and other pavables.

Funding Activity

The company routinely enters inte collateralised agreemenis and
collateralised financings with G5 Group affiliates to source
securities and fund inventory on a secured basis

In addition, a significant portion of the company s unsecured
borrowings s from G5 Group affiliates, including the
company™s AT1 notes 1ssued 1o GSGUK. See Notes 21 and 25
for further detaals. The company has also made loans to certain
(35 Group affiliates. See Mote 15 for further details.

Interest-bearing instruments are tvpically priced based on the
term, currency, s1ze, subordination and whether the mstrument
15 secured or unsecured.

Cash Management Services

The company receives cash management services from other G35
Group affiliates and places cash deposits with them in the
normal course of busimess which 15 recogrised 1 cash and cash
equaivalents.

Commitments and Guarantees
The table below presents commitments and comtingencies with
other GS Group affiliates.

As ol

December MNovimber Dacamber 1
5 i e 2000 2018 28
Colateraised agresments IS 5 27013 sEaEm2
Collatersfized Snancings T AR 14,610 w117
Total 550,633 41,722 £2a128

Druring the period ended Drecember 2020, the company received
a guarantes from Group Inc. related to transactions entered into
with certain of its counterparties. The value of the guarantee
receved was up fo 58 billion of exposure at default, reducing to
Snil as of December 2020

o5
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Transfer Pricing and Management

The company participates in the allocation of net revenues
amang G35 Group affiliates for their involvement in GS Group's
business activities. In addition, the company incursreceives
management charges to/from G5 Group affiliates relating o
operational and administrative support and  mamagement
SETVICES.

Taxation

The company receives group rehef from other GS Groap
affilistes. See Mote 10 for the tax-effected losses surrendered
from other GS Group affiliates for mil consideration The
company also received tax-efTected losses from other GS Groap
alfiliates of 5201 million for the period ended December 2020
and 5113 million for the period ended Movember 2019 for which
it paid consideration in full.

Share-Based Payments

The company has entered into a chargeback agreement with
Group Ine. under which 1 15 commutted to pay 1o Group Inc. (a)
the grant-date fair value of those swards and (b) subsequent
movements in the fair value of those awards between the grant
date and delivery 1o emplovees, See Mote 8 and Note 9 for
further information

Transactions with Key Management Personnel

Certain key management personne]l and their close family
members have brokerage and’or discretionary accounts at the
company. They are provided services in the ordinary course of
business on commereial terms, and in each case in compliance
with the relevant lvws and regulations

Close family members of certain key management personne] are
emploved by the company, The amount of compensation paid to
the family members was determined in accordance with the
company's standard compensation practices applicable 1o
similarly-situated employees.
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Related Party Assets and Liabilities

The table below presents assets and habilities with related

Related Party Income and Expense
The table below presents income and expenses related to

355/420

parties transactions with related parties other than Key Maragement
Personnel.
Cer  Owe
Pargrt G5 Group  nelated Dithee Crbhar

2 in millons onbies afllabes  paries Toal Parent G5 Group  related

A of Degember 2020 % i et enttad aflaled  paitiey Tetal
Assels Berigd Ended December 2000

Cank and cath squivalints 5 - % @3 5 = 5 @3 Met revenies

Galaterafised agresments. - 94,087 B a4053 Intareit ncome 5 7T 5 @8 53 5 &8
Ciith and sl 18] 3,435 o596 1,081 14,142 Inbarest miparae {1,002 {1,378 - (L 38H)
Trading astets 1,385 B 05 2923 637 853 Tranales prazing risoen U 5 o6d = 1]
Framstments = 15 - 153 Crher income _= (L) - T
Ly = Fat] = Fat] Tota nel revenues 81,000 0§ 317 £3  § (BRY)
[ — 8,008 1151 - rasmr et OpITROND SIpenEes

Tolal assets $10.858  STA0AM 53,00 ST TG Transacton based apenses 5 - § 4m = § 43R
Liakilties Management chaigei bam G5

Colaterslsed Srancings g - §7s133 § TR 5 75488 Geoup aliiates - a1 - & @
Custornes and other payables - AN L L Manageenat chgss bo G5

Trading labites 4,88 EEAN ANT ER00E Group atfiiates 18} LERE = 1H4)
Uniisurind bamdwings M, 12,305 - 450 Ofhisr supanias - 423 - A3
Othar labiitie s 1,558 1,184 - 082 Tailal net operaling expentes $ W 514 $- 51438
Total abilfies T8 §708,050 53,088 S774800 Poro Ened Mavember 7018

43 of Horvermber 2019 Net revenues

P inberest income i M £ 1,665 6 S 10807
Civih #vd ah dcuibvilents 5 - % 5 § - % 5 Interest superse (1, 281) 3,380 - (4,637}
Coilateralised agresments - BRAH 48 B 4TS Tr.“r_- pracing revenitt “w 687 = 738
U e —— 301 BEM T 136 Diher incoma - - - -
Trding 13 a40ET 100 450 %0 Tatal nel rovenues S(176)  S(L.034) 58 S2.204)
Ivastments - T - ) Met operating expenses

Loams _ 2 _ 2 THAMLBERN B dapdeiisd £ = 5 230 £~ 5 23
ther avsets 14 1,350 - 1,54 Managemnsr changit bom G5

Total assats T a8 EaBETE 32011 SGEE0 MG'“"P""":" s - e -
Liabilities & o

Collabaraised Enancings $ - SETHT 5 - 5 6T.07 Group afilates o Ll - A
Custornes and other payables 1 a5 " 8706 Crtuet fxpan i 1 205 - 208
Trading Babdises 3789 44407 2085 450,639 Total ral cparaiing wenses 3% Sw012 5 50
Uniecured bomowings AT kN v S

Othar Babiibes we FL - 1,382 In the table above:

T otal Nabiltie S35 888  SETATEY 52476 Sh1ha8d . i . i I
—_— « Other income relates Lo constderation recewved from GSBE
r— connection with the transfer of certain of the company’s
Cash and cash squivalents - % - % -3 - activities and emplovees as a pant of G5 Group's Brexit
Collateralived agresments - 128, T = 128,748 1 H

PlanTing.

Cush and ofhar bl 1,240 10,254 40 11,552

Trading atsets 1488 207054 502 260,531 « Transaction based expenses and other expenses primanly
rewstments - " -0 include expenses for activity where the company i principal
Cither avaet & i _ ot to transactions for which it engages other G5 Group affiliates
Total axsats S 2734 30070 5 1000 S44Z.004 1o satisfy some or all of its performance obligations, resulting
Liakitsties i3 Eross up in net revenees and expenses as regquired by [FRS
Colatersised Srancings 9 = S8g800 % - 5 9@E00 15

Cutternes and other payakiss ] 10,504 M 05 o

Trasing labliges m 282, B S 2o 652

Undeidad bamewingd 8T g0ar = B0

Othe lnbiiti s 458 745 - 1,243

Total Bakilties 327,555 BADEID 5 973 469148
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Note 30,
Financial Instruments

Financial Assets and Liabilities by Category
The tables below present the camying value of financial asscts
and liabilities by category

Finangiil Adali

Mandatonly Amortised
5§ in milfons il Tt il S Tiakal
As of December 2030
Cash and cash squivalents 1 - % 43833 % 4330
Coilateralissd agresments 2619 48,063 140,832
[* and ather - 90,380 90,380
Trading asssts LK ] - 82,515
Frasstmanty EEE = e
Leans L - 4T
Dthad B8 8013 1,205 T
Total §1,067,008 F1E3,571 £1,266 577
A5 of Mgnwmiber J018
Cath pnd cash squivalents 5 - 5 237 5 a7
Collateraited agresments 91,588 &4 T82 158, 346
Cush ard other ] - 71,807 4,807
Trading aaets TEG. M55 - 7H5.265
Ivrastments 1,482 - 1,452
Lt 1,580 - 1,850
Gther avsets - 1,458 1,458
Tetal 5 B79.5E SIE0.425 51,040,418
Az of Decombe 1, 218
Cash and cash equivalents 3 - % 24306 3 M8
Cellataraized agrosmens 146, TE7 £8.587 203,334
= and other recerabl - E2E33 62,853
Trading sssets 552,781 - 582,781
veastmants 1,518 - 1,48
Lienis ax - B30
Othar assels - 1,088 1,0l
Total 5 T4lGE5 5144664 5 BO6.370

Financisl Lisbiiias
Held for  Dwegnated Amortiad

5 in milons - trading st fair value cost Total
As of Decamber 2030

Collateralised Snancings H = S AF03 F 16004 kT
Gushomir and other pryabie = = 0EE 100,518
Trasing Rabdies XA - - HRA
Unsecured bomowings - AR 50,905 E0.351
Tther linkdities = - 4419 4470
Total SHNLAM S 520 5971947 §1, 700,800
Aol Mersmibes 2018

Collateralized Snancings 3 = 5 74580 % 41356 § 15008
Coustomer and other payaiies - - B cis a4 ui
Tradhing Rabdies 74,640 - - Ti4640
Unsecured bomowings - 48, %0 30430 B GED
Dthae labdities - - 2.7e1 278
Total STI4640 12810 5160518 5 006074
s of Decombe 1, 2018

Collatprplised Bnanging ¥ - FIRT0 5 M0 5 W00
Customer and other payaibies = - 76,180 TH 180
Trading Rebdiges E4E 87 - - HLmar
Unsecured bomowings - &0, 850 320 0,180
Cthae liabiibe s = = 2,7 2728
Total S5 007 S150.100 $140008 5 53119
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In the table above, certain of the company’s collaterabised
financings that have been designated at fair value were
previously disclosed as measured at amortised cost. As of
Movember 2019, 3777 million of collaeralised Grancings have
been moved from amaortized cost to designated at fair value to
more appropriately present these balances. These financal
mnstrumenits have been presented in level 2 n the fair value
hierarchy. See Motz 31 for further information.

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The tables below present financial assets and labilities that are
subject to enforceable netting agreements and offsetting.
Amounts are only offset m the balance sheet, when the company
currently has a legally enforceable right to set-oll the recognised
amounts and an intention either to settle on a net basis, or o
realise the asset and sentle the Labiliny simultanecusly, In the
tables below:

= Ciross amounts exclude the effects of both counterparty netting
and collateral, and therefore are nol representative of the
COMpany” s CCOMMMIC EXPOSUTe.

» Amounits not offset in the balance sheet include counterparty
netting (Le., the netting of financial assets and habilities for a
given counterparty when a legal nght of set-off exists under an
enforceable neiing agreement), and cash and security
collateral receved and posted under enforceable credit support
agreemnents, that do not meet the criteria for offsetting under
IFRS

= Where the company has received or posted collateral under
credit support agreements, but has not vet determined whether
such apreements are enforceable, the related collateral has mot
been imeluded inthe amounts not offset in the balance sheet.

» Giross amounts for the company included derivative assets of
54.69 billlon and derivative habilities of $5.47 billon as of
December 2020, derivative assets of 3465 hillion and
derivative liabalities of 34,96 billion as of November 2019, and
derivative assets of 56,15 billion and derivative liabilities of
%5, 10 balleon as of December 1, 2018 which are not subject to
an enforceable netting agreement or are subject 10 4 netting
agreement that the company has not yet determined 10 be
enforceable.

Substantially all resale agreements and secunties borrowed
within collmteralised apreements and repurchase agreements
and securities loaned within collateralised financings are
subject to enforceable netting agreements as of December
2020, Movember 2019 and December 1, 2018

= Counterparty netting for derivative assets and unsecured
borrowings has increased by 5967 million as of Navember
2019 and 5556 million a5 of December 1, 2018 1o reflect the

existence of an enforceable netting agreement
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As of December 2000
Armounts neot ofTset in the balance sheet

Ampants  Met ansount
offsef Inthe  presented in

Gross balance e Balakcd  Cosnbarparty Csh Becuriny Hat
5 in milions anGuns slveet heet netting  collseral  collateral amaunt
Financia Aseels
Colateraiised agresments & 2 s07 £ (025§ ve0E: 5 (33,75T) % S(isdeRm  § 1,097
Cushomie and ofhor recevables 10 A {24,085 TRHT 5,502 oA {17331 7025
Trading cash natruments. 27,376 {16,193 11,131 {1,333} 304 [E.903) [Ty
Do BES 05 04,273 {18,921) 833,302 (B8 E25) (4a,848) {13,109 20,822
Trading assets 31,549 {32,118 299433 [EOF, 1RO} Ho15% 2,010 21,088
Lepny Fol il (215 1
Other avseds 2,003 {2,093 - - - -
Fenancial assets subject to enforc eakie nethng agreemants 1250857 (140,129) 11187 = BB B54) (o8,644)  (144,331) 10,099
Ferancial axsets not subject to enforceable nefing agresments 146,845 146,540 140,845
Total Tnancial assets §1.406,700 S(140,129)  §1,208.577 SIEVE,004)  5u8,044)  S(144.301)  51/0,048
Einancia LinbilRies
Collataralived Snancngs § 193,074 501,07  § 102004 5 (33,051} £ (1,020 5 (sx198 § 1,643
(= and other payak 117,084 {24,491) 97,543 5,502} HO,155) (13,519 4417
Trading cash nstruments 1487 {1,380 (1] - - - 5]
Daprivatives F05,053 l‘li._ﬂ-l& 80420 EJ [A 1] HEI'.L'HJ [B260) 17994
Tracing hati ey 07 400 {16,50%) 880,525 [EDB,171) 7,895) [B.268) 18,090
Unsszurad bomowings 12,209 7883 4546 1,030} Ty - 3,344
Francial lnbilitier wepmct 1o enk ble nefling ag 1LBFer (0,139 1,079,868 [EAB,654) [LECEER] (E6,006) AT AB4
Feniacinl kablibas nol wulgist ba bl Bl ARG &gF i 151,222 - 151,722 - - - 151,223
Total Tnancial labaties $1.371,019 S{140,129)  §1,200.5890 SLEAE, B4 ) ${08.644) 5 [(E6OO6) 51048, 638
A of Movemibe 2018

Arncunks nod offesd in e halenss shest

Armouniy Ml ameunt
ofeiinthe presented in

Grows balsnce  Hes balence  Countsparty Cash Ssourity Mat
5 i mlions s P shaet g s collateral & ount
Eloaociyl Axssts
Colateralised agresments § GG § (60588 3 1563448 $ (652400 3 S (8ATIR 0§ 23T
Cushornisr and offar recevables 83,400 ﬁ!.!lm £5.458 4, 188 38,275 |:'It|.'IB_H &ﬂ
Trasding cach imstrumaents. 10,645 (12.834) LR (1.106) = [ 450} 55
Darivativns GRTAM (10,979 681,425 811,548 0,336 (11283 18158
Trading assets T1.048 [FENTET] 67 46 (62 T54) (0, 3360 [§EREE] JIETE]
L a7 &7 i &5
Othar assels
Farmtinl AR18th SUB{REE (0 BNIGrEeAtin neEng ag 1,011,432 (08,083 803,148 [EBZ185) (70558 (114827} 76,769
Formigial AS0804 Mot Subject 1o on for cesbie AERMA] BEFENARRL 137,269 - 137,268 - - - 137,268
Total faancial asteti $1.148.704 S(108.283  §1.040.418 HER2 1055 755  S(114627 §164.038
Fil
olateraited Snandngs 3 1Ta4M 3 T4 § 108576 3 (5410 3 (804) 5 H0TER 5 1484
Customer and other pryablas. 100,585 23,5080 T8.06T [CRSH (0, 338) (ILTED 18,880
Trachng cash mtrumaents 1423 {1,248 05 - - - )
DuerivBEs 0 581,774 (11,284) 670,480 [610.920% (38, 185) (8,188} 13,156
Trading kst e [-ERET (12.503) G065 (E10.920) (38, 168) (8,188} 13401
UInps uf i B cing 7.150 4,288 e (1.666) {133 - 1,083
Fermricial lnbiities submct bo enfeceable netting agresmants ST 402 (108, 205 885,114 ez 186y {78,588 061, ToaEy 35,844
Franicial labiities not sublject to enforceable netting agresments 147 855 147,855 147 855
Total fnancial labities $1. 116,257 S0108, 285 51,006,574 SGH2 15 7688 5 (61,706} 5183613
9%
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Az of Decembas 1, 2018
Arnounts not offest n e balanss shasl

Asnounls Mat amaunt
ofsetinthe presented in

Grows balance  the balance  Counterparty Cash Security et
5§ in milfons amounts shupl shaet nesing collateral collateral amount
Anancis Aysets
Colateraised agresments FET0.2E 5 (66BN 5208554 $8En s LibE2E % 3aT2
Cush and other bl 50,453 (15,727 B2 765 (54509 32,435 [T 415} 7Aa82
Trading cash matruments 18,525 (13,407 E118 {1.585) [FET (340} (=
Darivatias £23,283 (10,7200 E12883 [448.920% 34,88 £10,765% 18,082
Trading assets 542,008 24,12M 518,681 450415y [ Rl (4217 18120
Leens % = 75 - = - %
Other avsets - - - - - - -
Feraricial ssseds subject to snlon sabis nating agrosmants. [T 104, A8 R (a8 200 [T (138457} 25 838
Ferancial axsets not subject to en forceable nefing agresments 111,814 119,514 111,544
Tedal Enaccial asiets S3.105 S0108.735 3865370 S SET.I6E)  S(MAST) 5141343
Einancia LinbilRies
Collataralized Bandngs 207003 5 (73,0905 33401 S RRITE S (ieDe 5 4B3THE 5 1747
= and other payak B 429 {16,72M 70,702 54500 34, B (104082 18,842
Trading cash nstruments T {7 0E 21 = = = Fi]
Deivatives 00,108 (10,720 Ab3. a0 (448540 30,816 [5.06T) 13,368
Trazing Eabilises SO0 A3E (11429 R R (448 348 30.E1E) (5,867} 13,379
Urnspsured borowings 9,385 {5,587} 37e8 (2,028} {15) - 1,783
Frncinl lnblitins wipect to enkeceabls netling agy B12745 (106,735 T0E.0MD (539200 (67,3680 [CFRRT) 38,71
Fesisgil babalitiag nol sulgist b Bl Aaling & G 147.102 - 147,903 - - - 147,103
Total inancial labtes b pag 50106, 738 553,113 S538, 200 6T 88 % (R T18) $183, 824

Druring the period ended December 2020, pursuant o an election
unsder the rules of a clearing organisation, transactions with such
clearing organisation are considered settled each day., The
impact of reflecting transactions with this clearing organisation
as seftled would have been a reduction in gross denvative assets
of 54.47 hillion and derivative liabalities of $4.51 ballion as of
Movember 2019 and derivative assets of 3325 hllion and
dervative liabilities of $3. 20 billion as of December 1, 2018 and
a corresponding decrease in countérparly nelling and cash
collateral netting. with no impact to the net amount inthe tables
above.
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Collateral Received and Pledged

The company receives cash and secunties (e g, government and
agency ohligations, corporate debt securities, equily securities)
as collateral, pnmarily in connection with resale agreements,
gecurities  bormrowed, denvative transactions and customer
margin loans. The company oblams cash and securities as
collateral on an uplront or contingent basis for denvative
instruments and collateralised sgreements to reduce its credit
exposure to individual counterparties,

In many cases, the company is permitted to deliver or repledge
financial instruments received as collateral when entering into
repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements,
primarily in connmection with secured chent financing activity.
The company 15 also permitted to deliver or repledge these
financial instruments  in connaction  with other  secured
financings, collaterahsed dervative transactions and meeting
company or customer settlement requirements,

The company also pledges certam trading assels in comnection
with repurchase agreements, securitics lending agreements and
other secured financings 1o counterparties who may or may not
have the rizht to deliver or repledige them.

The table below presemts financial instruments received as
collateral that were available o be delivered or repledged. and
that were delivered or repledged.

Anal
December Movember Decembar 1
5 in millons Flradl Pl A
Collateral available to be delvaced
or repladged $5T0.8T2 SGB465  SaA8a4 288
Coilatersl that was. delbered or
repledged 545,04  S1BTaz BRI

The table below presents mformation aboul assels pledped.

Ax ol
December Movember Decembaer 1
% in milions 2000 28 2Ma

Piedged to counterparties that had the ight fo deliver or repledge

Trackng aswets F2T. 9% §35,307 £20,611
Irremstmants 5 & 5 m L
Pledged to counterparties that did nat have the right to deliver or repledge
Trading asses $20.506 533,221 529,363
Irrenstmants 5 HE 5 BE1 3 M4

The company has received cash collateral of 374,90 billion as of
December X120, 55871 billion as of November 2019 and
553410 ballion as of December 1. 2018, and posted cash
collateral of $60.75 hillion as of December 2020, 545 83 hillion
a3 of November 2019 and 344.97 billion as of December 1,
2018, Amounts received and posted are mainly i respect of
trading assets and trading habilities.
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Mote 31.
Fair Value Measurement

The fair value of a fmancial instrument is the amount that would
be recerved to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at  the
measurenent date. Financial assets are marked to bid prices and
financial liabilities are marked to offer prices. Fair value
measwrenents de not include transaction costs. The company
measwres certain fnancial assets and habilities 2z a portfolio
(1L, based on its net exposure to market and/or credit risks).

IFRS has a three-level hierarchy for dischosure of fuir value
measurements. This hierarchy priontises mputs to the valuation
techniques used to measure fair value, giving the highest prionity
to level |oinputs and the bowest prionity 1o bevel 3 inputs, A
financial instrument’s level i this hiesarchy 15 based on the
lowest level of input that 15 sipmificant to its fair valuee
mefsurement,

The far value hierarchy 1s as follows:

Level 1. Inputs are unsdjusted quoted prices in sctive markets
to whach the company had sccess at the measurement date for
tdentical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.

Level 2. Inputs to valuation techniques are observable, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3. One or more inputs to valeation technigues are
sigmficant and unobservable,

The fair values for substantially all of the company”s financial
assets and liabilities that are fair valued on a recurring basis are
based on observable prices and mputs and are classified in levels
1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Certamn level 2 and level 3
financial assets and liabilities may require valuation adjustments
that & market participant would require 1o arrive at fair value for
factors such as counterparty and the company”s and G5 Group's
credit quality, funding nisk, transfer restrictions, liguidity and
badiofler spreads. Valuation adjustments are generally based on
markel evidence.
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Valuation Techniques and Significant Inputs

Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans.
Valeation techniques and signafican inputs for each level of the
fair value hierarchy include:

Level 1

Level | instruments are valued wsmg quoted prices for identical
unrestricted instruments in &ctive markets, The company defines
active markets for equity instruments based on the average daily
tradimg volume both in absolute terms and relative 1o the market
capitalisation for the instrument The company defines active
markets for debt instruments based on both the average daily
trading volume and the number of davs with trading activaty.

Level 2

Level 2 instruments can be verified 1o quoded prices, recent
tradmg activity for wentical of sumilar nstrumerits, broker of
dealer quotations or altemative pricing sources with reasonable
levels of price transparency, Consideration 18 given to the mature
of the quotations (e g, indicative or firm) and the relationship of
recent market activity to the prices provided from alternative
PTICEE SOUTCes.

Vabuation adjustments are typrcally made to level 2 instruments
(1) if the instrument is subject to transfer restrictions and/os i)
for other premiums and lquidity discounts that a market
participant would require to armve at far value. Valuation
adjustments are generally based on market evidence.

Level 3

Level 3 instruments have one or more sigmificant valuation
inputs that are not observable, Absent evidence to the contrary,
level 3 instruments are mitially valued at transaction price,
which 15 considered to be the best initial estimate of fair value,
Subsequently, the company uses other methodologies to
determine fair value, which vary based on the tpe of
instrument. Valuation inputs and assumptions are changed when
comroborated by substantive observable evidence, including
values realised on sales of financial assets,

101

-

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Valuation technigues of level 3 instruments vary by mstrument,

but are generally based on discounted cash fow techniques. The
valuation techniques and the nature of zsignificant inputs used to
determine the fair values of each type of level 3 trading cash

instrument, investments and loans are described below:

« Mortgages and Other Asset-Backed Loans and
Securities. Significant inputs are generally determined
basad on relative value analvses and include:

» Market yvields implied by transactions of similar or related
aEsdls]

» Transaction prices in both the underlying collateral and
mstrumenis with the same or similar underlying collateral;

« Current performance of the bormower or loan collateral and
recovery assumplions if a default oceurs, and

« Timing of expected future cash flows (duration) which, in
cerlain cases, may  incorporate the impact of other
unebservable inpuls (e .. prepavment speeds).

Corporate Debt Instruments, Government and
Agency Obligations and Loans. Significant inputs are
generally determined based on relative value analyses, which
incorporate comparisons both o prices of credit default swaps
that reference the same or saimilar underlying instrument or
entity and 1o other debt instrumenits for the same or similar
issuer for which observable prices or broker quotations are
available. Significant inputs include:

« Miarket vields implied by transactions of similar or related
assels,

« Cumrent levels and changes in market indices, such as the
iTrees and CIEX (indices that track the performance of
corparate eredit),

» Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recovery assumpiions if a defaull occurs;

» Maturity and coupon profile of the instrument, and

« Market and transaction multiples for corporate debt
mstruments with convertibility or participation options.

Equity Securities. Equity secuniies consists of private
equity securities. Recent third-party completed or pending
transactions (e.g., merger proposals, tender offers, deby
restructurings) are considered to be the best evidence for any
change in fair value. When these arne not available, the
following valmtion methodologes are used, as appropriste;

« Industry multiples and public comparables;

« Transactions in similar instruments; and

+ Discounted cash flow technigues
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Derivatives. Denvatves may be traded on an exchange
(exchange-traded) or they may be privately negotiated contracts,
which are usually referred to as OTC denvatives, Certain of the
company”s ‘OTC denvatives are cleared and settled through
central clearing counterpariies (0T C-cleared), while others are
bilateral contracts between two counterparties (hlateral OTC).

The company’s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued using
derivative pricing models (e.g, discounted cash flow models,
correlation medels, and models that incorporate option pricing
methodologies, such as Monte Carlo simulations). Price
trarsparency of derivatives can generally be characterised by
product tvpe, as desenibed below,

» Interest Rate. In general, the key mputs used 1o value
interest rate derivatives are transparent, even for most long-
dated contracts. Interest rate swaps and options denominated
in the currencies of leading indusinalised mations are
characterised by high trading volumes and tight bid'offer
spreads. Interest rate denvatives that reference indices, suchas
an milation index, or the shape of the yield curve (e.g., 10-year
awap rate va, J-vear swap rate) are more complex, but the key
inputs are penerally observable,

Credit. Price transparency for credit default swaps, including
both single names and baskets of credits, vanes by market amd
underlying reference entity or obligation. Credit default swaps
that reference indices, large corporates and major sovereigns
generally exhibin the most price transparency. For credit
default swaps with other underliers, price transparency varies
based on credit rating, the cost of borrowing the underlving
reference obligations, and the availability of the underlving
reference obligations for delivery upon the default of the
issuer. Credit default swaps that reference loans, asset-backed
securities and emerging market debt instruments tend to have
less price transparency than those that reference corporate
bonds. In addition, more complex eredit dervatives, such as
those sensitive to the comelation between two or more
underlyimg  reference  obligations or o secured funding
spreads, gencrally have less price transparency.
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« Currency. Prices for currency derivatives based on the

exchange rates of leading industrialised nations, mcluding
those with lomger temors, are generally transparent. The
prmary difference between the price transparency of
developed and emerging market currency denvatives 1s that
emerging markets tend to be only observable for contracts
with shorter lenors.

Equity. Price transparency for equity derivalives vanes by
markel and underlier. Cptions on indices and the common
stock of corporates included i major equity indices exhibit the
most price transparency, Equity derivatives generally have
observable market prices, except for contracts with long tenors
ar reference prices that differ sigmificantly from current market
prices. More complex equity denvatives, such az those
sensitive to the correlation between two or more individual
stocks, generally have less price transparency.

Liguidity is essemtial 1o observability of all product types, I

transaction volumes decline, previously transparent prices and
other inputs may become unchservable. Conversely, even
highly structured products may at times have trading volumes

large encugh to provide observability of prices and other inpats.
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Level 1

Level 1 derwatives include shori-term contracts for future
delivery of secunties when the wderlving security is a bevel 1
instrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively
traded and are valued at their quoted market price

Lavel 2

Level 2 derivatives include OTC derivatives for which all
significant valuation inputs are corroborated by market evidence
and exchanpe-traded denvatives that are not actively traded
and'or that are valued using models that calibrate to market-
clearing levels of OTC derivatives. In evaluating the
significance of a valustion input, the company corsiders, among
other factors, a portfolio’s net risk exposure o that input.

The selection of a particular model w value a derivative depends
on the contractual terms of and specilic risks inherent in the
instrument, & well as the availability of pricing information in
the market, For denvatives that trade in Ii:pid markets, model
selection does not invelve significant management judgement
because outputs of models can be calibrated to market-clearing
levels,

Vabuation models require a variety of inputs, such as contractual
terms, market prices, vield curves, discount rates (including
those derved from interest rates on collateral received and
posted as  specified in credit support  agreements for
collateralised derivatives), credit curves, measures of volatility
and correlations of such mnpuls. Sigmfcant inpats © the
valuations of level 2 denvatives can be venfied to market
trarsactions, broker or dealer quotations or other alternative
pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency,
Consideration 15 given 1o the nature of the quotations {e.g.
indicative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity
to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources.

Level 3

Level 3 derivatives are valued using models which utilise
observable level | and'or level 2 inputs, as well as unobservable
level 3 inputs, Unobservable inputs include certain correlations,
illiquid credit and secured funding spreads, recovery rates and
certain equity and interest rate volatilities.
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Subsequent to the imtial valuation of a kevel 3 derivative, the
company updates the level 1 and level 2 inputs to reflect
observable market changes and any resulting gains and losses
are classified in level 3. Level 3 mputs are changed when
corroborated by evidence such as similar market transactions,
third-party pricing services and'or broker ar dealer quotations or
other empirical market data. In circumstances where the
company cannot venfy the model value by reference to market
transactions, it is possible that a different valuation model could
produce a matermlly different estimate of far value, See below
for further mformation aboutl sigraficant unobservable inputs
used in the valuation of level 3 derivatives.

Where there 15 a difference between the iatial tramsaction price
and the fair value calculated by internal models, a gain or loss 15
recogrised afler initial recoprution only 1o the extent that it
arises from a change n a factor {including time) that market
participants would consider in setting a price.

Valuation Adjustments

Valuation adjustments ane integral to determining the fair vabee
of derivative portfolios and are used to adjust the mid-market
valuations produced by derivative pricing models 1o the exit
price valuation. These adjustments mecorporate  bid/offer
spreads, the cost of hgudity, CVA and funding valuation
adjustients, which account for the credit and funding risk
inherent in the uncollateralised portion of denvative pontfolios.
The company alse makes funding valuation adjustments to
collateralised dervatives where the termis of the agreement do
ned permit the company to deliver or repledge collateral
recewved  Market-based nputs are pgenerally used when
calibrating valuation adjustments to market-clearing levels,

In addition, for denvatives that include significant unobservable
inputs, the company makes model or exit price adjustments to
account for the valuation uncertainty present in the transaction
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Other Financial Assets and Liabilities. Valuation
techniques and significant inputs of other financial assets and
liabilities include

+ Resale and Repurchase Agreements and Securities
Borrowed and Leaned. The sigmbicant ipuls 1o the
valuation of resale and repurchase agreements and securities
borrowed and loaned are I'und.mg spreads, the amount and
timing of expected future cash fows and interest rates

« Other Assets. Other assets measured at fair value consist of
an unsecured intercompany loan. The signaficant inputs 1o the
valution of this unsecured imercompany loan measured at fair
value are the amount and timing of expected future cash fows,
irterest rates and the credit spreads of GS Group.

+ Other Secured Financings. The significant inputs to the
valuation of secured debt secunities 1ssued, other borrowings
and imercompany loans measured at fuir value are the amount
and timing of expected futwre cash flows, interest rates,
funding spreads, the fair value of the collateral delivered by
the company (which is determined using the amount amd
tming of expected future cash flows, market prices, market
yields and recovery assumptions) and the frequency of
additsonal collateral calls

Unsecured Borrowings. The significant inpus to the
valuation of unsecured borrowings measured at fuir value are
the amount and timing of expected future cash flows, interest
rates, the credit spreads of G3 Group, as well az commodity
prices in the case of prepaid commodity contracts, The inputs
used 1o value the embedded derivative component of hybrid
financial mstruments are consistent with the inputs used to
value the company”s cther denvative instruments
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Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities by Level
The table below presents, by level within the fair value
hierarchy, firancial assets and labilities measured at fair value
on & recurming basis.

£ i mrallons Lenvsd 1 Livsd 2 Lewel 3 Tetal
Financial assets
Collgtinlied byamreet ;] -5 02,619 % - § 42619
Tradeg cath natrsets GI0re 0,038 503 BABIT
Dherivative nsmumsnts Fidl BRI,29F 5619  &ER,307
Tradng nsseés BI04 62 SER019
Inve st ents 1% s 132 REg
Loans = 458 LLL] 567
CHher assels = 5,003 - 6,013
ot $63, 348 $1.013,253F § 6,365 $1.083,006
Financial liabilties
Collaturmlised Inanting $ - 5 G6E63 § 205 9703
Tradig cath nnEsets 48,732 5,204 FI) 51,883
Db ativi in rits 55 H76, 645 1529 EROAG
Tradng kabiibes AT00F  BR1BAS D05 sdNd
Linsecured bommowings - W 0psr a4l
Tatal ST 007 5 SRRARE $13450 $1.058043
Net derivalives 5 B § 5747 % 2,000 § [
Financial assets
Collsternbived agreaments ] = § @168% % = % 81588
Trading cath inwtruments 78,927 20.497 521 103840
Db i instrurmints 13 BTEATE 4537 D1 428
Tradng seaste T6.840 103,387 5,058 785385
Invastmanty 1% 1326 145 1482
Loans - 1429 122 1,580
Cther aiusts - = = -
Total ST6BG0 5 TET.F08 § B33% § ATEBD
——
Financial labilities
Lollateralived Enancings $ - % Tihads 314108 TaSA0
Trading cash induments 38,554 5,337 ik 44,150
Dt alid nrurninte 15 G67T680 2785  &T0480
Teadng kabditey 38,604 673,047 304 Ti4840
Unameued Do mwings - 41,088 BAB1 48,739
Total 538,608 5 THT G4 12306 5 B3H465
Nt derrratives 3 (2§ 8188 § 1,742 § 10836
&5 of Decembaer 1, 2018
Financial assets
Collstemlised sgreements 5 = § 146,767 § = § 146,767
Trading cash instuments 83173 6,30 BT T
Drerivatiee insduments 17 BOBME  42M 512,863
Tradng assets 53,180 5o4.041 4060  GOLI01
Inveatmants 2 1,047 228 138
Loans - =) 125 a0
Crthier i = = = =
Tatal 553,222 5 6B3.150 5 5314 § 741,688
Finandial llabitities
Collsteralised fnarcings $ = $107.2%4 5 835 § 108,170
Trading cath instruments 42,051 4837 12 4T 600
Dwrivaties instruments 0 sBEESY  2ATA 4BB AT
Tradng kabities 41872 SD0BID 2385 SAS0ET
L d B 5] = 41,577 8553 0.830
Tekal SE2.872 § 840241 512874 § TOL,087
— — —
L 5 4 5 1532’.“ 5 1858 § 14478

In the table above, level 2 collateralised financings as of
MNovember 2019 has been mereased by 3777 million. See Mote
30 for further detals.
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Significant Unobservable Inputs Used in Level 3 Fair
Value Measurements

Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans.
The table below presents level 3 trading cash instrument assets,
investmenis and loans and ranges and weighted averages of
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significant unobservable inputs used to valee level 3 trading
cash instruments, invesiments and loans.

Lavad 3 Tradng Caih b Hseele, b and Loant and

Rarge of Sigrificars Uncimerable bputs (Weighted Average) os of

£ in il [} by AN HWewwmbar 2008 D et 1, 2018
Traging Cash Instnimsnts.

Maorigages and other assel-Dacked leans and seourities

Leerl 3 aneatn 132 §125 5171
Yistd 087 0o 14,0% (8. 1%) 1.2% bo 1806% (7.2%) 4% o 1 E% (5.6%)
Repcoweny rate LR 1o 60,5% (35.8%) BT o TR (61.59%) 1600r% 1o TE.O% (50.07%)
Durabion [years) 1.0 o 1.5 {2.7) 0.8 bo 1006 (4.5} 0.5 bo 134 {5.1)
Corporate debd instraments and government and agency obiigations

Lisnl 3 asvata L] 5378 5538
Yisdd DB, to 23.6%, (S00%) 10% bo 13.2% (4.8%) 075 b 1025 (3T
Recovery rale QLD to GO (S0.4%) DUCrS% bo B8LU5% (37 . 1%) 0.0 1o G9UE (53.4%)
Dwration [years] 2.0 to 755 (8.3 28 b 185 (BT) 350 132 (30
Inyestmemnis

Corporabe delbl Insnaments

Ll 3 annetn k3] 10z 206
Yiadd BE o 6.5 (LE) T ba TG (7.00%) 9% 1o 292 (11.0%)
Ricontry rale & ES A 1o 65 4% (B5.4%) 42 5% 1o TR (T1.4%)
Duwration [years) 200 29 (28) .4 bo 6.4 (5.4} 1803822
Exquity secirities

Lesnsl 3 manatn 536 a2 533
Madtiples A2t 14,0 (L.Bx) 4.8 te 10,0 (5 4x) 44 b0 14.0x (5 4x)
Loans

Corporate

Ll 3 annets 111 a2z 125
Yiatd I o B8 [SE0) 1.0% bo 8.7% (5.5%) B e B 06 5%
Raconery rale 15,00 1o 15,00 (15.09%) 15.0F% to 15.0% (15.0%) 5.1% to 15.0% (12.5%)
Inthe table above: « Increases in yield or duration used in the valuation of level 3

« Level 3 equity secunties in trading cash instruments of 322
million as of December 2020, $1%8 million as of November
2019 and 512 million as of December 1, 2018 and Level 3
mortgages and  other asset-backed loan  securities in
investiments of 51 million as of November 2019 were not
included &s they were not material.

+ Ranges represent the significamt wunobservable inputs that
wiere used in the valuation of each type of cash instrument.

« Weighted averages are caloulaed by weighting each input by
the relative far value of the instrument.

« The ranges and weighted averages of these inputs are not
representative of the appropnate inputs to wse when
calculating the fair value of any one trading instrument. For
example, the highest vield for morgages and other asset-
backed loans and securities is appropriate for valuing a
specific mortgage but may not be approprigte for valuing any
other mortgages. Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do not
represent uncertainty in, or pessible ranges of, far value
measurements of level 3 trading cash instruments.

105

Ll

instruments would have resulted in 8 lower fair value
measurement, while increases in recovery rate of mulliples
would have resulted in a higher fair value measurement as of
December 2020, November 2019 and December 1, 20018, Due
to the distinctive natwre of each level 3 nstrument, the
interrelationship of inputs 15 not necessarily uniform within
each product type.

Morigages and other asset-backed loans and secunties,
corporate debt instruments and government and agency
obligations and loars ase valwed wing discounted cash flows,
and equity securities are valued using market comparables and
discounted cash flows.

The fair value of any one instrument may be determined using
multiple  valuation  techmiques. For  example, market
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used together
to determine fair value. Therefore, the level 3 balance
encompasses both of these technigques.

Recovery rate was not significant to the valuation of level 3
corporate debt instruments recopmised in investments as of
December 20200
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Derivatives. The table below presents net level 3 dervatives
and ranges, averages and medians of significant unchservable
inputs used to value level 3 derivatives,
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Larwed 3 Durivabives and Bange of Signitcan Unotsereabis
Inpets (AvwerngeMadan) ss ol

4 in millons Decambar Hohd Hovembaer 2018 Cecomber 1, 2018
Interest rabes, net 5414 5202 578
Corelation (3% Eo 4% (10020%) 2% 1o 18% [ BNIE%) T1% bo T2 { T2WIT %)
‘olatiity {bps) 40 to 63 (552 B0 ko TO (B2} 4 to 143 [B47)
Credit, mt $1305 $2 a4 52000
Credit spresds (bps) 2 1o BB (1O0ET) 2o 1,321 (1 22EE) 2 1o B89 (141/104)
Ulpiront credt points 10 to 38 2020y T b B2 (B0MR1) 1 b 4 2
Recovery rates 25% b0 SO (ATMON) 10% o 4 1% (2TH26%) 265% to S5 (ITI0N)
Currendies, met $ar 550 5
Corredation 20% b0 Z3% (F1WT1%) 20% fo 2% (Z2WTTRY 5% bo J2% 1091 5%)
Equities, riet S{B70) $BE2) 108
Corralabion (3% to B, (AE43) [N ko B0 (429RAEN%) (B o BE% (47%/53%)
Velatility A% to 0% [1EW18%) 2% o 70O (1298} 4% bo B1% {1 T 3%)
Inthe table above: = Interest rates, currencies and equities dervatives are valued

« Level 3 commodities derivatives of 34 million as of
December 2020, 58 million as of November 2019 and 32
million as of December 1, 2018 were not ncluded as they
were not material.

+« Met denvative assets are shown as positive amounts and net
derivative liabilities are shown as negative amounts.

« Ranges represent the sigmficant urobservable inputs that wers
used in the valustion of each type of denvative.

« Averages represent the anthmetic average of the inpats and are
not weighted by the relative far value or notional of the
respective financial instruments. An average preater than the
medimn indicates that the majenty of inputs are below the
ﬂ.l'l:fﬂgf

» The ranges, averages and medians of these inputs are not
representative of the appropriate inputs to use when
caleulating the fair value of any one derivative. For example,
the highest correlation for interest rate derivatives is
appropriate for valuing a specific interest rate derivative but
may not be appropriate for valuing any other inferest rate
derivative, Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do not represent
uncertainty in, or pessible ranges of, fair value measurements
of level 3 derivanives.

using oplion pnang models, and credit denvatives are valued
using option pricing, comelation and discounted cash flow
models

The fair value of any one instrument may be determined using
multiple valuation techniques. For example, oplion pricing
meddels and discounted cash flows models are typically wed
together to determine fanr value. Therefore, the level 3 balance
encompasses both of thess techniques

« Correlation within currencies and equities includes cross-
product type cormelation
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
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Range of Significant Unobservable Inputs

The following provides information about the ranges of
significant unchzervable inputs used to value level 3 denvative
instruments;

« Correlation. Ranges for comelation cover a varwly of
underliers both within one product type (e.g., equity index and
cquity single stock names) and across product types {e.g.,
correlation af an interest rate and a currency’), as well as agross
TERIONS.

Volatility., Ranges for volatility cover numerows underliers
across a vanely of markets, maturities and stnke prices. For
example, volatility of equity indices 15 generally lower than
volatility of single stocks.

Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spreads, upfront credil poinis and
recovery rales cover a variety of underliers (mdex and single
NAMES), Fegions, sectors, maturities and credit qualities (high-
yield and investment-grade) and also incledes secured funding
spreads. The broad range of this population gives rise 1o the
width of the ranges of sigruficant uncbservable inputs,

Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in
Significant Unobservable Inpuls

The following 15 a description of the directional sensitivity of
the company’s level 3 fair value measurements to changes m
significant unebservable mpats, in isolation, as of each period-
end:

« Correlation. In general, for contracts where the holder
benefits from the convergence of the underlying asset or index
prices (e.g., interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange
rates, inflation rates and equity prices), an inerease in
correlation results in a higher fair value measurement.

« Volatility. In general, for purchased oplions. an increase in
volatility results in a higher fair value measurement.

» Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. In general, the fair value of purchased credit protection
increases as credit spreads or upfront credit pomnts increase of
recovery rates decrease, and the fair value of secured funding
capacily increases as secured funding spreads increase. Credit
spreads, upfront credit points and recovery rates are strongly
related to distinctive risk factors of the underlving reference
obligations, which include reference entiy-specific [actors
such as leverage, volstlity and industry, market-based risk
factors, such as borrowing costs or liquidity of the underlying
reference obligation, and macroeconomic conditions.

Due to the distinctive nature of each of the company's level 3
denvatives, the mterrelationship of inputs 15 nol necessarily
uniform within each product type.
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Qther Financial Assets and Liabilities., Sigmfican
unchservable inputs of other financial assets and lhabilities

include:

« Resale and Repurchase Agreements and Securities

Borrowed and Loaned. As of December 2020, Movember
2019 and December 1, 2018, there were no level 3 resale
agreements, securities bosrowed or securities loaned, As of
December 2020, November 2019 and December 1, 2018, level
3 repurchase agreements were nol material.

Other Secured Financings. As of December 2020,
Movember 2019 and December 1, 2018, the significant
unobservable inputs wsed w0 value level 3 other secured
financings are incorporated into the derivatives and trading
cash instruments, investments and loans disclosures related 1o
unobservable mputs. See “Trading Cash  Instruments,
Investments and Loans™ and “Derivatives” above,

Unsecured Borrowings. As of December 2020, Movemnber
2019 and December 1, 2018, the glsniﬁc-an! unobservahle
inputs wed to value level 3 unsecwed borrowings are
incorporated mto the derivatives and trading cash instruments,
iwestments and loans disclosures related to unobservable
inputs, See “Trading Cash Instrumemts, Investments and
Loans™ and “Derivatives™ above.

Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

During the pericd ended December 2020 and period ended

Movember 2019, there were no significant transfers between

level 1 and level 2 financial assets and Liabilities measured at Gar

value on a recurming basis.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Fair Value Financial Assets and Liabilities Valued
Using Techniques That Incorporate Uncbservable
Inputs

The fair value of financial assets and labilities may be
determined in whole or part using & valuation technique based
on assumplions that are not supported by prices from observable
current marke! transactions in the same instrument or based on
avallable observable market data and changing  these
assumptions will change the resultant estimate of fair value, The
potential impact of wsing reasonable possible alternative
assumplions  [or  the  valuations, meloding  sgmificant
unobservable inputs, has been quantified as approcamately 3412
million as of December 2020, 3346 million as of November
2019 and %356 million as of December 1, 2018, for favourable
changes, and 5186 million as of December 2020, 3237 million
as of Movember 20019 and 3240 million as of December 1, 2018
for unfavourable changes. In determimng reasonably possible
alternative unfavourable assumptions, a detaled business and
position level review has been performed to identify and
quantify mstances where potential uncertamty exasts. Thas has
taken into account the positions” fair value as compared to the
range of available market information. As of December 2020,
Movember 2019 and December 1, 2018, the impact fof
favourable changes was prmanly dnven by changes m the
assumptions around secured funding spreads and valuation
adjustments in equity and fixed income derivatives, and the
impact for unfavourable changes was primarily driven by
changes in the assumptions around secured funding spreads,
valatility and correlation inpats

The table below presents the amounts not recognised in the
income statement relating to the difference between the fair
value of financial asseis and liabilities at imtial recogmtion
using the valuation techniques and the transaction price (day 1
P&L).

Paricd Erded

December  Meovernber

5 in rwliong I a9

Beginning balance 3153 146

Hirer rievibstion s & B0
A griiLad in th il "

__ Ghwing the pericd 125 ]

Ending balance § o 3153
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Level 3 Rollforward

The table below presents a summary of the changes in fair value
for all level 3 financial assets and liabilities measwred at fair
value on a recurring basis,

Period Ended
December Movember
5 i malisna 2020 1S
Total financial aieels
Boginning balance § 502§ B34
Gain sifiosses) 2,099 =" e
Purchases LR -]
Lol {170 {245
Sty {1428 {1,085
Teansfars st lewel 3 a5 445
Tranafers cut of level 3 47 (747
Ending balance F 6363 35 530
Tota financia abilines
Eeginning balance 512,008 512,874)
Gain 5/ josses) 1750 1, 74%)
Purchases w T
Sales (el 1418
suanees 1236 (6,380
Sattemsnts 12,677 8710
Translers ivio el 3 3 (83
Tranafors out of level 3 1,504 1,218
Ending bal e S13A450) 512,308
In the table above:

« [[a financial asset or Anancial lability was transferred 1o level
3 during a reporting period, its entire gain or loss for the penod
15 ¢lassified in level 3. For level 3 financial assets, increases
are shown as positive amounts, while decreases are shown as
negative amounts. For level 3 financial habilities, mcreases are
shown as negative amounts, while decreases are shown as
POsitive amounts,

« Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are
recognised at the beginning of the reporting penod in which
they ocour, Accordimgly, the tables do not mchude gains or
losses for level 3 financial assets and habiliies that were
transferred out of level 3 prior to the end of the period.

« Level 3 fmancial assets and labilities are frequently
economically hedged with level 1 and level 2 financial assets
and liabalitees, Accordingly, level 3 gaing or losses that are
reported for a particular class of Mnancil asset of hnancal
liability can be partially offset by gains or losses attnbutable
1o level 1 or level 2 in the same class of fnancial assel or
financial hability or gaims or losses attnbutable (o level 1, level
2 or level 3 in a different class of financial asset or financial
labelity, Az a result, gams or lesses included in the level 3
rollferwand do ot necessarily represent the overall impact on
the company's results of operations, hguidity or capital
FeROLUNCEs.

-

Gains{losses) are predominately attribwable to changes n
unrealised gains or losses relating to level 3 financial assets
and financial Labilities.
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« The met gains on level 3 financial assets for the peniod ended
December 20200 and pericd ended MNovember 2019 are
reported in “Met revenues™ in the mcome statement,

« The net losses on level 3 financial Labalities of $1.76 ballion

EDINETOOOO
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The table below disaggregates, by the balance sheet line items,
the information for financial liabilities incleded in the summary
table above.

Patiod Ended
for the pertod ended December 2020 included losses of $1.68 December Movembar
hillion reported in “Met revenues™ in the income satement and & in mitlions 2020 v
losses of 381 million reported in “Diebt valuation adjustment™ Trading 'm DR
in the statement of comprehensive income. The net losses on M" ;"" ) (1,308 1’,,‘;
level 3 financial habilimies of 51.75 billion for the penod ended Purchaset 7 7
Movember 2019 mncluded losses of $1.63 hillion reported in Sales ) (418
“Met revenues” i the income statement and losses of $120 Setthements 16083 5

. . ! . . .o . Transfors inlo hevel 3 =] {34
millian rr:p;med IIL Debi 'l-.a]ual:mr: adjustment”™ in the oo ot o o 4 P, e
stalement o ST Prenensiye Imsomdé. -l ing talance F [0.55E) 3,014

The table below disazgregates, by the balance sheet line items, - h:::n“ s PP

the information for fnancial assets included in the summary Cantiioasss) 42 P

tahle abave. Isuances (253

Settementy sl 1
Period Ended Transhers cut of hevel 3 - 19
Ducambar Novembar Ending balance @ 31,000

§ in miliong 30 2019 Unisecured bomowings
Tragng assels Beginning balance $EARY)  HBEEY
Bagnning balance §5058 54,850 Gen siosses) 454 1555
Gainsllosiea} 2,008 842 Issuances (L F&r] 48, 00
PurchBiss 632 1] Satthempnts A0S 8064

Zales e (243} Transfors isto el 3 [545) (£58)

Sttamanty {1,400) (1,002 Tranafers out of level 3 1.6E0 880

Trarfers inba hevel 3 FT 414 Ending balance S.8%E MBI

Traciberi ol af livad 3 5% el

Ending balance $6,122 55058 Transfers Between Level 2 and Level 3 of the Fair

Investments Walue Hierarchy

::""""'“""T"" § oA Transfers Between level 2 and level 3 generally coeur due 1o

Parchasad B 3 changes in the ransparency of level 3 inputs, A lack of market

Saine ; i evidence leads to reduced transparency, whereas an mcrease in

Sattermants. ) (33K the availability of market evidence leads (o an increase in

Trarrbfers inbo bvel 3 % 3 Lransparency.

Trarabers ol of el 3 94) (@i i

Ending balance e 5 e Financial Assets.

Beginning balance: 13§ 126 udEndedDg:mbw_ZﬂEﬂ . . .

Climlfriisi) 1 P Trading Assets. Transfers into level 3 trading assets primarily

Purchases 3 21 reflected transfers of certain equity derivatives from level 2,
Settlemants. % L] principally due 1o reduced transparency of certain volatility and
L":""“" oflevel 3 ':;:’ correlation inputs, and transfers of certain cash instruments from
1'g baance Fm_% 3 level 2, principally due to decreased transparency of certain
yield products,
Transters out of level 3 wading assets primarily reflected
transfers of certain equity denivatives to level 2, pnincipally due
to increased transparency of certain voelatlity and correlation
inputs, transfers of certain credit derivatives to level 2,
principally due to increased iransparency of certain credit spread
mnpats, and transfers of certain cash instruments inte level 2,
principally due to increased transparency of certain yield inputs.
10
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Investments. Transfers o level 3 investments pnimarily
reflected transfers of certain cash instruments from level 2,
principally due to reduced transparemcy of certain viekd
products.

Transfers out of level 3 inv estments primarily reflected transfers
of certamn cash instruments anle level 2, principally due 1o
increased transparency of certain yield products

Loans. Transfers mto and out of level 3 investments were not
matenal,

Period Ended November 2019

Trading Assets. Transfers into level 3 trading assets primanly
reflected transfers of certain credit denvatives from level 2,
principally due o reduced transparency of certam credil spread
inputs, and transfers of centain equity dervatives from level 2
principally due to decreased transparency of certain volatility
and correlation inputs,

Transfers out of level 3 trading assets primanly reflected
transfers of certain credit dervatives to level 2, pnncipally dus
o mcreased transparency of cemain credit spread mputs,
transfers of centamn equity dervatives to level 2, pnncipally duse
o increased transparency of certain volatility and comelation
inpuls, and transfers of ceftamn cash instruments mto level 2,
principally due to increased transparency of certain vield inputs.

Investments. Transfers o level 3 investments primarly
reflected transfers of certain cash instruments from level 2,
principally due to reduced tramsparemcy of certain vield
products.

Transfers out of level 3 investments primarily reflected transfers
of cenain cash instruments ante level 2, principally due to
increased transparency of certain vield products.

Loans. Transfers intoe and out of kevel 3 investments were ot
material.

Financial Liabilities.

Period Ended December 2020

Transfers mto level 3 trading hahilities pnmanly reflected
transfers of certain equity derivatives from level 2, prncipally
due to reduced transparency of certain velatility and comrelation
inputs, Transfers into level 3 unsecured borrowings pimaniy
reflected transfers of certain hybrid financial instruments from
level 2, principally due 1o reduced transparency of certain
volatility and correlation inputs.

Transfers ot of level 3 trading habilines d primarily reflected
transfers of certan credit denvatives to level 2, pnnapally dus
to increased transparency of certain volatility and correlation
inputs, Transfers out of level 3 unsecured borrowings primarily
reflected transfers of certain hybnd financial instruments to
level 2, principally due to increased transparency of certamn
valatility and correlation inpats

110
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Period Ended November 2019

Transfers into level 3 trading habilites primanly reflected
transfers of certain equity dervatives from level 2, principally
due to reduced transparency of certain volatility and correlation
INpuis. Transfers mto level 3 unsecured bosrowings primarily
reflected transfers of certain hybrd financial instruments [rom
level 2, principally due to reduced transparency of cetain
volatility and correlation inputs.

Transfers out of level 3 rading habilities pnmarily reflected
transfers of certain equity derivatives to level 2, principally due
to increased transparency of certain volatlity and correlation
inpiits. Transfers out of level 3 unsecured borrowings primarily
reflected transfers of certn hybrd fmancial instruments o
level 2, prncipally due to mereased transparency of certain
velatlity and correlation inputs.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities Not
Measured at Fair Value

The company had financial assets of 518357 billon as of
December 2020, 5160043 billion as of November 2019 and
144,68 billion as of December 1, 2018 that are not measured
fair value, Given that substantilly all of thess balances are
short-term in nature, their carrving values in the balance sheet
are a reasonable approsamation of fair value,

The table below presents the company s financial labilities that
are not measured at fair value by expected maturity.

Asof
D b ] = D b 1
5 o mallang i 19 e -)
Curnent F1ZER00  3130TE0 $132 043
M- cusrani 43,47 28,755 A5, 583
Tota FIT1. 04T F1ERS15 148,005
In the table above:

» Current financial habalities are short-term in nature and
therefore their camrying values in the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value,

« Mon-current financial liabilities primarily related to long-term
intercompany loans, The inferest rates of these loans are
variable in rawre and approximate prevailing market interest
rifes for instruments with sinilar terms and charscteristics. As
such, their carrying values in the balance sheet are a reasonable
approximation of fair value.

« Current financial habiliies as of November 2019 has been
decreased by 3777 million. See Note 30 for further details.
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Hote 32,

Financial Risk Management and Capital
Management

Certain disclosures in relation to Dnancial risk management and
capital management have been presented alongside other risk
management and regulatory information in Part [ of this annual

report and are identified as audited, where relevant.

Maturity of Financial Liabilities

The tables below present an analysis of the cash flows of
financial liahilities by contractual maturity except for trading
liabilities, which are classified as trading'on demand, reflecting
the company’s role as a markel maker,

In the table below

« Cash lows by contracim] maturity include interest that will
accrue on financial habilities

EDINETOOOO
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« Financial liabalities, with the exception of those that are held
for trading or designated at Fair value through profit or loss,
are disclosed at their undiscounted cash flows. The fair valuwes
of francial habalities held for tradmg and Onancial habilines
designated at fair vale through profit or loss have been
disclosed as this 15 consistent with the values used in the
liguidity risk management of these instruments.

Liguadity risk on denivatives 13 matigated through master
nelling agreements and cash collmeral arrangements.

Unsecured borrowings include certain debt securities 1ssued
that have trigger events that are not in the conirol of the
company and could be repmd earlier than ther contractual
maturities.

Teaming! Less 3 Graater
& 1Ram 13 menthy 1-5 thar

5w il demand 1 mani morhs - 1 year P £ years Total
Colaberaized Snancngs § 20588 § 50,064 5 TR § 20,837 51806 5 1873 5 113,139
[ and other payak 100,510 - - - - - 100,518
Trading lisbiises SAEANL - - - - - S48
Linuesured bomowings A.205 13 6,645 B,BOZ LLE 15,429 B3,06T
Othar labiites 2008 1497 14 13 b 1" fye
Tetal — on balance shest 1,058,732 3,640 14,438 0,673 AETE 17,318 1,230,619
Collaberaiznd agrasments commitmanty 45 T TF) g2 2,837 - = 1,082
Dthae 007 = &4 a2ar H00 4 4,047
Total — off balance sheet 2458 [CTIE e 3484 [ ] B6,624
Total 1,062,100 APk Tr] CIERET) CEERED 90, %08 MraEE 51,300,543
A3 of Nenvemiee 2015

Colateradised fnancings PR $ 36404 $26,381 $16,652 $ 3600 178 5 116881
Customer and other payalbies B4 BE8 - - - - - B4 BEE
Trading abiies 714,640 - - - - - T14,040
Unsecured bomowings 1684 e 2180 14 866 84,160 185,008 1,604
Cithae lnbilitios N 402 w2z T4 #31 19 7762
Total = on balance sheot B35, 833 A7 EM4 28,403 31,622 8588 17,848 1,010,227
Collateraised agresments commemants - 58,253 7,285 2,250 488 = CEFLH
Cithae 2780 - 12 38 = - 2006
Total = off balance shsst 2750 =8 253 2408 2,283 455 = 55,188
Tetal 5 Eoa6ad 5 #8077 30,608 $33.815 50,055 517848 51076425
Az of Decomber 1, 2018

Coilatoralssd Snancings 5 30044 § 80017 23,7178 §22974 5 B2E 5 2.261 5 140120
Cutternps and gthar payaklat 76,150 - = = - = 78,150
Trading abiises 48 887 - - - - - 545,007
Unteeurnd berowings 43m 85 2,359 24,247 41,525 18,184 1,884
Cither liabiities 877 ] Eey 72 76 15 2,737
Tetal - on balance shest E60.080 51,757 6,740 47703 50,308 0,452 B56 658
[ 7 = - 0 352 ] - = = B0530
Cithar 2798 - - - 1t - 2400
Total — off balance shust FEL] EEEH ] - 0 - B2,830
Total [EE] $11200 26,008 47,903 50,407 20402 % 9iasm
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Note 33,
Transferred Assets

Assets Continued to be Recognised in Full. During the
period ended December 2020, the company transferred certain
financial assets where the trarsfers failed to meet the
derecognition criteria, as contained in [FRS 9, and as a result of
which the company continues to recognise these assets in full in
the balance sheet.

The company transfers assets owned to counterparties in the
ordinary course of business to collateralise repurchase
agreements and other securities lerding transactions. [n thess
transactions the transfered assets continue to be recogmised by
the company for accounting purposes because the transactions
reguire the financeal instruments o be repurchased at maturity
of the agreement and the company remans exposed 1o the price,
credit and interest rate risk of these instruments. When the
company receives cash procesds from the transfer of the assel, a
financial hability 15 recopmsed in respect of the consideration
received and recorded in collateralised financings. When the
company receives non cash collateral (in the form of securities)
fo lability is initially recognised. IT collateral received is
subsequently sold, the obhigation to return the collateral is
recognised as a liability in trading liabilities,

In addition to repurchase agreements and securities lending
agreements, the company obtains funding through the use of
other arrangements that fail 1o meet the derecogmition eriteria.
For example, sales of securities with related denvatives, such as
total retrn swaps, through which the company retains
substartially all of the risk and reward of the ransferred assets,
A Tinancial lability 15 recognised in such cases for the proceeds
recened.

Other financial assets transferred that continue to be recogrsed
on balance sheet for accounting purposes relate to pledges of
securities as collmeral, primarily for derivative ransactions, The
obligations under such derivatives are recorded m trading
liabilities.

11z

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

The table below presents Onancial assets which have been
transferred but which remain on balance sheet for accounting

purposes

Asal
Dacembar  Noosmbe Decembaer 1
& in millions 20 Mg Jran] ]
Mendy marksl nsumets 5 - 5 2 5 -
Gowesnmant and agency bl gations T8, M0 27 08 pard-nl: ]
Mormgage and oifvir aseel-backed loand
and sacuritien Wy 47 -
Corporabe debt imbumants. 560 8328 548
Equity sacurtiey Iz A5 37443 0,387
Trading cash nstruments 56,80 BIEI8 40874
Gowernmant and agency b gations - 17 13
Corporsbe debt instrumants e 52 TET
Equity securities 1 0 73
Investents, [113 [ 5]
Totnl $57,000  shO408  SA07ET

I the table above, the carrving value of the associated financial
liabilities generally approximate the carrving value of the assels
transferred.

Derecognised Assets With Ongoing Exposure. The
company has continuing involvement i the form of dervative
transactions and guarantees with certain  unconsolidated
struciured entities to which the company had transferred
financial assets. These derivatives may be credit-linked to the
asset transferred and result in the company refaining specific
risks in the iransferred asset or require the company to make
payments 10 the structured entity to compensate losses on the
as=et if certain contingent events ocour.

In addition, the company transfers financial assets 1o
securitisation vehicles. The company generally receives cash in
exchange for the transferred assets but may have contimuing
invelvement with the transferred asseis, incheding cwnership of
beneficial interests in the securitised financial assets, primarily
in the form of debt instruments. The company may also purchase
senior o subordinated secuniies issued by securitisation
vehicles in connection with secondary market-making activities.

Where the company’s continuing involvement in transferred
assets 15 through denivatives or guarantees, the maximum
exposure to loss is the notional amownts of the derivative or
guaraniee. For retained or purchased interests in securitised
assels, the company’s risk of loss is limited 1o the fair value of
these interests. In all cases these retained interests are camed s
fair value.

The company accounts for assets pending transfer al far value
and therefore does not tvpically recogmise significant gains or
losses upon the ransfer of assets, The company does not have
continuing involvement that could require the company to
repurchase derecogmised financial assets,
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The tables below present mformation about exposure through
confinuing inwolvement and the gains or losses related to those
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Incomed  Cusmlabve
{mipenLe) ineomal

i % iy i = o
Irarsaciions Ll n ®a pan (enpenie)
As of December 2070
Massirrams Assets
H Teadng cath instrumants s - $133
Carrying aEpadund Derivatives » a1
5 i milicns _ valow 1o loas Tradng sseens - &l-l-
A3 of Qecmiber 030
Assits Tetal §E2 34
Trading cash instrumants 5 - 5 - ';‘rﬂlm . .
Divatvny [ 519 hn-lmu ) i
Tradng assets Té [TT] ding labiites 6T T
Total 576 818 Customar and othes payables - {1
m Total 5
Liakabties _ S 151
L As of Hovember 2019
Deivatves Him £399
Trading iabites E] = Assets
Total FIE] ] Trading cash instnaments 31 2133
Derivatives & 180
M Eged Tradng asssts -] in
Trading cash insbrumants £ 1 5 48 Totel 58 [T
o = i s mﬂ\i:t"l s-_ld $ L]
Trading ety ] 734 — = =
T ]
l.i:;l'uu il Gk Cusl and othes pay N )
Diwivatvis e 5345 Tezsd 534 5 (D
Trading Eabies (20 245
Total 20 5245
&3 of Decombie 1, 2018
Assels
Trading cash instruments 5 - 5 -
Drivatves L=l =)
Trading asssis [5] B
Total S &3 a0z
Linbikties
Diwieats o £ i1 LAEE]
Trading hsbdise (1} 111
Tow 5 (1) $M
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2021
2021 12 31
2021 12 1.14 2020 12 1,244.4
2,406.8
1,166.8
2021 12 1.10 2020 12 1,267.6
2,374.3
914.1
193.6
2021 12 389.0 2020 12 23.2
2021 12 29.4 Tierl AT1
749
2021 12 2020 12 57.6 63.7
2021 12 31 (6)
29
2021 12
5,751.7 5,444.9
IFRS

IFRS
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2021 12 31 2021
2021 12
$ - $ 52,422 $ 52,422
1,114 256,252 257,366
- 86,135 86,135
- 742,238 742,238
334 65 399
143 255 398
1,876 2,586 4,462
$ 3,467 $1,139,953 $1,143,420
$ 61,398 $ 143,141 $ 204,539
- 119,883 119,883
- 694,982 694,982
54,196 25,617 79,813
1,345 3,963 5,308
$ 116,939 $ 987,586 $1,104,525
2020 12
$ - $ 43,833 $ 43,833
1,896 138,786 140,682
- 90,380 90,380
- 982,919 982,919
689 199 888
517 50 567
1,742 6,847 8,589
$ 4,844 $1,263,014 $1,267,858
$ 3,851 $ 109,276 $ 113,127
- 100,519 100,519
- 932,414 932,414
55,781 24,570 80,351
1,009 3,860 4,869
$ 60,641 $1,170,639 $1,231,280
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2021 12 31
29.4 2020 12
GS
EU
109.2 2020 12
73.7 2020 12 14

375/420



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

ooooooo
¢h)
@

(a 2021 12

2021 12 31
(6) 25
(b 2022 31 10 11
2021 12 31 (6)
25
S.A. 2015
S.A.
BoP
S.A. BES S.A.
BES 835
BoP 2014 12 2015 2015 12
2018
BoP
2018 BES BES
54 50
2018 10

104
BES 222
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2015 11
2016
2018 11 20
2019 13
2019
2014 11 25
2017 15
2013
2016 12
2020 23
2020 12 16
2021 17

2021 14
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2018
2013 2016
2008 2012
2013 2016
2019 22
2020 29
2020 27
2019 27
2022 18



11 15

GS
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IFRS
2021 12 31

@
IFRS

(b)
IFRS

IFRS

IFRS

©
IFRS
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IFRS

®
IFRS

@
IFRS

380/420



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

W)
IFRS

381/420



10

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

13

13

13

23

13

13

13
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2021 13
2021 23
2021
2021
2021 22
2021
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11

12

13

2021

2021

2021

13

13

13
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S&P500 S&P500
2021 10 29
1) 2018 10 29 3,858,000,000
S&P500
2022 25
2) 2019 23 3,200,000,000
S&P500
2022 29
3) 2019 29 2,900,000,000
S&P500
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2023 28
4) 2020 27 12,775,000,000
S&P500
2023 28
5) 2020 27 4,100,000,000
S&P500
2023 11 24
6) 2020 11 24 4,600,000,000
S&P500
2024
7 2021 10,000,000,000
S&P500
2024 11 27
8) 2021 11 26 2,835,000,000
S&P500
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9)

2025

S&P500

30

2022

28

2,427,000,000
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225
225
S&P500
S&P500
2017 2018 1 2019 2 2020 3 2021
22939.18 24270.62 23520.01 2664471 30670.10
18335.63 20617.86 19561.96 16552.83 26436.39
2021 2021 2021 2021 10 2021 11 2021 12
28783.28 28089.54 30670.1 29255.55 29808.12 29069.16
27283.59 27013.25 28451.02 27528.87 27821.76 27753.37
1 12 31 11 30 2018
2018 11 11
2 12 31 11 30 2019
2018 12 2019 11 12
3 11 30 12 31 2020
2019 12 2020 12 13
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S&P500 S&P500
2017 2018 1 2019 2 2020 3 2021
2690.159912 2930.75 3153.629883 3638.350098 4704.540039
2257.830078 2581 2447.889893 2237.399902 3647.489990
2021 2021 2021 2021 10 2021 11 2021 12
4422.300781 | 4528.789063 | 4536.949219 | 4605.379883 | 4704.540039 | 4793.060059
4258.487793 | 4387.160156 | 4307.540039 | 4300.459961 4567 | 4513.040039
S&P500 S&P500
S&P500
S&P500
1 12 31 11 30 2018
2018 11 11
2 12 31 11 30 2019
2018 12 2019 11 12
3 11 30 12 31 2020
2019 12 2020 12 13
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( )
2020 12 31 13
2006
2006
2020 12 31
1606/2002
2006
1606/2002
1606/2002
ISA
I1SA
FRC

FRC
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31
COVID-19
Tierl 0.75% 258 2019 240
194 2019 180
FCA
PRA
2006
FCA PRA
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31
2020 12 31
830 590
31
2020 12 31
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Goldman Sachs International (unlimited
company)

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International’s financial statements:

give atrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at December 31, 2020 and of its profit and cash flows for
the thirteen month period then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of
the Companies Act 2006; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the balance sheet as at
December 31, 2020; the income statement and statement of comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the
statement of changes in equity for the period then ended; and the notes to the financia statements, which include a description
of the significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Board Audit Committee.

Separate opinion in relation to international financial reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No
1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union

As explained in Note 2 ‘Basis of Preparation’ to the financial statements, the company, in addition to applying international
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, has also applied international financial
reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union.

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international financial reporting
standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“1SAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financia statements
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the Financial Reporting Council (“FRC”)’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to
listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard have not
been provided.

Other than those disclosed in Note 7 ‘Net Operating Expenses to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit
services to the company in the period under audit.

Our audit approach

Overview

Audit scope. We perform afull scope audit of the financial statements of the company as awhole as a single component. The
scope of the audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures were determined by our risk assessment, the financial
significance of financia statement line items and qualitative factors (including history of misstatement through fraud or error).

In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting
estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Key audit matters.
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Vauation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value. Refer to Note 31 ‘Fair Vaue Measurement’ in the financial
statements.

Impact of COVID-19 on the financial statements.

Materiality.
Overall materiaity: $258 million (2019: $240 million) based on 0.75% of total Tier 1 capital resources.
Performance materiality: $194 million (2019: $180 million)

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements.

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and regulations related to the rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) and the Prudential Regulatory Authority
(“PRA"), and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We
also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements such as the
Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial
statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to the posting of
inappropriate journa entries and management bias through the manipulation of the valuation of financial instruments held at
fair value.

Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

Discussions with management and those charged with governance in relation to known or suspected instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations and fraud;

Evaluating and testing of the operating effectiveness of management’s controls designed to prevent and detect fraud in
financial reporting;

Assessing matters reported on the company’s whistleblowing helpline and the results of management’s investigation of
such matters;

Reviewing key correspondence with regulatory authorities (the FCA and the PRA);
Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted by senior management;

Challenging assumptions and judgments made by management in their significant accounting estimates, in particular in
relation to the valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value; and

Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/or extent of our testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are lesslikely to become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,
or through collusion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or
not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we
make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as awhole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Thisis not acomplete list of all
risksidentified by our audit.

The key audit matters below are consistent with the prior period.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair
value

Refer to Note 31 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ in the financial
statements.

In accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 4 *
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the financial
statements, the majority of financial assets and liabilities are
recorded in the balance sheet at fair value and changes in fair
value are recorded in net revenues. Total financial assets and
liabilities at fair value were $1,083 billion and $1,059 hillion,
respectively, as of December 31, 2020. The audit of the
valuation of financial assets and liabilities required significant
audit resources and is an area of increased estimation
uncertainty and therefore represents a key audit matter.

The fair values for substantially all of the company’s financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value detailed in Note 31
Fair Value Measurement’ are based on observable prices and
inputs and are classified in levels 1 and 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. The valuations of derivative financial instruments are
calculated by financial models using a variety of inputs. Most of
the company's derivatives are traded in active markets and
external observable inputs are available to support
management's val uations.

The company aso enters into complex and less liquid cash and
derivative financial instruments where a limited or no active
market exists. In these instances, there is less observable
evidence to support the valuations and hence there is greater
estimation uncertainty. When one or more valuation inputs are
unobservable and significant, the financia instrument is
classified aslevel 3inthevaluation hierarchy. Level 3 financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value were $6.37 billion
and $13.45 hillion, respectively, as of December 31, 2020.

We performed a risk assessment of the financial instruments
held by the company using our industry experience and
knowledge of the company's business. We used this analysis to
identify areas of greater judgement and focus our testing. We
concluded that the higher assessed risks of materia
misstatement relate to the valuation of certain credit and equity
derivative financial instruments classified as level 3. Within
credit derivatives, this included the valuation of a portfolio of
financial instruments sensitive to secured funding spreads, the
methodology for which involves a number of assumptions in
developing the estimate, and within equity derivatives, a
portfolio of financial instruments sensitive to correlations which
are unobservable.

We understood and evaluated the design and tested the
operational effectiveness of key controls over the valuation of
financial assets and liabilities. These controls included:

Validation of new and existing models by a speciaist team
within the risk function, as well as access and change
management controls in respect of modelsin use;

The price verification process performed by the Controller's
function using prices and model inputs sourced from third
parties; and

Calculation and approval of key valuation adjustments.

We noted no significant exceptions in the design or operating
effectiveness of these controls, and we determined we could rely
on these controls for the purposes of our audit. In addition, we
performed the substantive testing described below.

We tested the valuation of a sample of cash instruments to third
party sources. We utilised internal valuation experts to revalue a
sample of derivative and cash financia instruments, including
level 3instruments, using independent models.

In relation to a portfolio of credit derivatives inlevel 3, we
utilised our internal valuation experts to evaluate management’s
methodol ogy for determining secured funding spreads, test the
associated valuation inputs to external sources and reperform the
valuation of a sample of positions. Additionally, we valued a
sample of level 3 equity derivatives and, to the extent available,
independently sourced inputs, such as correlation. For samples
where we utilised management’s inputs to revalue the
instruments, we assessed the reasonableness of the inputs used.

We evauated the methodology and underlying assumptions
used to determine valuation adjustments. We tested a sample of
valuation adjustments as at the period-end.

Based on the work performed, we found management’'s
estimates of the fair value of financial assets and liabilities to be
supported by the evidence obtained.

We performed testing to validate that management had allocated
derivative financial instruments to the appropriate level within
the fair value hierarchy in line with the established policy, and
that the policy classifications were appropriate.

We read and assessed the disclosures in Note 31 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’ regarding significant unobservable inputs and the
fair value hierarchy and found them to be appropriate.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impact of COVID-19 on the financial statements

The global pandemic generated significant volatility in global
financial markets and caused disruption to normal patterns of
business activity around the world. Given the pervasive effect of
the pandemic on macroeconomic events and financial markets,
as well as the possible disruption to the company’s operations
and the conduct of our audit, this represents akey audit matter.

As described in the Strategic report, the Directors have assessed
that the company’s systems and infrastructure have been robust
throughout the pandemic, and that there has been no significant
disruption in maintaining operations.

The Directors have considered the impact of the pandemic on
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on
recent and forecast financial performance and the availability of
capital resources and liquidity, the Directors have concluded
that there is no materia uncertainty and the company will
continue as a going concern for at least twelve months from the
date of this report.

We critically assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the planning
and execution of our audit. In particular:

We assessed the impact of the disruption caused by
COVID-19 on the risks of material misstatement. This
included a consideration of the impact of higher trade
volumes and the markets in which the company operates.
We reviewed operationa risk reports, internal audit reports
and discussed the impact of the pandemic with senior
management in all three lines of defence We concluded that
no significant changes to our risk assessment were required;

We evaluated the controls relevant to our audit by
undertaking walkthroughs of key processes and tested the
operating effectiveness of relevant controls that we planned
to rely on. We considered the impact of remote working on
the effectiveness of controls such as reconciliations;

We considered the impact on estimates included in the
financial statements, in particular in relation to the valuation
of financia instruments. We did not identify any material
impacts on the estimates as at December 31, 2020 (see also
above key audit matter); and

We adapted our own working practices to remote working
and ensured we gathered appropriate audit evidence.

We reviewed management’s going concern assessment. We also
reviewed the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process and
Internal Liquidity Adeguacy Assessment Process submissions to
the PRA and evaluated the impact of COVID-19 on the
company’s financia performance, business operations and
regulatory capital and liquidity ratios. We tested the total capital
resources as at December 31, 2020.

As aresult of these procedures, we concluded that the impact of
COVID-19 as it relates to the going concern assumption has
been appropriately evaluated for the purposes of the preparation
of thefinancial statements.

Based on the work performed, we are satisfied that our audit
addressed the impact of the disruption caused by COVID-19.
We have also concluded that the impact of COVID-19 has been
appropriately evaluated and reflected in the preparation of these
financial statements.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financia
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the
industry in which it operates.

The company provides a variety of financia services to clients worldwide. The company also operates a number of branches
and representative offices across Europe, the Middle East and Africa to provide financia services to clients in those regions.
We consider the company and its branches to represent a single audit component.

Traders based in overseas group locations enter into transactions on behalf of the company. In these circumstances, certain
internal controls relevant to financial reporting operate in those locations. In addition, there are a number of centralised
functions operated by the ultimate parent company, The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., in the U.S. or in group shared service
centres in other locations that are relevant to the audit of the company. We determined the scope of the work required in each
of these locations and issued instructions to PwC network firms. We interacted regularly with the firms responsible for the
work throughout the course of the audit. Thisincluded reviewing key working papers and discussing and challenging the
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results of work in higher risk areas of the audit. We concluded that the procedures performed on our behalf were sufficient for

the purposes of issuing our opinion.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality.
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent
of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as awhole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as awhole as follows:

Overall materiality $258 million (2019: $240 million).

How we determined it 0.75% of total Tier 1 capital resources (2019: 0.75% of Tier 1 capital resources)

Rationale for benchmark The immediate and ultimate parent companies, management, certain creditors (e.g. note holders)

applied and the company's regulators are the primary users of the financial statements. The level of Tier
1 capital resourcesisakey area of focus for these users.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of
our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in
determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% of overal materiality, amounting to $194 million for the
company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment
and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our normal range was
appropriate

We agreed with the Board Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above
$12.9 million (2019: $12 million) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
gualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following mattersin relation to which 1SAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate;
or

the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt about the company’s ahility to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve
months from the date when the financia statements are authorised for issue.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materialy misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based
on these responsibilities.
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With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the

Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and
Directors Report for the period ended December 31, 2020 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities in respect of the financia statements, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied
that they give atrue and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a
meaterial misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individualy or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

Our audit testing might include testing compl ete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing
techniques. However, it typically involves selecting alimited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete
populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases,
we will use audit sampling to enable usto draw a conclusion about the population from which the sampleis selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
we have not obtained all the information and explanations werequire for our audit; or

adequate accounting records have not been kept by thecompany, or returns adequate for our audit have not beenreceived
from branches not visited by us; or
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certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified by laware not made; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with theaccounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

We were appointed by the directors on September 22, 1988 to audit the financial statements for the year ended November 24,
1989 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 32 years, covering the years ended
November 24, 1989 to December 31, 2020.

Jonathan Holloway (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

March 24, 2021
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Independent auditors’ report to the member of Goldman Sachs International (unlimited
company)

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International’s financial statements:
give atrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at December 31, 2021 and of its profit and cash flows for
the year then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with UK -adopted international accounting standards; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: balance sheet as at December
31, 2021; income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended; and the notes to the financia statements, which include a description of the significant accounting
policies.

Separate opinion in relation to international financial reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No
1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union

Asexplained in Note 2 ‘Basis of Preparation’ to the financia statements, the company, in addition to applying UK -adopted
international accounting standards, has also applied international financial reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation
(EC) No 1606/2002 as it appliesin the European Union.

In our opinion, the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with internationa financial
reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it appliesin the European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“1SAs (UK)"), International Standards
on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (“1SAS") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under 1SAs (UK) and ISAs are further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statementsin the UK, which includes the Financial Reporting Council (“FRC”)’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to
other listed entities of public interest, and the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by either the FRC' s Ethical Standard or
Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 were not provided.

Other than those disclosed in Note 6 ‘Net Operating Expenses to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit
services to the company or its controlled undertakings in the period under audit.

Our audit approach

Overview
Audit scope.

We perform a full scope audit of the financial statements of the company as a whole as a single component. The scope of

the audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures were determined by our risk assessment, the financial
significance of financial statement line items and qualitative factors (including history of misstatement through fraud or
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error). In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant

accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Key audit matters.

Vauation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value. Refer to Note 29 ‘Fair Vaue Measurement’ in the financial
statements.

Materiality.
Overall materiality: $355,000,000 (2020: $258,000,000) based on 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources (2020: 0.75%).
Performance materiality: $266,000,000 (2020: $194,000,000).

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
Statements.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or
not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the
allocation of resourcesin the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we
make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements asawhole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Thisisnot acompletelist of all risksidentified by our audit.
The impact of COVID-19 on the financia statements, which was a key audit matter last year, is no longer included because of

the limited impact on the company’s operations and the markets in which it trades. Otherwise, the key audit matters below are
consistent with last year.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair
value

Refer to Note 29 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ in the financial
statements.

In accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 3
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the financial
statements, the majority of financial assets and liabilities are
recorded in the balance sheet at fair value and changes in fair
value are recorded in net revenues. Total financial assets and
liabilities at fair value were $922.31 billion and $880.41 hillion,
respectively, as at December 31, 2021. The audit of the
valuation of financia assets and liabilities required significant
audit resources and is an area of estimation uncertainty and
therefore represents a key audit matter.

The fair values for substantially all of the company’s financia
assets and liabilities measured at fair value detailed in Note 29 *
Fair Value Measurement’ are based on observable prices and
inputs and are classified in levels 1 and 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. The valuations of derivative financial instruments are
calculated by financial models using a variety of inputs. Most of
the company's derivatives are traded in active markets and
external observable inputs are available to support
management's val uations.

The company also enters into complex and less liquid cash and
derivative financial instruments where a limited or no active
market exists. In these instances, there is less observable
evidence to support the valuations and hence there is greater
estimation uncertainty. When one or more valuation inputs are
unobservable and significant, the financia instrument is
classified aslevel 3inthevaluation hierarchy. Level 3 financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value were $5.76 billion
and $18.24 billion, respectively, as at December 31, 2021.

We performed a risk assessment of the financial instruments
held by the company using our industry experience and
knowledge of the company's business. We used this analysis to
identify areas of greater judgement and focus our testing. We
concluded that the higher assessed risks of materia
misstatement relate to the valuation of certain credit and equity
derivative financial instruments classified as level 3. Within
credit derivatives, this included the valuation of a portfolio of
financial instruments sensitive to secured funding spreads, the
methodology for which involves a number of assumptions in
developing the estimate, and within equity derivatives, a
portfolio of financial instruments sensitive to correlations which
are unobservable.

We understood and evaluated the design and tested the
operational effectiveness of key controls over the valuation of
financial assets and liabilities. These controls included:

« Validation of new and existing models by a specialist team
within the risk function, as well as access and change
management controls in respect of modelsin use;

« The price verification process performed by the Controller's
function using prices and model inputs sourced from third
parties; and

« Calculation and approval of key valuation adjustments.

We noted no significant exceptions in the design or operating
effectiveness of these controls, and we determined we could
rely on these controls for the purposes of our audit. In addition,
we performed the substantive testing described below.

We tested the valuation of a sample of cash instruments to third
party sources. We utilised internal valuation experts to revalue
asample of derivative and cash financial instruments, including
level 3 instruments, using independent models.

In relation to a portfolio of credit derivatives in level 3, we
utilised our internal valuation experts to:

* Assess the appropriateness of fair value by identifying
aternative funding spreads using external sources and
evaluating the difference in valuation;

» Test management' s valuation inputs to external sources; and

* Reperform the valuation of a sample of positions using
management’ s inputs and our own model.

Additionally, we valued a sample of level 3 equity derivatives
and, to the extent available, independently sourced inputs, such
as correlation. For samples where we utilised management’s
inputs to revalue the instruments, we assessed the
reasonableness of the inputs used.

We evaluated the methodology and underlying assumptions
used to determine valuation adjustments. We tested a sample of
valuation adjustments as at the period-end.

Based on the work performed, we found management's
estimates of the fair value of financia assets and liabilities to be
supported by the evidence obtained.

We performed testing to validate that management had
alocated derivative financia instruments to the appropriate
level within the fair value hierarchy in line with the established
policy, and that the policy classifications were appropriate.

We read and assessed the disclosures in Note 29 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’ regarding significant unobservable inputs and the
fair value hierarchy and found them to be appropriate.
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How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the
industry in which it operates.

The company provides avariety of financia services to clients worldwide. The company also operates a number of branches
and representative offices across Europe, the Middle East and Africato provide financial services to clientsin those regions.
We consider the company and its branches to represent a single audit component. Traders based in overseas group locations
enter into transactions on behalf of the company. In these circumstances, certain internal controls relevant to financial reporting
operate in those locations. In addition, there are a number of centralised functions operated by the ultimate parent company,
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., inthe U.S. or in group shared service centresin other locations that are relevant to the audit
of the company. We determined the scope of the work required in each of these locations and issued instructions to PwC
network firms. We interacted regularly with the firms responsible for the work throughout the course of the audit. This
included reviewing key working papers and discussing and challenging the results of work in higher risk areas of the audit. We
concluded that the procedures performed on our behalf were sufficient for the purposes of issuing our opinion.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality.
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent
of our audit procedures on the individual financia statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as awhole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as awhole as follows:

Overall materiality $355,000,000 (2020: $258,000,000).

How we determined it 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources (2020: 0.75% of Tier 1 capital resources)

Rationale for benchmark The immediate and ultimate parent companies, management, certain creditors (e.g.
applied note holders) and the company's regulators are the primary users of the financial

statements. The level of Tier 1 capital resources is a key area of focus for these users.
We have increased the percentage threshold applied in 2021 to 1% as this is more
consistent with our normal approach when referencing net assets, which are closely
correlated to Tier 1 capital resources, as the benchmark. The actual threshold at the
year end is slightly below 1%, as materiality was calculated using the entity’s capital
resources at the planning stage of the audit.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of
our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in
determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% (2020: 75%) of overall materiality, amounting to
$266,000,000 (2020: $194,000,000) for the company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment
and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our normal range was

appropriate.

We agreed with those charged with governance that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above
$17,750,000 (2020: $12,900,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
gualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern
Our evaluation of the directors assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
included:

Performing arisk assessment to identify factors that could impact the going concern basis of accounting;

Evaluating the company’s current financial position and financial forecasts;
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Understanding and evaluating the company’s current capital and liquidity position and reviewing the results of stresstesting

performed by management of both liquidity and regulatory capital, including considering the severity of the stress scenarios
that were used;

Considering the results of procedures performed by the group auditor to support the going concern assessment for The
Goldman Sachs Group Inc.; and

Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures made in the financial statementsin relation to going concern.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of
at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statementsis appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsihilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections
of thisreport.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises al of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financia statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility isto read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is amaterial misstatement of the financia
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is amaterial misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based
on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and
Directors Report for the year ended December 31, 2021 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal reguirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors Report.

Our responsibilities and the responsihilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections
of thisreport.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilitiesin respect of the financial statements, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statementsin accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied
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that they give atrue and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control asthey determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for presenting the financial statementsin compliance with the requirements set out in the
Delegated Regulation 2019/815 on European Single Electronic Format (ESEF Regulation).

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assuranceis
ahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) and ISAs will always
detect amateria misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materid if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of userstaken on the
basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to
which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and regulations related to rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”), Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA”) and
equivalent local laws and regulations applicable to other countries in which the company operates, and we considered the
extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and
regulations that have adirect impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006 and corporate tax legislation.
We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including
the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to the posting of inappropriate journal
entries and management bias through the manipulation of the valuation of financial instruments held at fair value. Audit
procedures performed by the engagement team included:

Discussions with management, including Internal Audit, andthose charged with governance in relation to known
orsuspected instances of non-compliance with laws andregulations and fraud;

Evaluating and testing of the operating effectiveness ofmanagement’s controls designed to prevent and detect fraud
infinancial reporting;

Assessing matters reported on the company’s whistleblowinghelpline and the results of management’s investigation of
suchmatters;

Reviewing key correspondence with regulatory authorities(the FCA and the PRA);
Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journalentries posted by senior management;
Testing of information security controls relating to systemaccess and change management;

Challenging assumptions and judgments made bymanagement in their significant accounting estimates, inparticular in
relation to the valuation of financial assets andliabilities held at fair value; and

Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/orextent of our testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,
or through collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing compl ete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing
techniques. However, it typically involves selecting alimited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete

418/420



EDINETOO OO
000000000000000000000(E05875)
ooooooo

populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases,

we will use audit sampling to enable usto draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements in accordance with 1SAs (UK) islocated on
the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors report.

As part of an audit in accordance with |SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of thefinancial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
andperform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtainaudit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide abasis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a materialmisstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
oneresulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
ofinternal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to theaudit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriatein the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing anopinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used andthe reasonableness of accounting estimates and
rel ateddisclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of thegoing concern basis of accounting and, based on the
auditevidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty existsrelated to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubton the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If weconclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required todraw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosuresin the financial statements or, if such disclosures
areinadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are basedon the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor
"sreport. However, future events or conditions may cause theGroup to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of thefinancial statements, including the disclosures, and whetherthe
financial statements represent the underlying transactionsand events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding thefinancial information of the entities or business activitieswithin
the company to express an opinion on the financialstatements. We are responsible for the direction, supervisionand
performance of the company audit. We remain solelyresponsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them al relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communi cated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

It is also our responsibility to assess whether the financial statements have been prepared, in all material respects, in
compliance with the requirements laid down in the ESEF Regulation.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s member as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsihility for any other purpose or to any other person to whomthis report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
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We have not obtained all the information and explanations werequire for our audit; or

Adeqguate accounting records have not been kept by thecompany, or returns adequate for our audit have not beenreceived
from branches not visited by us; or

Certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified bylaw are not made; or
Thefinancial statements are not in agreement with theaccounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We have checked the compliance of the financial statements of the company as at December 31, 2021 with the relevant
statutory requirements set out in the ESEF Regulation that are applicable to financial statements. That is, for the company:

Thefinancial statements are prepared in avalid xHTMLformat.

In our opinion, the financial statements of the company as at December 31, 2021, identified as gsinternational-12-31-21-
financial-statements.xhtml, have been prepared, in all material respects, in compliance with the requirements laid down in the
ESEF Regulation.

Other matter
In the event that the English version of this report and atrandation of it into alanguage other than English differ, the English
version shall prevail.

Jonathan Holloway (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

March 22, 2022
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